Instruction Manual



FA-M3 Programming Tool WideField Instruction Manual

IM 34M6Q14-01E



IM 34M6Q14-01E 1st Edition

Product Information

Range-free Multi-controller FA-M3

- Model Name: SF610-ECW
- Name: FA-M3 Programming Tool WideField

The Document Set No. and Document Model Name are as follows.

If you have any questions or comments about this product, please inform us of the Document No. You will need either the Document Set No. or the Document Model Name for additional purchases of this manual.

- Document Set No.: IM34M6Q14-00E *1
- Document Model Name: DOCIM
- *1: This document set includes the "FA-M3 Programming Tool WideField Instruction Manual" (IM34M6Q14-01E) and the "FA-M3 Programming Tool Instruction Manual-Application" (IM34M6Q14-02E).

Precautions

Precautions Concerning This Manual

- · Please make sure that this manual reaches all users.
- Operation of this product should only be attempted after reading and gaining a thorough understanding this manual.
- This manual only provides a detailed description of the functions of the product, and does not guarantee that it is suited to the customer's purposes.
- Transferring or copying all or part of this manual with consent is strictly forbidden.
- The contents of the manual may be changed without notice in the future.
- If you find any mistakes or misprints in this manual, please contact our sales department or the representative you purchased it at.

■ Precautions Concerning Protection, Safety, and Alterations to This Product.

 The following symbols are used concerning safety precautions for this product and this manual.

"Caution" This designates locations where it is necessary to refer to the operation manual in order to protect human life and machinery when using this product. Further, any safety precautions aimed to prevent death or the danger of bodily injury from coming to users through electrocution, etc. are specifically described in this manual.

"Protective Earth Terminal" Be sure to ground the equipment before operation.

Ŧ

"Functional Earth Terminal" Be sure to ground the equipment before operation.

"Alternating Current"

"Direct Current"

The symbols below are only used in the manual.

🛕 WARNING

"Warning"

Precautions concerning danger of system trouble that could damage hardware or software are described.

"Caution" Precautions concerning operation or functions of the product are described.

TIP

"Tip" Explanations and tips are described.

SEE ALSO

"Reference" Places or pages in the manual are provided for reference.

- Follow all directions in this manual when using this product in order to ensure the safety and protection of this product or systems controlled by this product. Furthermore, we shall not guarantee the safety of this product if it is used in a manner that does not accord with the directions laid out herein as such use may cause the protective features of the product to malfunction.
- In the event that protective or safety circuits are installed in the product or in systems controlled by the product, make sure they are installed separately outside the product.
- When replacing parts or expendable supplies, always use replacement items designated by our company.
- Please consult with our customer relations desk in the sales department before using this product for systems that involve the safety of human lives and therefore require a high level of safety, such as equipment used in connection with nuclear power or radiation, railway equipment, aircraft equipment, medical equipment, etc.
- Any alterations whatsoever to this product are strictly forbidden.

Exemptions

- We do not in any way guarantee this product, except as stipulated in the warranty.
- We shall not shoulder any responsibility for damages that the customer or any third party may suffer through use of this product, or for any indirect damages that the customer or any third party may suffer through unforeseeable faults in the product.

Precautions Concerning Software

- We do not in any way guarantee this software, except as stipulated in the warranty.
- Use the software with one designated computer only. Purchase more copies of the software for use with other computers.
- Any copying of the software for purposes other than back-up is strictly forbidden.
- Carefully store all original media included in the software.
- Any reverse engineering of the software, such as reverse compiling or reverse assembly, is strictly forbidden.
- Use by any third party of all or part of this software through transfer, exchange, or loan without previous approval from us is strictly forbidden.

General Precautions Concerning the FA-M3

Avoid the following locations for installation

- Locations in direct sunlight or that exceed a temperature range of 0 to 50°c.
- Locations where humidity exceeds a range of 10% to 90%, or where rapid temperature changes may cause condensation to form.
- Locations near corrosive or combustible gases.
- Locations subject to strong shaking or shocks.
- Locations where there is the possibility of exposure to excessive levels of radiation.

Use proper materials when setting up external wiring.

Use copper wiring rated above 75°c for external wiring.

Firmly screw in any attachment screws.

- · Tighten module screws and terminal screws to avoid malfunction.
- Use appropriate tightening torque for terminal blocks.
- The appropriate torque is 0.8N m.

Firmly lock all connecting cables.

 Lock all connectors on connecting cables and re-check them before running electricity through them.

Emergency stop circuits should be on an external relay circuit.

• Arrange the external stop circuit on devices using this product on an external relay circuit, and be sure to include the run/stop status of this product as well.

Grounding should be done separately with a type 3 earth.

 Avoid using this product's earth terminal [FG] with a heavy current earth, using a type 3 earth separately.

Take steps to avoid noise.

We recommend you avoid assigning AC input/output modules around the CPU module when assigning input and output.

Provision of maintenance parts.

 Make sure maintenance parts such as back-up modules, etc. are prepared ahead of time.

Discharge static electricity ahead of time.

 Dry locations tend to generate static electricity, so be sure to touch grounded metal to get rid of any static before touching the devices.

Avoid using thinner for cleaning.

- Clean any stains from the surface of the product by wetting a soft cloth with water or a neutral cleanser, wringing it out thoroughly, and wiping softly.
- Do not use benzene, thinner, or other volatile products or chemicals to wipe the product, as this can lead to deformation or discoloration which can cause malfunction.

• Avoid high temperatures and humidity when storing.

- The CPU module contains a battery, so avoid high temperatures and humidity when storing.
- Battery life in high temperature conditions decreases rapidly. (A storage temperature between -20°c and +75°c.)

Attach and remove modules with the power off.

• Attach and remove modules with the power module off. Doing this with the power on can lead to malfunctions.

Do not touch parts inside modules.

 With some types of modules, opening the right-side lid allows attachment of ROM packs and operation of setting switches. When doing this, do not touch any of the other parts on the board, as this can damage parts and lead to malfunctions.

Preface

Overview of This Manual

This manual is the operation manual for the Range-free Multi-controller FA-M3 Programming Tool. (We will call it WideField here.) It describes how to use WideField to create, run, monitor, and debug ladder programs.

For any questions you may have, please contact the store where you purchased the product at or the nearest representative from the list on the back of this manual. We also recommend using this manual in combination with the operation manuals for you computer or printer, as need be.

Layout of the Manual

This manual is divided into 2 parts: A and B.

Part A describes the steps in creating programs and actual operation to help users with no experience using WideField install the software and create simple programs. It also describes object ladder programs.

Part B describes operations such as program creation, sending, and monitoring.

Part A Introductory Manual

• Chapter 1 Overview

Describes a general overview of the functions provided by WideField.

Chapter 2 Operating Environment

Describes the computer environment that WideField operates in, and the sequence CPUs for program development with WideField.

Chapter 3 Installation and Booting

Describes how to install, start, and shut down WideField.

Chapter 4 Basic Specifications

Describes WideField's screen layout as well as basic operations.

Chapter 5 Object Ladders

Gives a general description of object ladder programs that can be created with WideField.

Chapter 6 Program Development Procedure

Describes object ladder programming with WideField.

Part B Operation Manual

• Chapter 1 Initial Settings of the WideField Tool

Describes the initial settings upon first use of WideField.

Offline Section

Chapter 2 Creating Projects

Describes projects, which are the WideField workspace. Also describes how to read old-format executable programs (Ladder Diagram Support Program M3).

Chapter 3 Program Editing

Describes the operations of creating ladder programs.

Chapter 4 Assigning Tag Names

Describes how to edit and use tag names attached to devices.

Chapter 5 Building and Managing Projects

Describes how to define program components to be sent to the CPU, as well as whole project search and replacement functions, etc.

• Chapter 6 Printing

Describes how to print program layouts and circuits.

Online Section

Chapter 7 Outline of Online Function

Describes how to connect to the CPU.

Chapter 8 Transferring Programs

Describes downloading and uploading programs to and from the CPU.

Chapter 9 Operating Status Monitors and Settings

Describes how to monitor the CPU's operating status and functions such as CPU mode change, etc.

Chapter 10 Program Monitors

Describes how to monitor circuits that are running in the CPU.

Chapter 11 Device Monitors

Describes how to monitor devices.

IM 34M6Q14-01E 1st Edition : July 31,2000-00

Chapter 12 Using the Debugging Function

Describes debugging functions such as forced set, reset, data value change, etc.

Chapter 13 Online Edit

Describes how to change programs online.

Chapter 14 Protective Functions

Describes the system log display and the user log functions.

Chapter 15 Managing the ROM

Describes ROM management, such as sending created programs to the ROM pack, deleting information from the ROM pack.

Chapter 16 I/O Module Setup

Describes network settings using an FA link and diagnostic functions.

Supplementary Functions Section

Chapter 17 Sampling Trace Tool

Describes the setting when using the FA-M3 sampling trace as well as how to run an actual sampling trace.

Chapter 18 Device Manager

Describes setup and modification of FA-M3 CPU module devices, how to send those settings from the computer to the FA-M3 and how to send FA-M3 device status to the computer.

Object Ladder Section

Chapter 19 Use of Local Devices

Describes how to create programs using local devices as well as how to reuse them.

Chapter 20 Using Macros

Describes how to create and manage macros.

Chapter 21 How to Use Group Tag Names

Describes how to define tags that use group tag names as well as programming using group tag names.

Appendix

Appendix 1 Error Messages

Index

How to Read This Manual

Be sure to read the "Preface" as well as "How to read this manual" before using WideField.

The WideField Part A Manual describes how to set up the application as well as a basic overview.

The WideField Part B Manual describes all the functions provided by the application.

The manuals are written so that you can get an understanding of the specifications of the application, with each item written independently so you can refer to any particular when you need to know more about a certain function.

We have tried to make the operation and editing functions of the WideField application as close to the specifications of other generally available Windows software as possible. Accordingly, the manuals do not contain any information on editing screens which are not specific to WideField.

Notation

Notation for Windows Screens and Operation

Quotation marks contain symbols, explanations, and names.

Ex.: "WideField", "object ladder", "local device"

Brackets contain menu bar menus, commands, and buttons.

Ex.: Click on [File] - [New] from the menu bar. Use the mouse to click on [File] in the menu bar and click on [New] in the pull down menu.

Notation in WideField Figures and Screens

Figures in the text are for a Windows 95 environment.

Some icons and application names may be different in a WindowsNT or Windows 98 environment.

Some of the figures in this manual may for reasons of convenience be emphasized, simplified, or abbreviated. Also, some screen images may not be the same as those in this manual due differences in the operating machine being used.

Function Keys and Short Cut Keys

WideField menus can be operated with function keys and short cut keys, and not just with the mouse.

As a rule, this manual describes operation with a mouse, and does not list function keys or short cut keys that overlap with mouse operation.

Other Instruction Manuals

Please be sure to refer to the instruction manuals below.

Please read the FA-M3 Programming Tool Read Me First (IM34M6Q14-11E)

The manual varies depending on the type of sequence CPU module being used.



- Sequence CPU Instruction Manual-Functions (for F3SP28, 38, 53, 58) 2nd edition or later (IM34M6P13-01E)
- Sequence CPU Instruction Manual-Instructions (IM34M6P12-03E) 2nd edition or later



- Sequence CPU Instruction Manual-Functions (for F3SP21, 25, 35) (IM34M6P12-02E) 2nd edition or later
- Sequence CPU Instruction Manual-Instructions (IM34M6P12-03E)2nd edition or later

Refer to the operation manuals below as needed.

- Advanced Operation of WideField
 - FA-M3 Programming Tool Instruction Manual-Application (IM34M6Q14-02E)

Fiber-optic FA Bus Functions

 Fiber-optic FA Bus Module, Fiber-optic FA Bus Type 2 Module Instruction Manual (IM34M6H45-01E)

FA Link Functions

- FA Link Module, FA Link H Module, Fiber-optic FA Link H Module Instruction Manual (IM34M6H43-01E)
- Specifications and Layout^{*1} of the FA-M3, Mounting and Wiring, Testing, Protection and Inspection, also, Module Mounting Restrictions for Whole Systems
 - *1: See specific manuals for products other than the power module, base module, I/O module, cables, and terminal block units.
 - Hardware Manual (IM34M6C11-01E) 5th edition or later.

Copyrights and Trademarks

Copyrights

Our company reserves all copyrights for all programs and online manuals included in the CD-ROM.

The online manuals have PDF security settings on them so that they cannot be modified, although printing is possible.

Only print the online manuals for use with this product. When using online manuals that have been printed out, please make sure that there are no discrepancies with the latest edition. Confirm that the latest edition of the CD-ROM corresponds with the edition number.

Copying, transferring, selling, or distributing the online manuals to third parties is forbidden. Further, registering or recording videotapes without consent is also forbidden.

■ Trademarks

- $\mathsf{Microsoft}{\mathbb{R}}$ and $\mathsf{Windows}{\mathbb{R}}$ are registered trademarks of the $\mathsf{Microsoft}$ Corporation, USA.
- Ethernet is a proprietary name of the XEROX Corporation, USA.
- All other proper names including proprietary names and company names used in this text are trademarks or registered trademarks of those companies.

Blank Page —

FA-M3 FA-M3 Programming Tool WideField Instruction Manual

CONTENTS

| Product Information | i |
|---------------------------|----|
| Precautions | ii |
| Preface | vi |
| Copyrights and Trademarks | xi |

PART-A Introductory Manual

| A1. | Overv | /iewA1-1 | | | | | |
|-------------|----------------------|------------------------|---------------------------------------|-------|--|--|--|
| A2. | Opera | ting Env | ing EnvironmentA | | | | |
| A3. | Install | A3-1 | | | | | |
| | A3.1 | Installat | lion | A3-1 | | | |
| | A3.2 | Creating | g Short-Cut Icons | A3-4 | | | |
| | A3.3 | Uninsta | lling | A3-6 | | | |
| | A3.4 | Starting and Shut Down | | A3-9 | | | |
| | | A3.4.1 | Procedure for Starting WideField | A3-9 | | | |
| | | A3.4.2 | Procedure for Shutting Down WideField | A3-10 | | | |
| | | A3.4.3 | Procedure for Starting Help | A3-11 | | | |
| A4 . | Basic Specifications | | | A4-1 | | | |
| | A4.1 | Screen | Layout | A4-1 | | | |
| | A4.2 | Functio | n List | A4-5 | | | |
| | A4.3 | List of C | Generated Objects | A4-8 | | | |
| | | A4.3.1 | Generated File | A4-8 | | | |
| | | A4.3.2 | Circuit Elements | A4-9 | | | |
| | | A4.3.3 | Folders | A4-9 | | | |
| | A4.4 | Shortcu | ıt Keys | A4-10 | | | |
| | A4.5 | Basic K | eys | A4-12 | | | |
| | A4.6 | Type of | Type of Screens | | | | |

| A5. | Object | Ladders | | A5-1 |
|--------|-----------|------------|---|-------|
| | A5.1 | Architect | ure of Object Ladders | A5-4 |
| | | A5.1.1 | Local Devices | A5-4 |
| | | A5.1.2 | Group Tag Names and Grouping of Tags | A5-5 |
| | | A5.1.3 | Component Macros | A5-9 |
| | | A5.1.4 | Hyper blocks | A5-10 |
| | | A5.1.5 | Index View | A5-11 |
| | | A5.1.6 | Compatible with Other Applications | A5-12 |
| | | A5.1.7 | Collective Change of I/O Installation Position | A5-15 |
| A6. | Progra | m Develo | opment Procedure | A6-1 |
| | A6.1 | Creating | a New Project | A6-3 |
| | A6.2 | Creating | a Block | A6-5 |
| | A6.3 | Program | Component Difinition | A6-7 |
| | A6.4 | Local De | vices | A6-9 |
| | A6.5 | Downloa | d | A6-12 |
| | A6.6 | Monitor F | Functions | A6-13 |
| PART-I | з (| Operat | ion Manual | |
| B1. | Initial S | etup of t | he WideField Tool | B1-1 |
| | B1.1 | Layout of | the Tools, and Locations of Generated Data | B1-1 |
| | B1.2 | Environn | nent Setup | B1-2 |
| | | B1.2.1 | Basic Operation of the Setup Environment Dialog | B1-3 |
| | | B1.2.2 | Setup Folders | B1-5 |
| | | B1.2.3 | Setup Communication | B1-6 |
| | | B1.2.4 | Setup Circuit Display | B1-8 |
| | | B1.2.5 | Setup Program Check | B1-10 |
| | | B1.2.6 | Setup Toolbar | B1-12 |
| PART-I | з (| Offline | Section | |
| B2. | Creatin | ig a Proje | ect | B2-1 |
| | B2.1 | What Is a | Project? | B2-1 |
| | | B2.1.1 | Relationship Between Project and CPU | B2-1 |
| | | B2.1.2 | Configuration of Project | B2-2 |
| | | B2.1.3 | Managing Projects Using WideField | B2-3 |
| | | B2.1.4 | Limitations When Closing Projects | B2-4 |
| | B2.2 | Creating | a Project | B2-5 |
| | | B2.2.1 | Creating a New Project | B2-5 |
| | | B2.2.2 | Opening Project | B2-7 |
| | | B2.2.3 | Closing Project | B2-9 |
| | | B2.2.4 | Overwriting and Saving Project | B2-10 |
| | B2.3 | Opening | Executable Program in CADM3 Format | B2-11 |

B3.

| Editin | g Progra | m | . B3-1 | | | | | |
|--------|----------|---|---------|--|--|--|--|--|
| B3.1 | Caution | Cautions for Editing Ladder Diagram | | | | | | |
| | B3.1.1 | Limitations for Editing Ladder Diagram | B3-1 | | | | | |
| | B3.1.2 | Circuits Returning Errors | B3-2 | | | | | |
| | B3.1.3 | Circuits that cannot be Corrected with Ladder Diagram | B3-4 | | | | | |
| B3.2 | Operatir | ng Block Files | B3-5 | | | | | |
| | B3.2.1 | Creating New Project File | B3-5 | | | | | |
| | B3.2.2 | Opening Existing Block File | B3-6 | | | | | |
| | B3.2.3 | Saving Block File | B3-7 | | | | | |
| | B3.2 4 | Closing Block File | B3-9 | | | | | |
| | B3.2.5 | Block's Local Device and Property Setting | . B3-10 | | | | | |
| | B3.2.6 | Opening CADM3 Block/Macro | . B3-12 | | | | | |
| B3.3 | Editing | Ladder Diagram | . B3-13 | | | | | |
| | B3.3.1 | Configuring Window | . B3-13 | | | | | |
| | B3.3.2 | Basic Operation | . B3-17 | | | | | |
| | B3.3.3 | Procedure for Entering Commands Using Alphanumeric Keys | . B3-17 | | | | | |
| | B3.3.4 | Entering Basic Instruction | . B3-18 | | | | | |
| | B3.3.5 | Entering Application Instructions | . B3-20 | | | | | |
| | B3.3.6 | Entering Timer Instruction | . B3-24 | | | | | |
| | B3.3.7 | Entering Counter Instruction | . B3-25 | | | | | |
| | B3.3.8 | Deleting Ladder Diagram Elements | . B3-25 | | | | | |
| | B3.3.9 | Entering Constants (Decimal, Hexadecimal, and Timer Settings), Character Strings, Floating Points, and Block Names | . B3-26 | | | | | |
| | B3.3.10 | Input/Display of Indexed Devices | . B3-28 | | | | | |
| | B3.3.11 | Assigning address for Tag Name | . B3-29 | | | | | |
| | B3.3.12 | Inserting Connect Lines | . B3-30 | | | | | |
| | B3.3.13 | Entering Continuation Circuit | . B3-32 | | | | | |
| | B3.3.14 | Entering Label | . B3-33 | | | | | |
| | B3.3.15 | Inserting Empty Lines | . B3-34 | | | | | |
| | B3.3.16 | Selecting Lines | . B3-34 | | | | | |
| | B3.3.17 | Deleting Lines | . B3-35 | | | | | |
| | B3.3.18 | Temporarily Deleting Lines/Recovering Temporarily Deleted Lines | B3-36 | | | | | |
| | B3.3.19 | Copying and Pasting Lines | . B3-37 | | | | | |
| | B3.3.20 | Copying Circuit Image | . B3-38 | | | | | |
| | B3.3.21 | Canceling Operation | . B3-38 | | | | | |
| | B3.3.22 | Overwrite Mode and Insert Mode | . B3-40 | | | | | |
| | B3.3.23 | Inputting and Deleting Circuit Comments | . B3-42 | | | | | |
| | B3.3.24 | Entering and Deleting Subcomments | . B3-44 | | | | | |
| | B3.3.25 | Entering and Deleting I/O Comments | . B3-45 | | | | | |
| | B3.3.26 | Index View | . B3-46 | | | | | |
| | B3.3.27 | Page Break Function | . B3-48 | | | | | |

| | B3.4 | Switching Display | | |
|-----|--------|-------------------|--|---------------|
| | | B3.4.1 | Switching Display for I/O Comments, Tag names and Addres and Instruction Numbers | ses, B3-49 |
| | | B3.4.2 | Zoom Up/Zoom Down | B3-50 |
| | B3.5 | Display | ing Conversion and Errors | B3-51 |
| | B3.6 | Find/Re | place | B3-52 |
| | | B3.6.1 | Find Device | B3-52 |
| | | B3.6.2 | Find Instruction | B3-56 |
| | | B3.6.3 | Finding Next Candidate | B3-57 |
| | | B3.6.4 | Replace | B3-57 |
| | | B3.6.5 | Jump | B3-59 |
| | | B3.6.6 | Displaying Device Usage Status | B3-60 |
| B4. | Assigr | ning Tag | Names | B4-1 |
| | B4.1 | About T | ag Name Definition | B4-1 |
| | | B4.1.1 | Common Tag Name Definitions, Block Tag Name Definitions and Macro Tag Name Definitions | B4-2 |
| | | B4.1.2 | Cautions for Defining Tag Name Definitions | B4-3 |
| | B4.2 | Editing | Tag Name Definitions | B4-4 |
| | | B4.2.1 | Opening, Closing and Saving Tag Name Definition screen | B4-4 |
| | | B4.2.2 | Configuration of Tag Name Definition screen | B4-7 |
| | | B4.2.3 | Defining Tag Names | B4-10 |
| | | B4.2.4 | Switching Tag Name Definition screens | B4-10 |
| | | B4.2.5 | Searching Tag Name Definition screens | B4-10 |
| | | B4.2.6 | Copying, Cutting and Pasting Tag Name Definitions | B4-11 |
| | | B4.2.7 | Error Check function | B4-11 |
| | | B4.2.8 | Grouping Tag Names | B4-12 |
| | | B4.2.9 | Reading Group Templates | B4-13 |
| | B4.3 | Block/M | acro Tag Name Definition Functions | B4-14 |
| | | B4.3.1 | Use | B4-14 |
| | | B4.3.2 | Reading devices used in circuit | B4-15 |
| | | B4.3.3 | Changing Address | B4-16 |
| | B4.4 | Defining | g Group Templates | B4-17 |
| | | B4.4.1 | Creating Group Templates | B4-18 |
| | | B4.4.2 | Deleting Group Template Files | B4-20 |
| B5. | Buildi | ng and N | lanaging Projects | B5-1 |
| | B5.1 | Building | g Projects | B5-1 |
| | | B5.1.1 | Configuration Definitions of Executable Programs | B5-1 |
| | | B5.1.2 | Changing CPU Type and Executable Program Properties | B5-4 |
| | | B5.1.3 | Setting Configuration | B5-6 |
| | | B5.1.4 | Creating User Log Messages | B5-30 |
| | | B5.1.5 | Creating Common Tag Name Definitions | B5-31 |

| | B5.2 | Managir | ng Project | B5-35 |
|-------|---------|-----------|--|-------|
| | | B5.2.1 | Program Check function | B5-35 |
| | | B5.2.2 | Find in Project function | B5-40 |
| | | B5.2.3 | Find Instruction in Project function | B5-42 |
| | | B5.2.4 | Replace in Project function | B5-44 |
| | | B5.2.5 | Change I/O Installation Position function | B5-50 |
| | | B5.2.6 | Displaying Device Usage Status | B5-52 |
| | B5.3 | Managir | ng Files | B5-53 |
| | | B5.3.1 | Adding Files | B5-54 |
| | | B5.3.2 | Renaming Files | B5-55 |
| | | B5.3.3 | Deleting Files | B5-56 |
| B6. | PRINT | OUT | | B6-1 |
| | B6.1 | Setting | Printer | B6-2 |
| | B6.2 | Setting I | Printing Layout | B6-3 |
| | B6.3 | Setting | Printout Details | B6-6 |
| | | B6.3.1 | Setting Details for Blocks and Instruction Macros. | B6-7 |
| | | B6.3.2 | Detailed Configuration Settings | B6-9 |
| | | B6.3.3 | Setting Cover and Header/Footer | B6-10 |
| | B6.4 | Print and | d Print Preview | B6-12 |
| | | B6.4.1 | Print Screen | B6-12 |
| | | B6.4.2 | Print Project | B6-14 |
| | | B6.4.3 | Procedure for Previewing Printout | B6-17 |
| | B6.5 | Printing | Layout | B6-18 |
| | | B6.5.1 | Printing Layout for Project Component | B6-18 |
| | | B6.5.2 | Printing Layout for Circuits | B6-19 |
| | | B6.5.3 | Layout for Printing Tag Name Definitions | B6-20 |
| | | B6.5.4 | Layout for Printing Configuration | B6-20 |
| | | B6.5.5 | Layout for Printing System Log | B6-21 |
| PART- | B | Online | Section | |
| B7. | Outline | e of Onli | ne Function | B7-1 |
| | B7.1 | Connect | ting and Disconnecting | B7-1 |
| | | B7.1.1 | Connecting | B7-1 |
| | | B7.1.2 | Disconnecting | B7-3 |
| | B7.2 | Online L | .imitations | B7-4 |
| | | B7.2.1 | Limitations Owing to Run Mode | B7-4 |
| | | B7.2.2 | Multi-Window Limitations | B7-4 |
| | | B7.2.3 | Limitations Owing to Project | B7-4 |
| | | B7.2.4 | Limitations between Other Applications | B7-4 |
| | | B7.2.5 | Limitations on Personal Computers | B7-4 |

| B8. | Transf | erring ProgramsB8-1 | | | | | |
|------|--|--|---|--|--|--|--|
| | B8.1 | Downloa | Downloading Executable Programs | | | | |
| | | B8.1.1 | Limitations on Downloading | B8-1 | | | |
| | | B8.1.2 | Procedure for Downloading | B8-1 | | | |
| | B8.2 | Uploadir | ng Executable Programs | B8-5 | | | |
| | | B8.2.1 | Limitations on Uploading | B8-5 | | | |
| | | B8.2.2 | Procedure for Uploading | B8-5 | | | |
| B9. | Run M | ode Sett | ings and Run Status Monitor | B9-1 | | | |
| | B9.1 | Displayi | ng Action Monitor | B9-2 | | | |
| | B9.2 | Configu | ration Display while Running a Program | B9-3 | | | |
| | B9.3 | Procedu | re for Changing Each Mode | B9-4 | | | |
| | | B9.3.1 | Switching to Run Mode | B9-4 | | | |
| | | B9.3.2 | Switching to Stop Mode | B9-4 | | | |
| | | B9.3.3 | Switching to Debug Mode | B9-4 | | | |
| | B9.4 | Tempora | arily Changing Communication Speed | B9-5 | | | |
| | B9.5 | Setup Ti | me | B9-7 | | | |
| | B9.6 | Clearing | Programs | B9-8 | | | |
| | B9.7 | Clear De | evice | B9-9 | | | |
| | B9.8 | Reset St | art | B9-10 | | | |
| | B9.9 | Capturin | ng and Releasing Exclusive Access Control | B9-12 | | | |
| | | | | | | | |
| B10. | Progra | ım Monit | or | B10-1 | | | |
| B10. | Progra B10.1 | im Monit Configui | or ration of Program Monitor Screen | B10-1 B10-1 | | | |
| B10. | Progra B10.1 | Configu B10.1.1 | or ration of Program Monitor Screen Relay ON/OFF Display | B10-1 B10-1 B10-1 | | | |
| B10. | Progra B10.1 | Configu B10.1.1 B10.1.2 | Tor ration of Program Monitor Screen Relay ON/OFF Display Displaying Application Instructions | B10-1 B10-1 B10-1 B10-3 | | | |
| B10. | Progra B10.1 B10.2 | Configur B10.1.1 B10.1.2 Activatir | Tor ration of Program Monitor Screen Relay ON/OFF Display Displaying Application Instructions ng and Ending Program Monitor | B10-1 B10-1 B10-1 B10-3 B10-4 | | | |
| B10. | Progra B10.1 B10.2 | Configu B10.1.1 B10.1.2 Activatir B10.2.1 | Tor ration of Program Monitor Screen Relay ON/OFF Display Displaying Application Instructions ng and Ending Program Monitor Procedure for Activating Program Monitor | B10-1 B10-1 B10-3 B10-3 B10-4 B10-4 | | | |
| B10. | Progra B10.1 B10.2 | Configur B10.1.1 B10.1.2 Activatir B10.2.1 B10.2.2 | Tor ration of Program Monitor Screen Relay ON/OFF Display Displaying Application Instructions ng and Ending Program Monitor Procedure for Activating Program Monitor Saving the Monitoring Program | B10-1 B10-1 B10-1 B10-3 B10-3 B10-4 B10-4 B10-5 | | | |
| B10. | Progra B10.1 B10.2 | Monit Configur B10.1.1 B10.1.2 Activatir B10.2.1 B10.2.2 B10.2.3 | Tor ration of Program Monitor Screen Relay ON/OFF Display Displaying Application Instructions ng and Ending Program Monitor Procedure for Activating Program Monitor Saving the Monitoring Program Monitor | B10-1 B10-1 B10-1 B10-3 B10-3 B10-4 B10-4 B10-5 B10-5 | | | |
| B10. | Progra B10.1 B10.2 B10.3 | Configur B10.1.1 B10.1.2 Activatir B10.2.1 B10.2.2 B10.2.3 Displayi | ior ration of Program Monitor Screen Relay ON/OFF Display Displaying Application Instructions ing and Ending Program Monitor Procedure for Activating Program Monitor Saving the Monitoring Program Procedure for Ending Program Monitor Image: Details of Application Instructions | B10-1 B10-1 B10-3 B10-3 B10-3 B10-4 B10-4 B10-5 B10-5 B10-5 B10-6 | | | |
| B10. | Progra B10.1 B10.2 B10.3 | Configur B10.1.1 B10.1.2 Activatir B10.2.1 B10.2.2 B10.2.3 Displayi B10.3.1 | ration of Program Monitor Screen Relay ON/OFF Display Displaying Application Instructions ng and Ending Program Monitor Procedure for Activating Program Monitor Saving the Monitoring Program Procedure for Ending Program Monitor Procedure for Ending Program Procedure for Ending Program Procedure for Ending Program Monitor | B10-1 B10-1 B10-1 B10-3 B10-3 B10-4 B10-4 B10-5 B10-5 B10-5 B10-5 B10-6 | | | |
| B10. | Progra B10.1 B10.2 B10.3 | Monit Configur B10.1.1 B10.1.2 Activatir B10.2.1 B10.2.2 B10.2.3 Displayir B10.3.1 B10.3.2 | ior ration of Program Monitor Screen Relay ON/OFF Display Displaying Application Instructions ing and Ending Program Monitor Procedure for Activating Program Monitor Saving the Monitoring Program Procedure for Ending Program Monitor Image: Details of Application Instructions Procedure for Displaying Details Changing Display Format | B10-1 B10-1 B10-3 B10-3 B10-3 B10-4 B10-4 B10-5 B10-5 B10-5 B10-6 B10-6 B10-7 | | | |
| B10. | Progra B10.1 B10.2 B10.3 B10.4 | Monit Configur B10.1.1 B10.1.2 Activatin B10.2.1 B10.2.2 B10.2.3 Displayin B10.3.1 B10.3.2 Switchin | ior ration of Program Monitor Screen Relay ON/OFF Display Displaying Application Instructions ing and Ending Program Monitor Procedure for Activating Program Monitor Saving the Monitoring Program Procedure for Ending Program Monitor Ing Details of Application Instructions Procedure for Displaying Details Changing Display Format | B10-1 B10-1 B10-3 B10-3 B10-3 B10-4 B10-4 B10-5 B10-5 B10-5 B10-6 B10-6 B10-7 B10-7 | | | |
| B10. | Progra B10.1 B10.2 B10.3 B10.4 | Monit Configur B10.1.1 B10.1.2 Activatir B10.2.1 B10.2.2 B10.2.3 Displayir B10.3.1 B10.3.2 Switchin B10.4.1 | For | B10-1 B10-1 B10-3 B10-3 B10-3 B10-4 B10-4 B10-4 B10-5 B10-5 B10-5 B10-5 B10-6 B10-7 B10-7 B10-8 | | | |
| B10. | Progra B10.1 B10.2 B10.3 B10.4 | Monit Configur B10.1.1 B10.1.2 Activatin B10.2.1 B10.2.2 B10.2.3 Displayin B10.3.1 B10.3.2 Switchin B10.4.1 B10.4.2 | For | B10-1 B10-1 B10-3 B10-3 B10-3 B10-4 B10-4 B10-4 B10-5 B10-5 B10-5 B10-5 B10-6 B10-7 B10-8 B10-8 B10-8 B10-8 | | | |
| B10. | Progra B10.1 B10.2 B10.3 B10.4 | Monit Configur B10.1.1 B10.1.2 Activatin B10.2.1 B10.2.2 B10.2.3 Displayin B10.3.1 B10.3.2 Switchin B10.4.1 B10.4.2 B10.4.3 | For | B10-1 B10-1 B10-3 B10-3 B10-4 B10-4 B10-4 B10-5 B10-5 B10-5 B10-5 B10-6 B10-6 B10-7 B10-7 B10-8 B10-8 B10-8 B10-9 B10-10 | | | |
| B10. | Progra B10.1 B10.2 B10.3 B10.4 B10.5 | Monit Configur B10.1.1 B10.1.2 Activatir B10.2.1 B10.2.2 B10.2.3 Displayir B10.3.1 B10.3.2 Switchin B10.4.1 B10.4.2 B10.4.3 Browsin | For | B10-1 B10-1 B10-3 B10-3 B10-3 B10-4 B10-4 B10-5 B10-5 B10-5 B10-5 B10-6 B10-6 B10-7 B10-8 B10-8 B10-8 B10-9 B10-10 B10-11 | | | |
| B10. | Progra B10.1 B10.2 B10.3 B10.4 B10.5 B10.6 | Monit Configur B10.1.1 B10.1.2 Activatin B10.2.1 B10.2.2 B10.2.3 Displayin B10.3.1 B10.3.2 Switchin B10.4.1 B10.4.2 B10.4.3 Browsin Searchin | ration of Program Monitor Screen Relay ON/OFF Display Displaying Application Instructions ng and Ending Program Monitor Procedure for Activating Program Monitor Saving the Monitoring Program Monitor Procedure for Ending Program Monitor ng Details of Application Instructions Procedure for Ending Program Monitor ng Details of Application Instructions Procedure for Displaying Details Changing Display Format Switching Display of Tag Names and Addresses Displaying I/O Comments Displaying Instruction Numbers ng With Program Monitor | B10-1 B10-1 B10-3 B10-3 B10-3 B10-4 B10-4 B10-4 B10-5 B10-5 B10-5 B10-6 B10-6 B10-7 B10-8 B10-8 B10-8 B10-9 B10-10 B10-11 B10-12 | | | |
| B10. | Progra B10.1 B10.2 B10.3 B10.4 B10.5 B10.6 | Monit Configur B10.1.1 B10.1.2 Activatir B10.2.1 B10.2.2 B10.2.3 Displayir B10.3.1 B10.3.2 Switchin B10.4.1 B10.4.2 B10.4.3 Browsin Searchir B10.6.1 | For | B10-1 B10-3 B10-3 B10-3 B10-3 B10-4 B10-4 B10-4 B10-5 B10-5 B10-5 B10-5 B10-6 B10-7 B10-7 B10-8 B10-7 B10-8 B10-9 B10-10 B10-11 B10-12 B10-12 B10-12 | | | |
| B10. | Progra B10.1 B10.2 B10.3 B10.4 B10.5 B10.6 | Monit Configur B10.1.1 B10.1.2 Activatin B10.2.1 B10.2.2 B10.2.3 Displayin B10.3.1 B10.3.2 Switchin B10.4.1 B10.4.2 B10.4.3 Browsin Searchin B10.6.1 B10.6.2 | For | B10-1 B10-3 B10-3 B10-3 B10-3 B10-4 B10-4 B10-5 B10-5 B10-5 B10-5 B10-6 B10-6 B10-7 B10-8 B10-8 B10-8 B10-8 B10-9 B10-10 B10-11 B10-12 B10-12 B10-12 B10-12 | | | |

| | B10.7 | Suspend | ling and Resuming Program Monitor | B10-13 |
|------|--------|-----------|--|--------|
| | | B10.7.1 | Procedure for Suspending Monitor | B10-13 |
| | | B10.7.2 | Procedure for Resuming Monitor | B10-13 |
| B11. | Device | Monitor | | B11-1 |
| | B11.1 | Configu | ration of Device Monitor Screens | B11-1 |
| | | B11.1.1 | Configuration of Relay Monitor Screen | B11-2 |
| | | B11.1.2 | Configuration of Register Monitor Screen | B11-3 |
| | | B11.1.3 | Configuration of Timer Monitor Screen | B11-4 |
| | | B11.1.4 | Configuration of Counter Monitor Screen | B11-5 |
| | B11.2 | Activatir | ng and Ending Device Monitor | B11-6 |
| | | B11.2.1 | Procedure for activating Device Monitor | B11-6 |
| | | B11.2.2 | Procedure for Ending Device Monitor | B11-7 |
| | B11.3 | Changin | g Display Format | B11-8 |
| | B11.4 | Searchir | ng Device Monitor | B11-10 |
| | B11.5 | Suspend | ling Device Monitor | B11-11 |
| | | B11.5.1 | Procedure for Suspending Monitor | B11-11 |
| | | B11.5.2 | Procedure for Resuming Monitor | B11-11 |
| B12. | Use of | the Deb | ugging Function | B12-1 |
| | B12.1 | Forced S | Set/Reset of the Relay | B12-1 |
| | | B12.1.1 | Devices with which Forced Set/Reset is Available | B12-1 |
| | | B12.1.2 | Operation and Expiration of Forced Set/Reset | B12-2 |
| | | B12.1.3 | Procedure for Forced Set/Reset | B12-2 |
| | | B12.1.4 | Procedure for Canceling Forced Set/Reset | B12-2 |
| | | B12.1.5 | Procedure for Canceling All Forced Set/Reset | B12-2 |
| | B12.2 | Changin | g Word/Long Word Data | B12-3 |
| | | B12.2.1 | Devices with which Data Change is Available | B12-3 |
| | | B12.2.2 | Operation of Devices that have been Changed | B12-3 |
| | | B12.2.3 | Procedure for Data Change | B12-4 |
| | B12.3 | Changin | g the Current Value of the Timer/Counter | B12-5 |
| | | B12.3.1 | Devices with which Current Value Change is Available | B12-5 |
| | | B12.3.2 | Operation of Devices that have been Changed | B12-5 |
| | | B12.3.3 | Procedure for Changing Current Value | B12-6 |
| | B12.4 | Changin | g the Timer/Counter Set Value | B12-7 |
| | | B12.4.1 | Devices with which Current Value Change is Available | B12-7 |
| | | B12.4.2 | Operation of Devices that have been Changed | B12-7 |
| | | B12.4.3 | Procedure for Changing Set Value | B12-7 |
| | B12.5 | Stop Ref | ireshing | B12-9 |
| | | B12.5.1 | Procedure for Stopping a Refresh | B12-9 |
| | | B12.5.2 | Restart Refreshing | B12-9 |
| | B12.6 | Block St | art and Stop | B12-10 |
| | | B12.6.1 | Procedure for Block Launch | B12-10 |
| | | B12.6.2 | Procedure for Block Stop | B12-10 |

| B13. | Online | Online Edit B13-1 | | | | | |
|------|--------|-------------------|--|---------|--|--|--|
| | B13.1 | Starting | Starting and Quitting Online Edit B | | | | |
| | B13.2 | Reflectin | Reflecting the Online Edit to the CPU | | | | |
| | B13.3 | Reflectin | Reflecting the Online Edit to a FileB13- | | | | |
| | B13.4 | Precauti | ons concerning the Online Edit | B13-5 | | | |
| B14. | Protec | tive Fun | ctions | B14-1 | | | |
| | B14.1 | Alarm D | isplay | B14-2 | | | |
| | | B14.1.1 | Layout of the Alarm Display Screen | B14-2 | | | |
| | | B14.1.2 | Displaying the Alarm Display Screen | B14-2 | | | |
| | | B14.1.3 | Canceling the Alarm | B14-3 | | | |
| | | B14.1.4 | Error Messages Displayed in the Alarm Monito | r B14-4 | | | |
| | B14.2 | System | Log Display | B14-5 | | | |
| | | B14.2.1 | System Log Display Screen Layout | B14-5 | | | |
| | | B14.2.2 | Displaying the System Log | B14-6 | | | |
| | | B14.2.3 | Saving the System Log File | B14-6 | | | |
| | | B14.2.4 | Reading From the System Log File | B14-7 | | | |
| | | B14.2.5 | Clearing the System Log | B14-7 | | | |
| | | B14.2.6 | Log Messages Displayed in the System Log | B14-8 | | | |
| | B14.3 | User Log | g Display | B14-9 | | | |
| | | B14.3.1 | User Log | B14-9 | | | |
| | | B14.3.2 | User Log Display Screen Layout | B14-10 | | | |
| | | B14.3.3 | Displaying the User Log Display Screen | B14-10 | | | |
| | | B14.3.4 | Saving the User Log File | B14-11 | | | |
| | | B14.3.5 | Reading From the User Log File | B14-11 | | | |
| | | B14.3.6 | Clearing the User Log | B14-12 | | | |
| | B14.4 | Compar | ing Executable Program | B14-13 | | | |
| | | B14.4.1 | Contents of the compare | B14-13 | | | |
| | | B14.4.2 | Limitation on the Compare Function | B14-13 | | | |
| | | B14.4.3 | Procedure for Comparing | B14-14 | | | |
| B15. | Operat | ing the I | ROM | B15-1 | | | |
| | B15.1 | ROM Wr | iter Mode/Canceling ROM Writer Mode | B15-3 | | | |
| | | B15.1.1 | Switching to ROM writer mode | B15-3 | | | |
| | | B15.1.2 | Canceling ROM Writer Mode | B15-4 | | | |
| | B15.2 | ROM Se | nding (Computer to ROM) | B15-5 | | | |
| | B15.3 | ROM Co | mparison (Between Computer and ROM) | B15-8 | | | |
| | B15.4 | ROM Co | ру | B15-11 | | | |
| | B15.5 | ROM De | letion | B15-13 | | | |

| B16. | I/O Mo | lule Settings B16-1 | | | | | |
|-----------------------|---|---|---|---|--|--|--|
| | B16.1 | Station A | Assignment of the FA Link and the Monitor | B16-1 | | | |
| | | B16.1.1 | Starting the FA Link Tool | B16-3 | | | |
| | | B16.1.2 | Setting the FA link station assignment | B16-4 | | | |
| | | B16.1.3 | Registering to the FA link Module | B16-7 | | | |
| | | B16.1.4 | Confirmation of the FA Link Module Status | B16-7 | | | |
| | | B16.1.5 | List of FA Link Tool Error Messages | B16-10 | | | |
| PART-I | B | Supple | ementary Functions Section | | | | |
| B17. | Sampl | ing Trace | e Tool | B17-1 | | | |
| | B17.1 | How to S | Sample | B17-2 | | | |
| | B17.2 | Samplin | g Trace Setup | B17-4 | | | |
| | | B17.2.1 | Setup Configuration | B17-4 | | | |
| | | B17.2.2 | Online Setup and Sampling Trace Start | B17-5 | | | |
| | B17.3 | Reading | Sampling Trace Results | B17-11 | | | |
| | B17.4 | Reading | Saved Trace Data | B17-17 | | | |
| B18. | Device | Manage | ement Tool | B18-1 | | | |
| | B18.1 | Device N | lanagement and Exiting | B18-2 | | | |
| | | B18.1.1 | Starting the Device Manager | B18-2 | | | |
| | | B18.1.2 | Exiting the Device Manager | B18-2 | | | |
| | B18.2 | Uploadir | ng Device Data | B18-3 | | | |
| | | | | | | | |
| | B18.3 | Downloa | iding Device Data | B18-6 | | | |
| | B18.3 B18.4 | Downloa Device D | ading Device Data Data Edit | B18-6 B18-10 | | | |
| | B18.3 B18.4 | Downloa Device D B18.4.1 | ading Device Data Data Edit Bringing up the Device Edit Screen/Closing the Device E | B18-6 B18-10 ditB18-10 | | | |
| | B18.3 B18.4 | Downloa Device D B18.4.1 B18.4.2 | ading Device Data Data Edit Bringing up the Device Edit Screen/Closing the Device E Operation of Special Keys | B18-6 B18-10 ditB18-10 B18-11 | | | |
| | B18.3 B18.4 | Downloa Device D B18.4.1 B18.4.2 B18.4.3 | ading Device Data Data Edit Bringing up the Device Edit Screen/Closing the Device E Operation of Special Keys String Display and Floating Point Display | B18-6 B18-10 ditB18-10 B18-11 B18-12 | | | |
| | B18.3 B18.4 | Downloa Device D B18.4.1 B18.4.2 B18.4.3 B18.4.4 | ading Device Data Data Edit Bringing up the Device Edit Screen/Closing the Device E Operation of Special Keys String Display and Floating Point Display Device Display | B18-6 B18-10 dit B18-10 | | | |
| | B18.3 B18.4 | Downloa Device D B18.4.1 B18.4.2 B18.4.3 B18.4.4 B18.4.5 | ading Device Data Data Edit Bringing up the Device Edit Screen/Closing the Device E Operation of Special Keys String Display and Floating Point Display Device Display Device Data Edit | B18-6 B18-10 dit B18-10 | | | |
| | B18.3 B18.4 | Downloa Device D B18.4.1 B18.4.2 B18.4.3 B18.4.3 B18.4.4 B18.4.5 B18.4.6 | ading Device Data Data Edit Bringing up the Device Edit Screen/Closing the Device E Operation of Special Keys String Display and Floating Point Display Device Display Device Data Edit Comparing Device Data | B18-6 B18-10 dit B18-10 | | | |
| PART-I | B18.3 B18.4 | Downloa Device D B18.4.1 B18.4.2 B18.4.3 B18.4.4 B18.4.5 B18.4.6 Object | Ading Device Data Data Edit Bringing up the Device Edit Screen/Closing the Device E Operation of Special Keys String Display and Floating Point Display Device Display Device Data Edit Comparing Device Data Ladder Section | B18-6 B18-10 dit B18-10 | | | |
| PART-I B19. | B18.3 B18.4 B18.4 | Downloa Device D B18.4.1 B18.4.2 B18.4.3 B18.4.4 B18.4.5 B18.4.6 Object Local De | Ading Device Data Data Edit Bringing up the Device Edit Screen/Closing the Device E Operation of Special Keys String Display and Floating Point Display Device Display Device Data Edit Comparing Device Data Ladder Section | B18-6 B18-10 ditB18-10 B18-11 B18-12 B18-13 B18-13 B18-27 B19-1 | | | |
| PART-I B19. | B18.3 B18.4 Use of B19.1 | Downloa Device D B18.4.1 B18.4.2 B18.4.3 B18.4.4 B18.4.5 B18.4.6 Object Local De What are | Ading Device Data Data Edit Bringing up the Device Edit Screen/Closing the Device E Operation of Special Keys String Display and Floating Point Display Device Display Device Data Edit Comparing Device Data Ladder Section evices | B18-6 B18-10 ditB18-10 B18-11 B18-12 B18-13 B18-13 B18-19 B18-27 B18-27 B19-1 | | | |
| PART-I B19. | B18.3 B18.4 Use of B19.1 B19.2 | Downloa Device D B18.4.1 B18.4.2 B18.4.3 B18.4.4 B18.4.5 B18.4.6 Object Local De What are Setup Lo | Ading Device Data Data Edit Bringing up the Device Edit Screen/Closing the Device E Operation of Special Keys String Display and Floating Point Display Device Display Device Data Edit Comparing Device Data Ladder Section evices bocal devices? | B18-6 B18-10 ditB18-10 B18-11 B18-12 B18-13 B18-13 B18-19 B18-27 B18-27 B18-27 B19-1 B19-1 B19-2 | | | |
| PART-I B19. | B18.3 B18.4 Use of B19.1 B19.2 | Downloa Device D B18.4.1 B18.4.2 B18.4.3 B18.4.3 B18.4.4 B18.4.5 B18.4.6 Object Local De What are Setup Lo B19.2.1 | Ading Device Data Data Edit Bringing up the Device Edit Screen/Closing the Device E Operation of Special Keys String Display and Floating Point Display Device Display Device Data Edit Comparing Device Data Ladder Section evices local devices? Setup within Each Block | B18-6 B18-10 ditB18-10 B18-11 B18-12 B18-13 B18-13 B18-13 B18-27 B18-27 B19-1 B19-1 B19-2 B19-3 | | | |
| PART-I B19. | B18.3 B18.4 Use of B19.1 B19.2 | Downloa Device D B18.4.1 B18.4.2 B18.4.3 B18.4.4 B18.4.5 B18.4.6 Object Local Da What are Setup Lo B19.2.1 B19.2.2 | Ading Device Data Data Edit Bringing up the Device Edit Screen/Closing the Device E Operation of Special Keys String Display and Floating Point Display Device Display Device Data Edit Comparing Device Data Ladder Section evices boal devices? Setup within Each Block Project Setup | B18-6 B18-10 ditB18-10 B18-11 B18-12 B18-12 B18-13 B18-13 B18-27 B18-27 B18-27 B19-1 B19-1 B19-2 B19-3 B19-4 | | | |
| PART-I B19. | B18.3 B18.4 B18.4 Use of B19.1 B19.2 B19.3 | Downloa Device D B18.4.1 B18.4.2 B18.4.3 B18.4.4 B18.4.5 B18.4.6 Object Local De What are Setup Lo B19.2.1 B19.2.2 Program | Ading Device Data Data Edit Bringing up the Device Edit Screen/Closing the Device E Operation of Special Keys String Display and Floating Point Display Device Display Device Data Edit Comparing Device Data Ladder Section evices e local devices? Setup within Each Block Project Setup | B18-6 B18-10 ditB18-10 B18-11 B18-12 B18-12 B18-13 B18-13 B18-19 B18-27 B19-1 B19-1 B19-2 B19-3 B19-4 B19-5 | | | |
| PART-I B19. | B18.3 B18.4 B18.4 Use of B19.1 B19.2 B19.3 B19.4 | Downloa Device D B18.4.1 B18.4.2 B18.4.3 B18.4.4 B18.4.5 B18.4.6 Object Local De What are Setup Lo B19.2.1 B19.2.2 Program Reusing | ading Device Data Data Edit Bringing up the Device Edit Screen/Closing the Device E Operation of Special Keys String Display and Floating Point Display Device Display Device Data Edit Comparing Device Data Ladder Section evices e local devices? Setup within Each Block Project Setup ming with Local Devices | B18-6 B18-10 ditB18-10 B18-11 B18-12 B18-12 B18-13 B18-13 B18-13 B18-27 B18-27 B19-1 B19-1 B19-2 B19-3 B19-4 B19-5 B19-6 | | | |
| PART-I B19. | B18.3 B18.4 B18.4 Use of B19.1 B19.2 B19.3 B19.4 | Downloa Device D B18.4.1 B18.4.2 B18.4.3 B18.4.4 B18.4.5 B18.4.6 Object Local Da B19.2.1 B19.2.2 Program Reusing B19.4.1 | Ading Device Data Data Edit Bringing up the Device Edit Screen/Closing the Device E Operation of Special Keys String Display and Floating Point Display Device Display Device Data Edit Comparing Device Data Ladder Section evices e local devices? Setup within Each Block Project Setup ming with Local Devices Reusing Blocks | B18-6 B18-10 ditB18-10 B18-11 B18-12 B18-12 B18-13 B18-13 B18-27 B18-27 B19-1 B19-2 B19-3 B19-3 B19-4 B19-5 B19-6 B19-7 | | | |

| B20. | Using Macros B20-1 | | | | |
|-------|--------------------|------------|---|---------|--|
| | B20.1 | About M | acros | B20-1 | |
| | | B20.1.1 | What are Macros? | B20-1 | |
| | | B20.1.2 | The Purpose of Macros | B20-2 | |
| | | B20.1.3 | Precautions Regarding Macros | B20-3 | |
| | | B20.1.4 | Macro-Dedicated Devices and Macro Local Devices | B20-4 | |
| | | B20.1.5 | Macros that Process Over Several Scans | B20-5 | |
| | B20.2 | Develop | ing Macros | B20-7 | |
| | | B20.2.1 | Initial Macro Setting | B20-8 | |
| | | B20.2.2 | Creating Macros | B20-9 | |
| | | B20.2.3 | Using Macros | B20-13 | |
| | | B20.2.4 | Transfering Macros | B20-15 | |
| | | B20.2.5 | Debugging Macros | B20-16 | |
| | | B20.2.6 | Registering Macros | B20-18 | |
| B21. | How to | o Use Gro | oup Tag Names | B21-1 | |
| | B21.1 | Defining | Group Tag Names | B21-1 | |
| | B21.2 | Program | ming Using Group Tag Names | B21-6 | |
| Appe | ndix | | | | |
| Appe | ndix 1.E | Error Mes | ssages | App.1-1 | |
| | Арр. 1. | 1 Displayi | ng Error Messages with the Online Help | App.1-1 | |
| Index | , | | | Ind-1 | |
| Revis | ion Info | ormation | | i | |

FA-M3 FA-M3 Programming Tool WideField Instruction Manual PART-A Introductory Manual

IM 34M6Q14-01E 1st Edition

CONTENTS

| Overview A1-1 | | | | | | |
|---------------|---|---|--|--|--|--|
| Operat | erating Environment | | | | | |
| Installa | ation and | d Booting | A3-1 | | | |
| A3.1 | Installat | ion | A3-1 | | | |
| A3.2 | Creating | Short-Cut Icons | A3-4 | | | |
| A3.3 | Uninstal | ling | A3-6 | | | |
| A3.4 | Starting | and Shut Down | A3-9 | | | |
| | A3.4.1 | Procedure for Starting WideField | A3-9 | | | |
| | A3.4.2 | Procedure for Shutting Down WideField | A3-10 | | | |
| | A3.4.3 | Procedure for Starting Help | A3-11 | | | |
| Basic S | Specifica | ations | A4-1 | | | |
| A4.1 | Screen I | _ayout | A4-1 | | | |
| A4.2 | Function | n List | A4-5 | | | |
| A4.3 | List of G | enerated Objects | A4-8 | | | |
| | A4.3.1 | Generated File | A4-8 | | | |
| | A4.3.2 | Circuit Elements | A4-9 | | | |
| | A4.3.3 | Folders | A4-9 | | | |
| A4.4 | Shortcu | t Keys | A4-10 | | | |
| A4.5 | Basic Ke | eys | A4-12 | | | |
| A4.6 | Type of \$ | Screens | A4-12 | | | |
| Object | Ladders | 3 | A5-1 | | | |
| A5.1 | Archited | ture of Object Ladders | A5-4 | | | |
| | A5.1.1 | Local Devices | A5-4 | | | |
| | A5.1.2 | Group Tag Names and Grouping of Tags | A5-5 | | | |
| | A5.1.3 | Component Macros | A5-9 | | | |
| | A5.1.4 | Hyper blocks | A5-10 | | | |
| | A5.1.5 | Index View | A5-11 | | | |
| | A5.1.6 | Compatible with Other Applications | A5-12 | | | |
| | A5.1.7 | Collective Change of I/O Installation Position . | A5-15 | | | |
| | Overvi Operat Installa A3.1 A3.2 A3.3 A3.4 Basic S A4.1 A4.2 A4.3 A4.4 A4.5 A4.6 Object A5.1 | Overview Operating Environment Installation and A3.1 Installation A3.1 Installation A3.2 Creating A3.3 Uninstallation A3.3 Uninstallation A3.4 Starting A3.4.1 A3.4.2 A3.4.1 A3.4.2 A3.4.3 Starting Basic Specification A4.1 Screen I A4.2 Function A4.3 List of G A4.3 List of G A4.3.1 A4.3.2 A4.3.3 A4.3.3 A4.4 Shortcur A4.5 Basic Ke A4.6 Type of S Object Ladders A5.1.1 A5.1.2 A5.1.3 A5.1.4 A5.1.4 A5.1.5 A5.1.6 A5.1.6 A5.1.6 A5.1.7 | Overview Operating Environment Installation and Booting A3.1 Installation A3.2 Creating Short-Cut Icons A3.3 Uninstalling A3.4 Starting and Shut Down A3.4.1 Procedure for Starting WideField A3.4.2 Procedure for Shutting Down WideField A3.4.3 Procedure for Starting Help Basic Specifications A4.1 A4.1 Screen Layout A4.2 Function List A4.3 List of Generated Objects A4.3 Generated File A4.3.1 Generated File A4.3.2 Circuit Elements A4.3.3 Folders A4.4 Shortcut Keys A4.5 Basic Keys A4.6 Type of Screens Object Ladders A5.1.1 A5.1.1 Local Devices A5.1.2 Group Tag Names and Grouping of Tags A5.1.3 Component Macros A5.1.4 Hyper blocks A5.1.5 Index View A5.1.6 Compatible with Other Applications | | | |

TocA-2

| A 6. | Progra | m Development Procedure | A6-1 |
|-------------|--------|------------------------------|-------|
| | A6.1 | Creating a New Project | A6-3 |
| | A6.2 | Creating a Block | A6-5 |
| | A6.3 | Program Component Difinition | A6-7 |
| | A6.4 | Local Devices | A6-9 |
| | A6.5 | Download | A6-12 |
| | A6.6 | Monitor Functions | A6-13 |

A1. Overview

The WideField software provides a Windows environment to develop programs which operate with FA-M3. Using this tool, developers are able to carry out all aspects of development, from creating programs to debugging and maintenance. It can be connected to an FA-M3 via an RS-232C or Ethernet connection, and supports a variety of functions to make development more efficient, such as editing in multiwindows, monitor functions, and working with other tools.

With this software it is not only possible to carry out program partition and parallel development, but also object ladder program development as well, which increases the independence between the program and the data. Thanks to this, it is possible to create programs with a high rate of reusability. For further details on object ladder programs, see "Chapter A5."



Figure A1.1

WideField Operating Diagram

FA010101E.EPS



A2. Operating Environment

This programming tool's operating environment is as follows.

| Item | Specifications |
|--------------------|--|
| OS | Microsoft Windows95 Microsoft Windows98 Microsoft Windows NT Workstation 4.0 ServicePack3 and higher Japanese |
| CPU | Pentium 133MHz or higher |
| Memory | 32MB or more recommended |
| Hard Disk Capacity | 100MB or more |
| Disk Drive | CD-ROM Disk Drive |
| Display | 800 x 600 dots or more At least 256 colors |
| Connection | • RS-232C Communication (Asynchronous) 9600bps, 19200bps, 38400bps, 57600bps, 115200bps* ¹ • Ethernet Communication |
| Printer | Any printer compatible with the OS listed above |

Table A2.1 Operating Environment

*1: The communication speed varies depending on the CPU being connected.

Set the display font size to a small font size. The text on the screen will be displayed incorrectly if a large font size is chosen.

This software supports the following Sequence CPU. However, functions may different according to the CPU. For details, see "Sequence CPU Operating Manual Functions."

| Туре | Basic Specifications |
|-----------|-----------------------------|
| F3SP05-0P | Program Capacity 5K Steps |
| F3SP21-0N | Program Capacity 10K Steps |
| F3SP25-2N | Program Capacity 20K Steps |
| F3SP35-5N | Program Capacity 100K Steps |
| F3FP36-3N | Program Capacity 40K Steps |
| F3SP28-2N | Program Capacity 30K Steps |
| F3SP38-6N | Program Capacity 120K Steps |
| F3SP53-4H | Program Capacity 56K Steps |
| F3SP58-6H | Program Capacity 120K Steps |

Table A2.2 CPU Types

TA020102E.EPS

TA020101E.EPS

Connections with FA-M3

FA-M3 sequence CPU module and WideField can be connected via RS-232C or Ethernet.

• Connection with RS-232C

Prepare an FA-M3 CPU cable as shown below. Select the cable with appropriate serial port connector for the PC to use.

Table A2.3 Cables for CPU Port

| Туре | Basic Specifi- cations Code | Style Code | Specifications | |
|------|--------------------------------|------------|------------------|-----------------|
| | -2T | *A | Cable length 3m | Compatible with |
| KM11 | -3T | *A | Cable length 5m | DOS/V machines |
| | -4T | *A | Cable length 10m | |

TA020103E.EPS

- (1) Serial Port Connections Plug into the serial port at the back of the PC.
- (2) Connect to Programmer Port of Sequence CPU Module Remove the protecting cover from the sequence CPU module to be accessed and set from WideField, and plug in firmly.

Ethernet Connections

Connect PC's (10BASE5/10BASE-T) connector to the (10BASE5/10BASE-T) connector of the Ethernet interface module with (10BASE5/10BASE-T) cable.

SEE ALSO

For details about Ethernet connections, see "Ethernet Interface Module Instruction Manual" (IM34M6H24-01E).

A3. Installation and Booting

This section describes how to install and uninstall this programming tool, creation of short-cut icons, and how to start and shut down the software.

A3.1 Installation

This section describes how to install this programming tool. Be sure the following cautions before installing.



- Shut down all other applications before installing.
- If the installation is interrupted, install from the beginning.
- If you are going to overwrite a previously installed version, uninstall it, and then install.
- (1) Insert the WideField CD-ROM into the CD-ROM drive.
- (2) Run the Explorer by clicking on [Start] [Programs] [Explorer].
- (3) Click on the CD-ROM drive. Run the [Setup.exe] from the file list.
- (4) After a few seconds, the following screen will appear, and Click [Next].





(5) The [User Information] dialog box will be displayed after the [Product License]. Enter the CD_KEY included in the box, and select the [Next] button.

| Jser Information | | | | × |
|------------------|--|--|----------------------|---------------|
| | Please ente work and the N <u>a</u> me: <u>C</u> ompany: <u>S</u> erial: | er your name, the name of the product serial number. WideField Yokogawa | of the company for w | nom you |
| | | < <u>B</u> ack | <u>N</u> ext > Ca | ancel |
| | | | | FA030102E EPS |

Figure A3.2 Installation Screen 2

(6) Specify the installation destination. Click [Browse] to change the destination, otherwise click [Next].

| Choose Destination Loca | ation X | |
|-------------------------|--|--|
| | Setup will install WideField in the following folder. | |
| | To install to this folder, click Next. | |
| | To install to a different folder, click Browse and select another folder. | |
| | You can choose not to install WideField by clicking Cancel to exit Setup. | |
| as 9 | Destination Folder | |
| | C:\Program Files\WideField Browse | |
| | | |
| | < <u>B</u> ack <u>N</u> ext> Cancel | |
| | FA030103E.EPS | |



(7) If [Browse] is selected, select the destination drive and folder to be changed and click [OK]. Figure A3.3;Installation Screen 3; is displayed again.

| Choose Folder | × |
|--------------------------------|------------------|
| Please choose the installation | folder. |
| | |
| L: \Program Files\WideField | |
| Directories: | |
| 🚖 c:\ 🔺 | OK |
| 🔄 Program Files | |
| 😋 WideField | Cancel |
| 🦲 Fam3pjt | |
| 📄 Fam3tmp 🚽 | N <u>e</u> twork |
| 📄 new 💽 | |
| | |
| Dri <u>v</u> es: | |
| Ξα. 🔻 | |
| · | |
| | FA030104E.EPS |

Figure A3.4 Installation Screen 4

(8) Confirm the components and the capacity of the disk drive (necessary capacity and available space). After confirming, click [Next].

| Select Components | | × |
|-------------------|--|--------|
| | Select the components you want to install, clear the component you do not want to install. Components Program Files 25376 K Instruction Manuals 0 K Description Program files of WideField | S |
| | Space Required: 27104 Space Available: 32544 < <u>Rack N</u> ext > Cancel | |
| | FA03010 | 5E.EPS |

Figure A3.5 Installation Screen 5

(9) After completing installation, the following screen will be displayed. Click [Finish] and installation will be finished.



Figure A3.6 Installation Screen 6

(10) Now, start this development tool by clicking on [Start] - [Program] - [WideField]. See the next section to start from the short-cut icon.

A3.2 Creating Short-Cut Icons

- (1) Click [Start] [Programs] [Explorer] to run Explorer.
- (2) Move this development tool to the folder installed. The following application exists. The other executable files in the same folder cannot be run alone.

Table A3.1 List of Applications

| Application Name | Description |
|------------------|------------------------|
| WideField.exe | Main WideField Program |
| FAM3Device.exe | Device Management Tool |
| FAM3Trace.exe | Sampling Trace Tool |
| | TA030201E.EPS |

(3) For all the application has the same procedure to create the short-cut icon, following describes about WideField.exe for example.

Click [WideField.exe] and drag it onto the desktop.

| | 🔯 Exploring - WideField | _ 🗆 × |
|------------------|---|---------------|
| | <u>File E</u> dit <u>V</u> iew <u>T</u> ools <u>H</u> elp | |
| | 🔁 WideField 💽 🔁 🐜 👗 🗎 | 1 🛍 🔽 |
| | All Folders Contents of 'WideField' | |
| | 🖃 🔄 WideField 🔺 Name | S 🔺 |
| | Fam3com SrsExfs.dll | 94 |
| Drag the file | Fam3mac 🔗 ycomsrv.exe | 396 |
| onto the desktop | Fam3pit 🔗 WideField.HLP | 5,085 |
| | 🕀 🛄 Fam3tmp | 41 |
| | Im34m6 WideField.exe | 3,124 |
| | WideField.cnt | 7 |
| | | 62 💌 |
| | | |
| | 1 object(s) selected 3.05MB | |
| | | FA030201E.EPS |

Figure A3.7 **Creating Short-Cut Icons**

(4) Short-cut icon has been created on the desktop.



Short-Cut Icon Figure A3.8

TIP

Right-click on the short-cut icon created and use the [Change Name] menu to change the name of the short-cut icon.



A3.3 Uninstalling

(1) Click [Start] - [Settings] - [Control Panel] to run the Control Panel.



Figure A3.10 Running Control Panel

(2) The Control Panel is displayed. Double click [Add/Remove Programs].



(3) Select the software to be removed. Select WideField and then choose the [Add/ Remove] button.



Figure A3.12 Select WideField

(4) After confirming the name of the software, click [Yes]. Click [No] to return to the screen, Figure A3.12

| Confirm F | File Deletion 🔀 |
|-----------|---|
| ? | Are you sure you want to completely remove "WideField" and all of its components? |
| | Yes No |
| | FA030304E.EPS |

Figure A3.13 Confirmation Message
(5) Uninstalling is begin. Once it is completed, click [OK].



Figure A3.14 Complete Application Removal



- Uninstalling will delete all applications in this development tool. It is not possible to remove only part of the applications.
- The program environments you have developed will remain after uninstalling.

A3.4 Starting and Shut Down

This section describes how to start and shut down each applications.

A3.4.1 Procedure for Starting WideField

(1) Click [Start], then click [Programs] - [WideField] - [WideField].

| 🔯 WideField | | • | FA-M3 Support Tool | Þ |
|--------------|---------------------|----------|-----------------------------|-----|
| | | * | WideField Help WideField | |
| Figure A3.15 | Selecting WideField | | FA030401E | .EP |



| 🤣 WideField | - 🗆 × |
|--|-------|
| File Edit Find(S) View Online Debug/Maintenance Tool Window Help | |
| | J 辽 |
| <u> マキキモキャッショー 国産時間時、マンド部計画等キャナナポイ</u> | |
| | |
| | |
| | |
| | |
| Ineady Eago | |

Figure A3.16 WideField Start-Up Screen

TIP

Start from a short-cut icon is also possible. Double-click the short-cut icon to start the program.

A3.4.2 Procedure for Shutting Down WideField

(1) Select [File] - [Exit] from the menu bar. WideField will then shut down.

| <u>F</u> ile | <u>E</u> dit | Find(<u>S</u>) | <u>V</u> iew | On <u>l</u> ine | <u>D</u> ebug/Main |
|---------------------------|-----------------------------|-----------------------------------|----------------|--------------------|--------------------|
| Nev Ope | v Proje en Proje | ct(<u>M</u>) ect(<u>H</u>) | | | |
| Say | se Proj <u>v</u> e Proje | ect :ct | | | |
| <u>N</u> ev Ope Glo | ν en se | | | | Ctrl+N |
| <u>S</u> av Sav | е е <u>А</u> s | | | | Ctrl+S |
| Prir | n <u>t</u> Setup | D | | | |
| <u>P</u> rir | nt | | | | Gtrl+P |
| Оре Оре | en CAD en GAD | M3 Execu M3 File(<u>K</u> | itable Pr) | rogram(<u>J</u>) |) |
| E <u>x</u> i | t | | | | |
| | | | | | FA030403E.EPS |

Figure A3.17 Selecting Shut Down Application

TIP

It is also possible to shut down the application from the application control menu. Click on the application icon. Select [Close] from the drop down menu.

| 🎯 WideField | đ | |
|-------------------|---------------|--------------|
| <u>R</u> estore | | |
| Move | | |
| <u>S</u> ize | | |
| Minimize | | |
| Ma <u>x</u> imize | | |
| <u>C</u> lose | Alt+F4 | |
| | FA030404E.EPS | |
| Figure A3.18 | Selec | ting [Close] |

A3.4.3 Procedure for Starting Help

WideField has a Help function, which includes items such as how to operate WideField, instruction functions, device types, error codes, and so on. Start and use it whenever as required. It is used same as other Windows software help. See the Windows operating manual.

■ Starting from the Start Menu

Select [Start] - [Programs] - [WideField] - [WideField Help] from the start menu to start the help.

| 🧰 WideField | Þ 🧓 | FA-M3 Support Tool 🔸 |
|-------------|-----|----------------------|
| | | WideField Help |
| | | WideField |

FA030405E.EPS

Figure A3.19 Start Help from the Start Menu

| Help Topics: WideField Operation Help ? 🔀 |
|---|
| Contents Index Find |
| |
| Click a book, and then click Open. Or click another tab, such as Index. |
| How To Use WideField |
| Sector Instruction |
| Devices |
| Error code and message |
| About Sequence CPU |
| S Glossary |
| |
| |
| |
| |
| |
| |
| |
| |
| |
| <u>O</u> pen <u>Print</u> Cancel |
| FA030406E.EPS |

Figure A3.20 Help Start-Up Screen

Starting from the WideField Menu Bar

Select [Help] - [WideField Help], or [Help] - [Contents and Index] from WideField to start.



Figure A3.21 Starting Help from the WideField Menu Bar

Start Using the Help Button

Select the help button in dialog boxes, and the Help is displayed.

| 001 6 M00035 | | | | | 1100 | | |
|--|-----------------------------------|-------------|---------------|------------------|---------|--------|--------------|
| 0017 | | | | | INCSetu | D00001 | OK Cancel |
| 001 8 | | | | | | | <u>H</u> elp |
| WideField Operal File Edit Bookmark | t ion Help Options Help | | | | | | |
| Help <u>I</u> opics <u>B</u> ack | <u>Print</u> | <u> </u> | <u>></u> > | | | | |
| M INC in | struction | | | | | | |
| Function | | | | | | | |
| The Increr | nent instructior | n increment | s 16-bit or 3 | 32-bit data D by | 1. | | |



FA030408E.EPS

Starting from F1 key

Press the F1 key to start the WideField Help. The following method may be used.

• Activate a menu, and call up the help for the use of menu command.



Figure A3.23 Calling Menu Command Help

With the menu selected as shown in Figure A3.22, pressing the F1 key will call up the help for the selected menu command (in this example, help for configuration).

• Calling up the help for a dialog box with the box displayed

With a dialog box displayed front, pressing the F1 key will display the help for the dialog box. (Some dialog such as Windows standard dialog boxes may not have their help items displayed.)



A4. Basic Specifications

This section describes basic specifications such as screen layout, function list and key operation.

A4.1 Screen Layout

This section describes the layout of the screen.



Figure A4.1 Screen Layout

FA040101E.EPS

Title Bar

The names of opened projects, active windows and the filename being edited are displayed in the title bar.



Figure A4.2 Layout of Title Bar

Menu Bar

The names of menus which can be used with this development tool are displayed in the menu bar, and can be selected from here.

| <u>F</u> ile | <u>E</u> dit | Find(<u>S</u>) | ⊻iew | Project | On <u>l</u> ine | <u>D</u> ebug/Maintenance | <u>T</u> ool | <u>W</u> indow | <u>H</u> elp |
|--------------|--------------|------------------|-------|----------|-----------------|---------------------------|--------------|----------------|---------------|
| | | | | | | | | | FA040103E.EPS |
| Figu | re A4 | .3 | Layou | ut of Me | nu Bar | | | | |

Tool Bar

Icons for the most often used menus from the menu bar are displayed in the tool bar. Menus may be selected from the tool bar not only from the menu bar. Menu is registered to the tool bar in the environment settings. You can also switch between displaying and not displaying the tool bar at [View] - [Toolbar].

| 🗃 😂 🚰 🖸 😂 💾 🎒 | |
|---------------|---------------|
| | FA040104E.EPS |

Figure A4.4 Layout of Toolbar

Command Palette

Icons for commands and comments are displayed in the command palette. Select commands from the command palette to create the circuit. You can also switch between displaying and not displaying the command palette at [View] - [Instruction Palette].

| Qhutalulancologian 🖾 🖾 🖓 🗁 📾 👘 예배 패배 ギーキ |
|--|
|--|

Figure A4.5 Layout of Instruction Palette

A4-2

FA040105E.EPS

F8

Function Keys

The function keys bring up command and comment icons on the circuit edit screen. The debug function is displayed on the monitor screen. It is also possible to select commands and menus from the function keys, other than from the menu bar or command palette. You can also switch between displaying and not displaying the function keys at [View] - [Function Keys]. When in the block edit screen or the online edit screen, the command function keys are displayed, while the debug function keys are displayed when in the online edit screen.

| <i>F4</i> f() | F5 - ⊦ | F6 +14 | F7-0- | F8] | <i>F9</i> — | F11 TIM | F12 SET | Otri F7 | CircuitCom. |
|---------------|--------|---------------|-----------|----------|-------------|---------|---------|---------|---------------|
| ♠ f()List | ♠ - /- | ♠ +14 | ♠-Ø- | ♠ Ж | ♠ ;⊇ | ONT | | Otri F8 | I∕OCom. |
| Figure A4.6 | La | yout of In | struction | Functior | n Keys | | | | FA040106E.EPS |

F7 Word Change

Long Word Change

| Figure A4.7 | Lavout of Debug Function Keys | |
|-------------|-------------------------------|--|

F6 Cancel Forced

♠ Forced Reset ♠ Cancel All Forced

Status Bar

F5 Forced Set

The status of a variety of information concerning this development tool is displayed on the status bar. You can also switch between displaying and not displaying the status bar at [View] - [Status Bar].

| Explains outline of the menu | The status of the FA-M3 connection is displayed here. | Displays Overwrite/Insert mode. |
|---|---|---------------------------------|
| that the mouse cursor is positioned over. | | \sim |

| Ready | Connect le022,1 | Line=23 | Step=10 | 05 Ovr. | / |
|-------------|---|-----------------|------------------------|--|----------|
| | Displays the IP address and CPU number of the connected device via Ethe communication. Via RS-232C communic the COM number is displayed. | ernet ation, | Displays in the blo | the number of lines and steps ock and command macro. | |
| Figure A4.8 | Layout of Status Bar | | | FA0401 | 108E.EPS |

Project Window

The layout of opened projects is displayed in the project window. Executable programs, lists of the blocks inside projects and command macros are displayed. You can also switch between displaying and not displaying the project window at [View] - [Project Window].





Change Current of T/C

Change Preset of T/C

FA040107E.EPS

A4-4

You can call up the screen directly from the project window.

• Executable Program Layout Definition Screen

Double click on [Layout Definition].

Configuration Settings Screen

Set the configuration to [Setup] with the executable program layout definition to display [Configuration] in the project window. Double click on [Configuration].

User Log Message Creation Screen

Set the user log message to [yes] with the executable program layout definition to display "User Log Message" in the project window. Double click on [User Log Message].

Common Tag Definition Screen

Double click on [Common Tag Name Definition].

Block Edit Screen

Double click on either block name in the block layout or the block name in the block list.

Command Macro Edit Screen

Double click on the macro name in the Instruction macro list.

A4.2 Function List

Below is a list of all functions.

| Table A | 4.1 Function List (1 | /3) |
|----------|----------------------------------|---|
| Menu Bar | Menu Command | Description |
| File | New Project | Creates a new project. |
| | Open Project | Opens an existing project. |
| | Close Project | Closes an opened project. |
| | Save Project | Saves an opened project by overwriting |
| | New | Creates a new block, command macro, or group template. |
| | Open | Opens any type of file (blocks, command macros, system logs, user logs, group templates). |
| | Close | Closes any type of file and screen that has been opened. |
| | Save | Overwrites and saves any type of file that has been opened. The menu changes to [File Reflection] during the program monitor and the macro monitor, and the contents of the online edit are reflected in the file. |
| | Save As | Saves opened blocks or command macros with a different file name. The menu changes to [Different File Reflection] during the program monitor and the macro monitor, and the contents of the online edit are reflected in the other file. |
| | Print setup | Settings Sets the printer. |
| | Print | Prints out screen or project. |
| Or Ex | Open CADM3 Executable Program | Converts a CADM3 executable program to WideField project format, and opens the project. |
| | Open CADM3 File | Opens a CADM3 block and macro file. |
| | Exit | Exit the application. |
| Edit | Undo | Cancels the previous operation and returns to the original state. |
| | Convert | Converts a ladder diagram into an object. |
| | Cut | Cuts out the designated area and stores it in the clipboard. |
| | Сору | Copies the designated area and stores it in the clipboard. |
| | Paste | Pastes the contents of the clipboard onto the designated area. |
| | Delete | Deletes the designated area. |
| | Image Copy | Saves the circuits in the designated area to the clipboard as a bitmap. |
| | Insert Line | Inserts 1 line. |
| | Delete Line | Deletes the line and space in the designated area. |
| | Temporary Delete | Deletes the area designated temporarily. The deleted area simply changes color without disappearing. |
| | Undo Temporary Delete | Objects temporarily deleted are restore. |
| | Ladder Symbol | Displays the circuit command symbols. |
| | Page Break | Inserts a page break mark in the circuit comment for printing. |
| | Hide Circuit | Hides all circuits from the previous circuit comment until the next one. |
| | Show Circuit | Show hidden circuits and redisplays them. |
| | Hide All Circuits | Hides all circuits between circuit comments and displays them. |
| | Show All Circuit | Shows all hidden circuits and redisplays them. |
| | Block Tag Definition | Displays the tag definition screen. |
| | Local Device/Properties | Defines the number of local devices and the properties in a block. |

TA040201E.EPS

| Menu Bar | Menu Command | Description |
|----------|-------------------------------------|--|
| Find | Find | Searches for a device |
| | Find Instruction | Searches for a instruction |
| | Find Next | Searches again for the previous item |
| | | lumps to the designated place |
| | oump | The submenu contains jumps to the first line, the last line, to a designated line number, and to a designated command number. |
| | Replace | Replaces a circuit device with another. |
| | Device Usage Status | Displays devices currently used in the block by marking them. |
| View | Tool Bar | Switches between displaying and hiding the tool bar. |
| | Instruction Palette | Switches between displaying and hiding the command palette. |
| | Status Bar | Switches between displaying and hiding the status bar. |
| | Function Keys | Switches between displaying and hiding the function keys. |
| | Action Monitor | Switches between displaying and hiding the movement monitor. |
| | Project Window | Switches between displaying and hiding the project window. |
| | Display Comment I/O | Switches between displaying and hiding the I/O comment. |
| | Instruction Number Display | Switches between displaying and hiding the command number. |
| | Display Address | Switches between displaying the tag name and the address. |
| | Redraw | Redraws a circuit. |
| | Zoom | Displays circuits enlarged or reduced. Enlarge and Reduce are listed in the submenu. |
| | Detail | Displays the current values of the register, etc. |
| | Display Format | Changes the display format. The different formats are: decimal, hexadecimal, binary, character string, and floating point. |
| | Suspend monitor | Stops monitoring the entire screen temporarily. During this state, the menu displays [Restart Monitor]. |
| Project | Define | Defines the executable program configuration. |
| | Change CPU Type/ Properties | Defines the information of the CPU type and its properties. |
| | Configuration | Sets the configuration in a project. |
| | User Log Message | Creates a user log message in a project. |
| | Common Tag Name Definition | Defines the common tag name in all blocks in a project. |
| | Check Program | Checks the syntax in all blocks in a project. |
| | Find in Project | Searches for and displays a list of all devices, block names, and labels in a project. |
| | Find Instruction in Project | Searches for and displays a list of all commands in a project. |
| | Replace in Project | Replaces all the tag names and addresses for all blocks in a project. |
| | Change I/O Installation Position | Executes a comprehensive change of all addresses of input/output relays with change of the I/O slot. |
| | Project Device Usage Status | Displays devices in use in all blocks in a project by marking them. |
| | Insert File | Copies block and common tag definitions from other folders into the project. |
| | Rename File | Changes the names of blocks and command macros in a project. |
| | Delete File | Deletes blocks and command macros in a project. |
| | Register Macro | Registers command macros in a project to the macro folder. |
| | Get macro | Extracts command macros from the macro folder into the project. |

| Table A 4 1 | Function List (2/3) |
|--------------------|---------------------|
| 1 abic A4.1 | |

TA040202E.EPS

| Menu Bar | Menu Commnd | Description |
|-------------|---------------------------------------|---|
| Online | Connect | Connects the PC and the FA-M3. |
| - | Disconnect | Disconnects the PC and the FA-M3. |
| | Program Monitor | Monitors the CPU's program block with a circuit. |
| | Macro Monitor | Monitors the CPU's instruction macros with a circuit. |
| | Device Monitor | Monitors the CPU's devices. |
| | Configuration | Displays the CPU's configuration. |
| | Operating Mode | Switches the operation mode. There are submenus for change to operation mode, stop, and debug mode. |
| | Download | Downloads executable programs from the PC to the CPU. |
| | Upload | Uploads executable programs to the PC from the CPU. |
| | Compare File and CPU | Compares an executable program between the PC and the CPU. |
| | ROM Management | Control the ROM pack. There are submenus for file to ROM download, CPU to ROM upload, cross-checking files with ROM, erasing ROM, switching to ROM writer mode, and canceling ROM writer mode. |
| | Extended Functions | Executes a variety of controls for the CPU. There are submenus for temporarily changing communication speed, setting the time, program clear, device clear, reset start, and exclusive access right control. |
| Debug/ | Forced Set | Forcibly set a device. |
| Maintenance | Forced Reset | Forcibly reset a device. |
| | Cancel Forced Set/Reset | Cancels a device that has been forcibly set or reset. |
| | Cancel All Forced Set/Reset | Cancels all devices that have been forcibly set or reset. |
| | Change Word Data | Changes a device's current values to word data. |
| | Change Long Word Data | Changes a device's current values to long word data. |
| | Change Current Value of Timer/Counter | Changes the current values of the timer/counter. |
| | Change Preset Values of Timer/Counter | Changes the set values of the timer/counter. |
| | Start Online Editing | Starts the online edit. The menu display will change to [Quit Online Edit] while in online edit. |
| | Start Block | Starts a stopped block. |
| | Stop Block | Stops a launched block. |
| | Stop Refreshing | Stops a refresh. There are submenus for input [X] stop, output [Y], common [E/R] stop, and link [L/W] stop. |
| | Restart Refreshing | Restarts all points of the refresh. |
| | Display Alarm | Displays all the alarms that the CPU is currently generating. When the alarms are displayed, the display changes to [Redisplay Alarm]. |
| | Cancel Alarm | Cancels the CPU's alarm data. |
| | Display System Log | Displays the CPU's error history. While the error history is displayed, the menu display will change to [Redisplay System Log]. |
| | Display User Log | Displays the CPU's user history. While the error history is displayed, the menu display will change to [Redisplay User Log]. |
| | Clear Log | Clear the displayed user or system logs. |
| Tool | Set Environment | Sets the PC's environment. |
| | Set I/O Module | Starts the FA link tools. |
| Windows | Cascade | Displays the windows overlapped. |
| | Tile | Displays the windows arranged. |
| | Arrange Icons | Arranges the icons. |
| Help | WideField Help | Displays the help by function. |
| | Contents and Index | Displays help by keyword. |
| | About WideField | Displays WideField version information. |

Table A4.1Function List (3/3)

A4.3 List of Generated Objects

This section describes the generated objects.

A4.3.1 Generated File

Table A4.2

Specifications of Generated File

| Generated File | lcon | Extension | Item | Specifications |
|------------------------------------|------|-----------|---------------------------------|--|
| Project File | _ | .YPJT | File Name | String of letters and numbers within 8 characters beginning with a character. Special characters as "-" (hyphens) and "_" (underbars) can be used. |
| | | | Project Title | Up to 32 characters. Letters, numbers, special characters, Chinese characters, hiragana, and katakana may be used. |
| Executable Program File | | .YPRG | File Name | Only one with the same name as the project can be created inside a project. |
| | | | Number of Component Blocks | Up to 1024. (Varies depending on the CPU.) |
| | | | Configuration Settings | Up to 1. (Not need to be set.) |
| | | | User Log Message Settings | Up to 1. (Not need to be set.) |
| Configuration File | 1 | .YC□□ | File Name | Only one with the same name as the project can be created inside a project. ($\Box\Box\Box$ are the number corresponding to the CPU type.) |
| User Log Message File | 1 | .YUMS | File Name | Only one with the same name as the project can be created inside a project. |
| | | | Number of Message Characters | Up to 32 characters. Letters, numbers, special characters, Chinese characters, hiragana, and katakana may be used. |
| | | | Number of Messages | Up to 64 |
| Common Tag Name Definition File | | .YCMN | File Name | Only one with the same name as the project can be created inside a project. |
| | | | Number Registered | Up to 5120 data. |
| Block File | BLK∙ | .YBLK | File Name | Only one with the same name as the project can be created inside a project. |
| | | | Number of Steps | Up to 10K steps. |
| | | | Number of Lines | Up to 4000 lines. |
| Block tag Name | | .YSIG | File Name | Can be created with the same name as the block. |
| Definition File | | | Number Registered | Up to 5120 data. |
| Instruction Macro File | MCR | .YMCR | File Name | String of letters and numbers within 8 characters beginning with a character. Special characters as "-" (hyphens) and "_" (underbars) can be used. |
| | -110 | | Number of Steps | Up to 10K steps. |
| | | | Number of Lines | Up to 4000 lines. |
| Macro Tag Name | | .YMCS | File Name | Can be created with the same name as the macro. |
| Definition File | | | Number Registered | Up to 5120 data. |
| Group Template File | | .YGRP | File Name | String of letters and numbers within 8 characters beginning with a character. Special characters as "-" (hyphens) and "_" (underbars) can be used. |
| | | | Number Registered | Up to 64 data. |
| System Log File | ঙি | .YSLG | File Name | String of letters and numbers within 8 characters beginning with a character. Special characters as "-" (hyphens) and "_" (underbars) can be used. |
| User Log File | U | .YULG | File Name | String of letters and numbers within 8 characters beginning with a character. Special characters as "-" (hyphens) and "_" (underbars) can be used. |
| Sampling Trace File | | .TRF | File Name | String of characters and numbers within 8 characters beginning with an English character. |
| Device Management File | | .DVF | File Name | String of characters and numbers within 8 characters beginning with an English character. |
| FA Link Settings File | | .FAI | File Name | String of characters and numbers within 8 characters beginning with an English character. |

TA040301E.EPS

IM 34M6Q14-01E 1st Edition : July 31,2000-00

A4.3.2 Circuit Elements



| Table A4.3 | Specifications of Circu | it Elements |
|------------|--------------------------------|-------------|
| | | |

| Element | Item | Specifications |
|-----------------|--|---|
| Tag Name | Number of Characters | String of characters and numbers within 16 characters beginning with an English character. Special characters as "-" (hyphens) and "_" (underbars) can be used. However, strings that are not distinguishable from the device name are not allowed. |
| | Number Registered | Up to 5120 within each block. |
| Circuits | Number of Lines in 1 Circuit | Up to 25 lines. |
| | Number of Instructions in 1 Circuit | Up to 128 instructions. |
| | Continued Lines | Up to 3 lines. |
| | Number of Vertical Columns | Fixed at 11 columns. |
| Circuit Comment | Number of Characters | Up to 72 characters. Letters, numbers, special characters, Chinese characters, hiragana, and katakana may be used. |
| | Number Registered | Up to 3000 together with the sub-comment in the entire executable program. |
| Sub-Comment | Number of Characters | Up to 24 characters. Letters, numbers, special characters, Chinese characters, hiragana, and katakana may be used. |
| | Number Registered | Up to 3000 together with the sub-comment in the entire executable program. |
| I/O Comment | Number of Characters | Up to 32 characters. Letters, numbers, special characters, Chinese characters, hiragana, and katakana may be used. |
| | Number Registered | Up to 5120 in each block |
| Title | Number of Characters | Up to 24 characters. Letters, numbers, special characters, Chinese characters, hiragana, and katakana may be used. |
| Label | Number of Characters | A string of characters and numbers beginning with 1 or more letters. Special characters as "-" (hyphens) and "_" (underbars) can be used. |
| | Number Registered | There is a limitation within the entire executable program. (Varies depending on the CPU.) |

TA040302E.EPS

A4.3.3 Folders

Table A4.4 Folder Specifications

| Generated Object | Item | Specifications |
|------------------|----------------------|--------------------|
| Folder | Number of Characters | Up to 255 Letters. |

TA040303E.EPS

A4.4 Shortcut Keys

Shortcut keys are keys assigned certain menus or instructions to select menus or input instructions from the keyboard. For example, input [Ctrl] + [N] to select the [New Document] menu. Below is a list of the shortcut keys.

| Classification | Shortcut Key | lcon | Description |
|----------------|--------------------|----------------|---------------------------------------|
| Menu | [Ctrl] + N | D | New Document |
| | [Ctrl] + S | l | Save, File Reflection |
| | [Ctrl] + P | 4 | Print |
| | [Ctrl] + Z | 5 | Restore |
| | [Ctrl] + U | - | Convert |
| | [Ctrl] + X | ж | Cut |
| | [Ctrl] + C | | Сору |
| | [Ctrl] + V | <u> </u> | Paste |
| | [Delete] | \mathbf{x} | Delete |
| | [Shift] + [Insert] | - | Insert line |
| | [Shift] + [Delete] | Ĩ | Delete line |
| | [Alt] + [Enter] | P | Local device properties |
| | [Ctrl] + F | 冉 | Find |
| | [F3] | * | Find next |
| | [Ctrl] +R | A ≉ ≯B | Replace |
| | [Ctrl] + [Home] | \uparrow | Move to top of line |
| | [Ctrl] + [End] | \downarrow | Move to end of line |
| | [Ctrl] + I | ÷ | Display I/O comment |
| | [Ctrl] + K | := 1ŀ | Display instruction number |
| | [Ctrl] + A | ×201 HI | Display address |
| | [Ctrl] + W | -R | Display details |
| | [F5] | 69 | Forced set |
| | [Shift] + [F5] | ß | Forced reset |
| | [F6] | 1 | Cancel forced set/reset |
| | [Shift] + [F6] | ٢ | Cancel all forced set/reset |
| | [F7] | S | Change word data |
| | [Shift] + [F7] | 1 | Change long word data |
| | [F8] | () | Change current value of timer/counter |
| | [Shift] + [F8] | ¢ | Change preset value of timer/counter |
| | [Ctrl] + H | ACT | Start block |
| | [Ctrl] + L | IN ACT | Stop block |
| | [F1] | 3 | Help |

Table A4.5List of Shortcut Keys (1/2)

TA040401E.EPS

| Description | Shortcut Key | lcon | Classification |
|-------------|-----------------|-------------|------------------------------|
| Instruction | [F4] | | Application instruction |
| | [Shift] + [F4] | | Application instruction list |
| | [F5] | ⊣⊢ | Contact A |
| | [Shift] + [F5] | -1/- | Contact B |
| | [F6] | ЧН | Contact A OR |
| | [Shift] + [F6] | -1/1- | Contact B OR |
| | [F7] | \diamond | OUT |
| | [Shift] + [F7] | Ø | OUTN |
| | [F8] | | Insert connect line |
| | [Shift] + [F8] | > | Delete connect line |
| | [F9] | | Horizontal line |
| | [Shift] + [F9] | \uparrow | Continuation line |
| | [F11] | | ТІМ |
| | [Shift] + [F11] | | CNT |
| | [F12] | SET | SET |
| | [Shift] + [F12] | RST | RST |
| | [Ctrl] + [F7] | Ę | Circuit comment |
| | [Ctrl] + [F8] | | I/O comment |
| | [Ctrl] + [F9] | ⋪≞ | Subcomment |
| | [Ctrl] + [F6] | 불 | Label |

Table A4.5List of Shortcut Keys (2/2)

TA040402E.EPS

Access Keys

Access key is the alphabet assigned to the end of each menu titles so that menu selection can be done from the keyboard. For example, input [ALT] + [F] to open the file menu. Hear, input [H] to select the [Open Project] menu.

| 🎯 WideField | | | | |
|---------------------------|---|---------------|------------------|--------------------|
| <u>F</u> ile <u>E</u> dit | Find(<u>S</u>) | ⊻iew | On <u>l</u> ine | <u>D</u> ebug/Main |
| New Proje | ct(<u>M</u>) | | | |
| Open Proj | ect(<u>H</u>) | | | |
| Glose Proj | ject | | | |
| Sa <u>v</u> e Proja | ect | | | |
| <u>N</u> ew | | | | Ctrl+N |
| Open | | | | |
| <u>C</u> lose | | | | |
| Save | | | | Ctrl+S |
| Save <u>A</u> s | | | | |
| Prin <u>t</u> Setu | p | | | |
| <u>P</u> rint | | | | Gtrl+P |
| Open CAE Open CAE |) M3 Execu)M3 File(<u>k</u> | utable P) | rogram(<u>J</u> |) |
| E <u>×</u> it | | | | |
| | | | | FA040401E.EPS |

Figure A4.10 Access Keys

A4.5 Basic Keys

Keys which can be used with this tool and their uses are listed below.

| Кеу | Use |
|--------------|--|
| [Esc] | Interrupts executionCancels the selection of a instruction |
| [Tab] | Switches the input area in a dialog |
| [Insert] | Switches between overwrite and insert mode |
| [Ctrl] | Selects menu in combination with other keys |
| [Alt] | Selects menu bar in combination with other keys |
| [Page Up] | Scrolls the screen up |
| [Page Down] | Scrolls the screen down |
| [Delete] | Deletes elements where the cursor is positioned Deletes 1 character |
| [Shift] | Inputs the character in the shift position |
| [Back Space] | Deletes the character left of the cursor position |
| [Enter] | Enters carriage return |
| [\$] | First character in a hexadecimal number |
| [%] | First character in a floating point number |
| ["] | The beginning and last character in a character string |
| [.] | The character which defines the division between a group name and its member |
| [/] | First character in a local device |
| | TA040501E.EPS |

A4.6 Type of Screens

This section describes the different types of screens and their limitation. There are the following types of screens.

• Window

Can be operated in multi-windows, enlarged and reduced. Up to 10 window-type screens can be opened at the same time. To close a screen select [File] - [Close].

Modeless Dialog

Operate the menu bar to move control to a window-type screen. To close a modeless dialog-type screen, click on the button displayed on the screen. Instructions from menu to the modeless dialog are invalid.

Types of screen and their limitations are summarized in the table on the next page.

| Main Item | Type of Screen | Purpose Screen | Туре | Limits |
|---------------------------|--|--|-----------------|----------------------------|
| Edit Block | Circuit Edit Screen | Create block circuits | Window | 1 screen for each block |
| | Tag Name Definition Edit Screen | Carries out block tag definition. | Modeless Dialog | 1 screen for each block |
| | Device Usage Status Display Screen | Displays a list of devices used in a block. | Modeless Dialog | 1 screen for each block |
| Edit Instruction Macro | Circuit Edit Screen | Creates macro circuits. | Window | 1 screen for each macro |
| | Tag Name Definition Edit Screen | Carries out macro tag name definition. | Modeless Dialog | 1 screen for each macro |
| | Device Status Display Screen | Displays a list of devices used in a macro. | Modeless Dialog | 1 screen for each macro |
| System Log/ User Log | Reference Screen for System | Log Reads the system log file. | Window | UP to 10 screen |
| Reference | User Log Reference Screen | Reads the user log file. | Window | UP to 10 screen |
| Edit Group Template | Group Template Edit Screen | Sets the members in a group. | Window | UP to 10 screen |
| Compose Project | Tag Name Definition Edit Screen | Carries out tag definition common to all blocks. | Modeless Dialog | 1 screen. |
| | Program Check Results Screen | Displays a list of errors detected in a syntax check. | Window | 1 screen. |
| | Device Extraction List Screen | Displays a list of places found in device extraction. | Window | UP to 10 screen |
| | Device Usage Status of Project Display Screen | Displays a list of devices used in all blocks. | Modeless Dialog | 1 screen. |
| Program Monitor | Start Block Status Display Screen | Displays a list with block launch status. | Window | 1 screen. |
| | Circuit Monitor Screen | Monitors blocks with circuits. | Window | 1 screen for each block |
| | Device Usage Status Screen | Displays a list of devices used in a block. | Modeless Dialog | 1 screen for each block |
| Macro Monitor | Circuit Monitor Screen | Monitors macros with circuits. | Window | 1 screen for each macro |
| | Device Usage Status Screen | Displays a list of devices used in a block. | Modeless Dialog | 1 screen for each macro |
| Device Monitor | I/O configuration Display Screen | Displays a list with the I/O Architecture. | Window | 1 screen. |
| | Device Monitor Screen | Monitors devices as a list. | Window | UP to 10 screen |
| Alarm Monitor | Alarm Monitor Screen | Reads the CPU's alarm status. | Window | 1 screen. |
| Compare File and CPU | Cross-check Results Screen | Displays a list of differences found in a cross-check. | Window | 1 screen. |

| Table A4.7 | Types of Screens |
|------------|---|
| | .,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,, |

TA040601E.EPS



A5. Object Ladders

This section describes object ladders for object-oriented design.

What are object ladders?

Object ladders are the name Yokogawa Electric Corporation use for the new type of object-oriented ladder program that we have proposed, which uses a step ahead of structured programming.



Figure A5.1 The Transition of Ladders

- With standard structured programming, it was possible to divide a program, but with object ladders, not only is that possible, but it is also possible to use the divided program and its related data as a single **block**.
- It is a ladder program that brings together data as well as processes (hyper blocks, component macros) and programs using them as conceptual "objects."
- Objects are made up of the "data" and the "programs" that manipulate that data. With "object ladders," which are made up of "hyper blocks," "component macros" and "local devices," it is possible to attain a high degree of functional independence.
- Creating programs designed using object ladders allows the developer to not only review entire blocks, but also to add or recombine blocks when customizing a device for a customer.

TIP

"Structured programming" - first proposed by Yokogawa Electric Corporation in 1989 - made it possible to divide increasingly large and complex ladder programs according to function, making it easier for designers to understand program design. In the 90's it became popular among customers as an easy method for the designer him or herself to control productivity and maintainability. Later, PLC makers began developing products based on this concept, to the point where today it is the industry standard.



Figure A5.2 Custom Design

IM 34M6Q14-01E 1st Edition : July 31,2000-00

Realizing object-oriented design

Abstraction

Using "Group tag names" and "local devices," divide physical elements and logical elements, and use the latter to describe the system.

Divide into parts

Using "component macros" and "hyper blocks," promote reuse for division of elements into parts and standards. Basic blocks become easier to understand and "extension-ality" and "reusability" increase through dividing into parts.

Harmonization

The "Collective change of I/O positions" function allows for flexibility when rebuilding abstracted objects.

Visualization

Use visual expression to their full extent with the "folding function" and "use of Windows" to make understanding even more intuitive.



SEE ALSO

See the relevant chapter in "Part B. Operation Manual" for each of the individual items described in object-oriented design.

A5.1 Architecture of Object Ladders

A5.1.1 Local Devices

- This function is key for **object ladders**.
- Since "local devices" are independent within a block, the device address never overlaps with other "blocks" or "macros."
- By differentiating devices that are common to the whole program (global devices) and devices that can only be used within a block (local devices), block independence is heightened, making reuse and diversified development even easier.
- There is no need to change the addresses of local devices when reusing "blocks" and "macros."
- If "local devices" are run out, it is possible to increase them without affecting other blocks.
- "Global devices" and "local devices" are displayed in different colors, so they are easily distinguishable.

| CPU Main Memory |] | Block/Macro |
|----------------------|----|---------------|
| Global Device | | |
| Local1 | | Block1 |
| Local2 |]∢ | Block2 |
| Local3 |]∢ | Block3 |
| · · · | ≺ | |
| Local N-1 | | Block N-1 |
| Local N |]← | Block N |
| Local Macro Device1 |]← | Macro1 |
| Local Macro Device2 |]← | Macro2 |
| · · · | ≺ | · · · |
| Local Macro Device N |]∢ | Macro N |
| | | FA050101E EPS |

- Local devices can also be operated in a standard environment (no need for a memory card).
- Run at the same speed as global devices.

Figure A5.4. Conceptual Diagram of Device Operation with CPU

A5.1.2 Group Tag Names and Grouping of Tags

- You can group tag names and use the tag group as one data structure.
- You can use them simply by giving the tag group a name, like with object language data structures.
- If there are elements in the same architecture, grouping the tag names makes is
 possible to recognize data connectivity/structure/cluster by simply looking at the tag
 name.



Example of Use of Group Tag Names

We will use the definition of an input/output relay for an F3NC52-0N two-axial control positioning module as an example.



Figure A5.6 Image of Usage Example of Group Tag Names

(1) Select [File] - [New Document] - [Common Data] from the menu bar, and define the group template related to the device to be used. In the figure below, X□□01 and X□□17 are the input relays of operation instruction start ACK for Axis 1 and Axis 2. Define the group template related to the input relay, and make it "MOTION."

| Input Relay Number | | | |
|--------------------|--------------|--|--|
| AX1 (Axis 1) | AX2 (Axis 2) | Operation when ON | |
| X□□□01 | X□□□17 | Operation Instruction Start ACK | |
| X□□□02 | X□□□18 | Extension Instruction ACK | |
| X□□□03 | X□□□19 | Deceleration Stop ACK | |
| X□□□04 | X□□□20 | Immediate Stop ACK | |
| X□□□05 | X□□□21 | Complete Original Point Search | |
| X□□□06 | X□□□22 | Control Mode Switch ACK | |
| X□□□07 | X□□□23 | Positive Direction Run | |
| X□□□08 | X□□□24 | Negative Direction Run | |
| X□□□09 | X□□□25 | Target Value Change ACK | |
| X□□□10 | X□□□26 | Speed Change ACK | |
| X□□□11 | X□□□27 | Current Position Write ACK | |
| X□□□12 | X□□□28 | Error Notification | |
| X□□□13 | X□□□29 | Specified Point Detection Notification | |
| X□□□14 | X□□□30 | Positioning Completion | |
| X0015 | X□□□31 | Pulse Output Completion | |
| X□□□16 | X□□□32 | Parameter Setup ACK | |



| | Member | | |
|----|----------|---------|----|
| 1 | DctACK | | |
| 2 | ExtACK | | |
| 3 | SlowACK | | |
| 4 | EmStpACK | | |
| 5 | ZeroSrch | | |
| 6 | ModeChg | | |
| 7 | RunPlus | | |
| 8 | RunMins | | |
| 9 | DstChg | | |
| 10 | SpdChg | | |
| 11 | PosChg | | 13 |
| 12 | Enotfy | | |
| 13 | DstConf | | |
| 14 | Complete | | |
| 15 | Pluse | | |
| 16 | ParaSet | | |
| | | p000000 | |

Example of Group Template Definition

Figure A5.7

FA050104E.EPS

(2) Select [Edit] - [Block Tag Definition] from the menu bar and define the group tag names for axis 1 and axis 2.

| Block Tag Name Definition DEI | M02 | × |
|-------------------------------|-----------------------|---------------|
| Display Mode | Device Name | |
| Address list | | Find Input |
| Display Device | k | |
| Input Relav(X) | - | |
| Turberrientit | | |
| ag Name Address | I/O Comment | Previous |
| X00201 | | Select |
| X00203 | | Next |
| Read Group Name | | × |
| | | |
| Group Name Ax1 | Group Template MOTION | |
| | | |
| OK_ | Cancel Details Help | |
| | | |
| X00213 | | |
| X00214 | | Select |
| X00216 | | |
| X00217 | | |
| X00218 | | |
| X00219 | | |
| X00220 | | _ |
| | | <u> </u> |
| | | - |
| Close Chg Addr | Check Group Circuit | Use |
| | | |
| | | FA050105E.EPS |

Figure A5.8 Block Tag Definition Screen

Figure A5.9

(3) Click the X201 address line and select the [Read Group] button. Select the MOTION group template, input AX1 as the group name and click on the [OK] button.

| ag Name | Address | I/O Comment 🔺 | Previous |
|---------|--------------|---------------|----------|
| X00201 | Ax1.DctACK | | |
| X00202 | Ax1.ExtACK | | Nort |
| X00203 | Ax1.SlowACK | | INEXL |
| X00204 | Ax1.EmStpACK | | |
| X00205 | Ax1.ZeroSrch | | N |
| X00206 | Ax1.ModeChg | | NC |
| X00207 | Ax1.RunPlus | | |
| X00208 | Ax1.RunMins | | |
| X00209 | Ax1.DstChg | | |

Example of Entry of Group Tag Name (Example giving the group name AX1 to axis 1)

(4) Next click the X217 address line, select the [Read Group] button, then select the MOTION group template and input AX2 as the group name and click on the [OK] button.



| Tag Name | Address | I/O Comment 🔺 | Previous |
|----------|--------------|---------------|---------------|
| X00217 | Ax2.DctACK | | |
| X00218 | Ax2.ExtACK | | Nort |
| X00219 | Ax2.SlowACK | | INEXL |
| X00220 | Ax2.EmStpACK | | |
| X00221 | Ax2.ZeroSrch | | |
| X00222 | Ax2.ModeChg | | |
| X00223 | Ax2.RunPlus | | |
| X00224 | Ax2.RunMins | | |
| X00225 | Ay2 DetCho | | |
| | | | FA050107E.EPS |

Figure A5.10 Creating a Group Tag Name (Example giving the group name AX2 to axis 2)

X201 is AX1.DctACK and gets the name AX1.DctACK, so just by looking at the [Group Name, Member Name] it is possible to tell what tag for what function is for what axis.

(5) An example of programming using group tag names.

| 0018 | ***Upward JOG sending (X axis)*** | |
|------|---|---|
| 0019 | 100401 | Request to start positive |
| 0020 | DIFU 100403 | Request to stop positive JOG sending |
| 0021 | 100402 100099 WRITE D00401 4 41 18 | Write parameters |
| 0022 | SE1 AX1 log | Start positive JOG sending |
| 0023 | Displayed by group tag name of parameter inside instruction SE1 100404 | Plug during instruction |
| 0024 | I00404 I00403 Displayed by group tag name RST AX1.Jog | Request to stop positive |
| 0025 | AX1.Com AX1.Jog lete BST 100404 | Plug during instruction |
| 0026 | AX1.Enot fy | |
| | | FA050108E.EPS |



SEE ALSO

See "Part B. Operation Manual. B21. Using Group Tag Names" for further details on group tag names.

A5.1.3 Component Macros

- Possible for users to create their own instructions.
- · Easy standardization and part-division of program.
- Reusability becomes easy by disposing the macro functions into component and turning the elements into parts and standardizing them.
- It is possible to describe parameters (up to 16) inside a instruction, just as with standard instructions, making their use the same.
- With WideField online edit, etc., is possible, allowing for operation just as with standard instructions.



Figure A5.12 Macro Instruction



There are some limitations. See "Part B. Operation Manual. B20. Using Macros" for further details.

A5.1.4 Hyper blocks

Even if program division and block making is possible in structured programming, it has not been possible to divide devices. However, use of "local devices" in **object ladders** makes it possible to deal with "data" and "programs" as single "objects," allowing for "complete independence" and "reusability."



IM 34M6Q14-01E 1st Edition : July 31,2000-00

A5.1.5 Index View

- Existing ladder programs make it necessary to scroll through the details of a program to find things even if "blocks" and "macros" are made into "objects." However, by folding using flow charts/processes with "object ladders" you can use visual expression to its fullest and make understanding that much more intuitive.
- It is possible to check/grasp the entire structure of a program.
- It is possible to understand the structure of the entire program by folding and developing each circuit comment, and then to go to the location you are looking for and carry out detailed debugging.
- Maintenance of renovations made after other developers have worked on a program is also easy.



Figure A5.14 Folded View

FA050111E.EPS

A5.1.6 Compatible with Other Applications

Data conversion is simple and easy when making design drafts/completed literature, tag definitions, etc.

■ MS-Excel

You can take data such as device names and comments from an MS-Excel screen and put it right into WideField, and vice-versa.



Figure A5.15 Compatible Conversion between MS-Excel and WideField

• Tag Definition (Example)

- (1) Open MS-Excel
- (2) Enter the tag name in the first row, the address in the second row, and the I/O comment in the third row.

| | X Microsoft Excel | <u>未一00</u> 括 | えの 妻式の) ツールの データ | ጦ) ሲለቴትለል ለዚገም | | | | | |
|--|-------------------|---------------|-------------------------|----------------|--------------|--|--|--|--|
| | | | | | | | | | |
| Start MS-Excel | MS Pゴシック | • 11 • | B <i>I</i> <u>U</u> ≣≣≣ | 🗟 🗣 📃 • 🔕 | • <u>A</u> • | | | | |
| | A1 = p1_stop | | | | | | | | |
| | | | _ 🗆 🗵 | | | | | | |
| | A | В | C | D | _ | | | | |
| First row: Tag name Second row: address Third row: I/O comment | <u>pi stop</u> | X00309 | Stop mode | | | | | | |
| | 2 output | Y00508 | Output | | | | | | |
| | 3 OntRst | I00001 | CountReset | | | | | | |
| | 4 AlwaysOr | M00033 | Always On | | | | | | |
| | 5 OneSecC | II M00040 | 1 s clock | | | | | | |
| | 6 data1 | D001 01 | internal data | | | | | | |
| | / cdata | D00201 | comparison data | | | | | | |
| | B pl_start | 7100001 | Start mode | b | | | | | |
| | 10 | | | | | | | | |
| | 11 | | | | | | | | |
| Select the data, and copy it. | 12 | | | | | | | | |
| | 13 | | | | | | | | |
| | 14 | | | | | | | | |
| | 15 | | | | | | | | |
| | 16 | | | | | | | | |
| | 17 | | | | | | | | |
| | 18 | | | | | | | | |
| | 19 | | | | | | | | |
| | 20 | | | | - | | | | |
| | I I I M Shee | t1 /Sheet2 / | Sheet3/ | | ► I | | | | |
| | אעקב | | | NUM | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | | | |

(3) Select the necessary data in MS-Excel and then select [Edit] - [Copy] from the MS-Excel menu bar.

Figure A5.16 Entering and Selecting MS-Excel Data

- (4) Open WideField and then open the tag definition screen which carries out tag definition.
- (5) Select the tag name part to be pasted in the WideField block tag definition screen, enter [Ctrl + V] from the [keyboard] and the process is complete.

| | Block Tag Name Definition BLK_MAIN | | | | | | | | |
|--------------------------|------------------------------------|----------|----------------|-----------|----|-------------|--|--|--|
| | Display Mode | | Device Name | | | | | | |
| | Registered dev | F | ind | | | | | | |
| | Display Device | | | | | | | | |
| | Input Relay(X) | | ~ | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | | | |
| | Tag Name | Address | I/C |) Comment | ÷ | Previous | | | |
| | output | Y00508 | Output | | | | | | |
| Soloot the starting part | CntRst | I00001 | CountReset | | | Next | | | |
| Select the starting part | AlwaysOn | M00033 | Always On | | | | | | |
| to be pasted. | data1 | D00101 | internal data | | | | | | |
| | cdata | D00201 | comparison dat | a | | | | | |
| Enter [Ctrl + V] | p1_start | /100001 | Start mode | | ┛║ | | | | |
| from the keyboard. | | | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | | | |
| The MS Excel date | | | | | - | | | | |
| will be displayed | | | | | | | | | |
| will be displayed. | | | | | | | | | |
| lag definition is | | | | | - | | | | |
| complete. | | | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | _ | | | | |
| | | | | | - | | | | |
| | | | | | | | | | |
| | Class | Cha Addr | Chook | Group | 1 | Lieo | | | |
| | Close | Chy Addr | Check | Circuit | | 0.58 | | | |
| 1 | | | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | FA | 050114E.EPS | | | |

Figure A5.17 The WideField Tag Definition Screen

Parameter Entry (Example)



3.....

MS-Word

It is also possible to paste circuit patterns in such tools as MS-Word when creating design drafts and reports.



Figure A5.20 Example of Fusion with MS-Word

A5.1.7 Collective Change of I/O Installation Position

- You can easily change a ladder program when changing the position of a module.
- You can change all assignments for input/output relays related to I/O, as well as I/O access instruction parameters.
- All parameters in any type of instruction can be changed at once.



Figure A5.21 Change I/O Installation Position

FA050117E.EPS

SEE ALSO

See "Part B. Operation Manual. B5.2.5. Change I/O Installation Position Function" for further details on I/ O plug-in position change.


A6. Program Development Procedure

This section describes the order for developing programs using "object ladder," by using a simple application as an example.

Program Creation Procedure



Sample Program Architecture

- Sample programs are in the "WFSample" folder in the "Fam3pjt" folder under the "WideField" folder.
- It is a program which displays all the letters in "WideField" one at a time for 1 second each to the F3YD32 output module.
- The architecture of the program is divided into the block (BLK_MAIN) and the macro (MAC_WIDE), and passes the parameters from the block to the macro as arguments, which are then displayed by the subprogram to the output module (YD32).



Figure A6.1Sample Program Module Architecture and Image

A6.1 Creating a New Project

- (1) Select [Start] [Programs] [WideField] [WideField] from the task bar in the Windows screen, and start "WideField."
- (2) In WideField, select [File] [New Project] from the menu bar.



Figure A6.2 Creating a New Project

- (3) From the display screen, enter/select [Project Name], [Project Title] and [CPU Type], and then select [New Document].
- (4) The architecture will be displayed in the "project window" on the left of "WideField."
- (5) Double clicking each of the items in the "executable program" in the "project window" will start each of the setting screens.
- (6) Settings can be carried out in each of the setting screens.



Figure A6.3 The Project Window and other Screens During Creation of a New Project

•

A6.2 Creating a Block

See "Sequence CPU Instruction Manual. Instructions" for details concerning entered instructions.

(1) Select [File] - [New] from the menu bar to make the "new document screen." appear.



Figure A6.4 New Block Creation Screen

(2) Enter the file name in the "new document screen," and select [OK].

(3) The block edit screen will be displayed in the "WideField" screen.



Figure A6.5 Block Edit Screen

- (4) Create a program using the instruction palette and function keys, etc.
- (5) Create a macro that will display each of the characters in "WIDEFIELD" one at a time.

(6) When you have finished creating the "program" and "comments," select [File] - [Save] from the menu bar to save the contents.



Figure A6.6 List of Block and Macros Created

<Toc> <Ind>

A6.3 Program Component Difinition

When creation of the program is finished, carry out the "executable program architecture definition."

- (1) Select [Project] [Define Program Components] from the menu bar, or double click on the [Executable Program] [Component Difinition] from the "project window."
- (2) Carry out the settings according to what is to be set, on in the "Define Program Components Screen."



Figure A6.7 Executable Program Architecture Definition Screen

(3) Set the "Component Blocks" and then select [OK].

(4) The architecture will be displayed in the "Block Components" in "Executable Program" in the "Project Window."



Figure A6.8 The Architecture Block in the Project Window

- (5) You may also reuse the used block in other projects.
- (6) Changing the architecture is carried out at step (2).

SEE ALSO

See "Part B. Operation Manual. B5. Building and Operating Projects" for further details on how to reuse blocks in other applications.

A6.4 Local Devices

Set the local devices to used in the blocks.

(1) Double click the "block" that sets the "local device" from among the [Block List] in the "Project Window," and the circuit will be displayed.



Figure A6.9 Block Display

(2) Select [Edit] - [Local Device/Properties] from the menu bar.

| Local Device/Pro | perties | | × | | |
|------------------|-----------------|--------|-------------------|----------------------------------|----------------------------|
| Name | BLK_MAIN | | ОК | Select | |
| Title | BLK_MAIN_PR | 0 | Cancel | | |
| Date Created | 1999/12/17 | 4:46:4 | | Enter the title na | me |
| Protection | No | | <u>H</u> elp | | |
| - Level Devis | | | | | |
| Lucal Devic | Jes | | Set Protection | | |
| Device Typ | ре | Points | Set Protection | | |
| Internal Re | elay(/l) /l1 -/ | 32 - | Remove Protection | Select the local to be used acco | devices rding to units. |
| Data Regi | ster(/D) /D1-/I | 20 🕂 | | | - |
| File Regis | ter(/B) /B1-/I | | | | |
| Timer(/T) | Л1-Л | | | | |
| Counter(/C | C) /C1-/0 | 10 4 | | | |
| | | | | | |
| | | | | 1 | FA060402E.EPS |

Figure A6.10 The Block Local Device Properties Screen

(3) Set the number of "local devices" to be used according to the units.

Table A6.1 **Example of Settings for the Local Devices**

| Device Type | Symbol | Number of Units | Example of Setting |
|----------------|--------|-----------------|----------------------|
| Internal Relay | /I | 32 | /l1 to /l32, 64, 96, |
| Data Register | /D | 2 | /D1 to /D2, 4, 6, 8, |
| File Register | /B | 2 | /B1 to /B2, 4, 6, 8, |
| Timer | /T | 1 | /T1 to /T1, 2, 3, 4, |
| Counter | /C | 1 | /C1 to /C1, 2, 3, 4, |

TA060401E.EPS

- (4) Select [File] [Save] from the menu bar to save the settings.
- (5) Set the settings for all blocks using the local devices. (Repeat steps (2) (4).)
- After making settings/changes, be sure to save. Any settings or changes not saved (6) will not be reflected in the "configuration."
- Select [Project] [Configuration] from the menu bar to display the "Configuration (7) Screen." Or, double click on [Executable Program] - [Configuration] from the "Project Window" to display the screen. See the "Sequence CPU Instruction Manual" for details on setting the configuration.
- (8) Select the "Device Capacities" tab in the "Configuration" screen.
- The settings will be reflected in the block and displayed, but the local devices used (9) with macros will not be displayed. See "Part B. Operation Manual. B20. Using Macros" for further details.

| Configuration | | | X | |
|--------------------------|----------------------------|---------------------|------------------------|------------------------------------|
| Setup FA Link | Sampling Trace | Setup Communication | Setup ROM | |
| Device Capacities | Operation Control | Setup Initial Data | Setup DIO | |
| Setup Interrupt | Power Failure/ | 'Local Setup S | Shared Refreshing | |
| | | | _ | |
| Setup Data Lock-up Ran | ige at Power Failure | | | |
| | Starting Number Points | Setup Range A | Available Setup | Select the tab |
| Internal Relay(I) | 1024 🗧 | 100001 - 101024 | 100001 - 132768 | to display. |
| 100us Timer | | | | |
| 1ms Timer | | | | |
| 10ms Timer | | | T00001 · T01024 | |
| 100ms Timer | 0 🗧 0 🗧 | | T01025 · T01920 | |
| 100ms Continuous | 1921 🛨 128 ≑ | T01921 - T02048 | T01921 · T02048 | |
| Counter(C) | 1 📫 1024 ≑ | C00001 - C01024 | C00001 · C01024 | |
| Shared Relay(E) | | | | |
| Link Relay(L) | 0 🗧 0 🗧 | | L00001 · L72048 | |
| Data Register(D) | 1 32768 | D00001 . D22769 | D00001 . D22769 | |
| Shared Register(R) | | 200001 202100 | | |
| Link Register(W) | | | W00001 W72048 | |
| | | | | |
| Setup Local Devices | Number of | Colum Damas | Ausilable Catus Dange | Display of the range |
| Internal Belau(//) | Number Devices Currently R | | Available Setup harige | of settings |
| Data Begister(//D) [3200 | 기 <u>국</u> 32 | 132001 - 132032 | 100001 - 132768 | or settings |
| File Begister(/B) | <u>/ _ 20</u> | D32001 - D32020 | D00001 · D32768 | |
| Timer(/T) | | | B00001 - B262144 | |
| Counter(C)/ | | | T00001 · T01024 | |
| | ID 10 | C01001 · C01010 \ | C00001 · C01024 | |
| | | | | |
| / | C |)K Cancel [| Default Help | |
| / | | | | |
| he start number | Dis | plays the currently | \ Displays t | he range |
| at it is easy to unde | erstand reg | istered number | of setting | |
| will not overlan | ional log | | or counge | <i>,</i> , |
| | | | | FA060403E.EPS |

Figure A6.11 **Configuration Settings**

- (10) Set the start number so that it is easily distinguishable from the "global devices." E.g., Data Register (/D) from No. 1001
- (11) After selecting "Start Number," select [OK] from the "Configuration Screen."

SEE ALSO

See "Part B. Operation Manual. B5. Building and Operating Projects" for further details about the setting item/content of the "Configuration."

A6-12

A6.5 Download

Run a syntax check on the program you have created, and if there are no problems, download it and start operation.

Download

Download if there are no problems with the "Check Program." When trying to download any programs that have not had a "Check Program" run on them, it starts before download.

- (1) Select [Online] [Download] from the menu bar.
- (2) Connect if it is not.
- (3) The confirming messages indicating the download is completed successfully and asking whether or not to start is displayed. Download is complete when the operation begins.

| WideField 🛛 🕅 | | Wide | eField 🛛 🕅 |
|--------------------------|-------------------------------|------|---|
| Download? | $\overrightarrow{\mathbf{v}}$ | | Connecting to FA-M3. Do you wish to continue? |
| <u>Yes</u> <u>N</u> o | | | <u>Y</u> es <u>N</u> o |
| | | | $\overline{\nabla}$ |
| | | | Download |
| | | | Program Name WFSAMPLE |
| WideField 🛛 🕅 | | | Status Transferring block |
| 2 Download is completed. | 1 | | Destination COM1 |
| Enter Run mode? | $\langle \neg \rangle$ | | Block Name BLK_MAIN |
| Yes <u>N</u> o | | | CPU Number |
| | | | Instruction Number. 22 |
| | | | Cancel |
| | | | FA060501E.EPS |

SEE ALSO

See "Part B. Operation Manual. B8. Sending Programs" for further details about "Communication Environment Settings," "Check Program," "Connect/Disconnect."

You can monitor running programs and devices with WideField.

Program Monitor

Select [Online] - [Program Monitor] from the menu bar, and double click on the block to be monitored from the "Select Block" screen.



Figure A6.12 Program Monitor Screen

- (1) Select the device to be monitored from the submenu of [Online] [Device Monitor].
- (2) When monitoring a module device, double click on the module from the displayed "I/O Configuration Screen," and the device monitor screen will be displayed. You can change the display format of all the device values. See "Part B. Operation Manual. B11. Device Monitor" for further details.



Figure A6.13 Device Monitor Screen

Macro Monitor and Local Device Monitor

- (1) Select [Online] [Macro Monitor] from the menu bar and the [Select Macro] will be displayed.
- (2) Select the macro to be displayed, and the select [OK].
- (3) When monitoring a [local device,] select the device to be monitored from the [Submenu] of the menu bar [Online] [Device Monitor], and it will be displayed.



Figure A6.14 Screens being Monitored

SEE ALSO

See "Part B. Operation Manual. B9. Operation Mode Settings and Operation Status Monitors. B10. Program Monitors. B11. Device Monitors. B13. Online Edit" for further details on monitor functions.



FA-M3 FA-M3 Programming Tool WideField Instruction Manual PART-B Operation Manual

IM 34M6Q14-01E 1st Edition

CONTENTS

| B1. | Initial | Setup of | the WideField Tool | B1-1 |
|-----|---------|----------|---|-------|
| | B1.1 | Layout | of the Tools, and Locations of Generated Data | B1-1 |
| | B1.2 | Environ | ment Setup | B1-2 |
| | | B1.2.1 | Basic Operation of the Setup Environment Dialog | B1-3 |
| | | B1.2.2 | Setup Folders | B1-5 |
| | | B1.2.3 | Setup Communication | B1-6 |
| | | B1.2.4 | Setup Circuit Display | B1-8 |
| | | B1.2.5 | Setup Program Check | B1-10 |
| | | B1.2.6 | Setup Toolbar | B1-12 |
| | | | | |

Blank Page —

B1. Initial Setup of the WideField Tool

This section describes the method for setting the WideField tool when you first use it. Although the tool is set up so that it can be used with the default settings right after being installed, you can nevertheless build an environment that is easier for you to use by registering icons you often use in the toolbar, for example, or by customizing the colors, etc.

B1.1 Layout of the Tools, and Locations of Generated Data

WideField is made up of the WideField program itself and support tools, such as device management, and sampling traces. You can change the location of data or make other such changes to the WideField environment with the environment settings explained in the next section. The data for the support tools is stored in the Fam3dat folder, created in the install drive. (The data position for the support tools is fixed.) Also, the other computers to be connected to the support tools (the communications settings) can be set from WideField.



Figure B1.2 Position of Data after WideField Has Been Installed

B1.2 Environment Setup

The environment settings are a function that allows you to set your PC's environment when using WideField. You can set the following 5 items. The time the settings go into effect varies according to the item.

| Setting | Overview | Time it goes into effect | CAUTION |
|--------------------------|---|---|---|
| Setup Folder | You can set the development environment by changing the position of the folders that the program is stored in. | This goes into effect whenever you open a new screen. | Close all screens when making changes (the WideField start-up initial state). |
| Setup Communication | You can set the computers you are connected to as well as the conditions. You can also set the communication conditions for the device management tool, the sampling trace tool, and the FA link settings tool here. | This goes into effect the next time you connect to the FA-M3. | Change the communication settings only when you are disconnected from the FA-M3. |
| Setup Circuit Display | You can set the colors, etc. of the circuit components. | These changes go into effect immediately, even for screens that are currently open. | |
| Setup Program Check | You can set the weight of the errors in the program syntax check. | This goes into effect from the next time you run a syntax check. | |
| Setup Toolbar | You can set the registered icons. | This goes into effect immediately. | |
| | | | TB010201E.EPS |

Table B1.1 Settings

B1.2.1 Basic Operation of the Setup Environment Dialog

Opening the Setup Environment Dialog

(1) Select [Tool] - [Setup Environment]. The Setup environment screen will be displayed.

| Setup Environment | х |
|--|---|
| Setup Circuit Display Setup Program Syntax Check Setup Toolbar Setup Folders Setup Communication | |
| Setup Each Folder Project Location E:\Program Files\WideField\Fam3pit\ Browse | |
| Common Folder E:\Program Files\WideField\Fam3com\ Browse | |
| Macro Folder E:\Program Files\WideField\Fam3mac\ Browse | |
| Work Folder E:\Program Files\WideField\Fam3tmp\ Browse | |
| | |
| | |
| OK Cancel Default Help | |

Figure B1.3 The Setup Environment Screen

Switching the environment Setup display screens

You can switch between the screens by clicking on the tabs at the top, like [Setup Folders] or [Setup Communication].

Closing the Setup Environment

(1) Click [OK]. The setting will be saved. Settings will be scrapped if you click [Cancel].

Operating Procedure for Default Setting

(1) Click on [Default]. After the confirmation message, click [Yes] and the display screen setting will return to default.



Figure B1.4 The Default Setting Dialog

B1.2.2 Setup Folders

You can change the setting for the folders where data is stored. The following types of folders can be set.

| • |
|---|
| |

| Name | Use | Initial Setting |
|------------------|---|------------------------|
| Project Position | This is the original folder a project is created in. A folder with the same name as the project will be created below the project position. | Installed at \FAM3PJT. |
| Shared Folder | This folder is where the system log file, the user log file, and the group template file*1 are saved. | Installed at \FAM3COM. |
| Macro Folder | This is the folder for the master registry of instruction macros. | Installed at \FAM3MAC. |
| Work Folder | This is where the work files generated temporarily while editing are generated. | Installed at \FAM3TMP. |
| | * | TB010202E EPS |

*1: See B4.19 about the group template file.

Procedure for Setting Folders

(1) Type the name of the folder directly into the folder setting blank.

| Project Location | |
|-------------------------------------|---------------|
| c:¥Program Files¥widefield¥Fam3pjt¥ | |
| | EB010203E EPS |

Figure B1.5 Typed Folder Setting

(2) Clicking the [Browse] button will display the folder selection screen. Click the folder to be set, and then click [OK]. The folder you clicked will be entered into the blank.

| Folder selecti | on | ? × |
|----------------|---|---------------|
| Select folder. | | |
| E:\Program Fil | es\WideField | |
| | WideField Fam3com Fam3mac Fam3pit Fam3trip Fam3 | |
| | OK | Cancel |
| Figure B1.6 | Folder Select Screen | FB010204E.EPS |

(3) Clicking [Default] will return the Setup environment to how they were before.

B1-6

B1.2.3 Setup Communication

You can set the method of communication with the FA-M3. The setting are reflected as soon as you connect to the FA-M3.

Procedure for Setup Communication

(1) Click the setup communication tab. The following screen will be displayed. Select the communication media from [RS-232C], [RS-232C via modem], and [Ethernet]. The initial setting is RS-232C.

| tup Environment | | | |
|---|-----------------------|--------------------------|-----|
| Setup Circuit Display Setup Program Syntax C Setup Folders Set | heck tup Communi | Setup Toolbar ication | |
| | | | |
| Communication Media | | | |
| RS-232C C RS-232C via Modem C Ethe | met Setup | a Modem | |
| RS-232C Communication | | | |
| Connection Method | | | |
| Automatic Recognition O Fixed 9600bps E | Ven Parity | V | |
| Communication Timeout | ÷ s | | |
| Number of Retries 2 | ÷ | | |
| COM Port Number 1 | × | | |
| Ethernet Communication | | | |
| Destination IP Address |] | | |
| CPU Number 1 🚊 | | | |
| Connection Timeout | | | |
| | | | |
| | | | |
| OK Cancel | Default | Help | |
| | | EB0102 | 066 |

Figure B1.7 Setup Communication

- (2) Make the following settings for an RS-232C communication.
 - Setting the Connection Method Select either auto-detect (adjusting to the CPU communication mode), or fixed mode for your PC's communication setting. If fixed mode is selected, select communication mode from the list box. (Use this when you know your CPU's communication mode.) If auto-detect is selected, it will take some time to connect to the FA-M3. The initial setting is for auto-detect. (You will not need to change any settings if RS-232C via modem is used.)
 - Setting the Communication Time-out, etc. Set the time-out for ENQ-ACK communication, the number of time to retry, and the COM port number. The initial settings have 1 second for time-out, 2 times for the retry, and the 1 for the COM port number. Normally, you will not have to make any changes. (When an RS-232C via modem is used, set only the time-out for ENQ-ACK communication and the number of times for retry.)
- (3) Make the following setting for an Ethernet connection.
 - Setting for the other computer Set the computer you will be communicating with. You can set either the host name or IP address. It saves up to 16 IP address in the memory, so you can choose an IP address that you set in the past from the list box. The CPU number is set with the spin button. (1-4)
 - Connection Time-out Set the time-out when connecting to another computer. The initial setting is 20 seconds.
- (4) When connecting with an RS-232C via modem, click on [Setup Modem] and set the telephone number of the connection. (Only enter numbers.)

| Setup Modem | × |
|----------------------------|--------------|
| Phone Number 0312345678 | ОК |
| | Cancel |
| | |
| | FB010206E.EF |

Figure B1.8 Setting the Telephone Number for the Modem (The example is for the number 03-1234-5678)



Adjust the modem Setup for communication speed, etc., from the Windows "Control Panel." Set them by selecting "Control Panel" - "Modem." See your Windows manual, Windows Help, your modem's instruction manual, etc. for details.

B1.2.4 Setup Circuit Display

You can change the color of circuit components and the font size.

Procedure for Operating the Circuit Display Setup

(1) Click on the circuit display setting tab, and the following screen will be displayed.

| Setup Folders | Setup Comn | nunication |
|-----------------------------|----------------------------|---------------|
| Setup Circuit Display | Setup Program Syntax Check | Setup Toolbar |
| - Setup Circuit Components- | | |
| Circuit | | Set Color |
| Instruction Parameter | Character Size 11 | Set Color |
| Circuit Comment | Character Size 14 | ÷ Set Color |
| Subcomment | | Set Color |
| I/O Comment | Display Lines 4 | ÷ Set Color |
| Conduction State Display | | Set Color |
| Set Background Colors | | |
| Offline Screen | | Set Color |
| Online Screen | | Set Color |
| | | |
| Oł | K Cancel Defa | ault Help |



(2) Set the circuit components. Below are the components which can be set.

Table B1.3 Setup Item

| Components | Color Setting | Other Settings (Default Value Within the Cut) |
|----------------------------|---------------|--|
| Circuit | Can be set | |
| Instruction Parameter | Can be set | Font Size (11) |
| Circuit Comment | Can be set | Font Size (14) |
| Sub-comment | Can be set | |
| I/O Comment | Can be set | Number of lines displayed (4) |
| Monitor Conduction Display | Can be set | |

TB010203E.EPS

(3) Settings for each color can be changed by selecting the [Color Setup] button. The following screen will be displayed. Click on the color to be set and the select [OK]. The color settings will be reflected right away. Use the spin button to change the font size and the number of lines displayed.



Figure B1.10 Define Custom Colors

(4) This sets the background colors for the circuit screen. The background color settings go into effect at the next screen. Settings are done as with the circuit components.

Table B1.4 Effectiveness for Background Colors

| Setting | Screen |
|--------------------------|----------------------------------|
| Offling Reskaround Color | Block Edit Screen |
| | Instruction Macro Edit Screen |
| Opling Real/ground Calar | Block Monitor Screen |
| | Instruction Macro Monitor Screen |

TB010204E.EPS

B1.2.5 Setup Program Check

You can change the weight of errors and what to check in the program check. You can set the following items.

Table B1.5 Syntax Check

| Item | Default |
|---|---------|
| Duplicate usage of coil | Warning |
| Duplicate usage of SET/RST | Warning |
| Duplicate usage of timer/counter | error |
| Duplicate usage of label | error |
| Duplicate usage of interrupt I/O address | error |
| IL-ILC mismatch | error |
| SUB-RET mismatch | error |
| INTP-IRET mismatch | error |
| FOR-NEXT mismatch | error |
| CALL-SUB mismatch | error |
| Jump destination not found | error |
| Too many high-speed READ/WRITE instructions exceeded maximum. | error |
| More than 1 ACT/INACT blocks exists | error |
| Global device duplicated in local device area. | error |

■ Procedure for Operating the Program Check

(1) Click on the "Setup Program Syntax Check" tab. The following screen will appear.

| Setup Folders | Setup Communication | | | |
|---|---------------------|-------------|---------------|--|
| Setup Circuit Display Setup Prog | ram Syntax C | heck S | ietup Toolbar | |
| | < Error | > < Mamina | | |
| Duplicate usage of coil | C | > < waining | C | |
| Duplicate usage of SET/RST | C | ۲ | с | |
| Duplicate usage of timer/ counter | ۲ | С | c | |
| Duplicate usage of label | ۲ | С | C | |
| Duplicate usage of interrupt I/O address | ۲ | С | C | |
| IL-ILC mismatch | ۲ | С | C | |
| SUB-RET mismatch | ۲ | С | C | |
| INTP-IRET mismatch | ۲ | С | C | |
| FOR-NEXT mismatch | ۲ | C | C | |
| CALL-SUB mismatch | ۲ | C | C | |
| Jump destination not found | ۲ | C | C | |
| Too many high-speed READ/WRITE instr | uctions. 💿 | С | C | |
| More than 1 ACT/INACT blocks exists | ۲ | С | C | |
| Global device duplicated in local device ar | ea. 🖲 | c | C | |
| ОК | Cancel | Default | Help | |

Figure B1.11 Setup Program Syntax Check

(2) Select from "Error," "Warning," and "Ignore." See "B.5.2.1 Check Program" for further details.

B1.2.6 Setup Toolbar

Select the instruction to register icons in the toolbar from menu. You can register the following instructions.

Table B1.6Icon Registration (1/3)

| Menu Bar | Menu Instruction | lcon |
|----------|--------------------------------------|-------------------------|
| File | New Project | P |
| | Open Project | 1 |
| | Close Project | 1 |
| | Save Project | |
| | New | Ľ |
| | Open Block/Macro | 2 |
| | Save | Ľ |
| | Print Setup | 4 |
| | Print | a |
| Edit | Undo | 5 |
| | Convert | |
| | Cut | ж |
| | Сору | |
| | Paste | E |
| | Delete | \mathbf{x} |
| | Image Copy | |
| | Insert Line | _+ c |
| | Delete Line | Ť |
| | Temporary Delete | _+c |
| | Undo Temporary Delete | 5 |
| | Page Break | 14-1 |
| | Fold Circuit | $\overline{\mathbf{N}}$ |
| | Cancel Circuit Fold | $\overline{\mathbf{N}}$ |
| | Block Tag Definition | |
| | Local Device Properties | Ê |
| Find | Find | 冉 |
| | Find Instruction | |
| | Find Next | ₩ |
| | Jump to Top | $\overline{\uparrow}$ |
| | Jump to End | $\overline{\mathbf{v}}$ |
| | Jump to Specified Line | L.No → |
| | Jump to Specified Instruction Number | N.No → |
| | Replace | A, ≉ ≫B |
| | Device Status | \checkmark |

| Menu Bar | Menu Instruction | lcon |
|----------|----------------------------------|--|
| Display | Operation Monitor | ••• |
| | I/O Comment Display | |
| | Instruction Number Display | := - |
| | Address Display | ×201 |
| | Redraw | ÷ |
| | Zoom in | Ð, |
| | Zoom out | Q |
| | Detailed Display | -R |
| | Decimal Display | 10 |
| | Hexadecimal Display | \$1 |
| | Display String | -000 AB |
| | Floating Point Display | |
| | Binary Display | - <u></u> |
| | Temporary Monitor Stop | |
| | Monitor Restart | |
| Projects | Check Program | 4 |
| | Find Project | 1 |
| | Find Project Instruction | 6 |
| | Change Tag Name | Egg |
| | Replace Address | E 30 |
| | Change I/O Installation Position | - The second sec |
| | Project Device Status | $\mathbf{\mathbf{v}}$ |
| Online | Connect | |
| | Disconnect | ₽, |
| | Program Monitor | - |
| | Configuration Display | 5 |
| | Operating Mode | 8 |
| | Stop | 8 |
| | Debug Mode | * |
| | Download | |
| | Upload | |
| | Compare File and CPU | |

Table B1.6Icon Registration (2/3)

TB010207E.EPS

| Menu Bar | Menu Instruction | lcon |
|-------------------|------------------------------------|------------|
| Debug/Maintenance | Forced Set | t s |
| | Forced Reset | ß |
| | Cancel Forced | r (b) |
| | Cancel All Forced | ٢ |
| | Change Word Data | A |
| | Change Long Word Data | 4 |
| | Change Current Timer/Counter Value | () |
| | Change Set Timer/Counter Value | ٩ |
| | Start Online Edit | |
| | Start Block | ACT |
| | Stop Block | IN ACT |
| | Stop Input Refreshing | X |
| | Stop Output Refreshing | Y |
| | Stop Shared Refreshing | E |
| | Stop Link Refreshing | L |
| | Restart Refreshing | XY |
| | Display Alarm | Ö t |
| | Cancel Alarm | X |
| | Display System Log | S |
| | Display User Log | Ð |
| | Clear Log | × |
| Other Setup | Setup Environment | |
| | WideField Help | (|

Table B1.6Icon Registration (3/3)

■ Procedure for Operating the Toolbar Setup

(1) Click the "Setup Toolbar" tab. The following screen will be displayed.

| Setup Folders | 1 | Setup | Communi | cation |
|---|--|----------------|---------|---------------|
| Setup Circuit Display | Setup Progra | am Syntax Chec | :k | Setup Toolbar |
| Register to Toolbar File - New Pro File - Open Pi File - Close Pi File - Save Pri File - New File - Block/M File - Block/M File - Print Sei File - Print Sei File - Print Sei Edit - Convert Edit - Cut Edit - Cut Edit - Copy Edit - Delete Edit - Image Convert | pject roject oject acro Open tup | | | |
| | | Canad 1 | Default | |

Figure B1.12 Setup Toolbar

(2) Clicking the set instruction check boxes will place a checkmark next to them. Click again to cancel. The checkmark will disappear. Clicking [OK] will reflect the settings.



FA-M3 FA-M3 Programming Tool WideField Instruction Manual PART-B Offline Section

IM 34M6Q14-01E 1st Edition

CONTENTS

| B2. | Creati | ng a Pro | ject | B2-1 |
|-----|---------|----------|---|----------|
| | B2.1 | What Is | a Project? | B2-1 |
| | | B2.1.1 | Relationship Between Project and CPU | B2-1 |
| | | B2.1.2 | Configuration of Project | B2-2 |
| | | B2.1.3 | Managing Projects Using WideField | B2-3 |
| | | B2.1.4 | Limitations When Closing Projects | B2-4 |
| | B2.2 | Creating | g a Project | B2-5 |
| | | B2.2.1 | Creating a New Project | B2-5 |
| | | B2.2.2 | Opening Project | B2-7 |
| | | B2.2.3 | Closing Project | B2-9 |
| | | B2.2.4 | Overwriting and Saving Project | B2-10 |
| | B2.3 | Opening | g Executable Program in CADM3 Format | B2-11 |
| B3. | Editing | g Progra | ۱ m | B3-1 |
| | B3.1 | Caution | s for Editing Ladder Diagram | B3-1 |
| | | B3.1.1 | Limitations for Editing Ladder Diagram | B3-1 |
| | | B3.1.2 | Circuits Returning Errors | B3-2 |
| | | B3.1.3 | Circuits That Cannot Be Corrected With Ladder Diagram | B3-4 |
| | B3.2 | Operati | ng Block Files | B3-5 |
| | | B3.2.1 | Creating New Project File | B3-5 |
| | | B3.2.2 | Opening Existing Block File | B3-6 |
| | | B3.2.3 | Saving Block File | B3-7 |
| | | B3.2 4 | Closing Block File | B3-9 |
| | | B3.2.5 | Block's Local Device and Property Setting | B3-10 |
| | | B3.2.6 | Opening CADM3 Block/Macro | B3-12 |
| | B3.3 | Editing | Ladder Diagram | B3-13 |
| | | B3.3.1 | Configuring Window | B3-13 |
| | | B3.3.2 | Basic Operation | B3-17 |
| | | B3.3.3 | Procedure for Entering Commands Using Alphanumeric Ke | ys B3-17 |
| | | B3.3.4 | Entering Basic Instruction | B3-18 |
| | | B3.3.5 | Entering Application Instructions | B3-20 |
| | | B3.3.6 | Entering Timer Instruction | B3-24 |
| | | B3.3.7 | Entering Counter Instruction | B3-25 |
| | | B3.3.8 | Deleting Ladder Diagram Elements | B3-25 |
B4.

| | B3.3.9 | Entering Constants (Decimal, Hexadecimal, and Timer Settings), Character Strings, Floating Points, and Block Names | 3-26 |
|-------|-----------|---|------|
| | B3.3.10 | Input/Display of Indexed DevicesB | 3-28 |
| | B3.3.11 | Assigning address for Tag NameBa | 3-29 |
| | B3.3.12 | Inserting Connect LinesB | 3-30 |
| | B3.3.13 | Entering Continuation CircuitB | 3-32 |
| | B3.3.14 | Entering LabelBa | 3-33 |
| | B3.3.15 | Inserting Empty LinesBa | 3-34 |
| | B3.3.16 | Selecting LinesBa | 3-34 |
| | B3.3.17 | Deleting LinesBa | 3-35 |
| | B3.3.18 | Temporarily Deleting Lines/Recovering Temporarily Deleted Lines B | 3-36 |
| | B3.3.19 | Copying and Pasting LinesB | 3-37 |
| | B3.3.20 | Copying Circuit ImageBa | 3-38 |
| | B3.3.21 | Canceling OperationB | 3-38 |
| | B3.3.22 | Overwrite Mode and Insert ModeBa | 3-40 |
| | B3.3.23 | Inputting and Deleting Circuit CommentsB | 3-42 |
| | B3.3.24 | Entering and Deleting SubcommentsB | 3-44 |
| | B3.3.25 | Entering and Deleting I/O CommentsB | 3-45 |
| | B3.3.26 | Index ViewBa | 3-46 |
| | B3.3.27 | Page Break FunctionBa | 3-48 |
| B3.4 | Switchin | ng DisplayB | 3-49 |
| | B3.4.1 | Switching Display for I/O Comments, Tag names and Addresses, and Instruction NumbersB | 3-49 |
| | B3.4.2 | Zoom Up/Zoom DownBa | 3-50 |
| B3.5 | Displayi | ng Conversion and ErrorsB | 3-51 |
| B3.6 | Find/Rep | placeB | 3-52 |
| | B3.6.1 | Find DeviceB | 3-52 |
| | B3.6.2 | Find InstructionB | 3-56 |
| | B3.6.3 | Finding Next CandidateB | 3-57 |
| | B3.6.4 | ReplaceB | 3-57 |
| | B3.6.5 | JumpB | 3-59 |
| | B3.6.6 | Displaying Device Usage StatusB | 3-60 |
| Assig | ning Tag | NamesB | 34-1 |
| B4.1 | About Ta | ag Name Definition | 34-1 |
| | B4.1.1 | Common Tag Name Definitions, Block Tag Name Definitions and Macro Tag Name Definitions | B4-2 |
| | B4.1.2 | Cautions for Defining Tag Name Definitions | B4-3 |
| B4.2 | Editing 7 | Tag Name Definitions | 34-4 |
| | B4.2.1 | Opening, Closing and Saving Tag Name Definition screen | B4-4 |
| | B4.2.2 | Configuration of Tag Name Definition screen | 34-7 |
| | B4.2.3 | Defining Tag NamesBe | 4-10 |
| | B4.2.4 | Switching Tag Name Definition screensB | 4-10 |
| | B4.2.5 | Searching Tag Name Definition screensB | 4-10 |

| | | B4.2.6 | Copying, Cutting and Pasting Tag Name Definitions | B4-11 |
|-----|--------|----------|---|--------|
| | | B4.2.7 | Error Check function | B4-11 |
| | | B4.2.8 | Grouping Tag Names | B4-12 |
| | | B4.2.9 | Reading Group Templates | B4-13 |
| | B4.3 | Block/N | lacro Tag Name Definition Functions | B4-14 |
| | | B4.3.1 | Use | B4-14 |
| | | B4.3.2 | Reading devices used in circuit | B4-15 |
| | | B4.3.3 | Changing Address | B4-16 |
| | B4.4 | Defining | g Group Templates | B4-17 |
| | | B4.4.1 | Creating Group Templates | B4-18 |
| | | B4.4.2 | Deleting Group Template Files | B4-20 |
| B5. | Buildi | ng and N | lanaging Projects | B5-1 |
| | B5.1 | Building | g Projects | B5-1 |
| | | B5.1.1 | Configuration Definitions of Executable Programs | B5-1 |
| | | B5.1.2 | Changing CPU Type and Executable Program Properties | s B5-4 |
| | | B5.1.3 | Setting Configuration | B5-6 |
| | | B5.1.4 | Creating User Log Messages | B5-30 |
| | | B5.1.5 | Creating Common Tag Name Definitions | B5-31 |
| | B5.2 | Managi | ng Project | B5-35 |
| | | B5.2.1 | Program Check function | B5-35 |
| | | B5.2.2 | Find in Project function | B5-40 |
| | | B5.2.3 | Find Instruction in Project function | B5-42 |
| | | B5.2.4 | Replace in Project function | B5-44 |
| | | B5.2.5 | Change I/O Installation Position Function | B5-50 |
| | | B5.2.6 | Displaying Device Usage Status | B5-52 |
| | B5.3 | Managi | ng Files | B5-53 |
| | | B5.3.1 | Adding Files | B5-54 |
| | | B5.3.2 | Renaming Files | B5-55 |
| | | B5.3.3 | Deleting Files | B5-56 |
| B6. | PRINT | OUT | | B6-1 |
| | B6.1 | Setting | Printer | B6-2 |
| | B6.2 | Setting | Printing Layout | B6-3 |
| | B6.3 | Setting | Printout Details | B6-6 |
| | | B6.3.1 | Setting Details for Blocks and Instruction Macros | B6-7 |
| | | B6.3.2 | Detailed Configuration Settings | B6-9 |
| | | B6.3.3 | Setting Cover and Header/Footer | B6-10 |
| | B6.4 | Print an | d Print Preview | B6-12 |
| | | B6.4.1 | Print Screen | B6-12 |
| | | B6.4.2 | Print Project | B6-14 |
| | | B6.4.3 | Procedure for Previewing Printout | B6-17 |
| | B6.5 | Printing | J Layout | B6-18 |

TocB-5

| B6.5.1 | Printing Layout for Project Component | . B6-18 |
|--------|--|---------|
| B6.5.2 | Printing Layout for Circuits | . B6-19 |
| B6.5.3 | Layout for Printing Tag Name Definitions | . B6-20 |
| B6.5.4 | Layout for Printing Configuration | . B6-20 |
| B6.5.5 | Layout for Printing System Log | . B6-21 |

B2. Creating a Project

B2.1 What Is a Project?

B2.1.1 Relationship Between Project and CPU

"Project" refers to the development environment for creating programs run on the FA-M3. One project is created on each CPU, and the project builds the programs run on the CPU.



B2.1.2 Configuration of Project

A project is equivalent to a folder of a personal computer. The project contains programs (blocks, macros) created with the project, configurations, user log messages, common tag name definitions, and executable program files.

Further, the project files for managing this data contain the management information of the entire project.



Figure B2.2 Configuration of Project

| Туре | extension | Contents | tip |
|-----------------------------------|---------------------|--|---|
| Project file | .ypjt | Contains information on the project, such as the project title and CPU type. | |
| Executable program file | .yprg | Contains definitions of the elements making up the executable program, such as block components. | One can be generated with the same name as the project. |
| Configuration file | .yc□□* ¹ | Contains the environment for running programs, such as device capacity. | One can be generated with the same name as the project. |
| User log message file | .yums | Sets and Contains message stored in the user log. | One can be generated with the same name as the project. |
| Common tag name definition file | .ycmn | Contains tag name definition information shared among multiple blocks. | One can be generated with the same name as the project. |
| Block file | .yblk | Contains circuits. | |
| Block tag name definition file | .ysig | Contains names, addresses and I/O comments of tag names used by blocks. | |
| Instruction macro file | .ymcr | Contains macro circuits. | |
| Macro tag name definition file | .ymcs | Contains names, addresses and I/O comments of tag names used by macros. | |

TB020101E.EPS

*1:
□□ indicates the field for the numbers representing the CPU type.EX) F3SP58-6H: extension is .yc58

B2.1.3 Managing Projects Using WideField

Projects can be managed using WideField as follows:



Figure B2.3 Managing Projects Using WideField

Each project can use macros created so as to be shared among projects, and can use templates for grouping tag names.

Further, programs created with other projects can be incorporated in your own projects. (Parts of data of previously created projects can be incorporated easily.)

When necessary, refer to the following sections:

- Incorporating files of other projects B5.3 Managing Files
- Using macros
 B20. Using Macros
- Using group templates
 B21. How to Use Group Tag Names

B2.1.4 Limitations When Closing Projects

Some WideField functions can be used without opening a project, and others cannot. Basically, functions such as editing project data offline (block macro edit, configuration edit) cannot be done unless the project is open. Online functions can be used even when the project is not open, but there are some limitations; for instance, the tag names cannot be displayed. Refer to the following list of limitations.

| Initial Setup Environment Setup O O Creating block - (including block tag name definitions) O X Creating instruction macro (including macro tag name definitions) O X Executable program configuration definition O X Executable program configuration definition O X Creating user log message O X Creating group template O X Creating group template O X User log refere O X Variant O X Print Download X Download O X Transfer Connection and disconnection O Vaload O X Variant O X Print Device monitoring O X Variant O X X Macro monitoring O Context and displayed.) X Print Device monitoring O Co Prored monitoring </th <th>Menu Item</th> <th>Function</th> <th>When Project Open</th> <th>When Project Closed</th> | Menu Item | Function | When Project Open | When Project Closed |
|---|----------------------|---|-------------------|--|
| Creating block - (including block tag name definitions) × Creating instruction macro (including macro tag name definitions) × Executable program configuration definition × Creating user log message × Creating group template × Editing common tag name definition × Creating group template × Editing common tag name definition × Viser log reference × Viser log reference × × Prinet Project printout × Reference × Viser log reference × × Viser log reference × Viser log reference × × < | Initial Setup | Environment Setup | 0 | 0 |
| Greating instruction macro (including macro tag name definitions) Image: second s | | Creating block - (including block tag name definitions) | 0 | × |
| Base Section in Section in Section 2010 N Creative Section 2010 Configuration setup CO N Creating user log message CO N N Creating group template CO CO N System log reference CO CO N Vier log reference CO CO N Prinet Sceen printout CO CO N Help CO CO N N Transfer Download CO CO N N Macro monitoring CO CO CO N | | Creating instruction macro (including macro tag name definitions) | 0 | × |
| Creating user log message O × Reference Creating user log message O × Editing common tag name definition O × Creating group template O O System log reference O O User log refer O O Print Screen printout O O Help Help O × Hupoat O O O Transfer Duplad O × Upload O × Screen printout O × Compare file and CPU O × Screen printop O × Upload O × Screen printop O × Screen printop | | Executable program configuration definition | 0 | × |
| Creating user log message O × Editing common tag name definition O × Creating group template O O Yeating group template O O System log reference O O Project printout O × Print Screen printout O O Help O O O Hup Help O O Transfer Download O O Compare file and CPU O × O Compare file and CPU O O O Project printoring O C C Program monitoring O O C Program monitoring O O O Configuration display O O O Prode set/rese | Create/ Reference | Configuration setup | 0 | × |
| Editing common tag name definition O × Creating group template O O Yeating group template O O Yeating reference O O Project printout O O Project printout O O Heip O O O Transfer Download O O Upload O O O Transfer Connection and disconnection O O Program monitoring O O O Macro monitoring O O O Operation monitoring O O O Device monitoring O O O Configuration display O O O Queitan monitoring O O O Device monitoring O O O Queitan monitoring O O O Queitan monitoring O O Ro <td< td=""><td></td><td>Creating user log message</td><td>0</td><td>×</td></td<> | | Creating user log message | 0 | × |
| Image: free series of the series of | | Editing common tag name definition | 0 | × |
| System log reference O O User log refer O O Project printout O O Print Sceen printout O O Help Help O O Transfer Download O O Transfer Download O O Transfer Oongare file and CPU O O Orgaram file and CPU O O O Program monitoring O O O Program monitoring O O O Program monitoring O O O Proferon function O O O Proferon function O O O Proferon functionin O O < | | Creating group template | 0 | 0 |
| User log referOOPriotProject printoutO×PrintScreen printoutO(Blocks and macros cannot be printed.)HelpHelpOOTransferDownloadO×UploadO×OCompare file and CPUO×Connection and disconnectionOOProgram monitoringOOProgram monitoringOODevice monitoringOOOperation monitoringOOOperation monitoringOODevice monitoringOOConfiguration displayOOConfiguration displayOOProgram functionOODevice monitoringOODevice monitoringOOConfiguration displayOOChanging run modeOOExtension functionOODevice file stresetOOOnline ditingOOMaintenancéOOMaintenancéOOMaintenancéOOAlarm displayOOVari displayOOSystem log displayOOUser log displayOOUser log displayOOUser log displayOOUser log displayOOUser log displayOOUser log displayOO </td <td></td> <td>System log reference</td> <td>0</td> <td>0</td> | | System log reference | 0 | 0 |
| Project printout O × Print Screen printout O (Blocks and macros cannot be printed.) Help Help O (Blocks and macros cannot be printed.) Transfer Download O × Upload O × × Compare file and CPU O × × Connection and disconnection O × × Program monitoring O × × Macro monitoring O × × Device monitoring O × × Device monitoring O O × Configuration display O O × Configuration display O O × Changing run mode O O × Changing current values and settings O O × Mainternact Mainternact O O × Mainternact Kerseh stop O O × Mainternact | | User log refer | 0 | 0 |
| Print Screen printout O O O Help Help O O O Transfer Download O O O Transfer Connection and disconnection O O O Program monitoring O | | Project printout | 0 | × |
| HelpHelpOOTransferDownloadOXUploadOXOCompare file and CPUOXRection and disconnectionOXProgram monitoringOOProgram monitoringOODevice monitoringOODevice monitoringOODevice monitoringOOOperation monitoringOODevice monitoringOODevice monitoringOODevice monitoringOODevice monitoringOODevice monitoringOOConfiguration displayOOEnding run modeOOEnding run modeOODevice science bedisplayedingOOEnding run modeOOEnding run modeOOIndine editingOOPerced st/resetOOInline editingOOAtam displayOOInline editingOOInline editingOOInding displayOOInding displayOOInding displayOOInding displayOOInding displayOOInding displayOOInding displayOOInding displayOOInding displayOOInding dis | Print | Screen printout | 0 | \bigcirc (Blocks and macros cannot be printed.) |
| Image Image Image Image Transfer Upload Image Image <td< td=""><td>Help</td><td>Help</td><td>0</td><td>0</td></td<> | Help | Help | 0 | 0 |
| Transfer Upload O O Compare file and CPU O X Connection and disconnection O O Program monitoring O O Program monitoring O O Macro monitoring O O Device monitoring O O Operation monitoring O O Outgrant monitoring O O Profiguration display O O Configuration display O O ROM management O O Extension function O O Changing run mode O O Changing current values and settings O O Online editing O O Patent display O O Changing current values and settings O O Atarm display O O System log display O O User log display O O | | Download | 0 | × |
| Compare file and CPUConnection and disconnectionProgram monitoringProgram monitoringMacro monitoringDevice monitoringDevice monitoringOperation monitoringConfiguration displayConfiguration displayConfiguration displayConfiguration displayChanging run modeExtension functionChanging current values and settingsChanging current values and settingsChanging displayAirm displayOnline editingSystem log displayUser log displayOnline displayOnline displayOntine display <td>Transfer</td> <td>Upload</td> <td>0</td> <td>0</td> | Transfer | Upload | 0 | 0 |
| Connection and disconnectionOProgram monitoringOProgram monitoringOMacro monitoringODevice monitoringODevice monitoringOOperation monitoringOConfiguration displayOROM managementOExtension functionOExtension functionOChanging current values and settingsOOnline editingOOnline editingOAlarm displayOSystem log displayOUser log displayOOuser log displayOOuter log display< | | Compare file and CPU | 0 | × |
| Program monitoring(Limitations apply, e.g. tag names cannot be displayed.)Online ControlDevice monitoring(Limitations apply, e.g. tag names cannot be displayed.)Device monitoring(Limitations apply, e.g. tag names cannot be displayed.)Device monitoringOperation monitoringConfiguration displayConfiguration displayROM managementChanging run modeExtension functionChanging current values and settingsOnline editingOnline editingMaintenaneSystem log displayUser log displayUser log display | | Connection and disconnection | 0 | 0 |
| Online ControlMacro monitoringO (Limitations apply, e.g. tag names cannot be displayed.)Device monitoringOOOperation monitoringOOConfiguration displayOOConfiguration displayOOROM managementO(Files cannot be transferred to ROM or collated with CPU.)Changing run modeOOExtension functionOOForced set/resetOOChanging current values and settingsOOOnline editingOOAlarm displayOOSystem log displayOOUser log displayOO | | Program monitoring | 0 | O (Limitations apply, e.g. tag names cannot be displayed.) |
| Deline ControlDevice monitoringImage: Configuration displayImage: Configuration displayConfiguration displayImage: Configuration displayImage: Configuration displayImage: Configuration displayROM managementImage: Configuration displayImage: Configuration displayImage: Configuration displayChanging run modeImage: Configuration displayImage: Configuration displayImage: Configuration displayChanging run modeImage: Configuration displayImage: Configuration displayImage: Configuration displayDebug/ MaintenanceForced set/resetImage: Configuration displayImage: Configuration displayDebug/ MaintenanceImage: Configuration displayImage: Configuration displayImage: Configuration displayDebug/ MaintenanceForced set/resetImage: Configuration displayImage: Configuration displayImage: Configuration displayDesuGisplayImage: Configuration displayImage: Configuration displayImage: Configuration displayImage: Configuration displayDesuGisplayImage: Configuration displayImage: Configuration displayImage: Configuration displ | | Macro monitoring | 0 | O (Limitations apply, e.g. tag names cannot be displayed.) |
| ControlOperation monitoringOOConfiguration displayOOROM managementO(Files cannot be transferred to ROM or collated with CPU.)Changing run modeOOExtension functionOOForced set/resetOOChanging current values and settingsOOOnline editingOORefresh stopOOAlarm displayOOUser log displayOO | Online | Device monitoring | 0 | 0 |
| Configuration displayImage: Configuration displayImage: Configuration displayROM managementImage: Configuration displayImage: Configuration displayChanging run modeImage: Configuration displayImage: Configuration displayChanging run modeImage: Configuration displayImage: Configuration displayExtension functionImage: Configuration displayImage: Configuration displayDebug/ MaintenanceForced set/resetImage: Configuration displayDebug/ MaintenanceConfiguration displayImage: Configuration displayDebug/ MaintenanceConfiguration displayImage: Configuration displayDebug/ MaintenanceConfiguration displayImage: Configuration displayDebug/ | Control | Operation monitoring | 0 | 0 |
| ROM managementO(Files cannot be transferred to ROM or collated with CPU.)Changing run modeOOExtension functionOOForced set/resetOOChanging current values and settingsOOOnline editingOORefresh stopOOAlarm displayOOSystem log displayOOUser log displayOO | | Configuration display | 0 | 0 |
| Changing run modeOOExtension functionOOForced set/resetOOChanging current values and settingsOOOnline editingOORefresh stopOOAlarm displayOOSystem log displayOOUser log displayOO | | ROM management | 0 | (Files cannot be transferred to ROM or collated with CPU.) |
| Extension functionOOForced set/resetOOChanging current values and settingsOOOnline editingOORefresh stopOOAlarm displayOOSystem log displayOOUser log displayOO | | Changing run mode | 0 | 0 |
| Forced set/resetOChanging current values and settingsOOnline editingONaintenanceRefresh stopAlarm displayOSystem log displayOUser log displayO | | Extension function | 0 | 0 |
| Debug/ MaintenanceChanging current values and settingsOOOnline editingOORefresh stopOOAlarm displayOOSystem log displayOOUser log displayOO | | Forced set/reset | 0 | 0 |
| Debug/ MaintenanceOnline editingORefresh stopOOAlarm displayOOSystem log displayOOUser log displayOO | | Changing current values and settings | 0 | 0 |
| Debug/ Maintenance Refresh stop O O Alarm display O O O System log display O O O User log display O O O | | Online editing | 0 | 0 |
| Alarm display O O System log display O O User log display O O | Debug/ | Refresh stop | 0 | 0 |
| System log displayOOUser log displayOO | | Alarm display | 0 | 0 |
| User log display O O | | System log display | 0 | 0 |
| | | User log display | 0 | 0 |

Table B2.2 **Project Limitations**

B2.2 Creating a Project

B2.2.1 Creating a New Project

This section describes how to create a new project.

When you create a new project, a folder with the same name as the project is created automatically and the files below are generated.

Table B2.3 Files in Project

| File | Contents | Default |
|---------------------------------|---|---|
| Project file | The folder containing the CPU type and project files is generated. If there are no project files, the generated folder cannot be recognized as the project. | |
| Executable program file | The executable program file is generated in the initial status. | Configuration setting ON User log message OFF Configuration Block OFF |
| Configuration file | When the project is newly created, the configuration file of the specified CPU type is generated. | Default value of each CPU |
| User log message file | The user log message file is generated in the initial status. | All user log messages are empty. |
| Common tag name definition file | The file containing I/O comments on special relays and special registers is generated. | |

TB020201.EPS

Procedure for Creating New Project

(1) Select [File] - [New Project]. The following window appears.

| New Project | | | | | ? × |
|---------------|---------------|----------------------|---|--------|---------------|
| Project | 🔁 Fam3pjt | • Ē | | | |
| C WFsample | 3 | | | | |
| Project | SAMPLE | | J | New | |
| CPU Type | F3SP58-6H | | • | Cancel | |
| Project Title | Project Title | | | | |
| | Figure B2.4 | Creating New Project | | | FB020201E.EPS |

- (2) Enter the project name, type of CPU, and project title. The type of CPU can be selected from a drop-down list. The project title does not have to be set.
- (3) After entering the above items, click [New]. The new project is created and opens. The project window displays the project configuration. Double-click on the icons to open the corresponding edit windows.



Figure B2.5 Configuration of Project Windows

(4) Click on [Cancel] to cancel creating a new project.



- You cannot create sub-projects within a project (nesting configuration).
- Existing folders cannot be changed to projects.

TIP

The type of CPU and the project title can be changed. To change these, select [Project] - [Change CPU Type/Properties].

B2.2.2 Opening Project

This section describes how to open an existing project.

Procedure for Opening Project

 Select [File] - [Open Project]. The window below appears. Double-click on the folder with the same name as the project to move into the project.

| Open Project | ? × |
|---------------------------------------|------------------------|
| Project Fam3pit Sample WFsample | <u>O</u> pen Cancel |
| | FB020203E.EPS |



(2) The project file is displayed.

Click on the project file to display the following information.

- Project file name
- Date project file updated
- CPU type
- Project title (first 16 characters are displayed)
- Here, click [Open].

To cancel, click [Cancel].

| Upen Project | <u>? ×</u> |
|--|--|
| Project Sample Dwnload SAMPLE.YPJT | File Name SAMPLE.YPJT Date Changed 2000/04/12 14:54:28 CPU Type F3SP58-6H Title Project Title |
| | <u>O</u> pen Cancel |
| | FB020204E.EPS |

Figure B2.7 Displaying Project File

(3) If the executable program in the project has been protected, the password acknowledge dialog appears. Enter your password and click [OK]. The project opens and the project configuration appears in the project window.

| Password Confirmation | × |
|---|---------------|
| Executable program is Protected. Enter Password. | ок |
| **** | Cancel |
| Figure B2.8 Confirm Password Dialog Box | FB020205E.EPS |



Multiple projects cannot be open at the same time.

B2.2.3 Closing Project

This section describes how to close a project.

Procedure for Closing Project

(1) Select [File] - [Close Project].

If you have been editing a block, a instruction macro or a common tag name definition, the following message appears for each window displayed.

| WideField | | × |
|------------------|----------------------|---------------|
| File BL Save? | .OCK.YBLK has b ' | een changed. |
| (<u>Y</u> es | <u>N</u> o | Cancel |
| Figure B2.9 | Dialog Box of | FB020206E.EPS |



Figure B2.10 Dialog Box of Save Macro

| WideField | | × |
|-------------|-----------------------------|----------------------|
| ? | Common tag name de Save? | finition is changed. |
| <u>Y</u> es | <u>N</u> o | Cancel |
| | | EB020208E EP |

Figure B2.11 Dialog Box of Save Common Tag Name Definition

- (2) Select [Yes] to save the edited contents, and [No] to abandon them.
- (3) When the project is closed, the project window is empty.

B2-9

B2.2.4 Overwriting and Saving Project

This section describes how to overwrite and save a project.

Procedure for Overwriting and Saving a Project

(1) Select [File] - [Save Project].

Any block, instruction macro or common tag name definition being edited will be overwritten and saved.

TIP

You can continue editing after overwriting and saving contents.

FB020301E.EPS

B2.3 Opening Executable Program in CADM3 Format

To use an executable program in Ladder Diagram Support Program M3 (SF510-E3W) format (CADM3 format) in WideField, the program must be loaded into WideField. The only CADM3 executable programs that can be opened are those that do not return errors for syntax check. Refer to the section on editing programs for how to open a program in block file units.

Procedure for Opening CADM3 Executable Program

- (1) With the project not opened, select [File] [CADM3 Executable Program].
- (2) From the window for selecting the executable program, select the CADM3 executable program and then select [Open].

| Open CADM3 | 8 Executable Program. | | | | ? × |
|--------------------|---------------------------|---|---|--------------|----------------------|
| Look jn: | 🔄 users | • | £ | r | 8-8- 0-0- 8-8- |
| Doc 📃 | | | | | |
| Resource. | frk | | | | |
| | | | | | |
| | | | | | |
| | | | | | |
| | | | | | |
| File <u>n</u> ame: | Demo.prg | | | | <u>O</u> pen |
| Files of type: | Executable Program(*.prg) | | - | | Cancel |
| | | | | _ | |

Figure B2.12 Dialog for Selecting CADM3 Executable Program

(3) Display the dialog box for creating a new project.

| New Project | ? × |
|---------------------------|---------------|
| Project 🔄 Fam3pjt 💌 🗈 📸 🏢 | |
| WEsample | |
| | |
| | , |
| | New |
| CPU Type F3SP21-0N | Cancel |
| Project Title | |
| | |
| | FB020302E.EPS |

(4) Enter the project name for the new project, and set the CPU type.

- (5) Select [New], and the CADM3 executable program and its block components and tag name definitions are converted into WideField format. To overwrite an existing project, enter the name of the project file and then select [New].
- (6) If conversion ends successfully, the newly created project opens. The results of the conversion are displayed in the window.



- If the CPU type has been changed, the configuration is created with the default value of the CPU type after the change. Do configuration settings by setting the CPU type after it has been changed.
- The CPU type can be changed even after conversion. Use WideField to print out the configuration of the previous type, and change the CPU type with [Project] [Change CPU Type/Properties].
- Ladder blocks saved by mnemonic editing cannot be converted. Do this after saving with the CADM3 ladder diagram edit function.
- The conversion results are saved in text file format in HENKAN.log in the project folder.

B3. Editing Program

B3.1 Cautions for Editing Ladder Diagram

B3.1.1 Limitations for Editing Ladder Diagram

The following limitations apply to entering circuits and creating blocks. Comply with these limitations when entering the information.

• Maximum Lines That Can Be Created per Block

Circuits of up to 4,000 lines (including circuit comments) can be created. Circuits in excess of this amount cannot be entered or edited.

• Maximum Steps That Can Be Created per Block

Circuits of up to 10,240 steps can be created. If more steps than the maximum are entered, an error occurs when they are being converted. To create circuits larger than this maximum, divide the block.

Maximum Lines per Circuit

One circuit can have up to 25 lines. If more lines than the maximum are entered, an error occurs at conversion.

• Maximum Instruction per Circuit

One circuit can have up to 128 instructions. If more instructions than the maximum are entered, an error occurs at conversion.

• Maximum Continued Lines per Circuit Comment

One circuit comment can have up to 4 continued lines. If more lines than the maximum are entered, an error occurs at conversion.

• Maximum Lines for Continued Circuit

Continued circuits can have up to 3 lines. If more instructionsTM than the maximum are entered, an error occurs at conversion.

B3.1.2 Circuits Returning Errors

The following circuits return errors at conversion.



• Circuits Having Short-Circuit Lines







• Circuits With Incorrect Continuity



Circuits With Converging Lines Image: Converging line in circuit Converging line in cir

B3.1.3 Circuits that cannot be Corrected with Ladder Diagram

Sections (circuits) that cannot be recovered with the ladder diagram are displayed as mnemonics. In this case, the sections displayed as mnemonics cannot be corrected and added with the ladder diagram edit function. (Can be deleted.) Delete these sections after entering the same process with the ladder diagram.

B3.2 Operating Block Files

The block file stores the ladder diagram program. Programs run on the FA-M3 are consists of multiple block files. This section describes how to open, close and save block files.

A project must be open before you can create a program using the ladder diagram. Do the following operations while the project is open.

B3.2.1 Creating New Project File

Select [File] - [New]. The following dialog box appears.

| New | | | × |
|-------|--------------------|----------------------|------|
| | Common Block/ N | Data 1acro | |
| Block | MCR II | File Name block1 | |
| | ОК | Cancel | Help |

Figure B3.1 Window for Creating New Ladder Diagram

- (1) Select the [Block] icon and enter the block name in the file name field.
- (2) Select [OK] to open the window for editing ladder diagrams.

B3.2.2 Opening Existing Block File

(1) Select [File] - [Open] - [Block/Macro]. The following dialog box appears.

| Open File | ? × |
|---|---|
| Look jn: Sample Dwnload BLOCK1 YBLK MACRO.YMCR | File Name BLOCK1.YBLK Date Changed 2000/04/12 15:09:24 Title Steps 0 Protection Yes Save Status Save with error Local Device /1 0 /T 0 |
| File name: BLOCK1.YBLK | /B 0 |
| Files of type: Block/Macro(*.yblk,*.ymcr) | <u>O</u> pen |
| | Cancel |



Figure B3.2 Dialog Box for Opening File

- (2) Select the file to open or enter the file name.
- (3) Select [Open]. The window for editing the ladder diagram opens.
- (4) If the block is protected, specify the password.

| Enter Password | × |
|----------------|---------------|
| Enter Password | ОК |
| *** | Cancel |
| | FB030203E.EPS |

Figure B3.3 Password Dialog Box

B3.2.3 Saving Block File

There are 2 ways of saving a block file, by overwriting or by naming and saving it.

For saving by overwriting, the file name of the file currently being edited is retained. For saving by naming, the file currently being edited is saved under a different name.

When a file is saved, the block being edited and the tag name definition are saved.

Saving by Overwriting

Select [File] - [Save].

- (1) The ladder diagram is converted and saved.
- (2) If a conversion error occurs, the contents are displayed in the dialog box, and the following dialog box appears.

| WideField | X |
|---------------|--------------------------|
| Conver | sion error exists. Save? |
| (<u>Y</u> es | <u>N</u> o |
| | FB030204E.EPS |

(3) Select [Yes] for error save. Select [No] to not save the file.

Error Save

For usual save operations, the edited circuit is converted into the instruction language and then saved. For error save, conversion did not end successfully, so the erroneous section is saved with the error as is. The following operations cannot be done with files that have been error-saved.

- Program check of executable program
- Download
- Project address replacement
- Change of I/O Installation position of project.

IM 34M6Q14-01E 1st Edition : July 31,2000-00

Naming and Saving

Select [File] - [Save As], and the dialog box appears for naming and saving the file. An existing file cannot be overwritten.

| Save As | ? × |
|--|----------------|
| Save jn: Sample Dwnload BLOCK1.YBLK | |
| File name: BLOCK3 Save as type: Block(*yblk) | Save Cancel |

Figure B3.4 Dialog Box for Naming and Saving File

- (1) Enter the new file name.
- (2) Select [Save].
- (3) If a conversion error occurs, the contents are displayed in the dialog box, and the following dialog box appears.

| WideFiel | d | | × |
|----------|-----------|----------------|--------------|
| ٩ | Conversio | n error exists | . Save? |
| | Yes | <u>N</u> o | |
| | | F | B030206E.EPS |

(4) Select [Yes] for error save. Select [No] to not save the file.

When naming and saving a file, the name of the block being edited cannot be changed to the name of the saved block. To edit the block that has been named and saved, open it by selecting [File] - [Open] - [Block/Macro].

FB030205E.EPS

B3.24 Closing Block File

To close the edit window, select [File] - [Close]. If the block has been changed, the following dialog box appears.



Figure B3.5 Save Dialog Box

When [Yes] is selected, the file is saved and the window closes.

When [No] is selected, the file is not saved and the window closes.

When [Cancel] is selected, the file does not close, but remains displayed.

B3.2.5 Block's Local Device and Property Setting

Block properties are as follows:

- Title
- Number of local devices
- Protect

When the selected block is displayed front, select [Edit] - [Local Device/Properties]. The following window appears.

| cal Device/Properties | | × |
|--|---|----------------|
| Name BLK_MAI | N | ОК |
| Title MAINPR | OGRAM | Cancel |
| Date Created 2000/0 Protection No | 5/22 10:05:1 | Help |
| Local Devices Device Type Internal Relay(/I) Data Register(/D) File Register(/B) Timer(/T) Counter(/C) | Points /11 - /1 32 - /D1 - /D 20 - /B1 - /B 0 - //B1 - /B 0 - //D1 - /D 10 - //D1 - /D 10 - | Set Protection |
| <u></u> | | FB030208E.EPS |

Figure B3.6 Block's local device settings and properties window

Entering Title

Enter the block title in the title entry field, and select [OK]. Up to 24 characters can be entered for the title, and kanji, hiragana and katakana can be used.

Entering Number of Local Devices

In the field for local devices (internal relays, data registers, file registers, timers, and counters), specify the number to be used by the block currently being edited. Next, select [OK].

The numbers of local devices set here can be used for block editing. For instance, when 32 is set for the internal relay, devices from /I1 to /I32 can be used. When 0 is set, the block cannot use that local device.

TIP

| Units for setting the number of local devices are as follows: | | | |
|---|--|--|--|
| In units of 32 points | | | |
| In units of 2 points | | | |
| In units of 2 points | | | |
| In units of 1 point | | | |
| In units of 1 point | | | |
| The local timer is a 10 ms timer. | | | |
| To use a local device, it must be set in each block, and the configuration must be set. | | | |
| Refer to "B19. Use of Local Device." | | | |
| | | | |

Entering Protect Password

 Select [Set Protection]. If protection has already been set, the dialog box appears for entering the password. Enter the password and select [OK].
 If protection has not been set, the dialog box for entering the password does not appear.

| Enter Password | × |
|----------------|---------------|
| Enter Password | ОК |
| *** | Cancel |
| | FB030209E.EPS |

Figure B3.7 Password Dialog Box

(2) Next, in the setting password screen, enter the password in the fields [New Password] and [Confirm Password].



Figure B3.8 Setting Password Window

Canceling Protection

- (1) Select [Remove Protection] from the local device's properties window.
- (2) The window appears for entering the password (Figure B3.7 Password Dialog Box). Enter the password and select [OK], and the protection is cancelled.

B3.2.6 Opening CADM3 Block/Macro

Open the file (CADM3 format) created by the Ladder Diagram Support Program M3 (SF510-E3W). To do this, the project must be open.

(1) Select [File] - [Open CADM3 File], and the following dialog box appears.

| Open CADM3 | file. | | ? × |
|--------------------|--------------------------|-------|---------------|
| Look jn: | 🔁 users | 💽 🖻 🖸 | * 📰 🏢 |
| E Resource.f | irk | | |
| Doc | | | |
| Block.blk | | | |
| | | | |
| | | | |
| | | | |
| I | | | |
| File <u>n</u> ame: | Block.blk | | <u>O</u> pen |
| Files of type: | block,macro(*.Blk,*.Mbl) | - | Cancel |
| | | | |
| | | | FB030211E.EPS |

Figure B3.9 Dialog Box for Opening File

- (2) Move to the folder storing CADM3 files, and select the file to open or enter the block name.
- (3) Select [Open], and the file is converted from CADM3 to WideField format, and the window for editing the ladder diagram opens.
- (4) If the block is protected, specify the password.

| Enter Password | × |
|----------------|---------------|
| Enter Password | ОК |
| *** | Cancel |
| | FB030212E.EPS |

Figure B3.10 Password Dialog Box

(5) To save the file to the WideField project, select [File] - [Save] or [Save As]. The file is saved in the open project in WideField file format.



- The CADM3 format file remains as is.
- If a tag name is used in the block to be converted (CADM3 format block), that tag name must be defined in the corresponding block's tag name definition.
- The conversion results are saved in Henkan.log in text file format in the project folder.

B3.3 Editing Ladder Diagram

Enter the instruction and create the ladder diagram circuit.

B3.3.1 Configuring Window

Display the configuration elements of the edit window.



- (1) Instruction Palette Stores drawing elements for editing circuits using the mouse.
- (2) Circuit Edit Window Window for editing program.
- (3) Function Keys This area displays the assignment of function keys. Drawing cannot be done by clicking on the items displayed here.
- (4) Status Bar Information is displayed for the window being edited.

■ Instruction Palette

The drawing elements for editing the ladder diagram are stored as icons.

| lcon | Name | Explanation | | |
|--------------|--|--|--|--|
| \mathbf{b} | Selector icon | Returns the mouse indicator to the selector cursor (ordinary cursor). The circuit elements can be selected with the selector cursor, and the functions of circuit elements can be selected by double-clicking on the selector cursor. | | |
| ⊣⊢ | Contact A icon | Changes the mouse indicator to the normally open contact. The normally open contact can be drawn by clicking anywhere on the ladder diagram edit screen. | | |
| -1/1- | Contact B icon | Changes the mouse indicator to the normally close contact. The normally close contact can be drawn by clicking anywhere on the ladder diagram edit screen. | | |
| ЧН | Contact A OR icon | Changes the mouse indicator to the normally open contact OR. The normally open contact OR can be drawn by clicking anywhere on the ladder diagram edit screen. | | |
| -1/1- | Contact B OR icon | Changes the mouse indicator to the normally close contact OR. The normally close contact OR can be drawn by clicking anywhere on the ladder diagram edit screen. | | |
| \diamond | Coil icon | Changes the mouse indicator to the coil. The coil can be drawn by clicking anywhere on the ladder diagram edit screen. | | |
| ø | Negative coil icon | Changes the mouse indicator to the negative coil. The negative coil can be drawn by clicking anywhere on the ladder diagram edit screen. | | |
| SET - | SET instruction icon | Changes the mouse indicator to the SET instruction. The SET instruction can be drawn by clicking anywhere on the ladder diagram edit screen. | | |
| RST - | RST instruction icon | Changes the mouse indicator to the RST instruction. The RST instruction can be drawn by clicking anywhere on the ladder diagram edit screen. | | |
| | Timer instruction icon | Changes the mouse indicator to the TIM instruction. The TIM instruction can be drawn by clicking anywhere on the ladder diagram edit screen. | | |
| | CNT instruction icon | Changes the mouse indicator to the CNT instruction. The CNT instruction can be drawn by clicking anywhere on the ladder diagram edit screen. | | |
| -000 | Application instruction icon | Changes the mouse indicator to the application v. The application instruction can be drawn by clicking anywhere on the ladder diagram edit screen. | | |
| | Instruction list icon | Changes the mouse indicator to the instruction list. The instruction list can be drawn by clicking anywhere on the ladder diagram edit screen. | | |
| Ť | Circuit comments icon | Changes the mouse indicator to the circuit comments. The circuit comments can be entered by clicking on any line in the ladder diagram edit screen. | | |
| ୶ | Sub comments icon | Changes the mouse indicator to the circuit sub-comments. The circuit sub-comments can be entered by clicking on any line in the ladder diagram edit screen. | | |
| | I/O comments icon | Changes the mouse indicator to the I/O comments. The I/O comments can be entered by clicking on any element position in the ladder diagram edit screen. | | |
| | Label icon | Changes the mouse indicator to the label. The label can be entered by clicking on any line in the ladder diagram edit screen. | | |
| | Insert Connect line draw icon | Changes the mouse indicator to the insert line drawing. The line can be drawn anywhere by dragging to the ladder diagram edit screen. | | |
| Ŋ | Delete connect line icon | Changes the mouse indicator to the line deletion. The line can be erased by dragging anywhere on the ladder diagram edit screen. | | |
| \uparrow | Continuation line icon | Changes the mouse indicator to the continuation line cursor. The continuation line can be drawn by clicking on the ladder diagram edit screen. | | |
| ⊣1⊢ | Load differential up instruction icon | Changes the mouse indicator to the differential up load instruction cursor. The rising edge differential oad instruction can be drawn by clicking anywhere on the ladder diagram edit screen. | | |
| ٦ţ⊦ | Load differential down instruction icon | Changes the mouse indicator to the differential down load instruction cursor. The falling differential load instruction can be drawn by clicking anywhere on the ladder diagram edit screen. | | |
| + | Compute differential up instruction icon | Changes the mouse indicator to the differential up operation instruction cursor. The rising edge differential operation instruction can be drawn by clicking anywhere on the ladder diagram edit screen. | | |
| + | Compute differential down instruction icon | Changes the mouse indicator to the differential down operation instruction cursor. The falling differential operation instruction can be drawn by clicking anywhere on the ladder diagram edit screen. | | |
| | Compute differential up with device instruction icon | Changes the mouse indicator to the device-specified differential up operation instruction cursor. The device-specified rising differential operation instruction can be drawn by clicking anywhere on the ladder diagram edit screen. | | |
| * | Compute differential down with device instruction icon | Changes the mouse indicator to the device-specified differential down operation instruction cursor. The device-specified falling differential operation instruction can be drawn by clicking anywhere on the ladder diagram edit screen. | | |
| \neq | Inverter instruction icon | Inverter command icon Changes the mouse indicator to the inverter command cursor. The inverter command can be drawn anywhere by clicking anywhere on the ladder diagram edit screen. | | |

TB030301E.EPS

Edit Screen

The circuit edit screen is for editing circuits. Here, ladder programs of up to 4,000 lines and 11 columns can be edited. The edit screen is set out like the usual Windows screen; its size can be changed, the display position moved, it can be switched to full-screen display, and the instruction titles can be switched to icons. The screen can be scrolled up and down by using the vertical scroll bar, and moved sideways by using the horizontal scroll bar.



A - Column No./Instruction No. Display Area

For displaying the Column No., Command No., and label currently being edited.

B - Cell

Area for writing the instruction language and parameters. The cell displays the circuit element, tag name, address, and I/O comments.

C - Position Cursor

For specifying where to write instructions, and for selecting instructions. The cursor can be moved by using the mouse or the arrow keys.

D - Sub-comment Display Area

Displays sub-comments.

E - Vertical Scroll Bar

For scrolling the circuit edit screen up and down. The screen can also be scrolled a page at a time by pressing the [Page Up] and [Page Down] keys, and a line at a time by pressing the up/down arrow keys.

F - Horizontal Scroll Bar

For scrolling the circuit edit screen sideways. The screen can also be moved sideways a column at a time by pressing the left/right arrow keys.

TIP

Other settings can be done from the circuit edit screen include displaying/hiding display fields and enlarging/reducing the screen size. For details, see "B3.4 Switching Display".

Function Key

This item shows the function key operations for editing ladder diagrams. The function key assignment can be displayed. You can select to display or hide the function key bar by selecting [View] - [Function Key].

The function keys are assigned as shown below.

| Element Display | Function Key | Outline of Function |
|--------------------|--------------|--|
| | F1 | Displays the help function. |
| | F3 | Next candidate |
| f () | F4 | Enters an application instruction where the position cursor is, in input format. |
| [Command list] | Shift + F4 | Enters an application command where the position cursor is, in select format. |
| $\neg \vdash$ | F5 | Enters an A contact where the position cursor is. |
| -* | Shift + F5 | Enters a B contact where the position cursor is. |
| | F6 | Enters an A OR contact where the position cursor is. |
| - 1 4-1 | Shift + F6 | Enters a B OR contact where the position cursor is. |
| -0- | F7 | Enters an output coil at the last column where the position cursor is. |
| -Ø- | Shift + F7 | Enters a negative coil at the last column where the position cursor is. |
| | F8 | Displays a vertical connect line to the right of where the position cursor is. Press [Enter] to enter it. |
| * | Shift + F8 | Displays a vertical connect line delete position cursor to the right of where the position cursor is. Press [Enter] to enter it. |
| | F9 | Inputs a horizontal connect line where the position cursor is. |
| * | Shift + F9 | Inputs a continuation line at the beginning or end of the line where the position cursor is. |
| ТІМ | F11 | Inputs a timer instruction at the last column where the position cursor is. |
| CNT | Shift + F11 | Inputs a counter instruction at the last column where the position cursor is. |
| SET | F12 | Inputs a SET instruction at the last column where the position cursor is. |
| RST | Shift + F12 | Inputs a RST instruction at the last column where the position cursor is. |
| | Ctrl + F6 | Inputs a label at the line where the position cursor is. |
| Circuit comment | Ctrl + F7 | Inputs a circuit comment where the position cursor is. |
| I/O comment | Ctrl + F8 | Inputs an I/O comment where the position cursor is. |
| | Ctrl + F9 | Inputs a sub comment at the line where the position cursor is. |

Table B3.2 Assignment of Function Keys

TB030302E.EPS

Status Bar

The status bar displays information about the block being edited. The status bar indicates the number of lines, number of steps, and drawing mode (overwrite/insert) during ladder editing.

The information is displayed in the following format.

| Line=24 Step | =105 | Ovr. —— | —В |
|--------------|------------|----------|--------|
| A | | FB030303 | BE.EPS |
| Figure B3.11 | Status Bar | | |

- A Indicates the number of lines and number of steps of the program block being edited. The number of steps is updated at conversion. It is not updated during editing.
- **B** In drawing mode, insert or overwrite mode is indicated. The mode can be switched by pressing the [Insert] key.

B3.3.2 Basic Operation

This section describes how to input instructions.

Instructions can be input using the mouse or a function key. Also, from the circuit edit screen, instructions can be entered by direct mnemonic input. Mouse operation is suitable for writing the drawing elements beforehand. The function keys are suitable for simultaneously entering instructions and parameters.

For mouse operation, use the icons on the instruction palette.

For keyboard operation, use the function keys.

Procedure for Entering Instructions Using Mouse

- (1) Select the instruction to enter from the instruction palette. The mouse cursor changes to the indicator for the selected instruction.
- (2) Click on the input position.
- (3) The instruction is entered at the cursor position.

Procedure for Entering Instructions Using Function Keys

- (1) Select the function key for the instruction to enter.
- (2) Enter the necessary instruction parameters and select [Enter].
- (3) The instruction is entered at the cursor position.

B3.3.3 Procedure for Entering Commands Using Alphanumeric Keys

In addition to the input methods described above, instructions can be entered by directly editing the basic instruction or application instruction using the instruction language (mnemonic format). When using this method, the instruction can be input completely from the alphanumeric keys.

- (1) Bring the position cursor to the input position.
- (2) Enter the first letter of the mnemonic for the instruction to be input. The following dialog box appears.

| Enter Instruction | × |
|---|------------------|
| Enter Mnemonic and Instruction Parameters | ОК |
| | Cancel |
| 1 | Instruction List |
| | |

Figure B3.12 Dialog Box for Entering Instruction

The first letter of the instruction mnemonic to be input is displayed in the dialog box.

- (3) Finish entering the mnemonic and then select [OK]. Example: LD X201 MOV D1 D2
- (4) The instruction is input where the position cursor is.

B3-18

B3.3.4 Entering Basic Instruction

Input Using Mouse

- Click on the basic instruction icon on the command tool palette. When the icon is clicked, the mouse cursor icon changes to the indicator of the selected instruction.
- (2) Click on the place where the instruction is to be entered. When the location is clicked, the selected instruction is written there and the parameter input field appears.

- The indicator of the selected mouse cursor remains after input. To continue writing the instruction, click on the location where it is to be entered. To return the mouse indicator to its original form, press the [Esc] key, click the right button, or click on the selector icon.
- When input an output instruction, the instruction is assigned to the last column and not at the clicked location. In this case, a horizontal connect line leads from the clicked position.
- (3) Input the parameter Input the tag name or address and press [Enter], parameter is input.





A text string of up to 8 characters can be displayed in the input field.

If a tag name does not fit on one line, it will be displayed over two lines as below. Example:

(a) More than eight characters b) Up to eight characters

TAGNAME1234

TAGNAME

Figure B3.14 Display of Tag Name

Input Using Function Key

- (1) Bring the position cursor to the input location.
- (2) Select the function key for the instruction to be entered. When the function key is pressed the instruction is written at that location, and the input field appears.
- (3) Here, input the tag name or device address and press the [Enter] key. The instruction is assigned to the device. Press the [Esc] key to cancel entering the instruction. Once the instruction is entered, the position cursor moves to the next column.

B3-19

B3.3.5 Entering Application Instructions

Input from Instruction List Screen



Input Using Mouse

(1) Click on the instruction list icon on the instruction tool palette. When the icon is clicked, the instruction list screen appears.





The instruction list screen displays the types of instruction languages on the left and the instruction languages on the right. If the selected instruction supports rising instruction and long word instruction, these are activated and can be selected.

- (2) Select the instruction language and then select [OK]. The instruction list screen closes and the mouse cursor indicator takes the form of the selected instruction.
- (3) Click on the location for entering the instruction. The instruction with no parameters is entered at the clicked location.

- The indicator of the selected mouse cursor remains after input. To continue writing the instruction, click on the location where it is to be entered. To return the mouse indicator to its original form, press the [Esc] key, click the right button, or click on the selector icon.
- When input an output instruction, the instruction is assigned to the last column and not at the clicked location. In this case, a horizontal connect line leads from the clicked position.

Display Format of Application Instructions

It is displayed as instruction mnemonics, Parameter 1, Parameter 2... If the tag name is longer than 8 characters, it is displayed from the top line; if it has 8 or fewer characters, it is displayed on the bottom line.

(a) Ordinarily

| _ | | | | 1 |
|--|---------------------------|---------|---------------|---|
| Ļ | MOV | D00001 | D00002 | |
| | | | FB030308E.EPS | 5 |
| (b) | Risin | g comma | and | |
| . , | | - | | |
| 1 | N | | | |
| | MOV | D00001 | D00002 | |
| | | | FB030309E.EPS | |
| An arrow is displayed above the instruction. | | | | |
| (c) | (c) Long word instruction | | | |



"L" is displayed above the instruction.

(d) Floating point instruction

| F | | | | |
|--------|---|--------|---|--------------|
| D00001 | = | D00001 | + | D00002 |
| | | | F | B030311E.EPS |

"F" is displayed above the instruction.

Input Using Function Key

- (1) Bring the position cursor to the location for entering the instruction.
- (2) Press the instruction list function key. The instruction list screen appears. Select the instruction, and press the [Enter] key.
- (3) The parameter input window appears. Input a parameter and press the [Enter] key to enter. To move to another parameter field, press the [Tab] key.



Figure B3.16 Parameter Input Screen (for MOV instruction)
Input from Instruction Input Window

Input Using Mouse

(1) Click on the application instruction input icon on the instruction tool palette. The instruction input window appears.

| Enter Instruction | > | < |
|---|------------------|---|
| Enter Mnemonic and Instruction Parameters | OK | |
| | Cancel | |
| MOVL D1 D2 | Instruction List | |
| | ED000010E | |

Figure B3.17 Instruction Input Window

(2) Directly enter the instruction to the input field and select [OK]. The indicator of the mouse cursor changes to the form of the selected instruction. Input parameters after the instruction language. Use a space or a comma to delimit the instruction language and parameters.

To cancel this instruction input operation, select [Cancel]. The indicator of the mouse cursor remains the selector cursor.

(3) Click on the location for entering the instruction. The instruction is entered at the clicked location.

- The indicator of the selected mouse cursor remains after input. To continue writing the
 instruction, click on the location where it is to be entered. To return the mouse indicator
 to its original form, press the [Esc] key, click the right button, or click on the selector
 icon of the tool palette.
- When entering an output instruction, the instruction is assigned to the last column and not at the clicked location. In this case, a horizontal connect line leads from the clicked position.

Input Using Function Key (Entering from Instruction Input Window)

- (1) Bring the position cursor to the location for entering the instruction.
- (2) Press the application instruction input function key.
- Input the instruction directly to the input field and select [OK]. The instruction is entered where the position cursor is. Example: MOVL D1 D2

• Mnemonic Input Using Keyboard

- (1) Bring the position cursor to the location for entering the instruction.
- (2) Enter the first letter of the mnemonic of the instruction to be input. The following dialog box appears.

E

| nter Instruction | × | 1 |
|---|------------------|----|
| Inter Mnemonic and Instruction Parameters | ОК | |
| 4 | Cancel | |
| η | Instruction List | |
| | FB030314E.E | PS |

Figure B3.12 Dialog Box for Entering Instruction

The first letter of the instruction mnemonic to be input is displayed in the dialog box.

- (3) Finish entering the mnemonic and then select [OK]. Example: MOV D1 D2
- (4) The instruction is entered where the position cursor is.

Changing Instruction Parameters

Changing Using Mouse

Double-click on the location where the parameter is to be changed. The parameter input window appears. Input the parameter and click on [OK].

Changing Using Keys

Bring the position cursor to the location where the parameter is to be changed, and then press [Enter]. Up to 8 characters can be displayed in the input dialog box. Use the arrow keys to scroll.

| MOVSetup Instruction Parameter | × |
|--------------------------------|---------------|
| | OK |
| MOVL | Cancel |
| | <u>H</u> elp |
| | FB030315E.EPS |

Figure B3.19 Parameter Input Dialog Box (example for MOV command)

| | × |
|--------------|----|
| CAL | 31 |
| <u>H</u> elp | |

Figure B3.20 Parameter Input Dialog Box (example for CAL command)

Select [OK] to enter the instruction. Select [Cancel] to cancel entering the instruction. Select [Help] to display the help window for that instruction.

TIP

The first field (instruction word field) of the parameter input dialog box is in the form of a drop-down list for easily changing instruction properties (long word instruction, rising edge instruction). Further, for instruction such as CAL, the operators can be changed in the drop-down list.

B3-23

B3.3.6 Entering Timer Instruction



Input Using Mouse

- (1) Click on the timer instruction input icon on the instruction tool palette. The indicator of the mouse cursor changes to the form of the TIM instruction.
- (2) Click on the location for entering the instruction. The TIM instruction is entered at the clicked location.

• Input Using Function Key

- (1) Bring the position cursor to the location for entering the instruction.
- (2) Press the timer function key.
- (3) The timer instruction parameter settings dialog box appears.

| TIMSetup | Instruction Param | eter | × |
|----------|-------------------|---------|--------------|
| | | | OK |
| TIM | T 00001 | 1s100ms | Cancel |
| | | | <u>H</u> elp |
| | | | |

Figure B3.21 TIM Instruction Parameter Setting Dialog Box

(4) Input the parameters and select [OK].

Changing Parameters

- (1) Double-click on the timer instruction and then press the [Enter] key.
- (2) The parameter settings dialog box appears.
- (3) Input the parameters and select [OK].

B3-24

B3.3.7 Entering Counter Instruction



• Input Using Mouse

- (1) Click on the counter instruction icon on the instruction tool palette. The mouse cursor indicator takes the form of the CNT instruction.
- (2) Click on the location for entering the instruction. The CNT instruction is entered at the clicked location.

• Input Using Function Key

- (1) Bring the position cursor to the location for entering the instruction.
- (2) Press the counter function key.
- (3) The counter instruction parameter settings dialog box appears.

| CNTSetup Instruction Parameter | | × |
|--------------------------------|--------------|---|
| | OK | |
| CNT C00001 100 | Cancel | |
| | <u>H</u> elp | |
| | FRANKLAF | |

Figure B3.22 CNT Instruction Parameter Setting Dialog Box

(4) Input the parameters and select [OK].

Changing Parameters

- (1) Double-click on the timer instruction and then press the [Enter] key.
- (2) The parameter settings dialog box appears.
- (3) Input the parameters and select [OK].

The counter reset condition is input on the next line.



FB030319E.EPS

B3.3.8 Deleting Ladder Diagram Elements

Delete ladder diagram elements by the procedure below.

- (1) Bring the position cursor to the element to be deleted.
- (2) Select [Edit] [Delete] (or press the [Delete] key).

B3.3.9 Entering Constants (Decimal, Hexadecimal, and Timer Settings), Character Strings, Floating Points, and Block Names

In addition to devices, the instruction parameters include the following:

- Constants
- Text strings
- Floating points
- Block names
- Label names

Some of these instruction parameters cannot be input, depending on the instruction.

Entering Constants

Entering Decimal Constants

There are positive and negative decimal constants. The ranges that can be handled are as below.

 Word instruction
 -32768 to 32767(BIN)

 Long word instruction
 -2147483648 to 2147483647(BIN)

Entering Hexadecimal Constants

Hexadecimal constants are entered with the prefix [\$].

Word instructions can be up to four figures, and long word instructions up to eight figures.

• Entering Timer Settings

When timer settings use constants, they are entered in the format shown below.

Seconds are suffixed by "s", and milliseconds by "ms". Values smaller than a millisecond are entered up to one decimal place.

EXAMPLE:

1s100.0ms indicates 1 second and 100 milliseconds.

Seconds are displayed in the top row and milliseconds up to one decimal place are displayed in the bottom row.

| _[| TIM | T00001 | 1 s 100.0ms |
|----|-----|--------|----------------|
| | | | FB030320E.El |

Figure B3.23 Example of Display of Timer Constant

Entering Character Strings

WideField handles text strings of kanji, katakana, alphanumeric and symbols. However, some instructions may not be able to handle certain text strings. Text strings are enclosed in inverted commas ("").

Word instructions up to 2 ASCII characters can be entered. Long word instructions up to 4 ASCII characters can be entered.

Entering Floating Points

The use of floating points is limited to particular commands. Floating points are entered with the prefix "%". Negative values are entered with "-" after "%". Floating points can be used with long word commands and floating point instructions.

EXAMPLE:

Display is left-justified, with 8 characters for the argument section and 4 characters for the exponent section.

Display format

%X.XXXXXXEYYY

X.XXXXXX is the argument section, and YYY is the exponent section. The sign is displayed immediately before X.XXXXXX and YYY.

The range of data that can be entered is approximately as follows:

Negative integers-3.4e³⁷ to -1.5e⁻³⁸Positive integers1.5e⁻³⁸ to 3.4e³⁷

Entering Block Names

The block name is input to a parameter of the ACT/INACT instruction. The entered name is always displayed in uppercase.

Entering Label Name in Jump or Sub-routine Instruction

The label name is input to a parameter of the JMP/CALL instruction.

B3.3.10 Input/Display of Indexed Devices

For input indexed devices, place a semi-colon after the device name/tag name, and specify the indexed register. The input method is the same, whether for basic instruction parameters or application instruction parameters.

EXAMPLE:

X201;V001 for input address SW1;V001 for input tag name

Devices modified by indexes are displayed as below. Tag names can be used for index registers, but the address of the index register is displayed.

FB030321E.EPS



Example of Display of Contact and Coil

V001 V002 TAGNAME MOV 234 D00002

FB030322E.EPS

Example of Display of Application Instruction

B3.3.11 Assigning address for Tag Name

If input the tag names that have not been assigned address (undefined tag names) in the circuit edit, addresses must be assigned.



Figure B3.24 Tag Name Address Assignment

When entering circuit instruction parameters, an address assignment dialog box opens if an input tag name has not been assigned an address. When an address is entered, the entered tag name and address are registered automatically in the tag name definition.



Even if "Undo" is selected, the tag name address assignment does not revert to the original address. (The address registered in the tag name definition remains.)

B3.3.12 Inserting Connect Lines

Input Using Mouse

Connect lines can be drawn in any direction regardless of whether they are vertical or horizontal lines.



Inserting Connect Lines

(1) Click on the insertconnect line icon. The mouse cursor changes to the insert connect line cursor.



Insert Connect Line Cursor

(2) Drag from the start point to the end point. Release the mouse at the end point to draw the connect line. During dragging, the interval between the positions that are being connected is displayed as a bold line in reverse color.



FB030325E.EPS
Display During Drag Operation

The mouse cursor indicator is retained. You can continue drawing lines. To cancel, press the [Esc] key or right-click.



Deleting Lines

- (1) Click on the delete connect line icon. The mouse cursor changes to the delete connect line delete cursor.
- (2) Drag from the start point to the end point. Release the mouse at the end point to erase the connect line. During dragging, the interval between the positions that are being connected is displayed as a bold dotted line in reverse color. The mouse cursor indicator is retained. You can continue erasing lines. To cancel, press the [Esc] key or right-click.

Input Using Function Key

Entering Vertical Connect Lines

Select the vertical connect line function key. The position cursor changes into the vertical line cursor.

Use the arrow keys to bring the cursor to the input position and press the [Enter] key.



The indicator for the vertical line cursor remains after input. To continue entering vertical lines, use the arrow keys to move the vertical line cursor and press the [Enter] key. Press the [Esc] key to cancel.

Deleting Vertical Connect Line

Press the vertical connect line delete function key, and do the same operation as for input.

The vertical line delete cursor is displayed as with dotted line.

Entering Horizontal Connect Line

Select the horizontal connect line function key. The horizontal connect line is entered where the position cursor is.



Deleting Horizontal Connect Line

Bring the position cursor to the horizontal line to be deleted and select the [Delete] key, in the same way as for ordinary ladder diagram elements.

B3.3.13 Entering Continuation Circuit



• Input Using Mouse

- (1) Select the continuation line icon from the tool palette.
- (2) Click on the position where the continuation line is to be entered. When the beginning of the line is clicked, the continuation line is generated from the previous line. When the line is clicked midway, the continued line is generated to lead to the post.

When the line is clicked midway, the continued line is generated to lead to the next line.

Input Using Function Key

- (1) Bring the position cursor to the location where the continuation line is to be written.
- Select the continuation line function key.
 When the position cursor is at the beginning of the line, the continuation line is generated from the previous line.
 When the position cursor is midway in the line, the continuation line is generated to lead to the next line.



B3.3.14 Entering Label



Input Using Mouse

(1) Select the label icon and click on the line where the label is to be entered. The label edit dialog box opens.

| Edit Label | × |
|-------------|---------------|
| Enter Label | ОК |
| LABEL | Cancel |
| | FB030329E.EPS |

Figure B3.27 Label Edit Dialog Box

(2) Input the label and click [OK], and the label is entered.



Input Using Keyboard

- (1) Bring the position cursor to the line where the label is to be entered.
- (2) Press [Ctrl]+ [F6], and label input window appears.
- (3) Input the label and press the [Enter], and the label is entered.

Editing Labels

To edit labels, use the same method as for input.

- Bring the position cursor to the line where the label is to be entered, and press [Ctrl] + [F6].
- (2) Change the label icon and click on the line where the label is to be written. In both steps (1) and (2), label input window opens. The currently set label is displayed initially. When a new label is input and the [Enter] key pressed, the label changes.

Deleting Labels

Delete the all characters in the label input window and select [OK].

B3.3.15 Inserting Empty Lines

To insert an empty line into the ladder diagram, select [Edit] - [Insert Line] from the menu.



Figure B3.29 Inserting Empty Lines

B3.3.16 Selecting Lines

Lines must be selected for line operations (copy, move, delete). They can be selected using the mouse or the keyboard.

To select lines using the mouse, make the mouse indicator the selector cursor (usual cursor), and drag it to the line number area. Up to 100 lines can be selected at the one time. No more than 100 lines can be selected.



Figure B3.30 Selecting Lines Using Mouse (dragging to line number area)

To select lines using the keyboard, press the [Shift] key plus the up/down arrow keys.



Figure B3.31 Selecting Lines Using Keyboard

B3.3.17 Deleting Lines

Lines in specified areas can be deleted in line units. The circuit comment and subcomment are also deleted.



Procedure for Deleting Lines

- (1) Select the line.
- (2) Select [Edit] [Delete Line], or press the [Delete] key. The following dialog box appears.

| WideField 🔀 | |
|-----------------------------|---|
| Do you wish to delete line? | |
| <u>Yes</u> <u>N</u> o | |
| FB030335E.EPS | · |

Figure B3.3 Dialog Box for Confirming Deletion of Line

(3) Select [Yes] to delete the line. Deleted lines cannot be recovered.

B3-36

B3.3.18 Temporarily Deleting Lines/Recovering Temporarily Deleted Lines

Temporarily Deleting Lines

Lines in specified areas can be temporarily deleted in line units. Temporarily deleted lines are displayed with the background color changed.

This function is handy for temporarily deleting lines of circuits while editing programs, when it is not clear whether the lines should be deleted or not.

Circuit comments and sub-comments is also deleted temporarily.



FB030336E.EPS

Figure B3.32 Deleting Temporarily

- (1) Select the line.
- (2) Select [Edit] [Temporary Delete], or press the [Delete] key. The following dialog box appears.

TIP

When the block is converted, temporarily deleted lines are deleted from the program.

Recovering Temporarily Deleted Lines

Temporarily deleted lines in a specified area can be recovered so that they can be edited as usual.

- (1) Select the temporarily deleted lines.
- (2) Select [Edit] [Undo Temporary Deleted]. The selected lines revert to ordinary edit status.

B3.3.19 Copying and Pasting Lines

Lines in specified areas can be copied and moved to specified positions in line units. Lines can be copied and pasted to the same or a different window.

Circuit comments and sub-comments can be copied and pasted as well.



Figure B3.35 Copying and Pasting

- (1) Select the line/s to copy and paste.
- Select [Edit] [Copy] or [Cut].
 When [Cut] is selected, selected lines are cleared from the screen. (The move function is activated.)
- (3) Bring the position cursor to the place for inserting the lines. To copy and paste to another screen, bring the position cursor to the paste position on the other screen.
- (4) Select [Paste] from the Edit menu. The lines are inserted where the position cursor is.



The operation for copying to another screen is as follows:

 The addresses of the circuit elements actually assigned to the circuit to be copied are copied. If different tag names are assigned to the destination block, the lines will be displayed with the tag names of the destination block.



Circuit being copied Circuit is copied to a different block



Destination circuit The tag name SW4 is assigned to X201.

FB030338E.EPS

Figure B3.36

B3.3.20 Copying Circuit Image

Using the same procedure as for copying lines, select [Edit] - [Copy Image] to copy the circuit edit image to the clipboard in bit-map format. The copied circuit image can be pasted to such software as MS-Paint and MS-Word.

B3.3.21 Canceling Operation

You can cancel the process you have just done.

- Press the [Delete] key to recover a instruction or comment you have just deleted.
- The entered instruction reverts to its status prior to being deleted.

Recovering Deleted Instruction/Comment

Press the [Delete] key to delete the instruction or comment where the position cursor is. If this deletion is a mistake, you can cancel this operation.

Input example:



B3-38

Reverting to Status Prior to Input

If the wrong instruction, etc. is input, you can delete the instruction and revert to the former status.

EXAMPLE:



- Operations can be cancelled only when the input/deleted line is in the screen area. Once you scroll the screen, a previous deletion cannot be cancelled. Also, after conversion, operations cannot be cancelled.
- Assignment of addresses to tag names cannot be reverted. (The tag name definition is registered as is.)

B3.3.22 Overwrite Mode and Insert Mode

The input mode for instructions can be overwrite mode or insert mode.

Usually, editing is done in overwrite mode, but insert mode is used for inserting instructions.

• Overwrite Mode

If an instruction is already where the position cursor is, that instruction is cleared and replaced by the newly input instruction.

Insert Mode

If an instruction is already where the position cursor is, that instruction is moved to the right and in its place the newly input instruction is inserted.

EXAMPLE:

The following example shows the difference between overwrite mode and insert mode for when an instruction is input where the position cursor is.



In Overwrite Mode



• In Insert Mode



EXAMPLE:

The following example shows the difference between overwrite mode and insert mode for when the [Delete] key is used to delete an instruction where the position cursor is.



• In Overwrite Mode

The instruction located at the position cursor is deleted.



In Insert Mode

The instruction located at the position cursor is deleted and the instruction on the right shifts.



TIP

Insert mode is valid for input-type instructions. If output-type instructions are used in insert mode, it overwrites the existing output-type instruction.

B3.3.23 Inputting and Deleting Circuit Comments

Circuit comments are comments that can be written in the same way as circuits. They are always displayed on the block edit screen. Comments are input in line units, and up to 4 lines can be input per comment.



Figure B3.37 Kind of Comments and Example of the display

Inputting Circuit Comment

Inpu

-11-0

Input Using Mouse

- (1) Click on the circuit comment icon on the instruction tool palette. The mouse cursor changes to the circuit comment input indicator.
- (2) Click on the position for inputting the circuit comment. A circuit comment input window opens at the clicked location.
- (3) Input the circuit comment and press the [Enter] key. The circuit comment is inserted.

The selected mouse cursor indicator is retained after input. You can continue writing circuit comments; click on the location where you want to write the next comment. To return the mouse cursor to it's former indicator, press the [Esc] key, right-click, or select using the tool palette selector.

The position cursor for circuit comments encloses a line at a time.





Input Using Keyboard

- (1) Bring the position cursor below the position for inputting the circuit comment.
- (2) Select [Ctrl] + [F7]. A circuit comment input field appears at the location of the position cursor.
- (3) Enter the circuit comment and press the [Enter] key. The circuit comment is inserted.

Editing Circuit Comment

There are two ways of editing an existing circuit comment:

- (1) Bring the position cursor to where the circuit comment is and press the [Enter] key.
- (2) Double-click on the circuit comment. For both methods, a circuit comment input window opens. Enter changes here and press the [Enter] key. The circuit comment is modified.

Deleting Circuit Comment

Bring the position cursor to where the circuit comment is and select [Edit] - [Delete] or press the [Delete] key. The circuit comment is deleted. If all the text is deleted for a circuit comment during circuit comment input, it is left as an empty circuit comment line and the circuit comment line is not deleted.

B3.3.24 Entering and Deleting Subcomments

Subcomments are comments that can be written to output-type instructions. They are displayed in the subcomment display area. Subcomments are entered in units of one instruction.

Entering Subcomments



Input Using Mouse

(1) Select the subcomment icon and click on the line where the subcomment is to be input. The dialog box for editing the subcomment appears.

| Enter Subcomment | × |
|------------------|---------------|
| Enter Subcomment | ОК |
| Subcomment | Cancel |
| | FB030352E.EPS |

Figure B3.39 Subcomment Edit Dialog Box

(2) Input the subcomment and select [OK]. The subcomment is entered. The entered subcomment is displayed left-justified.





Input Using Keyboard

- (1) Bring the position cursor to the line where the subcomment is to be input.
- (2) Press [Ctrl] + [F9]. The dialog box for editing the subcomment appears.
- (3) Input the subcomment and press the [Enter] key. The subcomment is entered.

Editing Subcomments

To edit a subcomment, use the same method as for input.

- Bring the position cursor to the line where the subcomment is to be input, and press [Ctrl] + [F9].
- (2) Change to the subcomment cursor. Click on the line where the subcomment is to be input. For both (1) and (2), the subcomment input window opens. The subcomment that has been input already is displayed as the initial display. That subcomment is modified when a new subcomment is input and the [Enter] key pressed.

Deleting Subcomments

Delete all the characters in the subcomment window and select [OK]. The subcomment is deleted.

B3.3.25 Entering and Deleting I/O Comments

 $\ensuremath{\text{I/O}}$ comments are comments that can be written to devices. They are displayed in the $\ensuremath{\text{I/O}}$ comment display area.

Entering I/O Comments



Input Using Mouse

- (1) Select the I/O comment icon.
- (2) Select the element assigned to the address. The I/O comment input field appears. If the field already contains an I/O comment, this comment is displayed initially. EXAMPLE



(3) Input the I/O comment and press the [Enter] key. The comment is entered.

TIP

The entered I/O comment is reflected in the block tag name definition. Press the [Esc] key to clear the input field.

Input Using Keyboard

- (1) Bring the position cursor to the I/O comment input element.
- (2) Press [Ctrl] + [F8]. The I/O comment input field appears. If the field already contains an I/O comment, this comment is displayed initially.
- (3) Input the I/O comment and press the [Enter] key. The I/O comment is entered.

Editing I/O Comments

To edit an I/O comment, use the same method as for input.

- (1) Bring the position cursor to the I/O comment input element and press [Ctrl] + [F8].
- (2) Select the I/O comment icon, and click on the input element. For both (1) and (2), the I/O comment input window opens. The I/O comment that has been input already is displayed as the initial display. That I/O comment is modified when a new I/O comment is input and the [Enter] key pressed.

Deleting I/O Comments

In the operation for editing I/O comments, delete all the characters in the I/O comment and press the [Enter] key.

B3.3.26 Index View

The index view uses circuit comments as indexes, and hides circuits written up to the next circuit comment. The index view is effective for grasping the overall flow of the ladder circuit first, before editing the details.



Figure B3.41 Conceptual View of Folding Function

• Hiding Circuits

Bring the position cursor to the circuit comment and select [Edit] - [Hide Circuit]. The circuits up to the next circuit comment are hidden. The circuit comment is highlighted.



Circuit after hiding

(Example where the third to the sixth circuit comments have been hidden)

Figure B3.42 Example of Folded Circuits

When the last circuit comment of the program has been hidden, the circuits through to the end of the program are hidden.

Highlighted circuit comments indicate circuits where modification is prohibited.

The index view maintains the hide status even when the file has been closed and then opened again.

Showing Circuit

Bring the position cursor to the hidden circuit comment and select [Edit] - [Show Circuit]. The hidden circuit is displayed.

• Hiding All Circuits

Select [Edit] - [Hide All Circuits]. All circuits in the block are hidden. However, this function does not work when the first line of the block has no circuit comment.

Showing All Circuits

Select [Edit] - [Show All Circuits]. All hidden circuits in the block are unfolded. When all circuits are shown, the position cursor line is displayed at the top.

B3.3.27 Page Break Function

When "@" is input as the first letter of a circuit comment, this circuit comment is printed at the top of the page at printout. Input it directly by editing the circuit comment.

To cancel the page break function, delete the @ symbol by editing the circuit comment.

The @ symbol can be input at the beginning of a circuit comment by bringing the position cursor to the circuit comment and selecting [Edit] - [Page Break].

The ladder diagram edit screen can be switched to display or hide information, and information can be displayed in different sizes using the Zoom function.

B3.4.1 Switching Display for I/O Comments, Tag Names and Addresses, and Instruction Numbers

Display can be switched for the items listed in the table below. The setting is valid until the edit screen closes.

| Table B3.3 View Functior |
|--------------------------|
|--------------------------|

| Item | Function |
|----------------------------------|---|
| Display I/O Comment | Displays I/O comments under the ladder diagram components. The same number of I/O comments is displayed as the number of lines set in the environment setting. I/O comments exceeding this amount are not displayed. |
| Display Address | Switches display from tag name to address. |
| Display Instruction Number | Displays the instruction number of the first ladder diagram comment under the line no. The instruction number is the five-digit number under the line no., and is displayed with N prefixing the instruction number of the first element of the circuit. If a label has been defined, the instruction number is not displayed on this line. |

TB030401E.EPS

To switch display, select [View] - [Item] (Display I/O Comment, Display Address, Display Instruction Number) from the menu. The menu item is checkmarked to indicate the current display setting. To cancel this, again select [View] - [Item] from the menu.

| ⊻iew | Project | On <u>l</u> ine | <u>D</u> ebug/Mainter | | |
|-----------------------------|-------------------|-------------------|-----------------------|--|--|
| ✓ Toolb | ar | | | | |
| ✓ Instruction Palette | | | | | |
| ✓ Statu | s Bar | | | | |
| ✓ Funct | tion <u>K</u> eys | | | | |
| - Actio | n <u>M</u> onitor | | | | |
| ✓ Proje | ct Window | , | | | |
| Displ | ay I/O Co | mment(Y) | Ctrl+I | | |
| Displ | ay Instruc | tion <u>N</u> umb | er Ctrl+K | | |
| Displ | ay <u>A</u> ddres | s | Ctrl+A | | |
| Dode | (G) | | | | |
| | | | FB030401E.EPS | | |

Figure B3.43 Menu for Switching Display







4: Example of display where I/O comment display is selected



An instruction number is the number assigned to each mnemonic instruction when the ladder diagram is changed into mnemonics. The instruction number is not assigned to circuit comments, subcomments, and I/O comments.

When the circuit has not been converted, the instruction number may not display the correct value. The correct value will be displayed after conversion.

B3.4.2 Zoom Up/Zoom Down

To enlarge the display, select [View] - [Zoom] - [Zoom Up].

To reduce the display, select [View] - [Zoom] - [Zoom Down].

The Zoom function provides 7 degrees of size: three degrees larger, one standard size, and three degrees smaller.





B3-51

B3.5 Displaying Conversion and Errors

The entered circuits are converted into the instruction language.

Conversion Procedure

Select [Edit] - [Convert] to convert the entered circuits to the instruction language.

At conversion, the following items are checked:

- · Whether there are mistakes in the circuits
- · Whether the instruction parameters have been input correctly
- · Whether the labels have been input correctly

When the circuits are converted, temporarily deleted lines are cleared from the screen and the deleted lines cannot be recovered. At the same time, the circuits are formed and displayed.

If conversion ends successfully, the successful end dialog message appears.

If a conversion error occurs, the error dialog box appears, and the position cursor moves to where the error is.

The first error that is found during conversion is displayed in the dialog box. Resume converting after correcting this error.

If a folded circuit contains a conversion error, the error is unfolded and the display jumps to the beginning of the circuit having the error.

B3.6 Find/Replace

There are two types of search function, Find Device and Find Instruction.

B3.6.1 Find Device

The Find Device function searches for the three following targets:

- Tag name/address
- Block name and macro name of macro instructions used in ACT/INACT instructions
- Label (the label itself, and jump and sub-routine instructions having a label as a parameter)

Tag names and addresses can be searched by specifying a device range.

Procedure for Ordinary Search

Select [Find] - [Convert] to convert the entered circuits to the instruction language. Select [Find] - [Find]. The following dialog box appears.

| Find BLOCK1 | |
|---------------------------|---------------|
| Search String X201 | |
| Search.Points 1 | |
| Search Target | Find Nort |
| Tag Name/ Address | EING NEXT |
| 🔿 Block Name/Macro Name | Cancel |
| 🔿 Label | |
| J | <u>H</u> elp |
| Search Direction | |
| From the <u>T</u> op | |
| ○ Upwards from the Cursor | |
| Downwards from the Cursor | |
| | |
| | FB030601E.EPS |

Figure B3.46 Find Dialog Box

- (1) Input the search string. Input the search string, and specify "1" for the number of searches.
- (2) Select the target to be searched. For tag name/address, the tag names and addresses used in the circuit are searched. For a block name, the block names used with the ACT/INACT instruction are searched. For a label, lines and instructions using labels are searched.
- (3) Select the search direction.

When [From the Top] is selected, the block is searched from the beginning to the last line.

When [Upwards from the Cursor] is selected, the block is searched from the position cursor location to the beginning of the block.

When [Downwards from the Cursor] is selected, the block is searched from the position cursor location to the last line of the block.



Figure B3.47 Search Direction

Select [Find Next].
 If the searched string is found, the display switches to the display containing the searched string.



If the searched string is found in a folded circuit, that circuit is unfolded.

Procedures for Searching Tag Names and Addresses in a Specified Range

When the search string is a tag name or address, the search can be confined to a particular range of tag names or addresses by specifying the number of search points. From 1 to 2,048 points can be searched. For example, in the specification below, addresses from X201 to X232 are searched.

Search string X201 Number of search points 32

When a tag name is specified for the search string, addresses amount of search point number is searched from the address assigned to the tag name.

Search string SW1 Number of search points 32

When SW1 is assigned to X301, X301, X302....X332 are searched.

Select [Find] - [Find]. The following dialog box appears.

| Find BLOCK1 | × |
|---------------------------|---------------|
| Search String X201 | 4 |
| Search.Points 32 🚔 | |
| Search Target | Eind Nort |
| Tag Name/ Address | EINGINEX |
| 🔿 Block Name/Macro Name | Cancel |
| 🔿 Label | |
| | <u>H</u> elp |
| Search Direction | |
| From the <u>T</u> op | |
| O Upwards from the Cursor | |
| Downwards from the Cursor | |
| | |
| | FB030603E.EPS |

Figure 3.48 Find dialog box for specifying number of search points

- (1) Enter the search string. Enter the search string.
- (2) Specify the number of search points. Specify the number of points to search in the address specified by the search string.
- (3) Select the search target. Select tag name/address.
- (4) Select the search direction. When [From the Top] is selected, the block is searched from the beginning to the last line.

When [Upwards from the Cursor] is selected, the block is searched from the position cursor location to the beginning of the block.

When [Downwards from the Cursor] is selected, the block is searched from the position cursor location to the last line of the block.

(5) Select [Find Next]. If the searched string is found, the display switches to the display containing that string.



If the searched string is found in a folded circuit, that circuit is unfolded.

B3-56

B3.6.2 Find Instruction

Find Instruction is a function for searching instructions used in blocks.

Procedure for Find Instruction

Select [Find] - [Find Instruction]. The Find Instruction dialog box opens.

| Find Instruction BLK_MAIN | | × |
|---------------------------|--------------------|-----------|
| Find Instrution | Instruction String | |
| Application Instruction | mov D1 D2 | Eind Next |
| Search Direction | | Cancel |
| C Upwards from the Cur | | |
| C Downwards from the | Cursor | Help |
| | | |

(1) Select the instruction type to be searched from the Find Instruction drop-down list. Selectable instructions are -|| |-, -|/, -, -, -, -, and application instructions.

FB030604E.EPS

(2) Enter the search string in the instruction string. For basic instructions, specify a parameter. This can be omitted. For application instructions, specify an instruction mnemonic. Input can include parameters. For searching with an option, specify as below, using a space for demarcation. EXAMPLE: MOV L P D1 D2 Search with long word and rising-edge options MOV L D1 D2 Search with long word option

TIP

For searching without specifying options, instructions with options are searched.

- (3) When [Find Next] is selected, the search begins according to the search direction. Search can be done in three ways: from the top, from the cursor position up, and from the cursor position down.
- (4) When [Cancel] is selected, the Find window closes.

Even when the window has been closed, if [Find] - [Find Next] is selected, the previous search contents can be searched. After searching to the end of the block (or to the top of the block from above the cursor position), the [Search ended] dialog box appears. If the search used no index modifiers, instructions with index modifiers are also found if they match the search pattern.



If the searched string is found in a folded circuit, that circuit is unfolded.

B3.6.3 Finding Next Candidate

After closing the dialog box for a device search or instruction search, the previous search conditions are remembered. Select [Find] - [Find Next] to continue searching.

B3.6.4 Replace

The replace function is for replacing the tag name/address with a specified tag name/ address. In addition to replacing one corresponding tag name/address, consecutive addresses up to 2,048 points can be replaced with the one operation.

Procedure for Replacing

Select [Find] - [Replace]. The following dialog box appears.

| Replace Device BLOCK1 | × |
|-----------------------------|---------------------|
| Old Device X201 | Eind Next |
| New Device X301 | <u>R</u> eplace |
| Replace Points 32 📩 | Replace <u>A</u> ll |
| Search Direction | Cancel |
| From the <u>T</u> op | |
| O Upwards from the Cursor | <u>H</u> elp |
| C Downwards from the Cursor | |
| | |

FB030605E.EPS

- Input the tag name/address to be replaced. Input either the tag name or device address to be replaced.
- (2) nput the tag name/address to replace the current one. Input either the tag name or device address to replace the current one.
- (3) Specify the number of replace points. Specify the replacement range from the specified tag name or address. For example, to replace 32 points from X201, specify 32 for the number of replacement points; then the address from X201 through X232 will be replaced by X301 through X332.
- (4) Select the search direction.
- (5) Select [Find Next]. Bring the position cursor to the position of the tag name/address to replace.
- (6) Select [Replace] and the tag name/address at the position cursor will be replaced. To continue replacing, select [Find Next] again, and find the target to replace. To replace all targets, select [Replace All].


- When the number of points to be replaced is specified with the tag name, the number of points is from the address assigned to the replacement tag name. If the address is not correct after replacement, an error occurs.
- If the replacement tag name is not specified, replacement cannot be done. In this case, the error message [Tag address not assigned] appears in the dialog box.
- If the searched string is found in a hidden Ocircuit, that circuit is unfolded.

B3.6.5 Jump

The jump function switches the display of the window of the specified line in the program. There are four jump functions. These are operated from the menu, by selecting [Find] - [Jump], and then the jump destination.

• Jump to Top Line

The window switches to the top line of the program, and the position cursor moves to the first ladder diagram component.

Jump to Last Line

The window switches to the display that contains the last line of the program, and the position cursor moves to the first ladder diagram component on the last line.

• Jump to Specific Line

The window switches so that the specified line is at the top of the display, and the position cursor moves to the first ladder diagram component on the specified line.

Jump to Specific Instruction Number

The window switches so that the circuit containing the specified instruction number is at the top of the display, and the position cursor moves to the first ladder diagram component.

When specified line jump or specified instruction number jump is selected, the dialog box below appears. (For an instruction number, the message [Enter the instruction number to jump to] is displayed.) Enter the line no. or the instruction number to jump to, and select [OK].

| Jump to Specific Instruction Number | | | | | | |
|--|--------------|--|--|--|--|--|
| Enter the instruction number, to jump to | ОК | | | | | |
| N N | Cancel | | | | | |
| | EB000000E EB | | | | | |

Figure B3.49 Jump Dialog Box for Line no. Specification

B3.6.6 Displaying Device Usage Status

Devices used in a block can be searched.

Procedure for Displaying Status of Device Usage

Select [Find] - [Device Usage Status]. The dialog box below appears.

| evice Usage StatusBLOCK1 | × |
|--------------------------|----------|
| First Device | Display |
| 100001 💌 | |
| | Close |
| Device Usage Status | |
| I TUUUU1 | Provinue |
| * I00002 | Fiewious |
| * I00003 | Next |
| * I00004 | |
| I00005 | |
| I00006 | |
| 100007 | |
| I00008 | |
| 100009 | |
| <u>I00010</u> | |
| <u>* IOOO11 32Poir</u> | |
| | |
| | |
| | |
| | |
| | |
| | |
| 100010 | |
| 100013 | |
| 100020 | |

Figure B3.50 Device Usage Status

- (1) Enter the device address in the First Device field.
- (2) Select [Display]. The device usage status is displayed from the specified device. Up to 256 devices can be displayed at the one time. To display more devices, select [Next]. The next 256 devices are displayed. Select [Previous] to display the previous 256 devices.

Devices used in the program are prefixed by an asterisk. The number of devices used (2 points, 16 points, 32 points) is displayed to the right of the device address. Two points are used for long word instructions with word devices, and 16 points and 32 points are used for words and long words with bit devices. However, when the number of used points is 1, this is left out. Devices used with special instructions that affect multiple devices, and devices, instead of the number of used points.





- Only devices of converted blocks being edited can be displayed.
- The device usage status for the overall project can be looked up by selecting [Project] [Project Device Usage Status].

Blank Page —

B4. Assigning Tag Names

B4.1 About Tag Name Definition

This section outlines the tag name definition function.

Tag name definition is a function for attaching tag names and I/O comments to addresses. Grouped tag names can also be used for tag names. The created program is easier to understand when tag names and I/O comments are attached.

There are 3 types of tag name definition: common tag name definition, where the definitions are shared among programs; block tag name definition, where tags used in blocks are defined; and macro tag name definition, where tags used in instruction macros are defined.

In the Tag Name Definition screen, data can be copied and pasted between tables with assigned tag names that have been created with MS-Excel or a similar program.

B4.1.1 Common Tag Name Definitions, Block Tag Name Definitions and Macro Tag Name Definitions

This section describes the differences among common tag name definitions, block tag name definitions, and macro tag name definitions

Common Tag Name Definitions

These define the tag names used in common by all blocks making up the executable program of the project. After definition, it is reflected in the TAG NAME DEFINITION of each project, and is thus usable by each project. The tag name definitions of all devices except local devices and macro devices can be common tag name definitions.

• Block Tag Name Definitions

These define the tag names used in a particular block. Tag names defined in other blocks cannot be used. The tag name definitions of all devices except macro devices can be block tag name definitions.

• Macro Tag Name Definitions

These define the tag names used in a particular instruction macro. Tag names defined in other macros cannot be used. The tag name definitions of all devices can be macro tag name definitions.

| Device Type | Common Tag Name Definitions | Block Tag Name Definitions | Macro Tag Name Definitions |
|----------------------------|--------------------------------|-------------------------------|-------------------------------|
| nput Relay (X) | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| Output Relay (Y) | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| nternal Relay (I) | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| Local Internal Relay (/I) | × | 0 | 0 |
| Shared Relay (E) | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| Link Relay (L) | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| Special Relay (M) | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| Timer (T) | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| Local Timer (/T) | × | 0 | 0 |
| Counter (C) | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| Local Counter (/C) | × | 0 | 0 |
| Data Register (D) | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| Local Data Register (/D) | × | 0 | 0 |
| File Register (B) | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| Local File Register (/B) | × | 0 | 0 |
| Shared Register (R) | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| Link Register (W) | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| ndex Register (V) | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| Special Register (Z) | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| Macro Relay (H) | × | × | 0 |
| Macro Register (A) | × | × | 0 |
| Macro Index Register (U) | × | × | 0 |
| Macro Pointer Register (P) | × | × | 0 |

O: Devices that can have tag name definitions

 $\times:$ Devices that cannot have tag name definitions

B4.1.2 Cautions for Defining Tag Name Definitions

Tag name definitions have the following limitations.

Duplicate Definition of Address

Addresses that have been registered already cannot be registered again.

Duplicate Definition of Tag Name

Tag names that have been registered already cannot be registered again.

Registration of Address with Index Modifier

The following type of definition cannot be done: Tag Name Address SW X00301;V01

B4.2 Editing Tag Name Definitions

The basic operation for tag name definition windows is the same for common tag name definitions, block tag name definitions, and macro tag name definitions. See the sections on the common tag name definition functions and block and macro tag name definition functions for information about the common functions for common tag name definitions and block and macro tag name definitions.

B4.2.1 Opening, Closing and Saving Tag Name Definition screen

Procedure for opening Tag Name Definition screen

Select [Project] - [Common Tag Name Definition]. The Common Tag Name Definition screen opens.

| Common Tag Nam | ne Definition | | × |
|---------------------|---------------|----------------------------------|--------------|
| Display Mode | | Device Name | |
| Registered dev | /ices only (b | y address) 💌 | Find |
| , Display Device | | | |
| | | | |
| Input Relay(X) | | Y | |
| | | | |
| Tag Name | Address | I/O Comment | Previous |
| | M00033 | Always On 📃 | |
| | M00034 | Always Off | Next |
| | M00035 | Enable 1 scan at operation start | |
| | M00036 | 0.01 s clock | |
| | M00037 | 0.02 s clock | |
| | M00038 | 0.1 s clock | |
| | M00039 | 0.2 s clock | |
| | M00040 | 1 s clock | |
| | M00041 | 2 s clock | |
| | M00042 | 1 min clock | |
| | M00066 | No error in tranmission Sub Unit | |
| | M001 29 | Run mode flag | |
| | M001 30 | Debug mode flag | |
| | M00131 | Stop mode flag | |
| | M001 32 | Suspend flag | |
| | M00133 | Execution flag | |
| | M00134 | Remote/local flag | |
| | M001 35 | Run-from-ROM/RAM flag | |
| | M00136 | Run-at-power-on flag | |
| | M00172 | Set clock time | |
| | M00173 | Input-offline flag | |
| • | | Þ | |
| | | | |
| ок | Can | cel Check Group | Reflect |
| | | | |
| | | | EB040201E EP |

Figure B4.1 Common Tag Name Definition screen

TIP

Reserved I/O comments are already assigned and registered to special relays/registers in the Common Tag Name Definition screen.

Procedure for Closing and Saving Common Tag Name Definitions

Select [OK] or [Cancel] in the Common Tag Name Definition screen. When [OK] is selected, the common tag name definition file is saved. When [Cancel] is selected, the screen is closed without saving the file.

If an error occurs, the error message appears, and the position cursor for the Tag Name Definition screen moves to the place where the error occurred.

Procedure for Opening Block Tag Name Definition/Macro Tag Name Definition screen

With the first window displayed for block or macro editing, select [Edit] - [Block Tag Name Definition]. The Block Tag Name Definition or Macro Tag Name Definition screen appears.

| Block Tag Name (| Definition BL | 0CK1 | | | × |
|------------------|---------------|----------------|---------------|-----|---------------|
| Display Mode | | | Device Name | | |
| Registered dev | /ices only (b | y address) 🛛 💌 | | F | ind |
| Display Device | | | | | |
| Input Relay(X) | | v. | | | |
| Tee Nerre | 8 al d | 1/0 | 0 | | |
| | X00201 | Limit Switch | Comment | | Previous |
| SIA | X00201 | Ston | | | |
| LMP | Y00301 | Lamp | | | Next |
| | | | | | |
| | | | | | |
| | | | | | |
| | | | | - 1 | |
| | | | | - 1 | |
| | | | | | |
| | | | | | |
| | | | | | |
| | | | | | |
| | | | | | |
| | | | | | |
| | | | | _ | |
| | | | | - 1 | |
| | | | | - 1 | |
| | | | | | |
| | | | | - | |
| | | | | | |
| | | 1 1 | | 1 1 | |
| Close | Chg Addr | Check | Group Circuit | | Use |
| | | | | | |
| | | | | | FB040202E.EPS |

Figure B4.2 Block Tag Name Definition screen

TIP

When the Block Tag Name Definition or Macro Tag Name Definition screen opens, the display mode for the circuit screen temporarily switches to display the address and display without the I/O comment. When the Tag Name Definition screen closes, the former mode returns.

Procedure for Closing Block Tag Name Definition /Macro Tag Name Definition Screen

Select [Close] in the Block Tag Name Definition or Macro Tag Name Definition screen. If an error occurs, the error message appears, and the position cursor for the Tag Name Definition screen moves to the place where the error occurred.

Saving Block Tag Name Definition /Macro Tag Name Definition Screen

When the Block Tag Name Definition or Macro Tag Name Definition screen is closed or saved, it is saved together with the block or macro circuit.

<Toc> <Ind>

B4.2.2 Configuration of Tag Name Definition screen

The Tag Name Definition screen has three display modes: address list, registered devices only (by name), and registered devices only (by address). The screen example shown here is for the Block Tag Name Definition screen.

The order of display is device address, tag name, and I/O comment.

| | Block Tag Name | Definition BL | .00K1 | | | × | |
|------|---------------------|---------------|--------------|-------------|---------|----------|---|
| - 1 | Display Mode | | | Device Name | | | |
|) —— | Address list | | - | | | Find | - |
| - 1 | J Dioplay Davier | | | , | | | |
| \ | Display Device | 5 | | | | | |
| , | Input Relay(X |) | <u> </u> | | | | |
| - 1 | ag Nama | Addroce | I/I | Commont | | | |
| - 1 | X00201 | SW1 | Limit Switch | 5 Oomment | | Previous | |
| - 1 | X00202 | SW2 | Stop | | | | |
| | X00203 | | | | | Next | |
| | X00204 | | | | | | |
| - 1 | X00205 | | | | | | |
| - 1 | X00206 | | | | | | |
| - 1 | X00207 | | | | | | |
| - 1 | X00208 | | | | | | |
| - 1 | X00209 | | | | | | |
| | X00210 | | | | | | |
| - 1 | X00211 | | | | | | |
| - 1 | X00212 | | | | | | |
| - 1 | X00213 | | | | | | |
| - 1 | X00214 | | | | | | |
| - 1 | X00215 | | | | | | |
| | X00216 | | | | | | |
| | X00217 | | | | | | |
| | X00218 | | | | | | |
| | X00219 | | | | | | |
| | X00220 | | | | | - | |
| | | | | | E | | |
| | | | | | | | |
| | Close | Chra Addr | Check | Group | Circuit | Use | |
| | | - engradur | | | - 11 | | |
| | | | | | | | 1 |

Figure B4.3 Example of Display of Address List

(1) Display mode

The display mode can be selected from address list, registered devices only (by name), and registered devices only (by address). Registered devices are those with tag names defined.

- (2) Find input field. The tag name definition table can be searched by input the device name or tag name.
- (3) Display device The type of device can be selected when viewing the address list.
- (4) Tag name definition area

This area is for defining tag names. Tag names, addresses, I/O comments and extension comments can be entered here. Up to 256 tag names can be displayed at one time. Use the scroll bar on the right to display them. Use [Next] and [Previous] to display the following or preceding 256 items.

FB040204E.EPS

TIP

- The items below are displayed by right-clicking the pop-up menu. Cut, Copy, Paste, Delete, Insert Line, Delete Line
- The sizes of the address, tag name and I/O comment display areas can be changed by dragging between the cell titles. The setting is valid until the tag name definition window is closed.

| Tag Name | Address | I/O Comment | |
|----------|---------|-------------|--|
| AlwaysOn | M00033 | AlwaysOn | |

Common Tag Name Definition Buttons

Figure B4.4 Example of Changing Size of Tag Name Area

(5) Buttons

Table B4.2

These are the buttons for the various tag name definition functions. The types of buttons displayed differ for common tag name definitions, block tag name definitions, and macro tag name definitions.

| Button | Function |
|--|---|
| ОК | Saves the common tag name definition. At the same time, closes the Common Tag Name Definition screen. |
| Cancel | Closes the Common Tag Name Definition screen without saving the edited contents. |
| Check Checks for errors in the input tag name. | |
| Group | Reads contents of group templates. |
| Reflect | Reflects contents of common tag name definitions in blocks in the project. |
| Help | Displays the Tag Name Definition Help screen. |

TB040201E.EPS

Table B4.3 Block/Macro Tag Name Definition Buttons

| Button | Function |
|----------|--|
| Close | Closes the Block/Macro Tag Name Definition screen. |
| Chg Addr | Reflects contents of the re-assigned tag name in the circuit. |
| Check | Checks for errors in the input tag name. |
| Group | Reads contents of group templates. |
| Circuit | Reads the devices used in the circuit to the Tag Name Definition screen. |
| Use | Displays defined tag names not used in the circuit. |
| Help | Displays Help of tag name definition. |

TB040202E.EPS

TIP

If just the address has been registered in the display mode for the tag name definition registered devices only, and the tag name and I/O comment have not been entered, the address is displayed prefixed by "~" in the tag name cell when the mode is switched to display the address list; "~" indicates that the address has been registered.

| Γ | Tag Name | Address | I/O Comment 🔺 | Previous |
|---|----------|---------|---------------|---------------|
| Γ | I00001 | ~I00001 | | |
| Ж | < I00002 | | | Nort |
| Ж | < I00003 | | | INEXL |
| | | | ······ | FB040205E.EPS |

Figure B4.5 Example of Address List Display When Just the Address Has Been Registered

| Block Ta | g Name (| Definition BL | OCK1 | | | × | |
|-------------------|--------------------|---------------|--------------|-------------|---------|----------|--|
| Display Regist | / Mode ered dev | /ices only (b | v address) 🔻 | Device Name | | Find | |
| | _ | ,, | | 1 | | | |
| Display | Device | | | | | | |
| Input F | Relay(X) | | ~ | | | | |
| | | | | | | | |
| Tag | Name | Address | I/ | O Comment | | Previous | |
| SWI | | X00201 | Limit Switch | | | | |
| SW2 | <u></u> | X00202 | Stop | | | Next | |
| LIVIE | , | 100301 | Lamp | | | - | |
| | | | | | | - | |
| | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | - | |
| | | | | | | - | |
| | | | | | | - | |
| | | | | | | - | |
| | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | - | |
| | | | | | Ð | i l | |
| | | | | | | | |
| Clar | | Cha Addr | Check | Groun | Circuit | Lise | |
| | | - Crig Addr | | Ciodp | Circuit | | |
| | | | | | | | |

FB040206E.EPS

Note: Display is in the order of tag name, address, and I/O comment.Figure B4.6Example of Display of Registered Devices Only (By Address)

| Block Tag Name (| Definition BL | OCK1 | | | × |
|------------------|---------------|--------------|-------------|---------|---------------|
| Display Mode | | | Device Name | | |
| Registered dev | /ices only (b | y name) 📃 💌 | | | Find |
| Display Device | | | | | |
| Input Relay(X) | | | | | |
| Teg Neme | Addresse | 1/0 | Commont | | |
| | V00301 | lamn 170 | Comment | | Previous |
| SW1 | X00201 | Limit Switch | | | |
| SW2 | X00202 | Stop | | | Next |
| | | | | | |
| | | 1 | | | |
| | | | | | |
| | | | | | |
| | | | | | |
| | | | | | |
| | | | | | |
| | | | | | |
| | | | | | |
| | | | | | |
| | | | | | |
| | | | | | |
| | | | | | |
| | | | | | |
| | | | | | |
| | | | | | |
| | | 1 | | | |
| Close | Chg Addr | Check | Group | Circuit | Use |
| | | | | | |
| | | | | | FB040207E.EPS |

Note: Display is in the order of tag name, address, and I/O comment.Figure B4.7Example of Display of Registered Devices Only (By Name)

B4.2.3 Defining Tag Names

Defining New Addresses, Tag Names, and I/O Comments

Move the cursor to the table cells to enter tag names, addresses, and I/O comments. Addresses cannot be entered in address list display mode. To insert an empty line, press [Shift] + [Insert].

Changing Existing Addresses, Tag Names, and I/O Comments

Click on the cell of the address, tag name or I/O comment to be changed, and input the modifications. Addresses cannot be changed in address list display mode.

Deleting Existing Addresses, Tag Names, and I/O Comments

The line where the cursor is can be deleted by pressing [Shift] and [Delete].

When the [Delete] key is pressed, the selected field is deleted.

TIP

The extension comment that appears when the Tag Name Definition screen is scrolled to the right is for future use. Ordinarily, this has no meaning even if it is defined.

B4.2.4 Switching Tag Name Definition screens

Up to 256 tag name definition items can be displayed at the one time. If more than this number of tag name definitions are to be done, the screens must be switched. The Tag Name Definition screens can be switched by using the [Next] and [Previous] buttons displayed on the right. Use the scroll bar to scroll within the range of 256 items.

B4.2.5 Searching Tag Name Definition screens

| Block Tag Name Definition BLOCK1 | × |
|--|-------------------------|
| Display Mode Registered devices only (by name) | Device Name X00201 Find |
| Display Device | |
| Input Relay(X) | |
| Tag Name Address I/(SW1 X00201 Limit Switch | D Comment Previous |

Figure B4.8 Tag Name Definition Find function

- (1) Enter the tag name or address to be searched for and click on [Find] (or press the [Enter] key).
- (2) The specified device will be displayed according to the current display mode.

B4.2.6 Copying, Cutting and Pasting Tag Name Definitions

Drag the Tag Name Definitions Display window or use the up-down cursor while pressing the [Shift] key to select the tag name definition display item. Then, right-click on the pop-up window and select [Cut] or press [Ctrl] + [X]. The contents of the tag name definition are copied to the clipboard. Move the cursor and select [Paste]. The copied contents are pasted in the Tag Name Definition window. The copied contents can be pasted to other Tag Name Definition windows as well.

When a tag name has been copied using [Copy] without using [Cut], the tag name will be defined twice after copying. Be sure to correct this.



Selecting SW1, SW2 and SW3 and cutting and pasting to the same window. Figure B4.9

When there are too many paste items to fit within the window range, the pasted data is abandoned.

B4.2.7 Error Check function

The Tag Name Definition window is not checked for errors when data has been entered. Hence, duplicated tag names and duplicated addresses can be input even though these are illegal for tag name definition. Use the Error Check function to check for duplicated tag names and duplicated addresses. Also, check for errors when closing the Tag Name Definition window.

Procedure for Checking for Errors

(1) Select [Check].

Tag names are checked for duplicated definitions, and then addresses are checked for duplicated definitions.

(2) When an error is found, the dialog box appears. At the same time, the display moves to the cell where the error is. If no errors are found, no window opens.

B4.2.8 Grouping Tag Names

Grouped tag names are used for giving meanings to collections of tag names. The program is easier to read when grouped tag names are used.

| SW1 | LMP |
|-----|-----|
| | |
| SW2 | LMP |
| - | |

| Gr1.SW | Gr1.LMP | |
|-------------------|---------|--|
| — Gr2.SW | Gr2.LMP | |
| - | | |

Conventional programming



Programming using group names FB040210E.EPS

In the above example, the groups are divided into Gr1 and Gr2 and independent devices are related by these group names.

The grouped tag names can be assigned in any manner. If multiple identical modules are used for the same type of application, these can be made easy to group by defining group templates.

Select [Group] to read group-defined contents in the Tag Name Definition window.

See "B4.4 Defining Group Templates" for the method of creating group templates.

B4-13

B4.2.9 Reading Group Templates

The reading Group Template is the function which reads group templates to the Tag Name Definition window.

Procedure for Reading Group Templates

Select [Group] in the Tag Name Definition screen. The following dialog box appears.

| Read Group Name | | | | × |
|-----------------|--------|----------------|--------------|-------|
| Group Name | SLOT | Group Template | MOTION | |
| OK | Cancel | Details | <u>H</u> elp | |
| | | | FB040211E | E.EPS |

Figure B4.11 Read Group Window

- (1) Select the template from the group template drop-down list.
- (2) Input the Group Name. Member Names can have up to 7 characters.
- (3) Select [OK]. The tag name is entered as group name and member name at the cursor position. Tag names are entered in the order of the members defined by the group template.

Select [Cancel] to cancel read processing.

Select [Details] to see what members are defined by the group template. See "B4.4 Defining Group Templates" for the method of defining group templates. See Chapter B21 for the method of using group tag names. It explains programming using group tag names.

TIP

Members are assigned by address when entered from the address list window. When entered from other windows, the address is not assigned. Enter addresses corresponding to the tag names. The group templates that are read are displayed in the Tag Name Definition screen in the format [Group Name. Member Names]. These are overwritten in address list display mode and inserted in registered device display mode.

B4.3.1 Use

The Use function checks whether the registered tag names are used in the block. This function serves as a guide for deleting definitions of unnecessary tags. When the Use function is implemented, used tag names are prefixed with *. This function can be used when the tag display mode is "Registered devices only."

Procedure for Using Use Function

- (1) Select "Registered devices only" (by address or by name) for the Tag Name Definition screen display mode.
- (2) Select [Use] in the Tag Name Definition screen.
- (3) Tag names used in the block are indicated by an asterisk.



Figure B4.12 Tag Comparison

If tag names without asterisks are not required, select them and delete the tag name definitions.

B4.3.2 Reading devices used in circuit

The Circuit function reads devices used in the circuit. It reads devices used in a program block to the tag name definition.

Procedure for Using Circuit Function

- (1) Select [Registered devices only] (by address or by name) for the Tag Name Definition screen display mode.
- (2) Select [Circuit] in the Tag Name Definition screen.
- (3) Used devices are added to the tag name definition.



Figure B4.13 Reading devices used in circuit

After [Circuit] is selected, tags can be defined for addresses that have not been defined with tag names yet.

B4.3.3 Changing Address

The Change Address function changes the tag name address and reflects this change simultaneously in the circuit. This function does not work in the address list display mode.

Below is an example of a tag name definition being re-assigned.

| Tag name | Address |
|----------|---------|
| SWITCH1 | X00301 |

SWITCH2 X00302

- Specify the target for the address change. (Specify the range by dragging, and press the [Ctrl] key for specifying a position some distance away. Up to 256 items can be specified. This function is ineffective when nothing is specified.) Specify the above SWITCH1 and SWITCH2.
- (2) Click on [Chg Addr].

The following dialog box appears. (The selected tag name and address prior to the change are displayed. For the address prior to the change, the address in the window is entered as is.)

| r ag rianne | Uld Address | New Address | OK |
|-------------|-------------|-------------|--------|
| SW1 | X00301 | X00401 | |
| SW2 | X00302 | X00402 | Cancel |
| | | | · |
| | | | |
| | | | |
| | | | |
| | | | |
| | | | |
| | | | |
| | | | |

FB040303E.EPS

Figure B4.14 Address Change Dialog Box

- (3) Enter the new address. (The pre-change address can be changed as well.) When X00301 is to be changed to X00401, and X00302 to X00402, enter X00401 and X00402 and click on [OK]. The tag definition is re-assigned and the new address is reflected in the circuit.
- (4) Changing tag name definition



B4.4 Defining Group Templates

Group tag names consist of [Group Name. Member Names]. The Group Template Definition function defines the members of a group tag name and defines the part except the group name. When a group template is created, it is easy to attach group tag names when defining tag names for groups having the same configuration.

Group templates define only members except group names.

B4.4.1 Creating Group Templates

Creating new group templates

(1) Select [File] - [New]. Click on the [Common Data] tab in the following dialog box.



Figure B4.15 Dialog Box for Creating New Group Template

(2) Input the file name and select [OK].

| 🎯 Grou | p Template Definition:MO 💶 🗖 > | ĸ |
|--------|--------------------------------|-----|
| | Member 🔺 | - |
| 1 | DctACK | |
| 2 | ExtACK | |
| 3 | SlowACK | |
| 4 | EmStpACK | |
| 5 | ZeroSrch | |
| 6 | ModeChg | |
| 7 | RunPlus | |
| 8 | RunMins | |
| 9 | DstChg | |
| 10 | SpdChg | |
| 11 | PosChg | |
| 12 | Enotfy | |
| 13 | DstConf | |
| 14 | Complete | |
| 15 | Pluse | |
| 16 | ParaSet | |
| 17 | | |
| 18 | | |
| 19 | | |
| 20 | | |
| | | |
| | FB040402F | EDS |

Figure B4.16 Group Template Edit window

The member name consists of up to 8 characters starting with a letter of the alphabet. Up to 64 members can be registered.

Opening Existing Group Template File

(1) Select [File] - [Open] - [Group Template].

| Open File | ? × |
|---|------------------------|
| Look in: 🔄 Fam3com 💌 🗈 \min 🏢 | |
| File <u>n</u> ame: Files of <u>type</u> : Group Template(*.ygrp) | <u>O</u> pen Cancel |
| | FB040403E.EPS |

Figure B4.17 Dialog Box for Opening Group Template

(2) Input the file name and select [Open].

■ Closing Group Template

(1) Select [File] - [Close].

B4.4.2 Deleting Group Template Files

Use Explorer or a similar program to delete group template files stored in files. Group template files are stored in the common folder set with the environment settings.

When pin groups of modules having multiple channels are registered as group templates, tags assigned to pins can be standardized.

B5. Building and Managing Projects

This chapter describes how to build and manage projects.

B5.1 Building Projects

B5.1.1 Configuration Definitions of Executable Programs

An executable program is the collection of data downloaded to the CPU. The executable program consists of the following components.

Configuration

This sets the CPU environment. When this is not set, the CPU runs with the default settings for the CPU type.

• User Log Message

This is a message set when a user log is used.

Block

This is a ladder program made up of 1 function.



FB050101E.EPS

Procedure for Defining Configuration of Executable Program

(1) Select [Project] - [Define Program Components]. The following screen appears.

| Define Program Components | | × |
|---------------------------|-----------|----------------------|
| Executable Program | SAMPLE | |
| Configuration | | ок |
| Setup | Not Setup | Cancel |
| User Log Message | | |
| C Yes | No | |
| Component Blocks | | |
| Block No. Block N SCB | lame 🔺 | Block List BLOCK1 |
| 1 BLOCK1 2 BLOCK2 | <-Select | BLOCK2 BLOCK3 |
| 3 4 | | BLOCK4 |
| 5 6 | Insert | |
| 7 8 | | |
| 9 10 | Delete | |
| <u>11</u> 12 | | |
| 10 | _ | |
| | | FB050102E FPS |

Figure B5.1 Executable Program Configuration Definition

- (2) Select whether to set the configuration or not. Click on [Setup] or [Not setup].
- (3) To attach a user log message, select [Yes]; otherwise, select [No].
- (4) Input the sensor control block and the ordinary block.
- (5) The block list shows all the blocks in the project.
- (6) Blocks are selected, inserted and deleted as follows:

Select

Click on the position where the block component is to be set, and move the cursor. Click on the list's block name to be set.

Click on [Select]. The block name is entered at the setting position.

Insert

Click on the position where the block is to be inserted, and move the cursor. Click on [Insert]. An empty line is inserted at that position, and blocks below move down.

Delete

Click on the position where the block is to be deleted, and move the cursor. When [Delete] is clicked, the block at that position is deleted and the blocks below move up. To keep the empty line, press the [Delete] key instead.

(7) Click on [OK] to update the setting. Click on [Cancel] to abandon the change.

B5.1.2 Changing CPU Type and Executable Program Properties

The CPU type can be changed, and protection can be set and cancelled.

■ Procedure for Changing CPU Type and Setting Properties

(1) Click on [Project] - [Change CPU Type/Properties]. The following window appears.

| Change CPU Type/Prop | erties | × |
|----------------------|---------------|-------------------|
| Executable Progra | am SAMPLE | ОК |
| Step Count | 0 | Cancel |
| СРО Туре | F3SP58-6H | |
| Project Title | Project Title | Set Protection |
| Protection | No | Remove Protection |

Figure B5.2 Change CPU Type/Properties

The items displayed are:

Step count

Shows the overall step count for the executable program. (This does not include the step count for the macros used in the block.)

CPU type

Shows the type of CPU. To change it, select from the drop-down list.

Project title

This can be edited to change it.

Protection

Shows the protection status for the executable program.

To set protection or change the password, click on [Set Protection]. To cancel, click on [Remove Protection].

Operation method for [Set protection] and [Remove protection] is same as the block protection setting.

FB050103E.EPS

Configuration is a tuning element of each executable program. The CPU type is one of these components. Hence, if the type of CPU is changed, the configuration must be done again. After the type has been changed, the configuration setup changes to the previous configuration of the new type, or to the default. When the CPU type is changed, the dialog box below appears.

| WideFiel | d | | | | × |
|----------|---|-------------------------------------|-------------------------------------|----------------------|-------------------------|
| ? | If the CPU type is changed, co If the configuration of the new (Do you wish to continue? | nfiguration reve CPU type (after | rts to default. conversion) exis | ts, configuration re | everts to that instead. |
| | | Yes) | <u>N</u> o | | |
| | | | | | FB050104E.EPS |

Figure B5.3 Dialog Box for Confirming Setup after CPU Type has been Changed

B5-6

B5.1.3 Setting Configuration

This section explains how to set the configuration.

The contents of the configuration setup depend on the CPU type. Configuration setting items are as follows:

- Device Capacities
- Setup Data Lock-up Range at Power Failure/Local Devices
- Operation Control
- Setup Data Register Initial Data
- Setup DIO
- Setup FA Link
- Sampling Trace
- Setup Communication
- Setup ROM
- Setup Interrupt (only available for F3SP28, 38, 53 and 58)
- Setup Shared Refreshing (only available for F3SP28, 38, 53 and 58)

The tables on the following pages set out the setting values for each CPU type.

| ltom | | F3SP21 | | F3SP25, F3SP35 | | |
|----------------------|---|---------------------------------|--------------------------|---|--------------------------|---|
| | Item | | Initial value | Setting range | Initial value | Setting range |
| | Shared Device (E, R) (Settings for usage range of shared relays/ shared registers) | Shared Relay (E) | 0 points | Units of 32 points Total of 2,048 points maximum for all CPUs | 0 points | Units of 32 points Total of 2,048 points maximum for all CPUs |
| | | Extended Shared Relay (E) | 0 points | Units of 32 points Total of 2,048 points maximum for all CPUs | 0 points | Units of 32 points Total of 2,048 points maximum for all CPUs |
| | | Shared Register (R) | 0 points | Units of 32 points Total of 2,048 points maximum for all CPUs | 0 points | Units of 32 points Total of 2,048 points maximum for all CPUs |
| | | Extended Shared Register (R) | 0 points | Units of 32 points Total of 2,048 points maximum for all CPUs | 0 points | Units of 32 points Total of 2,048 points maximum for all CPUs |
| Device Capacities | Link Devices (L, W) (Settings for usage range of link relays/ link registers) | Link Relay | 1,024 points per link | Units of 16 points (Note) Total of 2,048 points maximum for all links | 1,024 points per link | Units of 16 points (Note) Total of 8,192 points maximum for all links |
| | | Link Register | 1,024 points per link | Units of 1 point (Note) Total of 2,048 points for all links | 1,024 points per link | Units of 1 point (Note) Total of 8,192 points for all links |
| | | 1ms Timer | 0 points | Units of 1 point | 0 points | Units of 1 point |
| | | 10ms Timer | 512 points | for timer/counter | 1,024 points | for timer/counter |
| | | 100ms Timer | 448 points | 1 ms timer | 896 points | 1 ms timer |
| | Settings for timer/counter | 100ms Continuous Timer | 64 points | Each timer numbered consecutively | 128 points | Each timer numbered consecutively |
| | | Counter | 1,024 points | Units of 1 point Total of 2,048 points for timer/counter | 1,024 points | Units of 1 point Total of 3,072 points for timer/counter |

Table B5.1List of Configuration Ranges (F3SP05, F3SP21, F3SP25, F3SP35, F3SP36) (1/4)

IM 34M6Q14-01E 1st Edition : July 31,2000-00

| ltom | | F3SP21 | | F3SP25, F3SP35 | | |
|---------------------------|---|--|---|---|---|--|
| item | | | Initial value | Setting range | Initial value | Setting range |
| | Setup Data Lock-up Range at Power Failure | Internal Relay (I) | 10001 to 11024 | Can be set in | 10001 to 11024 | Can be set in 32-point units Continued from starting number |
| | | Shared Relay (E) Extended Shared Relay (E) | Not locked up | Continued from starting number | Not locked up | |
| | | Link Relay (L) | Not locked up | Can be set in 16-point units (Note) | Not locked up | Can be set in 16-point units (Note) |
| Setup Device Extension | | Timer (T) | Not locked up (except for continuous timer) | Can be set in 1-point units | Not locked up (except for continuous timer) | Can be set in 1-point units Continued from starting number |
| | | Counter (C) | All locked up (C0001 to C1024) | starting number | All locked up (C0001 to C1024) | |
| | | Data register (D) | All locked up (D0001 to D16384) | Can be set in 2-point units (Note) | All locked up (D0001 to D32768) | Can be set in 2-point units (Note) |
| | | Shared register (R) Extended Shared register | Not locked up | starting number | Not locked up | starting number |
| | | Link register (W) | Not locked up | Can be set in 16-point units (Note) | Not locked up | Can be set in 16-point units (Note) |

Table B5.1 List of Configuration Ranges (F3SP05, F3SP21, F3SP25, F3SP35, F3SP36) (2/4)

TB050102E.EP

Note: Settings for the power failure lock-up range for shared relays, extended shared relays, shared registers, and extended shared registers continue from the starting number. However, when a shared relay has 2,048 or fewer points, the end of the shared relay is followed by the beginning E2049 of the extended shared relay. Similarly, when a shared register has 1,024 or fewer points, the end of the shared register has 1,024 or fewer points, the end of the shared register has 1,024 or fewer points.

EXAMPLE: When the shared relay is 1,024 points and the extended shared relay is 2,048 points, and the power failure lock-up range is set as 1,024 starting from starting number 513, then, in the event of a power failure,

the shared relay is locked up from E513 through E1024

and the extended relay is locked up from E2049 through E2560.

Note: Settings for the power failure lock-up range for link relays and extended link registers continue from the starting number. However:

L (W) 01024 is followed by L (W) 10001.

L (W) 11024 is followed by L (W) 20001.

L (W) 21024 is followed by L (W) 30001.

L (W) 31024 is followed by L (W) 40001.

L (W) 41024 is followed by L (W) 50001.

L (W) 51024 is followed by L (W) 60001.

L (W) 61024 is followed by L (W) 70001.

(The above examples are when 1,024 points have been set for the usage range of the link relays

and link registers. If 2,048 points have been set, L (W) 02048 is followed by L (W) 10001.

EXAMPLE: When the setting is

Link Relay link 1 1,024 points Link Relay link 2 1,024 points Link Relay link 3 1,024 points with the power failure lock-up range being starting number 10513 and 1,024 devices, then, in the event of a power failure, Link Relay link 1 is locked up from L10513 through L11024, and Link Relay link 2 is locked up from L20001 through L20512.

| | Table B5.1List of configuration ranges (F3SP05, F3SP21, F3SP25, F3SP35, F3SP36) (3 | | | | | 3SP36) (3/4) | | |
|--|--|--|---|---|---|--|---|--|
| Item | | F3SP21 | | F3SP25 | | F3SP35 | | |
| | | Initial Value | Setting Range | Initial Value | Setting Range | Initial Value | Setting Range | |
| Initial data settings Data Register (D) | | None | Up to 1,024 points consecutively from starting number | None | Up to 1,024 points consecutively from starting number | None | Up to 1,024 points consecutively from starting number | |
| | Settings for scan time monitoring time | | 200 ms | 10 to 200ms 10ms units can be set | 200 ms | 10 to 200ms 10ms units can be set | 200 ms | 10 to 200ms 10ms units can be set |
| | Settings for constant scan time | | Not Used | 1.0 to 190.0ms 0.1ms units can be set | Not Used | 1.0 to 190.0ms 0.1ms units can be set | Not Used | 1.0 to 190.0ms 0.1ms units can be set |
| | | I/O module error | Stop | | Stop | | Stop | |
| | | I/O collation error | Stop | | Stop | | Stop | |
| Operation control | Settings for | Instruction processing error | Stop | | Stop | | Stop | Stop/continue can be set |
| | when error | Scan timeout | Stop | Stop/continue | Stop | Stop/continue can be set | Stop | |
| | occurs | Sub-routine error | Stop | | Stop | | Stop | |
| | | Interrupt error | Stop | - | Stop | | Stop | |
| | | Sub-unit transfer route error | Continue | - | Continue | | Continue | |
| | Program execution method | | All blocks | All blocks executed Specified blocks executed | All blocks | All blocks executed Specified blocks executed | All blocks | All blocks executed Specified blocks executed |
| | Immediate detection mode | When using F3PU10-0N, F3PU20-0N, and F3PU26-0N power modules | Standard mode | Standard mode Immediate detection mode | Standard mode | Standard mode Immediate detection mode | Standard mode | Standard mode Immediate detection mode |
| D | Settings for output when sequence stops | | Reset | Module units Lock-up/ not lock-up can be set | Reset | Module units Lock-up/ not lock-up can be set | Reset | Module units Lock-up/ not lock-up can be set |
| O Settings | I/O module settings | Data code type | BIN | BIN/BCD Units of 16 points can be set | BIN | BIN/BCD Units of 16 points can be set | BIN | BIN/BCD Units of 16 points can be set |
| | | Input sampling | 16ms | 16/1ms Module units | 16ms | 16/1ms Module units | 16ms | 16/1ms Module units |
| ROM Settings | Current value settings for device making ROM resident | Data Register (D) File Register (B) | None | Up to 5,120 points consecutively from starting number | None | Up to 32,768 points consecutively from starting number | None | Up to 32,768 points consecutively from starting number |

TB050103E.EPS

SEE ALSO

For details about sub-unit transfer routing errors, refer to "Fiber-optic FA Bus Module, Optical FA Bus Type 2 Module Instructions" (IM34M-H45-01E).

| Table B5.1 List of Configuration H | | | iguration Rang | 1ges (F3SP05, F3SP21, F3SP25, F3SP35, F3SP36) (4/4) | | | | |
|---|--|---------------------------------|---------------------------------------|---|---------------------------------------|---|---------------------------------------|---|
| Item | | F3SP21 | | F3SP25 | | F3SP35 | | |
| | | Initial Value | Setting Range | Initial Value | Setting Range | Initial Value | Setting Range | |
| Communication settings | CPU commu- nications port | Mode | Mode 0 9,600 bps Even parity | Mode 0: 9,600 bps Even parity Mode 1: 9,600 bps No parity Mode 2: | Mode 0 9,600 bps Even parity | Mode 0: 9,600 bps Even parity Mode 1: 9,600 bps No parity Mode 2: | Mode 0 9,600 bps Even parity | Mode 0: 9,600 bps Even parity Mode 1: 9,600 bps No parity Mode 2: |
| | Personal computer link function | Used/not used | Not used | Used/not used | Not used | Used/not used | Not used | Used/not used |
| | | Checksum | None | Yes/No | None | Yes/No | None | Yes/No |
| | | Specify last terminal letter | None | Yes/No | None | Yes/No | None | Yes/No |
| | | Protection function | None | Yes/No | None | Yes/No | None | Yes/No |
| Correspondence between FA link numbers and slot numbers | | None | Yes/No Each FA link number slot | None | Yes/No Each FA link number slot | None | Yes/No Each FA link number slot | |

TB050104E.EPS



With FA link H and fiber-optic FA link H modules (F3LP02/F3LP12), up to 2,048 points can be used with the link relays/link registers per module. The following cases, limitations apply to configuration settings.

- 1. When one CPU module uses both FA link modules (F3LP01) and 2,048-point FA link H or fiber-optic FA link H modules.
- 2. When one CPU module uses both high-speed settings of 1,024 points and ordinary settings of 2,048 points for FA link H or fiber-optic FA link H modules.

Limitations on configuration settings:

Be sure to set the number of link relay/register points of FA link 1 to 2,048 points. When the number is set to 1,024 points, an error will occur.

When the number of link relay/register points of FA link 1 is 0 points, be sure to set the first link relay/register points to 2,048 points from FA link 2 onwards.

Configurations that cannot be set

| Example 1: | Link 1 [1024] | Link 2 [2048] | Link 3 |
|----------------|-----------------|----------------|----------------|
| Example 2: | Link 1 [0] | Link 2 [1024] | Link 3 [2048] |
| Example 3: | Link 1 [1024] | Link 2 [0] | Link 3 [2048] |
| | | | |
| Configurations | that can be set | | |
| Example 1: | Link 1 [2048] | Link 2 | |
| Example 2: | Link 1 [1024] | Link 2 [1024] | Link 3 |
| Example 3: | Link 1 [0] | Link 2 [1024] | Link 3 [1024] |
| Example 4: | Link 1 [1024] | Link 2 [0] | Link 3 [1024] |
| Example 5: | Link 1 [0] | Link 2 [2048] | Link 3 |
| | | | |

■ List of Configuration Ranges

| | | | F3SI | P28, F3SP53 | F3SP38, F3SP58 | | |
|----------------------|--|---------------------------------|------------------------------------|--|--------------------------|--|--|
| | Item | | Initial value | Setting range | Initial value | Setting range | |
| | | Shared Relay (E) | 0 point | Units of 32 points Total of 2,048 points maximum for all CPUs | 0 point | Units of 32 points Total of 2,048 points maximum for all CPUs | |
| | Shared Device (E, R) (Settings for | Extended Shared Relay (E) | 0 point | Units of 32 points Total of 2,048 points maximum for all CPUs | 0 point | Units of 32 points Total of 2,048 points maximum for all CPUs | |
| | usage range of shared relays/ shared registers) | Shared Register (R) | 0 point | Units of 2 points Total of 1,024 points maximum for all CPUs | 0 point | Units of 2 points Total of 1,024 points maximum for all CPUs | |
| | | Extended Shared Register (R) | 0 point | Units of 2 points Total of 3,072 points maximum for all CPUs | 0 point | Units of 2 points Total of 3,072 points maximum for all CPUs | |
| | Link Devices (L, W) (Settings for usage range of link relays/ link registers) | Link Relay | FA links 1 to 4 2,048 points | Units of 16 points (Note) | 2,048 points per link | Units of 16 points (Note) Total of 16,384 points maximum for all links Units of 16 points (Note) Total of 16,384 points maximum for all links | |
| Device Capacities | | | FA links 5 to 8 0 point | Total of 8,192 points for all links | | | |
| | | Link Register | FA links 1 to 4 2,048 points | Units of 16 points (Note) Total of 8,192 points for all links | 2,048 points per link | | |
| | | | FA links 5 to 8 0 points | | | | |
| | | 1μs Timer | 0 point | Units of 1 point | 0 point | I late of 4 moint | |
| | | 1ms Timer | 0 point | Total of 2,048 points | 0 point | Total of 3,072 points | |
| | | 10ms Timer | 512 points | for timer/counter | 1,024 points | for timer/counter 1 ms timer 16 points maximum | |
| | O atting and fairs | 100ms Timer | 448 points | 16 points maximum | 896 points | | |
| | Settings for timer/counter | 100ms Continuous Timer | 64 points | Each timer numbered consecutively | 128 points | Each timer numbered consecutively | |
| | | Counter | 1,024 points | Units of 1 point Total of 2,048 points for timer/counter | 1,024 points | Units of 1 point Total of 3,072 points for timer/counter | |

 Table B5.2
 List of Configuration Ranges (1/5)

TB050105E.EPS
Table B5.2

| | Item | | F3SI | P28, F3SP53 | F3SP38, F3SP58 | |
|-----------------------|----------------|--|---|---|---|---|
| | nem | | Initial value | Setting range | Initial value | Setting range |
| | | Internal Relay (I) | 10001 to 11024 | Can be set in | 10001 to 11024 | Can be set in |
| | | Shared Relay (E) Extended Shared Relay (E) | Not locked up | Continued from starting number | Not locked up | Continued from starting number |
| | | Link Relay (L) | Not locked up | Can be set in 16-point units (Note) | Not locked up | Can be set in 16-point units (Note) |
| Device | Power failure | Timer (T) | Not locked up (except for continuous timer) | Can be set in 1-point units | Not locked up (except for continuous timer) | Can be set in 1-point units |
| extension settings | range settings | Counter (C) | All locked up (C0001 to C1024) | starting number | All locked up (C0001 to C1024) | starting number |
| | | Data register (D) | All locked up (D0001 to D16384) | Can be set in 2-point units (Note) | All locked up (D0001 to D32768) | Can be set in 2-point units (Note) |
| | | Shared register (R) Extended Shared register | Not locked up | starting number | Not locked up | starting number |
| | | Link register (W) | Not locked up | Can be set in 16-point units (Note) | Not locked up | Can be set in 16-point units (Note) |

List of Configuration Ranges (2/5)

TB050106E.EPS

Note: Settings for the power failure lock-up range for shared relays, extended shared relays, shared registers, and extended shared registers continue from the starting number. However, when a shared relay has 2,048 or fewer points, the end of the shared relay is followed by the beginning E2049 of the extended shared relay. Similarly, when a shared register has 1,024 or fewer points, the end of the shared register has 1,024 or fewer points, the end of the shared register has 1,024 or fewer points.

EXAMPLE: When the shared relay is 1,024 points and the extended shared relay is 2,048 points, and the power failure lock-up range is set as 1,024 starting from starting number 513, then, in the event of a power failure,

the shared relay is locked up from E513 through E1024

and the extended relay is locked up from E2049 through E2560.

Note: Settings for the power failure lock-up range for link relays and extended link registers continue from the starting number. However:

L (W) 01024 is followed by L (W) 10001.

L (W) 11024 is followed by L (W) 20001.

L (W) 21024 is followed by L (W) 30001.

L (W) 31024 is followed by L (W) 40001.

L (W) 41024 is followed by L (W) 50001.

L (W) 51024 is followed by L (W) 60001.

L (W) 61024 is followed by L (W) 70001.

(The above examples are when 1,024 points have been set for the usage range of the link relays and link registers. If 2,048 points have been set, L (W) 02048 is followed by L (W) 10001.

EXAMPLE: When the setting is

Link Relay link 1 1,024 points Link Relay link 2 1,024 points Link Relay link 3 1,024 points, and the power failure lock-up range is set as 1,024 starting from starting number 10513, then, in the event of a power failure, Link Relay link 1 is locked up from L10513 through L11024, and Link Relay link 2 is locked up from L20001 through L20512.

| | Itom | | F3S | P28, F3SP53 | F3SP38, F3SP58 | | |
|-------------------|---|-------------------------------------|--|--|----------------|--|--|
| item | | Initial value | Setting range | Initial value | Setting range | | |
| Initial data | Initial data settings Data Register (D) | | None | Up to 1,024 points consecutively from starting number Initial data can be set | None | Up to 1,024 points consecutively from starting number Initial data can be set | |
| | Settings for scan time monitoring time | | 200ms | 10 to 200 ms 10ms units can be set | 200ms | 10 to 200 ms 10ms units can be set | |
| | Settings for constant scan time | | Not used | 1.0 to 190.0 ms 0.1ms units can be set | Not used | 1.0 to 190.0 ms 0.1ms units can be set | |
| | | I/O module error | Stop | | Stop | | |
| | | I/O collation error Stop | Stop | | Stop | | |
| Operation control | | Instruction processing error Stop | Stop | | Stop | | |
| | Settings for | Scan timeout Stop | Stop | Stop/Continuo | Stop | Stop/Continue | |
| | when error | Sub-routine error Stop | Stop Stop Continue Stop/Continue Stop/Continue | can be set | | | |
| | occurs | Interrupt error Stop | Stop | | Stop | | |
| | | Sub-unit transfer routing error | Continue | Continue | | | |
| | | Sensor control scan timeout Stop | Stop | | Stop | | |

Table B5.2List of Configuration Ranges (3/5)

TB050107E.EPS

SEE ALSO

"Fiber-optic FA Bus Module, Optical FA Bus Type 2 Module Instructions" (IM34M-H45-01E) for details about sub-unit transfer routing errors.

| | 14 | | F3S | P28, F3SP53 | F3SP38, F3SP58 | |
|-----------------------|--|--|---|--|---|--|
| | π | em | Initial value | Setting range | Initial value | Setting range |
| | Program execu | tion mode | All blocks executed | All blocks executed/ Specified blocks | All blocks executed | All blocks executed/ Specified blocks |
| Operation control | Immediate detection mode | When using F3PU10-0N, F3PU20-0N, and F3PU26-0N power modules | Standard mode | Standard mode/ Immediate detection mode | Standard mode | Standard mode/ Immediate detection mode |
| | Peripheral man (minimum opera | agement ation) time | Not setting | 100μs to 190ms Units of 100μs | Not setting | 100μs to 190ms Units of 100μs |
| | | Execution span | 200µs | 200µs to 25.0ms Units of 100µs | 200µs | 200µs to 25.0ms Units of 100µs |
| | Sensor control | Interrupt timing | Immediate (during instruction execution) | After instruction completes/immediate (during instruction execution) | Immediate (during instruction execution) | After instruction completes/immediate (during instruction execution) |
| Interrupt settings | Input interrupt processing | Interrupt timing | After instruction completes | After instruction completes/immediate (during instruction execution) | After instruction completes | After instruction completes/immediate (during instruction execution) |
| | Interrupt priority and input interr | r for sensor control block upt processing | Sensor control block has priority | Sensor control block has priority/input interrupt processing has priority | Sensor control block has priority | Sensor control block has priority/input interrupt processing has priority |
| | Module used/no | ot used | Used | Unused/used/sensor control block used can be set in units of 16 points (Note) | Used | Unused/used/sensor control block used can be set in units of 16 points (Note) |
| DIO | Data code type | | BIN | BIN/BCD Units of 16 points can be set | BIN | BIN/BCD Units of 16 points can be set |
| settings | Input sampling | period | 16ms | 16ms/1ms/250μs /62.5μs/always can be set in units of 16 points | 16ms | 16ms/1ms/250μs /62.5μs/always can be set in units of 16 points |
| | Settings for out | out when sequence stops | Reset | Reset/hold can be set in units of 16 points | Reset | Reset/hold can be set in units of 16 points |
| ROM settings | Current value settings for device making ROM resident | Data Register (D) File Register (B) | None | Up to 32,768 points consecutively from starting number | None | Up to 32,768 points consecutively from starting number |

Table B5.2 List of Configuration Ranges (4/5)

TB050108E.EPS

Note: Set in units of 32 points when using the simultaneous input module for sensor control blocks and ordinary blocks.

| | | | F3S | P28, F3SP53 | F3S | P38, F3SP58 |
|--|--|--|-------------------------------------|---|-------------------------------------|--|
| | lt | em | Initial value | Setting range | Initial value | Setting range |
| Setup Commu- nication | CPU communication port | Mode | Mode 0: 9,600 bps Even parity | Mode 0: 9,600 bps Even parity Mode 1: 9,600 bps No parity Mode 2: 19,200 bps Even parity Mode 3: 19,200 bps No parity Mode 3: 19,200 bps No parity Mode 4: 38,400 bps No parity Mode 5: 38,400 bps No parity Mode 6: 57,600 bps Even parity Mode 7: 57,600 bps Even parity Mode 8: 115,200 bps Even parity Mode 9: 115,200 bps No parity Mode 9: 115,200 bps No parity | Mode 0: 9,600 bps Even parity | Mode 0: 9,600 bps Even parity Mode 1: 9,600 bps No parity Mode 2: 19,200 bps Even parity Mode 3: 19,200 bps No parity Mode 3: 19,200 bps No parity Mode 4: 38,400 bps No parity Mode 5: 38,400 bps No parity Mode 5: 38,400 bps No parity Mode 6: 57,600 bps Even parity Mode 7: 57,600 bps Even parity Mode 8: 115,200 bps Even parity Mode 9: 115,200 bps No parity |
| | | Used/not used | Not used | Not used/Used | Not used | Not used/Used |
| | Personal | Checksum | None | Yes/No | None | Yes/No |
| | link function | Specify end letter | None | Yes/No | None | Yes/No |
| | | Protection function | None | Yes/No | None | Yes/No |
| Settings for (Correspondent) numbers a | or FA link system ondence betweer and slot numbers | า n FA link (system) ธ) | None | Yes/No Each FA link (system) number Slot 1 to 16 | None | Yes/No Each FA link (system) number Slot 1 to 16 |
| Shared R (Data con | efreshing nmunication | Shared Refreshing range (partial stop) | All executed | Can be set to Run/ Stop, Shared Relay of Each CPU, Shared Register, Extended Shared Relay, or Extended Shared Register | All executed | Can be set to Run/ Stop, Shared Relay of Each CPU, Shared Register, Extended Shared Relay, or Extended Shared Register |
| method b | etween CPUs) | Shared Refreshing data (simultaneous) | Simultane- ous | Simultaneous/ non-simultaneous | Simultane- ous | Simultaneous/ non-simultaneous |
| | | Shared Refreshing Operation (control management) | Peripheral management | Peripheral management/control management | Peripheral management | Peripheral management/control management |

Table B5.2 List of Configuration Ranges (5/5)

TB050109E.EPS

■ Procedures for Configuration Startup and End

- (1) Select [Project] [Configuration]. The screen for setting the configuration appears.
- (2) After completing settings, select [OK]. The configuration file is updated. Select [Cancel] to cancel the settings.
- (3) Click on [Default] to bring up the confirmation message below; select [Yes] to return just the displayed window to the default settings.

| × |
|-------------------|
| to default value? |
| <u>N</u> o |
| |

Figure B5.4

Dialog Box for Default Settings

Settings for Device Capacities

The capacity for each type of device can be set.

| Setup FA Link | Sampling Trace | Setup Co | mmunication | Se | tup ROM |
|--|-------------------|---------------|------------------|---------------|----------|
| Setup Interrupt | Power Fail | ure/Local | Set | up Shared Ref | reshing |
| Device Capacities | Operation Control | Se | tup Initial Data | S | etup DIO |
| nternal Relay(I)/Data Regis | ster(D) | Link Device(L | W) | | |
| Internal Relay II-I Data Register D1- | 0 32768 ÷ | Re | elay | Registe | r |
| Constant Constant (C) | | Link 1 LOOO | 01-L0 2048 ÷ | W00001-W0 | 2048 🗧 |
| mer(T)/ Counter(C) | | Link 2 L100 | 01-L1 2048 ÷ | W10001-W1 | 2048 ≑ |
| UUUSTIMER JU | | Link 3 L200 | 01-L2 2048 ÷ | W20001-W2 | 2 2048 🛨 |
| ms i mer U Oros Timer 1024 | | Link 4 L300 | 01-L3 2048 ÷ | W30001-W3 | 3 2048 🛨 |
| 00ms Timer 896 | T01025. T0192 | Link 5 L4UU | 101-L4 2048 ÷ | W40001-W4 | 2048 🗧 |
| 00ms Continuous 128 | T01921 · T0204 | LINK 6 LOUU | | W00001-W3 | 2048 |
| Counter C1-C 1024 | 3 | Link 7 Looc | 01-L7 2048 | W70001-W3 | 7 2048 🐳 |
| hared Device(E.R) | | L | | | |
| Relay | Register | Extend | ed Relay | Extended R | egister |
| CPU 0 🕀 | 0 🗄 | 0 | Ξ. | 0 📫 | |
| CPU 0 🚍 | 0 🗄 | 0 | Ξ. | 0 🔺 | |
| CPU 0 🛨 | 0 🕂 | 0 | E E | 0 🔺 | |
| CPU 0 芸 . | 0 💌 . | 0 | Ξ. | 0 * | |
| | | | | | |
| | | | | D () | |

Figure B5.5 Screen for Setting Device Capacities

Table B5.3

Input Items for Device Settings

| Setting Item | Setting Method | Comments |
|--|--|--|
| Capacities of Internal Relay (I) and Data Register (D) | Set using the keys or the spin buttons. | |
| Capacities of Timer (T) and Counter (C) | Set using the keys or the spin buttons. | The starting number and end number for each type of timer are shown. |
| Link Device (L) and (W) | Set each system number using the keys or the spin buttons. | |
| Shared Device (E, R) | Set each CPU using the keys or the spin buttons. | The starting number and end number for each CPU are shown. |

TB050110E.EPS

Setting Data Lock-up Range at Power Failure and Local Device Range

The ranges can be set for data lock-up at power failure and for the local devices.

| | Sam | pling Trace | Setup | Communication | Setup ROM |
|-----------------------|-------------|------------------|---------------|--------------------|----------------------|
| Device Capacities | | peration Control | l l | Setup Initial Data | Setup DIO |
| Setup Interrupt | | Power Failu | ure/Local | Setup | Shared Refreshing |
| Setup Data Lock-up Ra | ange at Pov | ver Failure | | | |
| | Starting | Number Points | | Setup Range | Available Setup |
| Internal Relay(I) | 1 | ÷ 1024 | Ŧ | 100001 - 101024 | 100001 - 132768 |
| 100us Timer | 0 | | ÷. | | |
| 1ms Timer | 0 | | <u>-</u> | | |
| 10ms Timer | 0 | 3 0 3 | ÷ | | T00001 - T01024 |
| 100ms Timer | 0 | ÷ 0 ; | ÷ | | T01025 - T01920 |
| 100ms Continuous | 1921 | ÷ 128 | Ŧ | T01921 - T02048 | T01921 - T02048 |
| Counter(C) | 1 | ÷ 1024 | Ŧ | C00001 - C01024 | C00001 - C01024 |
| Shared Relay(E) | 0 | | <u>-</u> | | |
| Link Relay(L) | 0 | ÷ 0 ; | ÷ | - | L00001 - L72048 |
| Data Register(D) | 1 | 32768 - | ㅋ | D00001 - D32768 | D00001 - D32768 |
| Shared Register(R) | 0 | | ÷. | | |
| Link Register(W) | 0 | | ÷ | | W00001 · W72048 |
| -Setup Local Devices- | | Number of | | | |
| Startin | g Number | Devices Current | ly Registered | Setup Range | Available Setup Rang |
| Internal Relay(/I) 0 | * | 0 | | | 100001 - 132768 |
| Data Register(/D) 0 | * | 0 | | - | D00001 - D32768 |
| File Register(/B) | * | 0 | | | B00001 - B26214 |
| Timer(/T) | * | 0 | | - | T00001 - T01024 |
| Counter(C) | × | 0 | | | C00001 · C01024 |
| | | | | | |

Figure B5.6 Screen for Setting Device Extensions

Table B5.4 Input Iter

Input Items for Device Extension Settings

| Setting Item | Setting Method | Comments |
|--|---|--|
| Setup Data Lock-up Range at Power Failure | Set each device using the keys or the spin buttons. | Set within the range for the device capacities. The starting number and end number are shown. |
| Setup Local Devices | Set the starting number for each device using the keys or the spin buttons. | The total value is shown for the registered number of devices set for the block. Set within the range for the device capacities. |

TB050111E.EPS

Setting Operation Control

The operation method can be set.

| Setup FA Link | Sampling Trace | Set | up Communicati | on | Setup ROM |
|-----------------------------|-------------------------|--------------|--------------------------|-------------|-----------------|
| Setup Interrupt | Power Fa | ailure/Local | ĺ | Setup Share | ed Refreshing |
| Device Capacities | Operation Contro | d | Setup Initial [|)ata | Setup DIO |
| Error-Time Action | | | | | |
| I/O Module | | C Run | Stop | | |
| 1/O Comparison Error | | O Run | Stop | | |
| Instruction Parameter Error | | O Run | Stop | | |
| Scan Time | | O Run | Stop | | |
| Subroutine Error | | O Run | Stop | | |
| Interrupt Error | | O Run | Stop | | |
| Subunit Communication Er | ror | 🖲 Run | 🔿 Stop | | |
| Sensor CB Scan Timeout | | O Run | Stop | | |
| ogram Execution Mode | • AI B | locks | C Specified B | locks | |
| an Monitoring Time | 200 | ÷ ms | 10-200ms | | |
| an monitoring nine | | | 10 2001110 | | |
| omentary Power Failure De | tection Mode 💿 Star | ndard | O Immediate | | |
| instant Scan | ⊙ Dol | Not Use | O Use | 190.0 ms | s 1.0-190.0ms |
| ripheral Management Time | Not | Setup | C Setup | 190.0 ms | s 0,1.0-190.0ms |
| | | | | | |
| | | | | | |

Figure B5.7 Setup Screen for Operation Control

Table B5.5

Input Items for Setting Operation Control

| Setting Item | Setting Method | Comments |
|--|--|----------|
| Error-Time Action | Click on the [Run] or [Stop] radio button. | |
| Program Execution Mode | Click on the [All Blocks] or [Specified Blocks] radio button. | |
| Scan Monitoring Time | Set using key input. | |
| Momentary Power Failure Detection Mode | Click on the [Standard] or [Immediate] radio button. | |
| Constant Scan | Constant Scan Click on the [Use] or [Do Not Use] radio button, and if [Use] is clicked, set the time by key input. | |
| Peripheral Management Time | Click on the [Not Setup] or [Setup] radio button, and if [Setup] is clicked, set the time by key input. | |

TB050112E.EPS

FB050108E.EPS

Setting Initial Values of Data Register

The initial values of the data register can be set.

| Setup FA Link | Ĭ | Sampling Trace | Setup Com | munication | Setup ROM |
|--------------------|--------|-------------------|-------------|----------------|-------------------|
| Setup Interr | upt | Power Fai | ure/Local | Setup 9 | Shared Refreshing |
| Device Capacitie | es | Operation Control | Setu | p Initial Data | Setup DIO |
| nitial Value Sotur | Bange | | | | |
| Starting Number | Deinte | 6. | hun Dongo | | |
| statung Nulliber | Foints | | tup nange | | |
| 1 🚊 | 1024 | 🛨 D000 | 01 - D01024 | | |
| | | | | | |
| etup Data | | | | | |
| | Addres | ss Decimal | Hex 🔺 | | |
| | D0000 | | | | |
| | DUUUU | 2 0 | <u> </u> | | |
| | D0000 | 3 U | <u> </u> | | |
| | D0000 | 4 U 5 O | <u> </u> | | |
| | 00000 | 0 6 0 | | | |
| | 00000 | 7 0 | 0 | | |
| | DUUUU | 8 0 | | | |
| | D0000 | 9 N | | | |
| | D0001 | 0 0 | ŏ | | |
| | D0001 | 1 0 | 0 | | |
| | D0001 | 2 0 | 0 | | |
| | D0001 | 3 0 | 0 | | |
| | D0001 | 4 0 | 0 🗸 | | |
| | | | | | |
| | | | | | |
| | | | | | |
| | | | | | |
| | | | | | |

Figure B5.8 Screen for Setting Initial Values of Data Register

 Table B5.6
 Input Items for Setting Initial Values of Data Register

| Setting Item | Setting Method | Comments | |
|----------------------------|---|---|--|
| Starting Number and Points | Set using key input or the spin buttons. | Set within the range of the data register's capacity. | |
| Initial value | Input in decimal or hex. Hex numbers can be prefixed by \$. | Data is set according to the word range. | |

TB050113E.EPS

Setting DIO

The initial setup screen has choices of use (Use), not use (blank), and use with sensor control block (SCB).

Right-click on the slot position to make detailed settings, or double-click (or press the [Enter] key) to display the setup details screen.

| nfigurat | ion | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
|--------------|-----------------|---------|-------------------|---------------|-------------------|--------------|-----------------------|----------------------------|---------------------|-------|-------|--------|-------|--------|--------|-------|--------|------|
| Set | up F/ | A Link | | T | Sam | pling 1 | Frace | 1 | | Setup | Comr | nunica | ation | | | Setu | ip ROM | 4 |
| | Setu | p Inter | rupt | | | | Powe | r Failu | ire/Lo | cal | | | Se | etup S | hared | Refre | shing | |
| Devi | ce Ca | apaciti | ies | ľ | 0 | Iperati | on Co | ntrol | | | Setup | Initia | Data | | | Set | up DI0 |) |
| Dou SCB · | ible c · Use | lick th | ie cell nsor C | to ope B U | en the Ise - L | Setup Jse | Deta Bla Slot N | ils Scr nk - D lumbe | een.)o not r | use | | | | | | | | |
| [| | 1 | 2 | 3 | 4 | 5 | 6 | 7 | 8 | 9 | 10 | 11 | 12 | 13 | 14 | 15 | 16 | |
| U | 0 | | SCB | Use | Use | Use | Use | Use | Use | Use | Use | Use | Use | Use | Use | Use | Use | |
| N I T | 1 | Use | Use | Use | Use | Use | Use | Use | Use | Use | Use | Use | Use | Use | Use | Use | Use | |
| N I | 2 | Use | Use | Use | Use | Use | Use | Use | Use | Use | Use | Use | Use | Use | Use | Use | Use | |
| 0 | 3 | Use | Use | Use | Use | Use | Use | Use | Use | Use | Use | Use | Use | Use | Use | Use | Use | |
| | 4 | Use | Use | Use | Use | Use | Use | Use | Use | Use | Use | Use | Use | Use | Use | Use | Use | |
| | 5 | Use | Use | Use | Use | Use | Use | Use | Use | Use | Use | Use | Use | Use | Use | Use | Use | |
| | 6 | Use | Use | Use | Use | Use | Use | Use | Use | Use | Use | Use | Use | Use | Use | Use | Use | |
| | 7 | Use | Use | Use | Use | Use | Use | Use | Use | Use | Use | Use | Use | Use | Use | Use | Use | |
| | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | | | OK | | (| Cance | 1 | D | efault | | F | lelp |

Figure B5.9 DIO Setup Screen

| DIO Setup Unit0 Slot2 | | | | × |
|-----------------------|-----------------------|---------------------|---------------|----------------|
| Terminal Number | Terminal Usage | Output When Stopped | Data Code | Input Sampling |
| 01-16 | Use | Reset 💌 | BIN | 16ms 💌 |
| 17-32 | Use 💌 | Reset 💌 | BIN | 16ms 💌 |
| 33-48 | Use | Reset 💌 | BIN | 16ms 💌 |
| 49-64 | Use 💌 | Reset 💌 | BIN | 16ms 💌 |
| ОК | Not used Sensor CB | Help | Previous Slot | Next Slot |
| | | | | FB050111E.EPS |

Figure B5.10 Window for DIO Setup Details

FB050110E.EPS

| Setting Item | Setting Method | Comments | | | | | |
|---------------------|--|--|--|--|--|--|--|
| Terminal usage | Select to use, to not use, or SCB from the list boxes. | When a CPU type is set by slot unit, other pins are also changed automatically. SCG can be set for F3SP28/38/53/58 only. When a single CPU is used, only I/O modules used by that CPU have to be set. (They do not have to be set to [Not use].) Similarly, for multi-CPU configuration, only I/O modules that are used have to be set. | | | | | |
| Output when stopped | Select reset or hold from the list boxes. | When a CPU type is set by slot unit, other pins are also changed automatically. | | | | | |
| Data code (BIN/BCD) | Select BIN or BCD from the list boxes. | | | | | | |
| Input sampling | Select 16ms, 1ms, 250µs, 62.5µs, or always. | Settings of 250µs, 62.5µs, and always are available for F3SP28/38/ 53/58 only. | | | | | |

Table B5.7 Input Items for DIO Setup Details

TB050114E.EPS

Setting FA Links

The correspondence of FA link system numbers and slot numbers can be set. When the system numbers are in order of the slot numbers, this setting is unnecessary.

| Setup Interrupt | | Power Failure/Lo | ocal | Setup Sh | hared Refreshing |
|-----------------------|-------------|------------------|--------------------|-----------|------------------|
| Device Capacities |) Operat | ion Control | Setup Initial Data | | Setup DIO |
| Setup FA Link | Sampling | Trace | Setup Commu | inication | Setup ROM |
| Setup FA Link System— | | | | | |
| Setup | 0 | Not Setup | | | |
| System Number | | | | | |
| A Link System Number | Slot Number | Relay Number | Register Num | ber | |
| 1 | 2 🔺 | L00001- | W00001- | | |
| 2 | 8 ÷ | L10001- | W10001- | | |
| 3 | 0 ≑ | L20001- | W20001- | | |
| 4 | 0 🚔 | L30001- | W30001- | | |
| 5 | 0 🚊 | L40001- | W40001- | | |
| 6 | 0 🚊 | L50001- | W50001- | | |
| 7 | 0 🚊 | L60001- | W60001- | | |
| 8 | 0 📩 | L70001- | W70001- | | |
| | | | | | |
| | | | | | |
| | | | | | |
| | | | | | |
| | | | | | |

FB050112E.EPS

Figure B5.11 Screen for Setting FA Links

Table B5.8 Input Items for Setting FA Links

| Setting Item | Setting Method | Comments | | |
|----------------------|--|---|--|--|
| Setup FA Link System | Click on the [Setup] or [Not Setup] radio button. To do settings, input the slot numbers for the system numbers by using the keys, or assign them using the spin button. | Slot numbers cannot be duplicated. Slot numbers can be in the range from 2 through 16. Unset numbers are indicated by 0. | | |

TB050115E.EPS

■ Setting Sampling Trace

The conditions and sampling devices can be set for the sampling trace.

| Configuration | | | | | | × |
|--|---|------------------|------------|--------------|------------------|--------|
| Setup Interrupt | Ĩ | Power Failure/Lo | ocal | Setup S | hared Refreshing | |
| Device Capacities |) Operat | ion Control | Setup | Initial Data | Setup DIO | j į |
| Setup FA Link | Sampling | Trace | Setup Comr | nunication | Setup ROM | |
| Sampling Trace Sampling Mode TRC Instruction Scan Periodic | n 0 = = 10 == | Scans ms | | | | |
| Delay Count | 0 * | Setup Range -1 | 023-1023 | | | |
| Trigger Condition Device Address C Rising Edge of S Falling Edge of C Data Coincider | M00035 Specified Relay Specified Relay nce | | | | | |
| Sampling Devices | | | | | | |
| Relay Device | ×00201 | Y00301 | | | | |
| Word Device | D00001 | D00002 | | | | |
| | | | | | | |
| | | OK | | Cancel D | efault Help | |
| | | | | | FB05011 | 3E.EPS |

Figure B5.12 Screen for Setting Sampling Trace

| Table B5.9 Input Items for Setting Sampling Trace | | | | | | |
|---|---|---|--|--|--|--|
| Setting Item | Setting Method | Comments | | | | |
| Sampling Trace | Click on the check button to do sampling trace. | | | | | |
| Sampling Method | Click on the [TRC Instruction], [Scan] or [Periodic] button. For scan, set the intervals, and for periodic, set the time, using the keys or the spin buttons. | | | | | |
| Delay Count | Set using the keys or the spin buttons. | The delay is from -1023 through 1023. | | | | |
| Trigger Condition | Use the keys to input the trigger address. Then, click on the radio button of [Rising Edge of Specified Relay], [Falling Edge of Specified Relay], or [Data Coincidence]. For data coincidence, input the data using the keys or the spin buttons. | The relay data coincidence is a 16-point value from that address. | | | | |
| Sampling Devices | Relays of up to 16 points and registers of up to 4 points can be input using the keys. | When a relay is input to the register field, it is a 16-point value from that address. When a timer/counter is input to the relay field, the timeout relay is traced, and when input to the register field, the current value is traced. | | | | |

TB050116E.EPS

See Chapter B17 "Sampling Trace".

Setting Communication Mode

The transmission speed and parity can be set for the CPU programming port.

| Setup Interrupt | Power Failure | /Local | Setup Sł | nared Refreshing |
|------------------------|-------------------|------------|-------------|------------------|
| Device Capacities | Operation Control | Setup | nitial Data | Setup DIO |
| Setup FA Link | Sampling Trace | Setup Comr | nunication | Setup ROM |
| Communication Mode | | | | |
| 9600bps Even Parity | | | | |
| | | | | |
| Setup CPU Personal Com | outer Link | | | |
| 🔲 Use Personal Compu | iter Link | | | |
| Checksum | | | | |
| End Character | | | | |
| Protection | | | | |
| | | | | |
| | | | | |
| | | | | |
| | | | | |
| | | | | |
| | | | | |
| | | | | |
| | | | | |

Figure B5.13 Screen for Setting Communication

Table 5.10 Input Items for Setting Communication

| Setting Item | Setting Method | Comments |
|-------------------------------------|--|---|
| Communication Mode | Set the communication mode from the drop-down window. | The modes that can be selected depend on the CPU type. |
| Setup CPU Personal Computer Link | Click on the [Use CPU Personal Computer Link] radio button if the link is to be used. If this item is checked, then click on [Checksum], [End Character], and [Protection] functions as necessary. | This function is required for using the CPU programming port for the Personal Computer Link function. |

TB050117E.EPS

Setting ROM

The devices and device ranges can be set for when data is read to the ROM cassette.

| o o coup micenape | Power Failure/L | Local | Setup S | hared Refreshing |
|---|-------------------|-------------|-------------|------------------|
| Device Capacities | Operation Control | Setup In | iitial Data | Setup DIO |
| Setup FA Link | Sampling Trace | Setup Commu | nication | Setup ROM |
| Register Data Resident in Setup Data | ROM Cassette | enister(B) | | |
| Starting Number | 1 | Setup Range | e | |
| Number of Device Points | 1024 | | | |
| | | | | |
| | | | | |

Figure B5.14 Screen for Setting ROM

Table B5.11 Input Items for Setting ROM

| Setting Item | Setting Method | Comments |
|---------------|--|---|
| Register Data | Resident in ROM Cassette Click on the check box to make the data resident. | |
| Setup Data | Click on either [Data Register] or [File Register] for the device type. Input the starting number and number of device points using the keys or the spin buttons. | Set the values within the range of the device capacities. However, the maximum number of device points is 32,768. |

TB050118E.EPS

Setting Interrupt

The operating environment can be set for using the sensor control block.

| | Sampling Trace | Setup Communic | ation | Setup ROM |
|------------------------|---------------------------------------|--------------------------------|----------|-----------------|
| Device Capacities | Operation Con | trol Setup Initia | al Data | Setup DIO |
| Setup Interrupt | Powe | r Failure/Local | Setup Sk | ared Refreshing |
| Priority of Interrupts | t Has Priority | 🔿 Input Interrupt has Priority | | |
| Setup Sensor CB | | | | |
| Execution Span | 0.2 ms | 0.2ms-25.0ms | | |
| Timing of Interrupt | C After Instruction | Immediate | | |
| Setup Input Interrupt | | | | |
| Timing of Interrupt | After Instruction | O Immediate | | |
| | | | | |
| | | | | |
| | | | | |
| | | | | |
| | | | | |
| | | | | |

Figure B5.15 Screen for Setting Interrupt

Table B5.12 Input Items for Setting Interrupt

| Setting Item | Setting Method | Comments |
|------------------------|---|----------|
| Priority of Interrupts | Click on the radio button for [Sensor CB Interrupt Has Priority] or [Input Interrupt Has Priority]. | |
| Setup Sensor CB | The execution span can be set by key input. To set the timing for the sensor CB interrupt, click on the radio button for [After Instruction] or [Immediate]. | |
| Setup Input Interrupt | To set the timing for the input interrupt, click on the radio button for [After Instruction] or [Immediate]. | |

TB050119E.EPS

Setting Shared Refreshing

The range can be set for shared refreshing.

| Device Capacities | Operation | n Control | Setup I | nitial Data | Setup DIO |
|---|-------------|---------------------------------|-------------|-------------|------------------|
| Setup FA Link | Sampling Tr | ace | Setup Commu | inication | Setup ROM |
| Setup Interrupt | P | ower Failure/L | .ocal | Setup S | hared Refreshing |
| Shared Refreshing Range – | | | | | 1 |
| Shared Relay | CPU1) | CPU2 | CPU3 | CPU4 | |
| Shared Register | CPU1 | CPU2 | CPU3 | CPU4 | |
| Extended Shared Relay | CPU1 | CPU2 | CPU3 | CPU4 | |
| Extended Shared Register | CPU1 | CPU2 | CPU3 | CPU4 | |
| Shared Refreshing Action — Peripheral Managements Shared Refreshing Data | nt 🔍 Cor | ntrol Managem | ent | | |
| Shared Refreshing Action Peripheral Management Shared Refreshing Data Simultaneous | nt O Cor | ntrol Managem n-simultaneous | ent | | |
| Shared Refreshing Action — Peripheral Management Shared Refreshing Data — Simultaneous | nt © Cor | ntrol Managem | ent | | |
| Shared Refreshing Action — Peripheral Management Shared Refreshing Data — Simultaneous | nt © Cor | ntrol Managem | ent | | |

Figure B5.16 Screen for Setting Shared Refreshing

Table B5.13 Input Items for Setting Shared Refreshing

| Setting Item | Setting Method | Comments |
|--------------------------|--|--------------------------------------|
| Shared Refreshing Range | Click on the read range (per CPU) for each device. | Can be set for F3SP28/38/53/58 only. |
| Shared Refreshing Action | Click on the radio button for [Peripheral Management] or [Control Management]. | Can be set for F3SP28/38/53/58 only. |
| Shared Refreshing Data | Set for simultaneous or non-simultaneous refreshing. | Can be set for F3SP28/38/53/58 only. |

TB050120E.EPS

SEE ALSO

Refer to "Sequence CPU Instruction Manual-Functions (F3SP28/38/53/58)" (IM34M6Q13-01E) for details.

rojects> B5-30

FB050118E.EPS

B5.1.4 Creating User Log Messages

This section explains how to create user log messages.

Procedure for Creating Messages

(1) Select [Project] - [User Log Message]. The following window appears.

| Main Code | Message 🔺 | OK |
|-----------|-----------|--------|
| 1 | Process 1 | |
| 2 | pro cess2 | |
| 3 | pro cess3 | Cancel |
| 4 | pro cess4 | |
| 5 | pro cess5 | |
| 6 | processô | Help |
| 7 | process7 | |
| 8 | process8 | |
| 9 | pro cess9 | |
| 10 | process10 | |
| 11 | | |
| 12 | | |
| 13 | • | |

(2) Input the message corresponding to the main code.
 Up to 64 messages can be registered. Each message can contain up to 32 letters.
 Blanks can be left midway through a message corresponding to the main code.

(3) Click on [OK]. The message is updated. Click on [Cancel] to abandon the input.

TIP

Copy and paste can be done by double-clicking on the message field to invoke input mode.

B5.1.5 Creating Common Tag Name Definitions

This section explains how to create common tag name definitions.

Procedure for using Common Tag Name Definition

 Select [Project] - [Common Tag Name Definition]. The screen below appears. The operations are the same as for Block Tag Name Definition. Click on [OK] to update the common tag name definition. Click on [Cancel] to abandon the input.

| Common Tag Nam | ne Definition | | × |
|------------------|---------------|----------------------------------|--------------|
| Display Mode | | Device Name | |
| Registered dev | vices only (b | v address) | Find |
| Integrationed de | | | |
| Display Device | | | |
| Input Relay(X) | | v | |
| | | | |
| Tag Name | Address | I/O Comment | Previous |
| | M00033 | Alwavs On | |
| | M00034 | Always Off | Novt |
| | M00035 | Enable 1 scan at operation start | INEAL |
| | M00036 | 0.01 s clock | |
| | M00037 | 0.02 s clock | |
| | M00038 | 0.1 s clock | |
| | M00039 | 0.2 s clock | |
| | M00040 | 1 s clock | |
| | M00041 | 2 s clock | |
| | M00042 | 1 min clock | |
| | M00066 | No error in tranmission Sub Unit | |
| | M001 29 | Run mode flag | |
| | M001 30 | Debug mode flag | |
| | M001 31 | Stop mode flag | |
| | M00132 | Suspend flag | |
| | M001 33 | Execution flag | |
| | M00134 | Remote/local flag | |
| | M001 35 | Run-from-ROM/RAM flag | |
| | M00136 | Run-at-power-on flag | |
| | M00172 | Set clock time | |
| | M001 73 | Input-offline flag | - |
| • | | 4 | |
| | | | |
| ОК | Can | cel Check Group | Reflect |
| | | | |
| | | | EB050119E EP |

Figure B5.17 Common Tag Name Definition

B5-32

Reflecting Common Tag Name Definition

The tag name definition actually looked up by the program is the tag name defined by the block tag name definition or the macro tag name definition. To use the contents defined by the common tag name definition, the operation must be done to reflect them in each block.



Procedure for Reflecting Common Tag Name Definition

- (1) Select the tag name to reflect in the block. For multiple selections, hold the [Ctrl] key down while selecting the tag name and address.
- (2) Select [Reflect] for the common tag name definition.

| Reflect Tag Name Definition | | | | × |
|--|-------------------------|-------------------|--------------------------|---------------------|
| Reflect contents of tag name definitio | n to selected block. Pl | lease perform ope | ration after closing the | block being edited. |
| Reflect on All Blocks Reflect on Selected Block | irowse | OK | Cancel | Help |
| | | | | |

Figure B5.18 Reflect Tag Name Definition Window

(3) Selecting the method for reflecting

When [Reflect on All Blocks] is selected, the selected items are reflected in all blocks registered in the executable programs in the project. When [Reflect on Selected Block] is selected, the items are reflected in the block selected with [Browse..]. When [Browse...] is selected, the next dialog box appears.

| Block List | × |
|---------------|--------------|
| SCB Not defin | OK Cancel |

Figure B5.19 Dialog Box for Selecting Blocks

- (3) Click on the checkboxes of blocks to be reflected. Once the blocks to reflect are all checked, select [OK].
- (4) The following dialog box appears.

| WideFiel | d | | × |
|----------|---------------|------------------|---------|
| ٩ | Reflecting. D | o you wish to co | ntinue? |
| Sec. 1 | Yes | <u>N</u> o | |

FB050123E.EPS

Select [Yes] to reflect the contents of the common tag name definition in each block. If [No] is selected, the contents of the common tag name definition are not reflected in the blocks.

- - The contents of the common tag name definition are not reflected while a block is being edited.

Execute this function after closing the edited block.

- Check the items in the following order to reflect block tag names and device addresses that do not match.
- (1) Check the address of the tag name defined by the common tag name definition. If a duplicate address is found, the dialog box below appears.

| ₩ideFiel | d | | × |
|----------|------------------------------|---------|---------------|
| ? | Block Name BLOCK1 | | |
| | Block Tag Definition | | |
| | Tag Name AlwaysOn | Address | M00033 |
| | I/O Comment Always On | | |
| | Common Tag Definition | | |
| | Tag Name On | Address | M00033 |
| | I/O Comment Always On | | |
| | Change Block Tag Definition? | | |
| | Yes No | Cancel | |
| | | | FB050124E.EPS |

(2) Check the duplicate registration of the tag name. If a tag name registered in duplicate is found, the dialog box below appears.

| WideField | | × | I |
|------------------------------|-------|--------|---|
| Block Name BLOCK1 | | | |
| Block Tag Definition | | | |
| Tag Name On Add | iress | 100001 | |
| I/O Comment Always On | | | |
| Common Tag Definition | | | |
| Tag Name On Add | iress | M00033 | |
| I/O Comment Always On | | | |
| Change Block Tag Definition? | | | |
| Yes No Cancel | | | |
| | | | |

Select [Yes] to reflect, [No] not to reflect, and [Cancel] to cancel the reflect processing.

Reflecting Common Tag Name Definitions of Block Tag Name Definitions

Tag Names defined in blocks are valid tag names within blocks. To use these in other blocks, the same tag name definition must be done for those other blocks.

Reflection of the block tag name definition can be done using the Copy and Paste functions from the Tag Name Definition screen.

B5.2 Managing Project

This section explains project management.

The project management functions are as follows:

- Program Check
- Find in Project function
- Find Instruction in Project function
- Replace Tag name in Project function
- Replace Address in Project function
- Display Device Usage Status function

B5.2.1 Program Check function

The Program Check function checks the following items and displays error locations.

- Connections between circuits
- Correspondence of circuits and configurations

Procedure for Syntax Check

- (1) Select [Project] [Check Program].
- (2) The program check starts. To cancel, select [Cancel].

| rogram Check 🔀 |
|-------------------|
| Program Name APP7 |
| Status Checking |
| Block Name DISP2 |
| Instruction 905 |
| Cancel |
| FB050201E.EPS |

Figure B5.20 Window During Program Checking

(3) The Results of Program Checking window appears. The results are displayed in the order of error and warning. Up to 256 items can be displayed.

| 🤣 Results of Program Syntax Checking 💦 📃 🗖 🔀 | | | | |
|--|------------|-----------|--------------------------|-----------|
| | Block Name | Inst. NO. | Error Message | Details 🔺 |
| Warning | TORIKOMI | 00634N | Duplicate SET/RESET. | I00501 |
| Warning | TORIKOMI | 00648N | Duplicate SET/RESET. | I00508 |
| Warning | TORIKOMI | 00662N | Duplicate SET/RESET. | IO0515 |
| Warning | TORIKOMI | 00676N | Duplicate SET/RESET. | 100522 |
| Warning | TORIKOMI | 00690N | Duplicate SET/RESET. | I00529 |
| Warning | TORIKOMI | 00708N | Duplicate SET/RESET. | I00538 |
| Warning | DISP2 | 01387N | Duplicate usage of coil. | I05112 |
| Warning | SEIGYO | 00118N | Duplicate SET/RESET. | I00523 |
| Warning | SEIGYO | 00130N | Duplicate SET/RESET. | I00603 |
| Warning | SEIGYO | 001 48 N | Duplicate SET/RESET. | I00605 |
| Warning | SEIGYO | 001.65N | Duplicate SET/RESET. | 100502 |
| Warning | SEIGYO | 00179N | Duplicate SET/RESET. | I00604 |
| Warning | SEIGYO | 00283N | Duplicate SET/RESET. | I02049 |
| Warning | SEIGYO | 00285N | Duplicate SET/RESET. | I00603 |
| Warning | SEIGYO | 00290N | Duplicate SET/RESET. | I02049 |
| Warning | SEIGYO | 00302N | Duplicate SET/RESET. | I00608 |
| Warning | SEIGYO | 00307N | Duplicate SET/RESET. | 102050 |
| Warning | SEIGYO | 00319N | Duplicate SET/RESET. | I02001 |
| Warning | SEIGYO | 00321 N | Duplicate SET/RESET. | I00604 |
| Warning | SEIGYO | 00326N | Duplicate SET/RESET. | I02001 💌 |
| | | | | |

Figure B5.21 Results of Syntax Check

FB050202E.EPS

To display an error or warning, bring the mouse cursor to that item and double-click, or select the item using the cursor keys and press the [Enter] key. The block with the error or warning opens and the display jumps to the first column of the corresponding circuit.

■ Circuits Returning Errors at Program Check

Errors returned as a result of the prgram check are divided into the 2 types below according to seriousness. This error categories can be altered using the environment settings.

Error

Critical error. Download cannot be done.

• Warning

Non-critical error. Operation may not be according to the design.

The error types are set out in Table B5.14 on the following pages.

| Error Message | Contents | Other Information | Category |
|--|---|---|---------------------------|
| Block not found. | This block is not registered in the configuration definition of the executable program. | Block name | Error (not modifiable) |
| Macro not found. | The instruction macro called by the block does not exist. | Block name, instruction number, macro name | Error (not modifiable) |
| Conversion error in block. | Block saved with error. Program is not checked for saving with error. | Block name | Error (not modifiable) |
| Conversion error in macro. | Macro saved with error. Program is not checked for saving with error. | Macro name | Error (not modifiable) |
| Error in device capacity and power failure lock-up response. | The device capacity and the power failure lock-up range do not correspond correctly. | | |
| Error in local device setting. | The first address number of the local device is not correct. It exceeds the device range. The first address of the local device is not set. | | |
| Number of steps exceeds maximum. | The number of steps exceeds the maximum for the selected CPU type. The limitations on the step count are as follows: F3SP05 5K F3SP25 20K F3SP25 20K F3SP35 100K F3SP36 40K F3SP28 30K F3SP38 120K F3SP53 56K F3SP58 120K | None | Error (not modifiable) |
| Too many blocks for CPU type. | The number of blocks exceeds the maximum for the selected CPU type. The limitations on the block count are as follows: F3SP05/21 32 blocks F3SP25/28/53 128 blocks F3SP35/36/58, F3FP36 1,024 blocks | None | Error (not modifiable) |
| Circuit comments + subcomments exceed 3,000. | Circuit comments and subcomments combined exceed 3,000. | None | Error (not modifiable) |
| Too many labels for CPU type. | The number of labels exceeds the maximum for the selected CPU type. The limitations on the label count are as follows: F3SP05/21 64 labels F3SP25/35, F3FP36 256 labels F3SP28/38/53/58 1,024 labels | None | Error (not modifiable) |
| Inappropriate device or range exceeded. | The address exceeds the range.The following cases may apply:The global address exceeds the range for the configuration's device capacity.More local addresses than set are used. | Block name, instruction number, erroneous address | Error (not modifiable) |

 Table B5.14
 Circuits Returning Error at Syntax Check (1/3)

 Error Message
 Contents

TB050201E.EPS

| Table B5.14 Circuits Returning Error at Syntax Check (2/3) | | | | | |
|--|---|--|---------------------------|--|--|
| Error Message | Contents | Other Information | Category | | |
| This instruction cannot be used with the selected CPU type. Exceeds the range of the timer/counter setting . | The entered instruction is not supported by the selected CPU type. | Block name, instruction number, incorrect instruction | Error (not modifiable) | | |
| Timer/counter setting exceeded. | The timer/counter setting is exceeded. The timer value is precision, and the precision range is exceeded. | Block name, instruction number, incorrect address | Error (not modifiable) | | |
| Instruction-device mismatch | Device can not be used for instruction is used. | Block name, instruction number, incorrect address | Error (not modifiable) | | |
| No block doing ACT/INACT. | A block that does ACT/INACT is not registered in the configuration definition of the executable program. | Block name, instruction number, unregistered block name | Error (not modifiable) | | |
| Number of macros exceeds maximum for CPU type. | The number of macros exceeds the maximum for the selected CPU type.The limitations on the number of macros are as follows:F3SP05, F3SP21O Other types64 | None | Error (not modifiable) | | |
| Duplicate usage of coil | The same address is used for OUT, OUTN, DIFU and DIFD instructions. The second and later instances are shown for the error location. | Block name, instruction number, duplicated address | Warning (Can be set) | | |
| Duplicate usage of SET/RST | The same address is used for the SET and RST instructions and the OUT, OUTN, DIFU and DIFD instructions. The second and later instances are shown for the error location. | Block name, instruction number, duplicated address | Warning (Can be set) | | |
| Duplicate usage of timer/counter | The same timer or counter is used in 2 or more places. The second and later instances are shown for the error location. | Block name, instruction number, duplicated address | Error (Can be set) | | |
| Duplicate usage of label used | The same label is used in 2 or more places. The second and later instances are shown for the error location. | Block name, instruction number, duplicated label | Error (Can be set) | | |
| Duplicate usage of interrupt I/O address | In an INTP instruction, the same address is used in 2 or more places. The second and later instances are shown for the error location. | Block name, instruction number, duplicated label | Error (Can be set) | | |
| IL-ILC mismatch | IL-ILCs do not have 1:1 correspondence. IL-ILCs in the same block must correspond 1:1. | Block name, instruction number, | Error (Can be set) | | |
| SUB-RET mismatch | SUB-RETs do not have 1:1 correspondence. SUB-RETs in the same block must correspond 1:1. | Block name, instruction number, | Error (Can be set) | | |
| INTP-IRET mismatch | INTP-IRETs do not have 1:1 correspondence. INTP-IRETs in the same block must correspond 1:1. | Block name, instruction number, | Error (Can be set) | | |
| FOR-NEXT mismatch | FOR-NEXTs do not have 1:1 correspondence. FOR-NEXTs in the same block must correspond 1:1. | Block name, instruction number, | Error (Can be set) | | |
| CALL-SUB mismatch | The CALL destination label (sub-routine) does not exist. | Block name, instruction number, label name | Error (Can be set) | | |

TB050202E.EPS

| Table B5.14 Circuits Returning Error at Syntax Check (3/3) | | | | | |
|--|--|--|---------------------------|--|--|
| Error Message | Contents | Other Information | Category | | |
| Jump destination not found. | The jump destination does not have a label. | Block name, instruction number, label name | Error (Can be set) | | |
| HRD/HWR instruction exceeds maximum value for CPU type. | The number of high-speed READ/WRITEinstructions exceeds the maximum for theselected CPU type. The limitations on thenumber of instructions are as follows:F3SP05/218F3SP25/35, F3FP3664F3SP28/38/53/5864 | None | Error (Can be set) | | |
| Multiple blocks doing ACT/INACT are registered. | Two or more blocks that have done ACT/INACT have been registered. | Block name, instruction number, illegal block name | Error (not modifiable) | | |
| Global device duplicated in local device area | A global device is duplicated in a local device area. | Block name, instruction number, device | Error (not modifiable) | | |

TB050203E.EPS



The targets for syntax checking are items that are registered in the executable program's configuration definition and that have been saved in a file.

g Projects>

B5.2.2 Find in Project function

The Project Find function is for searching and listing all blocks where a specified device is used. (This function does not find locations where blocks are used in macros.)

■ Procedure for Finding in Project

(1) Select [Project] - [Finding in Project]. The following dialog box appears.

| Project Find | | × |
|---|--------------------|---------------|
| Search String Search.Points | D00001 | OK Cancel |
| Search Target Tag Name/ Adu O Block Name/M O Label | dress acro Name | <u>H</u> elp |
| | | EB050203E EPS |

Figure B5.22 Project Find Settings

- (2) Specify the search string, search points, and search target, and then select [OK]. To specify a range, specify the search points.
- (3) The window showing the results appears. The block name, instruction number, and instruction for up to 1,024 locations can be displayed.

| 🤣 Results of Project Find Tag Name/Address 💶 🗖 🗙 | | | | |
|--|-----------|-------------|----------|--|
| Block Name | Inst. No. | Instruction | | |
| BLOCK1 | 00002N | INC | | |
| BLOCK1 | 00011 N | MOV | | |
| BLOCK1 | 00013N | MOV | | |
| BLOCK1 | 00015N | MOV | | |
| BLOCK1 | 00017N | CAL | | |
| BLOCK1 | 00017N | CAL | | |
| BLOCK2 | 00006N | MOV | | |
| BLOCK3 | 00002N | MOV | | |
| BLOCK4 | 00002N | RROT | | |
| | | | | |
| | | | | |
| | | | | |
| | | | | |
| | | | - | |
| | | EDOS | 00045 50 | |

Figure B5.23 Results of Project Find

Select an item in the results window by double-clicking on the mouse or using the cursor keys and then pressing the [Enter] key. The block opens and the cursor jumps to the first column of the corresponding circuit.

(4) To close the results window, select [File] - [Close].



- The target blocks are those registered in the executable program's configuration definition and saved in a file. Also, when blocks have been saved with errors, the circuits where errors were found are not included as search targets.
- When labels are searched, the parameter section of the label instruction and the location of the label are displayed. For the location of the label definition, the instruction number displayed is the first instruction number of the circuit at the location of the label definition, and the instruction is displayed as a blank.

B5.2.3 Find Instruction in Project function

The Project Find Instruction function is for searching and listing all blocks where a specified instruction is used. (This function does not find locations used in macros.)

Procedure for Finding Instruction in Project

(1) Select [Project] - [Find Instruction in Project]. The following dialog box appears.

| Project Find Instruction | | × |
|--------------------------|--------------------|---------------|
| Find Instrution | Instruction String | ОК |
| Application Instruction | MOV | Cancel |
| | | <u>H</u> elp |
| | | FB050205E.EPS |

Figure B5.24 Project Find Instruction settings

- (2) Specify the instruction and select [OK].
- (3) The window showing the results appears. The block name, instruction number, and instruction for up to 1,024 locations can be displayed.

| 🤣 Results of Project Find Instruction MOV 👘 📃 🗖 🗙 | | | | |
|---|-----------|-------------|---|--|
| Block Name | Inst. No. | Instruction | | |
| BLOCK1 | 00007N | MOV | | |
| BLOCK1 | 00009N | MOV | | |
| BLOCK1 | 00011 N | MOV | | |
| BLOCK1 | 00013N | MOV | | |
| BLOCK1 | 00015N | MOV | | |
| BLOCK2 | 00006N | MOV | | |
| BLOCK3 | 00002N | MOV | | |
| | | | | |
| | | | | |
| | | | | |
| | | | | |
| | | | | |
| | | | 1 | |
| | | | | |
| | | | | |
| | | | - | |
| | | | | |

Figure B5.25 Results of Project Find Instruction

Select an item in the results window by double-clicking on the mouse or using the cursor keys and then pressing the [Enter] key. The block opens and the cursor jumps to the first column of the corresponding circuit.

(4) To close the results window, select [File] - [Close].

The target blocks are those registered in the executable program's configuration definition and saved in a file. Also, when blocks have been saved with errors, the circuits where errors were found are not included as search targets.

B5-44

B5.2.4 Replace in Project function

The Replace in Project function is for replacing the tag name and address registered in the project's executable program.

This function is of 2 types, the Replace Address function and the Replace Tag Name function.

The Replace Address function replaces addresses and tag name definitions of all blocks registered in the project's executable program.

The Replace Tag Name function replaces names of tag names of all blocks registered in the project's executable program.

■ Procedure for using Replace in Project function (Replace Address)

- (1) Close blocks being edited.
- (2) Select [Project] [Replace in Project] [Replace Address]. The following window appears.

| Replace Address | | × |
|--------------------------------|--------|---------------|
| Old Address New Address | D00001 | OK Cancel |
| Replace Points | 100 🛨 | <u>H</u> elp |
| replacementitiang | | |
| All Blocks | | |
| C Specified Block | Browse | |
| | | FB050207E.EPS |

Figure B5.26 Dialog Box for Replace Project Function (Replace Address)

- (3) Set the old address, new address, and replace points, and then select [OK].
- (4) Replacement starts and a progress window appears. The results of the replacement are stored in a log file (Replace.log) so that they can be looked up after replace processing. This file is a text file that can be opened by any text editor.

TIP

Local devices and devices with index modifiers cannot be specified.

| Replace Address - Progress | | | |
|----------------------------|---|----------|--|
| Block Name | Result | • | |
| Common Tag Name Definition | Tag name definition not changed. | | |
| BLOCK1 | 13 items replaced. | | |
| BLOCK2 | Cannot change block saved with error. | | |
| BLOCK3 | 2 items replaced. | | |
| BLOCK4 | 2 items replaced. | | |
| | | | |
| | | | |
| | | | |
| | | | |
| | | | |
| | | | |
| | | | |
| | | | |
| | | | |
| | | | |
| | | | |
| | | _ | |
| | | <u> </u> | |
| | 200000000000000000000000000000000000000 | | |
| | Close | | |

FB050208E.EPS

Figure B5.27 Replace Address - Progress Window

The following messages are displayed in the Replace Address - Progress window.

| Message | Meaning | |
|--|---|--|
| N items replaced. | N specified items have been replaced successfully. | |
| Skipped because error occurred when modifying circuit. | An error occurred during replacement, so the processing was suspended. The block has not been replaced. | |
| Skipped because error occurred when modifying tag name definition. | An error occurred during replacement of the tag name definition, so the processing was suspended. The block has not been replaced. | |
| Replaced tag name definition only, because circuit not changed. | The specified device is not used in the circuit, so replacement has not been done. However, the tag name was defined so the tag name definition has been changed. | |
| No modification in tag name definition. | A tag name had not been defined for the specified device so it has not been changed. | |
| Replacement cancelled. | Replacement processing was stopped by selecting [Cancel]. | |
| File not found. | There is no block file defined with the configuration definition. | |
| Cannot change block saved with error. | The Project Replace function does not work for blocks saved with errors. | |

TB050204E.EPS

B5-47

To cancel processing midway, select [Cancel].

(5) When processing ends successfully, the addresses in the blocks are replaced, and if the tag names are assigned to the corresponding addresses, the tag names are reassigned.

If an error occurs in even 1 location of a block, that block is left out of the replacement processing. (Replacement processing is done for the other blocks where no errors have occurred.)

(6) To replace specified blocks only, select [Specified Block] from the dialog box for the Replace Project function (Replace Address) shown in Figure B5.26. Select [Browse] to bring up the dialog box for selecting the next blocks to replace.

| lock Lis | st | | | _ | × |
|----------|-------------------------|-----|---|---|--------------|
| | SCB 1 2 3 4 | Not | defii BLOCH BLOCH BLOCH BLOCH | | OK Cancel |
| | | | | - | |

Figure B5.28 Dialog Box for Selecting Blocks
Procedure for Using Replace in Project Function (Replace Tag Name)

- (1) Close blocks being edited.
- (2) Select [Project] [Replace Project] [Replace Tag Name]. The following window appears.

| Replace Tag Name | | × |
|--|------------|---------------|
| Old Tag Name New Tag name | SW1 SW2 | OK Cancel |
| Replacement Range All Blocks Specified Block | Browse | <u>H</u> elp |
| | | FB050210E.EPS |

Figure B5.29 Dialog Box for Replace Project Function (Replace Tag Name)

- (3) Set the old tag name and new tag name, and then select [OK].
- (4) Replacement starts and a progress window appears. The results of the replacement are stored in a log file (Replace.log) so that they can be looked up after replace processing. This file is a text file that can be opened by any text editor..

| Change Tag Name - Progress | 2 |
|----------------------------|---|
| Block Name | Result |
| Common Tag Name Definition | Tag name definition not changed. |
| BLOCK1 | Error in changing tag name definition. Skipped. |
| BLOCK2 | Error in changing tag name definition. Skipped. |
| BLOCK3 | Tag name definition not changed. |
| BLOCK4 | Tag name definition not changed. |
| | |
| | |
| | |
| | |
| | |
| | |
| | |
| | |
| | |
| | |
| | |
| | |
| | |
| | Close |
| | |



FB050211E.EPS

| Message | Meaning |
|--|---|
| N items replaced. | N specified tag names have been replaced successfully. |
| Skipped because error occurred when modifying tag name definition. | An error occurred during replacement, so the processing was suspended. The block has not been replaced. |
| Replacement cancelled. | Replacement processing was stopped by selecting [Cancel]. |
| File not found. | There is no block file defined with the configuration definition. |

 Table B5.16
 Replace Results Messages

TB050205E.EPS

To cancel processing midway, select [Cancel].

- (5) When processing ends successfully, the tag names in the blocks are re-assigned. If an error occurs in even 1 location of a block, that block is left out of the replacement processing. (Replacement processing is done for the other blocks where no errors have occurred.)
- (6) To replace specified blocks only, select [Specified Block] from the dialog box for the Replace Project function (Replace Tag Name) shown in Figure B5.29. Select [Browse] to select the block.

<Toc> <Ind>

B5.2.5 Change I/O Installation Position function

The Change I/O Installation Position function is for changing positions where modules are installed. The slot number parameters for I/O devices and READ, WRITE, HRD and HWR instructions can be changed together. Simultaneously, the common tag name definitions and block tag name definitions can be re-assigned accordingly.

Procedure for Changing I/O Installation Positions

- (1) Close all blocks being edited.
- (2) Select [Project] [Change I/O Installation Position]. The following dialog box appears.

| Change I/O Installation Position | | × |
|----------------------------------|--------|---------------|
| Old Slot Number | 002 | ОК |
| New Slot Number | 007 | Cancel |
| | 1 = | |
| Number of Slots to Replace | | Help |
| Replacement Range | | |
| All Blocks | | |
| C Specified Block | Browse | |
| | | |
| | | EB050212E EPS |

Figure B5.31 Dialog Box for Changing I/O Installation Positions

- (3) Specify the old slot number, new slot number, and number of slots to replace. The old slot number and new slot number can be specified in the range 002 - 716. From 1 to 16 slots can be specified for replacement. In the example above, the installation positions of the I/O module are to be changed from slot numbers 002 and 003 to slot numbers 007 and 008.
- (4) Select [OK]. The processing starts for changing the installation position I/O slots. During processing the following dialog box is displayed.

| Change I/O Installation Position - Progres | 35 | × |
|--|---------------------------------------|----------|
| Block Name | Result | • |
| Common Tag Name Definition | Tag name definition not changed. | |
| BLOCK1 | O items replaced. | |
| BLOCK2 | Cannot change block saved with error. | |
| BLOCK3 | 1 items replaced. | |
| BLOCK4 | O items replaced. | |
| | | |
| | | |
| | | |
| | | |
| | | |
| | | |
| | | |
| | | |
| | | |
| | | |
| | | |
| | | |
| | | <u> </u> |
| | Close | |

FB050213E.EPS

Figure B5.32 Change I/O Installation Position - Progress Window

| Table B5.17 (| Change Result | s Messages |
|---------------|---------------|------------|
|---------------|---------------|------------|

| Message | Meaning | |
|--|---|--|
| N items replaced. | N specified devices have been replaced successfully. | |
| Skipped because error occurred when modifying tag name definition. | An error occurred during replacement, so the processing was suspended. The block has not been replaced. | |
| No modification in tag name definition. | A tag name had not been defined for the specified slot so it has not been changed. | |
| Replacement cancelled. | Replacement processing was stopped by selecting [Cancel]. | |
| File not found. | There is no block file defined with the configuration definition. | |
| Cannot change block saved with error. | The Project Replace function does not work for blocks saved with errors. | |

TB050206E.EPS

- (5) When processing ends successfully, the slot numbers of the target I/O relay and READ, WRITE, HRD and HWR instructions are replaced. If an error occurs in a block during proceeding, changing I/O installation positions is not performed.
- (6) To do replacement for specified blocks only, select [Specified Block] from the dialog box for changing I/O installation positions, shown in Figure B5.31. Select [Browse] to select block.

 When the slot range are specified using the Change I/O installation position, the error [Mistake in entered setup item] will be returned if the slot position could not exist after the change.

For instance, errors occur for the following specifications:

| Old slot number | 002 |
|----------------------------|-----|
| New slot number | 016 |
| Number of slots to replace | 4 |

In this example, if the 4 slots 002-005 were specified to be changed to 016-019, slots 017, 018, and 019 are physically not possible. Thus an error results.

 When the slot positions are changed using the Change I/O Installation Position function, an error occurs if the tag name definition assigns already assigned tag names after the slots are changed.

B5.2.6 Displaying Device Usage Status

The Device Usage Status function displays the list of all devices in the blocks. (This function does not find locations used in macros.)

Procedure for Displaying Device Usage Status.

(1) Select [Project] - [Project Device Usage Status]. The following window appears.

| ce Usage Status | |
|---------------------|----------|
| First Device | Display |
| 100001 | |
| | Close |
| Device Usage Status | |
| * I00001 | Previous |
| * IUUUUZ | |
| * IUUUU3 | Next |
| 100004 | |
| 100003 | |
| 100007 | |
| 100008 | |
| 100009 | |
| I00010 | |
| * I00011 32Poir | |
| I00012 | |
| I00013 | |
| I00014 | |
| I00015 | |
| | |
| | |
| | |
| | |
| | |
| | |

(2) Enter the address for the first device, and select [Display]. The display shows the selected device.

The target blocks are those registered in the executable program's configuration definition and saved in a file.

When blocks have been saved with errors, the circuits where errors were found are not included as display targets.

The range specified for the local devices is displayed in gray. Asterisks in the gray range indicate global devices that are used within the local device range. These return an error or warning, depending on the syntax checking settings for [Tool] - [Setup Environment].

B5.3 Managing Files

Project files can be added, renamed, and deleted.

Table B5.18 File Management

| Function | Contents | Target |
|----------|---|--|
| Insert | File Copies files of other projects and folders to the current project. | Block files (circuit and tag name definition files) Common tag name definition files |
| Rename | File Changes the names of files in the currently open project. | Block files (circuit and tag name definition files) Instruction macro files (circuit and tag name definition files) |
| Delete | File Deletes files in the currently open project. | Block files (circuit and tag name definition files) Instruction macro files (circuit and tag name definition files) |

TB050301E.EPS

B5.3.1 Adding Files

The Insert File function is for adding block and common tag name definition files from other projects to the currently open project.

Procedure for Adding Files

(1) Select [Project] - [Insert File]. The following window appears.

| Select File | ? × |
|--|---|
| Look jn: 🔄 WFsample 💽 🖻 🖭 📰 | File Name BLK_MAIN.YBLK Date Changed 1999/12/17 14:46:46 Title WFSample Steps 105 Protection None Save Status Normal save Local Device /I 32 /T 0 |
| File name: BLK_MAIN.YBLK Files of type: Block/ Common Tag Name Definition(*.yblk.) | /D 20 /C 10 /B 0 Select Cancel |

Figure B5.34 Insert File window

- (2) Move the folder and then select the file to be added. The display can be switched between block and common tag name definition display. Select the file and click on [Select].
- (3) If a file of the same name exists already, the following message appears to confirm the operation.

| WideField | | | × |
|-----------|----------------------------|------------|---------------|
| 🥐 (| File with th Overwrite? | e same nai | me exists. |
| <u> </u> | <u>es</u> | <u>N</u> o | |
| | | | FB050302E.EPS |

Figure B5.35 Confirmation Dialog Box

(4) Click on [Yes] to copy the file.

FB050301E.EPS

B5.3.2 Renaming Files

The Rename File function is for changing the names of blocks and macros in the project.

Procedure for Renaming Files

(1) Select [Project] - [Rename File]. The following window appears.

| Select File | ? × |
|--|--|
| Look in: Wfsample Dwnload BLK_MAIN YBLK MAC_WIDE.YMCR File name: BLK_MAIN.YBLK Files of type: Block/Macro(".yblk,".ymcr) | File Name BLK_MAIN.YBLK Date Changed 2000/04/17 13:13:40 Title MAINPROGRAM Steps 105 Protection None Save Status Normal save Local Device A 32 /T 0 /D 20 /C 10 /B 0 Select Cancel |
| | EB050303E EPS |

Figure B5.34 Rename File Window

- (2) Select the file to be renamed, and then click on [Select].
- (3) Enter the new name.

| Change File Name | | × |
|-----------------------------|------------|-----|
| Please enter new file name. | ОК | |
| | Cancel | |
| | FB050304E. | EPS |

Figure B5.35 Setting New Name

(4) If a file of the same name exists already, the following message appears to confirm the operation.

| WideFiel | d | | \times |
|---|-----|------------|------------|
| File with the same name exists. Overwrite? | | | |
| | Yes | <u>N</u> o | |
| | | FB05 | 0305E .EPS |

Figure B5.38 Confirmation Dialog Box

(5) Click on [Yes]. The file is renamed.

B5.3.3 Deleting Files

The Delete File function is for deleting blocks and macro files in the project.

Procedure for Deleting Files

(1) Select [Project] - [Delete File]. The following window appears.

| Select File | ? × |
|---|--|
| Look in: Sample Dwinload BLK_MAIN YELK BLOCK1.YBLK MACRO.YMCR | File Name BLK_MAIN.YBLK Date Changed 1999/12/17 14:46:46 Title WFSampleÒ≊ÝÌBÛ,Þ Steps 105 Protection None Save Status Normal save Local Device ∬ 32 /T 0 |
| File name: BLK_MAIN.YBLK | /D 20/C 10 /B 0 |
| Files of type: Block/Macro(*.yblk,*.ymcr) | Select |
| | Cancel |
| | FB050306E.EPS |

Figure B5.39 Delete File Window

(2) Select the file to be deleted, and then click on [Select]. The following message appears to confirm the operation.

| WideField | X |
|-----------|---------------|
| ? Delete? | |
| Yes | <u>N</u> o |
| | EB050307E EPS |

Figure B5.50 Confirmation Dialog Box

(3) Click on [Yes]. The file is deleted.

B6-1

B6. PRINTOUT

This chapter describes how to print out the display information of the programs created with WideField, and how to print out the screens.

The Print function supports printout of screens currently displayed (Print Screen) and projects (Print Project).

Print Screen

This function prints out the WideField screen displayed in front. The screens that can be printed are as follows:

- Block and macro edit screens
- · System log and user log display screens
- · Group template edit screens
- Circuit monitor screens
- Alarm monitor screens

Print Project

All types of data (for program configuration, blocks, user logs, common tag name definitions, and so forth) making up the project can be batch-printed.

Before printing out from WideField, do the printer settings, printing layout settings and detailed printing settings as required.

• Printer Settings

Set the printer name, paper size, and paper orientation.

• Printing Layout Settings

Set the layout items such as margins.

Detailed Printing Settings

Set the additional information (such as cross-references and tag name definitions) for when printing out circuits, and the cover font, header, and footer items.

B6.1 Setting Printer

This section describes how to do the printer settings (printer name, paper size and paper orientation).

| r int Setup Printer | | ? |
|--|---|----------------------|
| <u>N</u> ame: | HP LaserJet 4050 Series PCL 6 | Properties |
| Status: Type: Where: Comment: | Default printer; Ready HP LaserJet 4050 Series PCL 6 \\ZETTON2\plc4050n | |
| – Paper – | | Orientation |
| Si <u>z</u> e: | A4 💌 | Portrait |
| <u>S</u> ource: | Auto | C L <u>a</u> ndscape |
| | | OK Cancel |

(1) Select [File] - [Print Setup]. The following screen appears.

Procedure for Setting up Printer

Figure B6.1 Printer settings

- (2) Select the name of the printer from the list box. The printers connected to the personal computer are displayed in this list.
- (3) Select the paper size and orientation from the list box.
- (4) Select the page orientation (portrait or landscape).
- (5) Select [Properties] and do the detailed settings.
- (6) Select [OK]. The settings will go into effect. Select [Cancel] to abandon these settings.



Printer settings cannot be done unless the printer is connected.

B6.2 Setting Printing Layout

The section describes how to set the printing layout (margin settings, page numbering settings and so forth).

The layout is printed according to the contents of [Page Setup].



Procedure for Setting Printing Layout

(1) Select [File] - [Print]. The following screen appears.

| int | × |
|---------------------------------------|---------------|
| Printer Name \\ZETTON\PLC4050N | |
| Print Category | Print |
| Print Project O Print Screen | |
| Setup Details for Printing Project | Print Preview |
| Cover | |
| Project Components | Item Setup |
| Plock | Page Setup |
| All Blocks Some Blocks Browse | Drinter Octur |
| | Printer Setup |
| IV User Log Message | 01000 |
| 🔽 Common Tag Name Definition | Close |
| Sort by Address | |
| C Sort by Tag Name | |
| | |
| | FB060202E. |



(2) Select [Page Setup]. The following window appears.

| Paper | | | |
|-----------------|--------------------------|----------------|--------|
| Size | A4 | | V |
| | 1 | | Cancel |
| Portr | ait 🔿 Landscape | | |
| —Margins — | | | |
| <u>L</u> eft 10 | mm <u>R</u> ight 10 ≭ mi | m | |
| <u>T</u> op 10 | mm Bottom 10 m | n | |
| | ber | Header/ Footer | |
| Format | None | F Header | |
| Print Posi | tion Right 💌 | E Easter | |
| Initial Valu | | J Poolei | |

Figure B6.4 Page Setup Window

(3) The settings for the paper size and paper orientation are displayed. (These cannot be changed. Use the printer settings to change them.)

- (4) Set the margin sizes with the spin buttons.
- (5) Set the page number. There are 3 setting items, as follows:

Format

Select [None], [Consecutive numbering], or [Categorized numbering]. The initial setting is [None]. When [None] is set, no page numbers are printed. When [Consecutive numbering] is set, only numbers are printed for the page numbers, and these are printed consecutively on each page. When [Categorized numbering] is set, the page numbers are printed in the form of the chapter number and the page number of that chapter. [Categorized numbering] can be set only for Print Project.

Print Position

Select the left, center, or right position for printing the page number. The initial setting is [Right].

Initial Value

The page number to be printed on the first page is set here. When the format is consecutive numbering, enter the initial value for the page numbers. When the format is categorized numbering, enter the initial value for the categorized numbering. In initial status, this value is 1.

- (6) Select whether to print a header and a footer.
- Select [OK]. The setting goes into effect. Select [Cancel] to abandon these settings.

TIP

The items for the Print Project settings are as below. If the print specification is missing for any item, it is filled in with the succeeding numbers. The page numbers in the items always start with 1.

 Table B6.1
 Category Numbers

| Print Item | Item Number |
|------------------------------------|---|
| Project configuration | Initial value |
| Block (when number of blocks is N) | Initial value + 1 : Initial value + 1 + (N - 1) |
| Configuration | value + 2 + (N - 1) |
| User log message | Initial value + 3 + (N - 1) |
| Common tag name definition | Initial value + 4 + (N - 1) |
| | TB060201E.EPS |

B6.3 Setting Printout Details

This section describes how to do the detailed settings for the printing items. The following detailed items can be set.

Block and Instruction Macros

This item includes whether or not to print the circuits and tag name definitions, and the range for printing the circuits.

Configuration

This item includes settings for the device capacities and whether or not to print information such as the DIO setting.

Header/Footer

The contents of the headers and footers for each page can be edited.

Cover

The contents of the cover when the project is printed can be edited.

Procedure for Setting Printout Items

 From the initial Print screen, select [Item Setup]. The following screen appears. Switch the tabs for each item to set them. Select [OK]. The new settings go into effect. Select [Cancel] to abandon the entered settings.

| p Items | | |
|---------------------|-------------------------------------|---|
| Block In | struction Macro C | Configuration Header/Footer Cover |
| Circuit | | |
| Print Circuit | | |
| 1/0 Comment | 🖲 Yes 4 🔮 Line | O No |
| Cross Reference | Yes (All Devices) | O No O Yes (Specified Devices) Setup Device |
| Print Range | All Lines | O Setup Range 1 III Line - 4000 III Line |
| Used Device List— | | |
| 🔽 Print Used De | vice List | |
| Cross Reference | • Yes | O No |
| Print Range | All Devices | C Specified Devices Setup Device |
| Tag Name Definition | 1 | |
| 🔽 Print Tag Nam | e Definition | |
| Print Mode | Sort by Address | Sort by Tag Name |
| | | OK Cancel Help |
| | | FB06030 |

B6.3.1 Setting Details for Blocks and Instruction Macros

Detailed items can be set for the blocks and instruction macros. These items are circuit print settings, settings for printing the list of devices used by the circuit, and settings for printing tag name definitions.

Procedure for Setting Details for Blocks and Instruction Macros

- To set blocks, click on the block tab. To set instruction macros, click on the instruction macro tab. The window shown in Figure 6.5 appears.
- (2) To print a circuit, select [Print Circuit]. The detailed settings for circuits are as follows:

I/O Comment Settings

This item is for selecting whether or not to print the I/O comment under a device. For [Yes], the number of lines to be printed can be set in the range of 1 to 4. Initial status is [Yes] and 4 lines can be printed.

Cross-reference Settings

The cross-reference function shows the places in the program where the device used by the circuit is used.

The places where it is used are printed out as a list (block name, instruction number and instruction).

Select from [Yes (All Devices)], [No], and [Yes (Specified Devices)] for the cross-reference which is printed under the circuit.

When [Yes (Specified Devices)] is selected click on [Setup Devices]. The following window appears for selecting the device type for printing the cross-reference.

S

| etup Range | × |
|---------------------------|---------------|
| | |
| ✓ Input(X) | ок |
| ✓ Output(Y) | |
| 🔽 Internal Relay(I) | Convert |
| ✓ Shared Relay(E) | Cancel |
| 🔽 Link Relay(L) | |
| ✓ Special Relay(M) | |
| ✓ Timer(T) | |
| Counter(C) | |
| ✓ Data Register(D) | |
| ✓ File Register(B) | |
| ✓ Shared Register(R) | |
| ✓ Link Register(W) | |
| ✓ Special Register(Z) | |
| ✓ Index Register(V) | |
| I Local Internal Rel.(/I) | |
| I Local Data Reg(/D) | |
| ✓ Local File Reg(/B) | |
| ✓ Local Timer(/T) | |
| Local Counter(/C) | |
| Macro Relay(H) | |
| Macro Register(A) | |
| IV Macro Index Reg(U) | |
| | |
| | |
| | FB060302E.EPS |

Figure 6.6 Dialog Box for Device Settings

Click on the checkboxes of the devices to print out, and select [OK]. The settings are saved and the window in (1) returns. The initial status is [Yes (All devices)].

Printing range

Select from [All Lines] and [Setup Range].

When [Setup Range] is selected, set the start line number and end line number.

The initial status is [All Lines].

(3) To print out the list of devices, click on [Print Used Device List]. The list of devices used by the circuits is printed. The detailed settings for the device list are as follows:

Cross-reference

Select whether or not to print cross-references beside the device.

Printing Range

Select the printing range from [All Devices] and [Specified Devices].

When [Specified Devices] is selected, click on [Setup Devices].

The window in Figure 6.6 appears, just as for circuits.

(4) To print out the tag name definition, click on [Tag Name Definition]. Select [Sort by Address] or [Sort by Tag Name] for the printout order. The initial status is [Sort by Address].

For Print Project, be sure to print all lines even when the circuit printout range has been set.

B6.3.2 Detailed Configuration Settings

The configuration printout settings can be done in detail.

Procedure for Setting Configuration Details

(1) Click on the [Configuration] tab. Click on the print items to set them.

| Setup Items | | | | | × |
|-------------|--|--------------------|-------------------|----------------|---------------|
| Block | Instruction Macro | Configuration | Header/ Foo | oter C | over |
| Print Item | e Capacities (Capacity, Data I DIO t Value of Data Register ling Trace ation/Communication/ROM ed refreshing/ Interrupt/ FA Lin | .ock-up Range at P | ower Failure, Loc | al Device Ranı | |
| | | | OK | Cancel | Help |
| | | | | | FB060303E.EPS |



B6.3.3 Setting Cover and Header/Footer

Procedure for Setting Cover Printout

 Click on the [Cover] tab. The following screen appears. The cover can be up to 64 letters horizontally and 16 lines vertically. For a new line, press [Enter]. Line and letter modifiers cannot be used in the cover.

| Setup Items | | | | | × |
|-------------|-------------------|---------------|--------------|--------|--------------|
| Block | Instruction Macro | Configuration | Header/Foote | r Co | ver |
| Setup Cover | | | | | |
| I | | | | | |
| | | | | | |
| | | | | | |
| | | | | | |
| | | | | | |
| | | | | | |
| द | | E | | | |
| | | | | | |
| | | | | | |
| | | | | | |
| | | | | | |
| | | | OK | Cancel | Help |
| | | | | | FB060304E.EP |

Figure B6.8 Cover Settings

■ Procedure for Setting Header and Footer

 Click on [Header/Footer]. The following screen appears. The header and footer can be up to 108 letters horizontally and 8 lines vertically. For a new line, press [Enter]. Line and letter modifiers cannot be used in the header and footer.

| etup Items | | | | | × |
|-------------|-------------------|---------------|-------------|--------|---------|
| Block | Instruction Macro | Configuration | Header/ Foo | oter (| Cover |
| Edit Header | | | | | |
| | | | | | |
| | | | | | |
| | | | | | |
| | | | | | |
| त | | E | | | |
| | | | | | |
| Edit Footer | | | | | |
| | | | | | |
| | | | | | |
| | | | | | |
| | | | | | |
| 4 | | Þ | | | |
| | | | | | |
| | | | 04 | Conser | 1 11-1- |
| | | | UK | Lancel | |

Figure B6.8 Header and Footer Settings

TIP

Write the following to the header and footer and they will be printed out accordingly. (Uppercase and lowercase are both valid.)

| &DATE | Prints out the current date. | Example: 07/21/1999 | |
|-------|------------------------------|---------------------|--|
| | | | |

- &TIME Prints out the current time. Example: 15:30
- &CPU The name of the selected CPU is printed. This is valid for Print Project only. It is ignored for Print Screen. Example: F3SP21-0N

B6.4 Print and Print Preview

This section describes the Print and Print Preview functions. The Print function consists of the Print Project function and the Print Screen function.

B6.4.1 Print Screen

The Print Screen function prints out the following screens.

| Table B6.2 | Print Screen | Function |
|------------|--------------|----------|
|------------|--------------|----------|

| Screen | Details |
|---------------------------|---|
| Edit Block screen | Prints the circuits and tag name definitions of the block being edited. Items that have been converted are printed. |
| Edit Macro screen | Prints the circuits and tag name definitions of the instruction macro being edited. Items that have been converted are printed. |
| Display System Log screen | Prints the system log being displayed. The log can be read from the file or from the CPU. |
| Display User Log screen | Prints the user log being displayed. The log can be read from the file or from the CPU. |
| Edit Group | Template screen Prints the group template being edited. |
| Alarm Monitor screen | Prints the alarm monitor currently being displayed. |
| Circuit Monitor screen | Prints the circuits and tag name definitions of the monitor screen. Blocks and instruction macros can be printed. |

TB060401E.EPS

B6-13

Procedure for Printing Out Screens

- (1) Click the screen to be print out to display in front.
- (2) Select [File] [Print].

| nt | × |
|--|---------------|
| Printer Name \\ZETTON\PLC4050N | |
| Print Category | Print |
| C Print Project C Print Screen | |
| Setup Details for Printing Project | Print Preview |
| Cover Project Components | Item Setup |
| All Blocks | Page Setup |
| Configuration | Printer Setup |
| User Log Message Common Tag Name Definition | Close |
| Sort by Address Sort by Tag Name | |
| | |

Figure 6.10 Print Dialog Box (Example when Print Screen is selected)

(3) For the type of printout, select [Print Screen] and then [Print]. Printing starts. To display an image of the printout, select [Print Preview].

B6.4.2 Print Project

With the Print Project function, the project's configuration data can be selected , and can be printed out all at once. Select from the following printout items.

Table B6.3 Print Project

| Target Item | Contents |
|----------------------------|---|
| Cover | Prints out the set cover with border. |
| Project Components | The blocks composing the executable program are printed out in tree structure. |
| Block | Prints out the circuits and tag name definitions. The target items are those that have been saved to a file. |
| Configuration | Prints out the configuration. The target items are those that have been saved to a file. |
| User Log Message | Prints out the user log messages. The target items are those that have been saved to a file. |
| Common tag name definition | Prints out the common tag name definitions. The target items are those that have been saved to a file. |

TB060402E.EPS

Procedure for Using Print Project Function

(1) Open the project.

Ρ

(2) Select [File] - [Print].

| int | × |
|---|---------------|
| Printer Name \\ZETTON\PLC4050N | |
| Print Category | Print |
| Setup Details for Printing Project | Print Preview |
| Cover | Item Setup |
| Project Components Block | Page Setup |
| Some Blocks Browse | Printer Setup |
| I ⊂ Configuration I ⊂ User Log Message | Close |
| Common Tag Name Definition Sort by Address | |
| Sort by Tag Name | |
| | |

Figure B6.11 Print Dialog Box (Example when Print Project is Selected)

- (3) For the type of printout, select [Print Project].
- (4) Set the print item of the [Setup Details for Printing Project]. See B6.3 "Setting Printout Details" for how to set the details for print items.

• Cover

Click on [Cover] to print out a cover.

Project Components

Click on [Project Components] to print out the project components.

Block

Click on [Block] to print out the blocks.

Select to print out all or some of the blocks.

To print out all of the blocks, click on [All Blocks].

To print out some of the blocks, click on [Some Blocks] and then select the blocks. Separate the block numbers with a comma.

Enter 0 for the Sensor CB.

For consecutive blocks, use a hyphen between the starting number and end number.

| C All Blocks | | |
|--------------|-------------------------|---------------|
| Some Blocks | 1,2,5 <mark>}7,9</mark> | Browse |
| | | FB060403E.EPS |

Figure B6.12 Block Number Settings

Clock on [Browse] to display the next screen. Click on the checkboxes of the blocks to print out, and click on [OK]. These are reflected in the block selection field as in Figure B6.12.

| Block Lis | t | | | | | × |
|-----------|----------|-----|----------------------------------|---|-------|----|
| | SCB 1 | Not | defin | ▲ | ОК | |
| | 1 2 3 4 | | BLOCH BLOCH BLOCH BLOCH | | Canci | 21 |
| | | | | • | | |

Figure B6.13 Block Settings

Configuration

Click on [Configuration] to print out the configuration.

User Log Message

Click on [User Log Message] to print out user log messages.

• Common Tag Name Definition

Click on [Common Tag Name Definition] to print out the common tag name definition. Select [Sort by Address] or [Sort by Tag Name] for the printout order.

(3) Select [Print] to start printing. To display an image of the printout, select [Print Preview].

When some blocks are protected, a list of protected blocks appears during Print Project. Start Printing by entering applicable passwords for those blocks and then clicking [OK].

| Enter Password | | × |
|--|------------|---------------|
| Enter Password Block Name BLOCK1 BLOCK2 | Password A | OK Cancel |
| | | |
| | | EB060405E EBS |

Figure B6.14 Confirming password

<Toc> <Ind>

B6.4.3 Procedure for Previewing Printout

(1) When using the Print Project or Print Screen function, select [Print Preview] to display an image of the printout.

| 🚸 WideField [WFSAMPLE] - [Print Preview] | | | | | | |
|---|--|--|--|--|--|--|
| Print <u>N</u> ext Page Pre <u>v</u> Page | Iwo Page Zoom In Z | oom Qut | | | | |
| | Project Name CPU Type Project Title Biscul able Program VRS Configuration Liker Log Message Component Boox | VRSAAFLE P3SR3-6H Sample Rogram SAFLE Beflined None | | | | |
| | | Nore BLK_MAIN VRSampleGFXI00,⊨N | | | | |

Figure B6.15 Print Preview

The functions of the Preview buttons are as below.

Table B6.4 Functions of Buttons on Preview Screen

| Button | Function |
|---------------|---|
| Print | Prints out to the printer. |
| Next Page | Displays the image of the printout for the next page. |
| Previous Page | Displays the image of the printout for the previous page. |
| Two pages | Displays the image of the printout for two pages. |
| Zoom Up | Enlarges the image on the display. |
| Zoom Down | Reduces the image on the display. |

TB060403E.EPS

FB060406E.EPS



- With the Preview of the Print Screen function, only the first page of the item is displayed in the preview.
- With the Preview of the Print Project function, only the first page of each printout item is displayed in the preview.

B6.5 Printing Layout

This section describes the main items for the printing layout.

B6.5.1 Printing Layout for Project Component

The project name, CPU type, project title and project component are printed out as shown below.

| Project name | NC52 | |
|----------------------|---------------------|--------------------|
| CPU type | F3SP58-6H | |
| Project title | NC52 sample program | |
| Executable Program N | C52 | |
| Configuration | Setup | |
| User Log Message | No | |
| Component Blocks | | |
| | No | |
| - <u> </u> | SWITCH | Read switch |
| 2 | READST | Read module status |
| 3 | SETPARA | Set parameters |
| 4 | RLSERR | Release error |
| 5 | SRVON | Servo ON |
| | | FB060501E.EPS |

Figure B6.16

Layout for Printing Project Component

IM 34M6Q14-01E 1st Edition : July 31,2000-00

B6-19

B6.5.2 Printing Layout for Circuits

The circuits and cross-references are printed out as shown below.

| Circuit | | |
|--|-------------|------------------------------------|
| (0001) - ***** Release error ***** | | |
| (0002) - ***** X-axis ***** | | |
| (0003) 100202 00001N H | DIFU 100202 | Error release request rising edge |
| (0004) | DIFU 100202 | Error release request falling edge |
| 100201 (RL SERR, 00001 N, LD), (RL SERR, 00014 N, LD), (SWITCH, 0001 SN, C 100202 (RL SERR, 00003 N, DIFU), (RL SERR, 00008 N, LD) 100203 (RL SERR, 00005 N, DIFU), (RL SERR, 00012 N, LD) | OUT) | |
| (000%) 100202 X00412 MC | DV 0 Y00433 | AX1 row all output Relay OFF |
| Figure B6.17 Layout for Printing Circuits | | FB060502E.EPS |

- Up to 200 lines of cross-references can be output per 1 circuit.
- Up to 10 lines of cross-references can be output per 1 device. Excess lines are not printed.

B6.5.3 Layout for Printing Tag Name Definitions

Tag name definitions, tag names, addresses and I/O comments are printed out as below.

| Address | Tag name | I/O comment |
|-----------|---------------|-----------------------------------|
| M00033 | On | Always On |
| M00034 | Off | Always Off |
| M00035 | scan | Enable 1 scan at operation start |
| M00036 | Clock 10 ms | 0.01 s clock |
| M00037 | Clock 20 ms | 0.02 s clock |
| M00038 | Clock 100 ms | 0.1 s clock |
| M00039 | Clock 200 ms | 0.2 s clock |
| M00040 | Clock 1 s | 1 s clock |
| M00041 | Clock 2 s | 2 s clock |
| M00042 | Clock1 min | 1 min clock |
| M00088 | Sub Error | No error in transmission Sub Unit |
| M00120 | Run | Run mode flag |
| M00130 | Debug | Debug mode flag |
| M00131 | Stop | Stop mode flag |
| M00132 | Pause | Suspend flag |
| | | FB060503E.EPS |
| Figure B6 | .18 Layout fo | r Printing Tag Name Definitions |

B6.5.4 Layout for Printing Configuration

The configuration is printed out as shown below. (Settings for Device Capacities)

Device Capacities

| Device | Code | Device Points | | All | | Local Range | | Power Failure Range |
|--------------------------|------|---------------|---|-----------------|---|-------------|--|---------------------|
| Internal Relay | I | [32768] | [| 1] – [32768] | [|] – [] | | [1] – [1024] |
| Shared Relay | Е | [0] | | | | | | |
| Extended Shared Relay | E | [0] | | | | | | |
| Link Relay | L | [16384] | | | | | | |
| 100 us Timer | Т | [0] | [|] – [] | | | | []-[] |
| 1 ms Timer | Т | [0] | [|] – [] | | | | []-[] |
| 10 ms Timer | Т | [1024] | [| 1] – [1024] | [|] – [] | | []-[] |
| 100 ms Timer | Т | [896] | [| 1025] — [1920] | | | | []-[] |
| 100 ms Continuous Timer | Т | [128] | [| 1921] – [2048] | | | | [1921] – [2048] |
| Counter | С | [1024] | [| 1] – [1024] | [|] – [] | | [1] – [1024] |
| Data Register | D | [32768] | [| 1] – [32768] | [|] – [] | | [1] – [32768] |
| Shared Register | R | [0] | | | | | | |
| Extended Shared Register | R | [0] | | | | | | |
| Link Register | W | [16384] | | | | | | |
| File Register | В | [262144] |] | 1] – [262144] | [|] – [] | | XXXXXXX |

Figure B6.19 Layout for Printing Configuration

FB060504E.EPS

B6.5.5 Layout for Printing System Log

The system log is printed out as shown below.

| System | n Log | | | | |
|------------|----------|---------------------|-------|------------|--------------------------------|
| Date | Time | Message | Code | Block Name | Instruction Number/Slot Number |
| 1999/04/24 | 18:45:31 | I/O collation error | 24-01 | ACT1 | 00010N |
| 1999/04/24 | 18:45:30 | I/O collation error | 24-01 | ACT1 | 00010N |
| 1999/04/24 | 16:41:12 | I/O collation error | 24-01 | ACT1 | 00010N |
| 1999/04/24 | 16:41:12 | I/O collation error | 24-01 | ACT1 | 00010N |
| 1999/04/24 | 16:41:12 | Startup completed | 01-00 | | |
| 1999/04/24 | 16:41:06 | Power off | 03-00 | | |
| 1999/04/24 | 16:35:19 | I/O collation error | 24-01 | ACT1 | 00010N |
| 1999/04/24 | 16:35:19 | I/O collation error | 24-01 | ACT1 | 00010N |
| 1999/04/24 | 16:35:19 | Startup completed | 01-00 | | |
| 1999/04/24 | 16:35:01 | Power off | 24-01 | 03-00 | |
| 1999/04/24 | 15:12:22 | Startup completed | 01-00 | | |
| 1999/04/24 | 15:12:12 | Power off | 24-01 | 03-00 | |
| 1999/04/24 | 11:51:43 | Startup completed | 01-00 | | |
| 1999/04/24 | 11:51:40 | Power off | 24-01 | 03-00 | |
| | | | | | FB060505E.EPS |

Figure B6.20

Layout for Printing System Log

Blank Page —

FA-M3 FA-M3 Programming Tool WideField Instruction Manual PART-B Online Section

CONTENTS

| B7. | Outline | e of Onli | of Online FunctionB7-1 | | | | |
|------|---------|-----------|---|-------|--|--|--|
| | B7.1 | Connect | ting and Disconnecting | B7-1 | | | |
| | | B7.1.1 | Connecting | B7-1 | | | |
| | | B7.1.2 | Disconnecting | B7-3 | | | |
| | B7.2 | Online L | imitations | B7-4 | | | |
| | | B7.2.1 | Limitations Owing to Run Mode | B7-4 | | | |
| | | B7.2.2 | Multi-Window Limitations | B7-4 | | | |
| | | B7.2.3 | Limitations Owing to Project | B7-4 | | | |
| | | B7.2.4 | Limitations between Other Applications | B7-4 | | | |
| | | B7.2.5 | Limitations on Personal Computers | B7-4 | | | |
| B8. | Transf | erring Pi | rograms | B8-1 | | | |
| | B8.1 | Downloa | ading Executable Programs | B8-1 | | | |
| | | B8.1.1 | Limitations on Downloading | B8-1 | | | |
| | | B8.1.2 | Procedure for Downloading | B8-1 | | | |
| | B8.2 | Uploadiı | ng Executable Programs | B8-5 | | | |
| | | B8.2.1 | Limitations on Uploading | B8-5 | | | |
| | | B8.2.2 | Procedure for Uploading | B8-5 | | | |
| B9. | Run M | ode Sett | ings and Run Status Monitor | B9-1 | | | |
| | B9.1 | Displayi | ng Action Monitor | B9-2 | | | |
| | B9.2 | Configu | ration Display while Running a Program | B9-3 | | | |
| | B9.3 | Procedu | re for Changing Each Mode | B9-4 | | | |
| | | B9.3.1 | Switching to Run Mode | B9-4 | | | |
| | | B9.3.2 | Switching to Stop Mode | B9-4 | | | |
| | | B9.3.3 | Switching to Debug Mode | B9-4 | | | |
| | B9.4 | Tempora | arily Changing Communication Speed | B9-5 | | | |
| | B9.5 | Setup Ti | me | B9-7 | | | |
| | B9.6 | Clearing | Programs | B9-8 | | | |
| | B9.7 | Clear De | evice | B9-9 | | | |
| | B9.8 | Reset St | art | B9-10 | | | |
| | B9.9 | Capturin | ng and Releasing Exclusive Access Control | B9-12 | | | |
| B10. | Progra | ım Monit | tor | B10-1 | | | |
| | B10.1 | Configu | ration of Program Monitor Screen | B10-1 | | | |
| | | B10.1.1 | Relay ON/OFF Display | B10-1 | | | |
| | | B10.1.2 | Displaying Application Instructions | B10-3 | | | |

| | B10.2 | Activatir | ng and Ending Program Monitor | B10-4 |
|------|--------|-----------|--|--------|
| | | B10.2.1 | Procedure for Activating Program Monitor | B10-4 |
| | | B10.2.2 | Saving the Monitoring Program | B10-5 |
| | | B10.2.3 | Procedure for Ending Program Monitor | B10-5 |
| | B10.3 | Displayi | ng Details of Application Instructions | B10-6 |
| | | B10.3.1 | Procedure for Displaying Details | B10-6 |
| | | B10.3.2 | Changing Display Format | B10-7 |
| | B10.4 | Switchin | ng Display | B10-8 |
| | | B10.4.1 | Switching Display of Tag Names and Addresses | B10-8 |
| | | B10.4.2 | Displaying I/O Comments | B10-9 |
| | | B10.4.3 | Displaying Instruction Numbers | B10-10 |
| | B10.5 | Browsin | g Tag Names | B10-11 |
| | B10.6 | Searchir | ng with Program Monitor | B10-12 |
| | | B10.6.1 | Find Device and Find Instruction functions | B10-12 |
| | | B10.6.2 | Jump Function | B10-12 |
| | | B10.6.3 | Displaying Device Usage Status | B10-12 |
| | B10.7 | Suspend | ling and Resuming Program Monitor | B10-13 |
| | | B10.7.1 | Procedure for Suspending Monitor | B10-13 |
| | | B10.7.2 | Procedure for Resuming Monitor | B10-13 |
| B11. | Device | Monitor | · | B11-1 |
| | B11.1 | Configu | ration of Device Monitor Screens | B11-1 |
| | | B11.1.1 | Configuration of Relay Monitor Screen | B11-2 |
| | | B11.1.2 | Configuration of Register Monitor Screen | B11-3 |
| | | B11.1.3 | Configuration of Timer Monitor Screen | B11-4 |
| | | B11.1.4 | Configuration of Counter Monitor Screen | B11-5 |
| | B11.2 | Activatir | ng and Ending Device Monitor | B11-6 |
| | | B11.2.1 | Procedure for activating Device Monitor | B11-6 |
| | | B11.2.2 | Procedure for Ending Device Monitor | B11-7 |
| | B11.3 | Changin | g Display Format | B11-8 |
| | B11.4 | Searchir | ng Device Monitor | B11-10 |
| | B11.5 | Suspend | ling Device Monitor | B11-11 |
| | | B11.5.1 | Procedure for Suspending Monitor | B11-11 |
| | | B11.5.2 | Procedure for Resuming Monitor | B11-11 |
| B12. | Use of | the Deb | ugging Function | B12-1 |
| | B12.1 | Forced S | Set/Reset of the Relay | B12-1 |
| | | B12.1.1 | Devices with which Forced Set/Reset is Available | B12-1 |
| | | B12.1.2 | Operation and Expiration of Forced Set/Reset | B12-2 |
| | | B12.1.3 | Procedure for Forced Set/Reset | B12-2 |
| | | B12.1.4 | Procedure for Canceling Forced Set/Reset | B12-2 |
| | | B12.1.5 | Procedure for Canceling All Forced Set/Reset | B12-2 |
| | B12.2 | Changin | g Word/Long Word Data | B12-3 |
| | | B12.2.1 | Devices with which Data Change is Available | B12-3 |

TocB-8

| | | B12.2.2 | Operation of Devices that have been Changed | B12-3 |
|------|--|---|---|--|
| | | B12.2.3 | Procedure for Data Change | B12-4 |
| | B12.3 | Changin | g the Current Value of the Timer/Counter | B12-5 |
| | | B12.3.1 | Devices with which Current Value Change is Available | B12-5 |
| | | B12.3.2 | Operation of Devices that have been Changed | B12-5 |
| | | B12.3.3 | Procedure for Changing Current Value | B12-6 |
| | B12.4 | Changin | g the Timer/Counter Set Value | B12-7 |
| | | B12.4.1 | Devices with which Current Value Change is Available | B12-7 |
| | | B12.4.2 | Operation of Devices that have been Changed | B12-7 |
| | | B12.4.3 | Procedure for Changing Set Value | B12-7 |
| | B12.5 | Stop Ref | freshing | B12-9 |
| | | B12.5.1 | Procedure for Stopping a Refresh | B12-9 |
| | | B12.5.2 | Restart Refreshing | B12-9 |
| | B12.6 | Block St | art and Stop | B12-10 |
| | | B12.6.1 | Procedure for Block Launch | B12-10 |
| | | B12.6.2 | Procedure for Block Stop | B12-10 |
| B13. | Online | Edit | | B13-1 |
| | B13.1 | Starting | and Quitting Online Edit | B13-2 |
| | B13.2 | Reflectin | ng the Online Edit to the CPU | B13-4 |
| | B13.3 | Reflectir | ng the Online Edit to a File | B13-4 |
| | B13 / | Dreesuti | and concerning the Online Edit | D10 5 |
| | D13.4 | Precauti | ons concerning the Online Edit | BI3-3 |
| B14. | Protec | tive Fun | ctions | B13-5 |
| B14. | B13.4 Protec B14.1 | tive Fun Alarm D | ctionsisplay | B13-5 B14-1 B14-2 |
| B14. | Brotec B14.1 | tive Fun Alarm D B14.1.1 | ctions isplay Layout of the Alarm Display Screen | |
| B14. | Brotec B14.1 | Alarm D B14.1.1 B14.1.2 | ctions isplay Layout of the Alarm Display Screen Displaying the Alarm Display Screen | |
| B14. | B13.4 Protec B14.1 | tive Fun Alarm D B14.1.1 B14.1.2 B14.1.3 | ctions isplay Layout of the Alarm Display Screen Displaying the Alarm Display Screen Canceling the Alarm | B13-5 B14-1 B14-2 B14-2 B14-2 B14-2 B14-3 |
| B14. | B13.4 Protec B14.1 | Alarm D B14.1.1 B14.1.2 B14.1.3 B14.1.3 B14.1.4 | ctions isplay Layout of the Alarm Display Screen Displaying the Alarm Display Screen Canceling the Alarm Error Messages Displayed in the Alarm Monitor | B13-5 B14-1 B14-2 B14-2 B14-2 B14-2 B14-3 B14-3 B14-4 |
| B14. | B13.4 Protec B14.1 B14.2 | Alarm D B14.1.1 B14.1.2 B14.1.3 B14.1.3 B14.1.4 System | ctions isplay Layout of the Alarm Display Screen Displaying the Alarm Display Screen Canceling the Alarm Error Messages Displayed in the Alarm Monitor Log Display | B13-5 B14-1 B14-2 B14-2 B14-2 B14-2 B14-3 B14-3 B14-4 B14-4 B14-5 |
| B14. | B13.4 Protec B14.1 B14.2 | tive Fun Alarm D B14.1.1 B14.1.2 B14.1.3 B14.1.4 System B14.2.1 | ctions isplay Layout of the Alarm Display Screen Displaying the Alarm Display Screen Canceling the Alarm Error Messages Displayed in the Alarm Monitor Log Display System Log Display Screen Layout | B13-5 B14-1 B14-2 B14-2 B14-2 B14-2 B14-3 B14-3 B14-4 B14-5 B14-5 |
| B14. | B13.4 Protec B14.1 B14.2 | tive Fun Alarm D B14.1.1 B14.1.2 B14.1.3 B14.1.4 System B14.2.1 B14.2.2 | ctions isplay Layout of the Alarm Display Screen Displaying the Alarm Display Screen Canceling the Alarm Error Messages Displayed in the Alarm Monitor Log Display System Log Display Screen Layout Displaying the System Log | B13-5 B14-1 B14-2 B14-2 B14-2 B14-2 B14-3 B14-3 B14-4 B14-5 B14-5 B14-5 B14-6 |
| B14. | B13.4 Protec B14.1 B14.2 | tive Fun Alarm D B14.1.1 B14.1.2 B14.1.3 B14.1.4 System B14.2.1 B14.2.2 B14.2.3 | ctions isplay Layout of the Alarm Display Screen Displaying the Alarm Display Screen Canceling the Alarm Error Messages Displayed in the Alarm Monitor Log Display System Log Display Screen Layout Displaying the System Log Saving the System Log File | B13-5 B14-1 B14-2 B14-2 B14-2 B14-2 B14-3 B14-3 B14-3 B14-5 B14-5 B14-5 B14-6 B14-6 |
| B14. | B13.4 Protec B14.1 B14.2 | tive Fun Alarm D B14.1.1 B14.1.2 B14.1.3 B14.1.4 System B14.2.1 B14.2.2 B14.2.3 B14.2.4 | ctions isplay Layout of the Alarm Display Screen Displaying the Alarm Display Screen Canceling the Alarm Error Messages Displayed in the Alarm Monitor Log Display System Log Display Screen Layout Displaying the System Log Saving the System Log File Reading From the System Log File | B13-5 B14-1 B14-2 B14-2 B14-2 B14-2 B14-3 B14-3 B14-4 B14-5 B14-5 B14-6 B14-6 B14-7 |
| B14. | B13.4 Protec B14.1 B14.2 | tive Fun Alarm D B14.1.1 B14.1.2 B14.1.3 B14.1.4 System B14.2.1 B14.2.2 B14.2.3 B14.2.4 B14.2.5 | ctions isplay Layout of the Alarm Display Screen Displaying the Alarm Display Screen Canceling the Alarm Error Messages Displayed in the Alarm Monitor Log Display System Log Display Screen Layout Displaying the System Log Saving the System Log File Reading From the System Log Clearing the System Log | B13-5 B14-1 B14-2 B14-2 B14-2 B14-2 B14-3 B14-3 B14-3 B14-4 B14-5 B14-5 B14-6 B14-6 B14-7 B14-7 B14-7 |
| B14. | B13.4 Protec B14.1 B14.2 | tive Fun Alarm D B14.1.1 B14.1.2 B14.1.3 B14.1.4 System B14.2.1 B14.2.2 B14.2.3 B14.2.4 B14.2.5 B14.2.5 B14.2.6 | ctions isplay Layout of the Alarm Display Screen Displaying the Alarm Display Screen Canceling the Alarm Error Messages Displayed in the Alarm Monitor Log Display System Log Display Screen Layout Displaying the System Log Saving the System Log File Reading From the System Log Log Messages Displayed in the System Log | B13-5 B14-1 B14-2 B14-2 B14-2 B14-2 B14-3 B14-3 B14-3 B14-4 B14-5 B14-5 B14-5 B14-6 B14-6 B14-7 B14-7 B14-7 B14-8 |
| B14. | B13.4 Protec B14.1 B14.2 B14.2 | tive Fun Alarm D B14.1.1 B14.1.2 B14.1.3 B14.1.4 System B14.2.1 B14.2.2 B14.2.3 B14.2.4 B14.2.5 B14.2.5 B14.2.6 User Log | ctions isplay Layout of the Alarm Display Screen Displaying the Alarm Display Screen Canceling the Alarm Error Messages Displayed in the Alarm Monitor Log Display System Log Display Screen Layout Displaying the System Log Saving the System Log File Reading From the System Log File Log Messages Displayed in the System Log Log Messages Displayed in the System Log Starting the System Log | B13-5 B14-1 B14-2 B14-2 B14-2 B14-2 B14-3 B14-3 B14-3 B14-4 B14-5 B14-5 B14-5 B14-6 B14-6 B14-7 B14-7 B14-7 B14-8 B14-8 B14-9 |
| B14. | B13.4 Protec B14.1 B14.2 B14.2 | tive Fun Alarm D B14.1.1 B14.1.2 B14.1.3 B14.1.4 System B14.2.1 B14.2.2 B14.2.3 B14.2.4 B14.2.5 B14.2.5 B14.2.6 User Log B14.3.1 | ctions isplay Layout of the Alarm Display Screen Displaying the Alarm Display Screen Canceling the Alarm Error Messages Displayed in the Alarm Monitor Log Display System Log Display Screen Layout Displaying the System Log Saving the System Log File Reading From the System Log Log Messages Displayed in the System Log Log Messages Displayed in the System Log User Log | B13-5 B14-1 B14-2 B14-2 B14-2 B14-2 B14-3 B14-3 B14-3 B14-4 B14-4 B14-5 B14-5 B14-6 B14-6 B14-7 B14-7 B14-7 B14-7 B14-8 B14-9 B14-9 |
| B14. | B13.4 Protec B14.1 B14.2 B14.2 | tive Fun Alarm D B14.1.1 B14.1.2 B14.1.3 B14.1.4 System B14.2.1 B14.2.2 B14.2.3 B14.2.4 B14.2.5 B14.2.5 B14.2.6 User Log B14.3.1 B14.3.2 | ctions isplay Layout of the Alarm Display Screen Displaying the Alarm Display Screen Canceling the Alarm Error Messages Displayed in the Alarm Monitor Log Display System Log Display Screen Layout Displaying the System Log Saving the System Log File Reading From the System Log File Log Messages Displayed in the System Log User Log User Log Display Screen Layout | B13-5 B14-1 B14-2 B14-2 B14-2 B14-2 B14-3 B14-3 B14-3 B14-4 B14-5 B14-5 B14-5 B14-6 B14-6 B14-6 B14-7 B14-7 B14-7 B14-8 B14-9 B14-9 B14-10 |
| B14. | B13.4 Protec B14.1 B14.2 B14.2 | tive Fun Alarm D B14.1.1 B14.1.2 B14.1.3 B14.1.4 System B14.2.1 B14.2.2 B14.2.3 B14.2.4 B14.2.5 B14.2.5 B14.2.6 User Log B14.3.1 B14.3.2 B14.3.3 | ctions isplay Layout of the Alarm Display Screen Displaying the Alarm Display Screen Canceling the Alarm Error Messages Displayed in the Alarm Monitor Log Display System Log Display Screen Layout Displaying the System Log Saving the System Log File Reading From the System Log File Log Messages Displayed in the System Log User Log User Log Displaying the User Log Display Screen | B13-5 B14-1 B14-2 B14-2 B14-2 B14-2 B14-3 B14-3 B14-4 B14-3 B14-5 B14-5 B14-6 B14-6 B14-7 B14-7 B14-7 B14-7 B14-7 B14-8 B14-9 B14-9 B14-10 B14-10 B14-10 |
| B14. | B13.4 Protec B14.1 B14.2 B14.2 | tive Fun Alarm D B14.1.1 B14.1.2 B14.1.3 B14.1.4 System B14.2.1 B14.2.2 B14.2.3 B14.2.3 B14.2.4 B14.2.5 B14.2.5 B14.2.6 User Log B14.3.1 B14.3.2 B14.3.3 B14.3.4 | ctions isplay Layout of the Alarm Display Screen Displaying the Alarm Display Screen Canceling the Alarm Error Messages Displayed in the Alarm Monitor Log Display System Log Display Screen Layout Displaying the System Log Saving the System Log File Clearing the System Log Log Messages Displayed in the System Log Substant Log Display Saving the System Log Display User Log Display Screen Layout Display Saving the System Log Saving the System Log Saving the System Log Saving the User Log Display Screen Saving the User Log File | B13-5 B14-1 B14-2 B14-2 B14-2 B14-2 B14-3 B14-3 B14-4 B14-3 B14-5 B14-5 B14-5 B14-6 B14-6 B14-7 B14-7 B14-7 B14-7 B14-8 B14-9 B14-9 B14-10 B14-10 B14-11 |
| B14. | B13.4 Protec B14.1 B14.2 B14.2 | tive Fun Alarm D B14.1.1 B14.1.2 B14.1.3 B14.1.4 System B14.2.1 B14.2.2 B14.2.3 B14.2.4 B14.2.5 B14.2.6 User Log B14.3.1 B14.3.2 B14.3.3 B14.3.4 B14.3.5 | ctions isplay Layout of the Alarm Display Screen Displaying the Alarm Display Screen Canceling the Alarm Error Messages Displayed in the Alarm Monitor Log Display System Log Display Screen Layout Displaying the System Log Saving the System Log File Reading From the System Log File Log Messages Displayed in the System Log Josplay User Log User Log Displaying the User Log File Saving the User Log File | B13-5 B14-1 B14-2 B14-2 B14-2 B14-2 B14-3 B14-3 B14-3 B14-4 B14-5 B14-5 B14-5 B14-6 B14-6 B14-7 B14-7 B14-7 B14-7 B14-7 B14-7 B14-7 B14-9 B14-10 B14-10 B14-11 B14-11 B14-11 |

| | B14.4 | Compari | ng Executable Program | B14-13 |
|------|---------|-----------|---|--------|
| | | B14.4.1 | Contents of the compare | B14-13 |
| | | B14.4.2 | Limitation on the Compare Function | B14-13 |
| | | B14.4.3 | Procedure for Comparing | B14-14 |
| B15. | Operat | ing the F | ROM | B15-1 |
| | B15.1 | ROM Wri | iter Mode/Canceling ROM Writer Mode | B15-3 |
| | | B15.1.1 | Switching to ROM writer mode | B15-3 |
| | | B15.1.2 | Canceling ROM Writer Mode | B15-4 |
| | B15.2 | ROM Ser | nding (Computer to ROM) | B15-5 |
| | B15.3 | ROM Co | mparison (Between Computer and ROM) | B15-8 |
| | B15.4 | ROM Co | ру | B15-11 |
| | B15.5 | ROM Del | letion | B15-13 |
| B16. | I/O Moo | dule Sett | lings | B16-1 |
| | B16.1 | Station A | Assignment of the FA Link and the Monitor | B16-1 |
| | | B16.1.1 | Starting the FA Link Tool | B16-3 |
| | | B16.1.2 | Setting the FA link station assignment | B16-4 |
| | | B16.1.3 | Registering to the FA link Module | B16-7 |
| | | B16.1.4 | Confirmation of the FA Link Module Status | B16-7 |
| | | | List of EA Link Tool Error Mossagos | B16-10 |

B7-1

B7. Outline of Online Function

This chapter describes the outline of Online function for connecting a personal computer to the FA-M3. The Online function is for confirming the status of the sequence CPU, and includes functions for displaying data of the program monitor, device monitor data, system log, and user log. Connection must be done from the WideField side before this Online function can be used. This chapter describes procedures for connecting to the FA-M3, disconnecting from it, and the limitations of the Online function.

B7.1 Connecting and Disconnecting

The Online function can be used when the FA-M3 is connected. Setup at the connection destination is done with the environment settings. See Chapter B1 "Initial Settings of the WideField Tool"

B7.1.1 Connecting

(1) Select [Online] - [Connect]. The dialog box below appears. Select [Yes].

| WideField 🔀 | |
|--|--------|
| Connecting to FA-M3. Do you wish to continue? | |
| Yes No | |
| Figure B7.1 Confirming Connection (for RS-232C) | |
| WideField | X |
| Connect to FA-M3. Please enter CPU number. Connection Destination: 133.150.172.150 CPU Number |] |
| OK Cancel | |
| FB070103 Figure B7.2 Confirming Connection (for Ethernet) | 2E.EPS |
| VideField Connecting to FA-M3. Do you wish to continue? | |
| | |
| FB070103E.EPS | |
| Figure B7.3 Confirming Connection (for RS-232C via mod | em) |

For Ethernet, the connection destination CPU number can be specified at the time of connection. The initial value is set with the environment settings, and is the CPU number. The CPU number can be specified from 1 - 4.

For RS-232C via a modem, an public line is used to connect to the phone number set in the environment settings.


In the following cases it takes time to establish an RS-232C online communication:

• When automatic recognition is set in the environment settings for the connection method

With automatic recognition, the possible transfer rate is searched from among approximately 10 types, and this takes time. From the second connection on, WideField remembers the transfer rate for the previous connection, so connection is quicker.

• When a local device is used with a CPU type other than F3SP28/38/53/58. Processing to read information of local devices takes time. The more blocks there are, the longer it takes to establish the connection.

B7.1.2 Disconnecting

- (1) Select [Online] -[Disconnect].
- (2) The dialog box appears for confirming this. Select [Yes].



Figure B7.7 Dialog Box for Confirming Disconnection

(3) When the line is disconnected, all operation online screens will close.



When the line is disconnected, all online operation screens that had been opened will close.

If a screen is being online edited, disconnection cannot be done. Finish online editing and then disconnect.

B7.2 Online Limitations

When the FA-M3 is connected, such functions as Monitor and Debug can be used, but the following limitations apply.

B7.2.1 Limitations Owing to Run Mode

The CPU has 3 operation modes, namely run mode, debug mode, and stop mode.

In run mode, Debug functions such as Forced Set/Reset and Online Edit are available. For reading data to the ROM pack and deleting data from it, the ROM writer mode must be used.

However, in ROM writer mode, the run mode Change and Debug functions cannot be used. Also, the monitor stops.

See Chapter B15 for details about the ROM writer mode.

B7.2.2 Multi-Window Limitations

Monitors can be used with multi-windows, but the monitor stops temporarily during uploading, comparing and online editing.

When these operations end the monitor opens again automatically.

Further, for RS-232C communication, the monitor update period becomes slower as the number of windows increases. Preferably, display a maximum of 3 windows at a time.

B7.2.3 Limitations Owing to Project

The Online function can be used regardless of whether the project is open or not. However, downloading (including sending from files to ROM) and comparing files and the CPU (including comparing files and ROM) are premised on the project being open. Also, the name of the CPU at the connection destination must match that of the CPU of the open project.

If the project being downloaded to the sequence CPU is not open, the tag names and the I/ O comments are not displayed. Addresses are displayed instead.

B7.2.4 Limitations between Other Applications

Do not execute a MS-DOS program while the WideField Online function is being used. Otherwise, the WideField communication might result in an error.

B7.2.5 Limitations on Personal Computers

When WideField is being used with RS-232C communication, a communication error can occur midway because of a problem with the settings of the personal computer. If an error occurs, do the following settings:

- (1) Select the Windows [Control Panel] [Power Management].
- (2) Select [Power Properties] and then click on the [Power Management] tab.
- (3) Clock on [Details] displayed for the item [Battery Status].
- (4) In the [Detailed Properties] dialog box, click on the [Troubleshooting] tab.
- (5) Check [Do not poll power status]. End setup, and restart Windows.

B7-4

B8. Transferring Programs

Executable programs are transferred between the personal computer and the FA-M3. Executable programs refer to the configuration information, user logs, and blocks defined with the executable program configuration definition for the project. Transfer includes downloading from the personal computer to the FA-M3 and uploading from the FA-M3 to the personal computer. Programs can be transferred in executable program units only. Programs cannot be transferred in units of blocks.

B8.1 Downloading Executable Programs

Executable programs are transferred from the personal computer to the FA-M3. In downloading, the configuration information, user log messages, and blocks defined with the project's executable program configuration definition are downloaded together. At downloading, the program's syntax check is done at the same time.

B8.1.1 Limitations on Downloading

Downloading cannot be done in the following cases.

- The project is not open; or, the project is open but the set CPU type does not match that at the connection destination.
- The program contains an error. (Errors are found by the syntax check.)
- A ROM pack is housed in the CPU; or, the CPU run mode is ROM writer mode.
- Another personal computer has captured the Exclusive Access Right.

B8.1.2 Procedure for Downloading

(1) With the FA-M3 connected and the project open, select [Online] - [Download]. The confirmation message below appears. Select [Yes] to continue. Select [No] to cancel.



Figure B8.1

Dialog Box for Confirming Downloading

(2) If there is a block or instruction macro being edited, the confirmation message below appears. To save, select [Yes]; to not save, select [No]. The Download function transfers items that have been saved to a file. Hence, if [No] is selected, the block prior to editing is transferred.



Figure B8.2 Dialog Box for Confirming Saving

(3) If the CPU operation mode is run or debug, the following dialog box appears.

| WideField 🔀 | | | | | | |
|-------------|---|-------|--|--|--|--|
| ? | You are in Run or Debug Mode. Terminate | ? | | | | |
| | Yes No | | | | | |
| | FB080103E | E.EPS | | | | |

Figure B8.3 Dialog Box for Confirming CPU Mode

(4) When downloading starts, the dialog box below appears, showing the contents of the current processing. Downloading proceeds in the order of syntax check, download, and CPU optimization. Select [Cancel] to cancel downloading.

| Program Check | | × |
|---------------|-----------------------|---------------|
| Program Name | SAMPLE | |
| Status Ch | ecking | |
| Block Name | BLOCK1 | |
| Instruction | 2087 | |
| | Cancel | |
| | Danima la a d Oana an | FB080104E.EPS |

Figure B8.4 Download Screen

(5) When all processing is completed the following dialog box appears. To place the CPU run mode into run mode, click [OK].

| WideField 🛛 🕅 | | | | | |
|------------------------------|--------------------------------|--|--|--|--|
| Contraction Download Enter F | oad is completed. Run mode? | | | | |
| (<u>Y</u> es | <u>N</u> o | | | | |
| | FB080105E.EPS | | | | |

Figure B8.5 Invoking run mode

(6) If the syntax check detects an error or a warning, the Syntax Check Results screen opens.

| 💖 Results of Program Syntax Checking | | | | | l × |
|--------------------------------------|------------------------------------|--|-----------------|---------|-----|
| | Block Name Inst. NO. Error Message | | | | |
| Error | BLK_MAIN | | No block found. | | |
| | | | | | |
| | | | | | _ |
| | | | | | _ |
| | | | | | _ |
| | | | | | _ |
| | | | | | _ |
| -1-1 | | | | | 1- |
| | | | | EB08010 | |

Figure B8.6 Syntax Check Results

(7) If an error has been detected, the following dialog box appears and downloading is cancelled.

| WideFiel | d 🔀 |
|----------|--------------------------|
| 8 | Terminated due to error. |
| | OK |
| | FB080107E.EPS |



Confirming Error

(8) If a warning has been detected, the following dialog box appears. To continue processing, select [OK].



- If downloading is cancelled by selecting [Cancel] during download processing, the program sent to the CPU is erased. If [Cancel] is selected during the syntax check or processing is cancelled after a warning is detected, the program sent to the CPU remains.
- The CPU optimization processing can take some time, depending on the size of the executable program.
- For downloading, screens of the Online function are all closed automatically.
- For downloading via an RS-232C, the communication mode may change when downloading ends. (It may change because the configuration communication settings before and after downloading are different.) If the communication mode is different after downloading, download end processing will take some time.

B8.2 Uploading Executable Programs

Executable programs are transferred from the FA-M3 personal computer to the personal computer. For uploading, the configuration information and user log messages are uploaded together, but the instruction macros and not uploaded. Uploading can be done even if the project is not open.

When the executable program is uploaded, a new project is created or an existing project is overwritten.

Instruction macros are not uploaded, but they can be saved to a file in the personal computer by the following procedure.

- (1) Open the project.
- (2) Open the macro monitor to upload.
- (3) From the macro monitor screen, select [File] [Reflect on File].

With this operation, the monitored macro file is created in the project.

B8.2.1 Limitations on Uploading

Uploading cannot be done in the following case.

• The CPU operation mode is ROM writer mode.

B8.2.2 Procedure for Uploading

(1) With the FA-M3 connected, select [Online] - [Upload]. The confirmation message below appears. The name of the CPU's executable program is entered in the project name field.

| Select project | ? 🗙 |
|---|---------------|
| Project 💽 users 🔽 💼 📺 | |
| Doc | |
| Resource.frk | |
| | |
| Project program | Select |
| | Cancel |
| | |
| | |
| Figure B8.9 Settings for Upload Destination | FB080109E.EPS |

(2) To create a new project, specify the project's folder in the Project Position field, and enter the name of the new project in the Project Name field, and click on [Select]. The following dialog box appears.



Figure B8.10 Dialog Box for Confirming to Create a New Project

(3) To overwrite an existing project, select the project file containing the project and click on [Select].

| Select projec | :t | | ? × |
|---------------|-----------|--------|---------------|
| Project | 🔁 Fam3pjt | | |
| 📄 Sample | | | |
| 📄 🗀 WFsamp | le | | |
| | | | |
| Project | wfsample | | |
| | | Select | |
| | | Cancel | |
| | | | |
| | | | |
| | | | |
| | | | FB080111E.EPS |

Figure B8.11 Overwrite Upload

(4) The following dialog box appears.



(4) Select [Yes]. Uploading starts and the dialog box below appears, showing the contents of the current processing. Select [Cancel] to cancel uploading.

| Upload | × |
|---------------------|---------------|
| Program Name SAMPLE | |
| Status Uploading | |
| Destination COM1 | |
| Block Name SAMPLE | |
| CPU Number | |
| Instruction Number. | |
| Cancel | |
| | EB080113E.EPS |

Figure B8.13 Upload Screen

(5) When uploading ends, the following dialog box appears.





If uploading is cancelled by selecting [Cancel] during upload processing, the operation is as following:

- For new project The new project is not created.
- For overwrite The existing program remains the same, and is not overwritten.

When a downloaded project is uploaded to a different project destination, circuit comments and subcomments are not generated. To generate comments and subcomments, use Explorer to copy the blocks downloaded to the Download folder of the upload destination project, and then upload them.

To recover tag name definitions (tag name I/O comments), copy the project folder's tag name definition file (has extension .ysig) to the upload destination after uploading.



Copy the Download folder of the upload destination Bbbb to the file of Aaaa's Download folder. Copy the file of Aaaa's Download folder to the Download folder of the upload destination Bbbb. FB080115E.EPS



B9. Run Mode Settings and Run Status Monitor

The FA-M3's CPU operation modes are as below. This chapter describes how to monitor and set the CPU's run status.

• Run Mode (RUN LED lights)

This mode is active when the CPU is executing the program. The program run status can be checked on the CPU Operation Monitor, Program Monitor, and Device Monitor, but the Debug function cannot be used and online editing cannot be done.

When the mode is switched from stop mode to run mode, the program starts from the top, just as for booting. Except for the lock-up devices, the devices become 0. If the Debug function was being used, it is cancelled.

• Stop Mode (RUN LED off)

This is the mode when the CPU stops executing the program. The Debug function can be used and online editing can be done.

Debug Mode

This mode is for debugging, and arranging. The manner of executing program is same as Run mode, but the debug function can be used and online editing can be done.

• ROM Writer Mode

This mode is for erasing the ROM pack and writing programs to it. See Chapter B15. "Managing the ROM" for details about how to set the ROM writer mode.

B9.1 Displaying Action Monitor

The operating status of the CPU can be checked on the Operation Monitor. As shown in Figure B9.1, the Operation Monitor is displayed as a bar. It is displayed automatically when the FA-M3 is connected. The Action Monitor can be switched to display or hide to select [View] - [Action Monitor].

| RDY RUN ALM ERR | SAMPLE | e060 Step | Stop | 0.0 ms | LEYKSlop | Instal ROM | SCB 0.00 ms |
|-----------------|--------|-----------|------|--------|----------|------------|---------------|
| | | | | | | | |
| (1) | (2) | (3) | (4) | (5) | (6) | (7) | (8) |
| | | | | | | | FB090101E.EPS |

Figure B9.1 Operation Monitor Bar

The display items are as follows:

(1) LED display status

Shows the LED display status for the CPU module.

(2) Name of executable program

Shows the name of the downloaded executable program.

(3) Executable program step count

Shows the number of steps in the executable program.

(4) Operation mode

Shows the CPU's operation mode (run/stop/debug/ROM).

(5) Scan time

Shows the CPU's scan time in units of 0.1 ms. (Display example: 0.4 ms)

(6) Refreshing stop status

Shows the refreshing stop status.

- X: Input refreshing stopped
- Y: Output refreshing stopped
- E: Shared refreshing stopped
- Y: Link refreshing stopped

(7) ROM pack install status

Displayed when a ROM pack is installed.

(8) Sensor control block scan time

With F3SP28/38/53/58, the SCB scan time is shown in addition to the above. The scan time is displayed in units of 0.01 ms (10 μ s). (Display example: 0.32 ms)

Embedding Action Monitor in Frame

The Operation Monitor Bar can be embedded under the application Title Bar, at the top or bottom of the application window. When the Operation Monitor Bar is dragged to the edge of the application window, the outline of the Operation Monitor Bar changes and is fitted along the side of the application window.

| | WideField [WFSAMPLE] | | | | | | | |
|---|---|--------------|---------|------|---------|--------|--------------|--------|
| | <u>F</u> ile | <u>E</u> dit | Find(S) | ⊻iew | Project | Online | Debug/Mainte | enance |
| | RDY | RUN | ALM | ERR | PROGR/ | AM | 0 Step | Stop |
| I | Figure B9.2 Example of Embedding Under Title Ba | | | | | | | |

B9.2 Configuration Display while Running a Program

This section describes how to read and display the CPU's configuration. The configuration can be looked up but cannot be changed.

Procedure for Displaying Configuration

- (1) Select [Online] [Configuration].
 - The following screen appears. Only [Cancel] and [Help] can be selected.

| onfiguration | | | 2 |
|---|---|--|---|
| Setup FA Link | Sampling Trace | Setup Communication | Setup ROM |
| Setup Interrupt | etup Interrupt Power Failure/Local Setup | | p Shared Refreshing |
| Device Capacities | Operation Control | Setup Initial Data | Setup DIO |
| Internal Relay(I)/Data Regist Internal Relay I1- I Data Register D1-E Timer(T)/ Counter(C) 100us Timer 0 10ms Timer 0 10ms Timer 512 100ms Timer 448 100ms Continuous 64 Counter C1-C 1024 | er(D) 16384 + 16384 + 16384 + 16384 + 16384 + 100001 - T0051 1000513 - T0096 1000961 - T0102 1 | Link Device(L.W) Relay Link 1 L00001-L0 2048 Link 2 L10001-L1 2048 Link 3 L20001-L2 2048 Link 4 L30001-L3 2048 Link 5 L40001-L4 0 Link 6 L50001-L5 0 Link 7 L60001-L6 0 Link 8 L70001-L7 0 E | Register W00001-W0 2048 ** W10001-W1 2048 ** W20001-W2 2048 ** W30001-W3 2048 ** W40001-W3 2048 ** W40001-W3 0 ** W50001-W5 0 ** W60001-W6 0 ** W60001-W6 0 ** |
| Relay | Register | Extended Relay | Extended Register |
| CPU 0 🚊 | 0 🚔 | 0 | 0 🗄 |
| CPU 0 🛨 | 0 🚊 | 0 🚍 | 0 🚍 |
| CPU 0 🛨 | 0 🚊 | 0 🚍 | 0 📫 |
| CPU 0 📑 . | 0 🚊 | 0 🗮 | 0 🚊 |
| | | | |
| | | | Cancel Help |
| | | | FB090201E.E |

Figure B9.3 Configuration Display

(2) Click on [Cancel] to end the configuration display.

B9.3 Procedure for Changing Each Mode

B9.3.1 Switching to Run Mode

With the FA-M3 connected, select [Online] - [Operation Mode] - [Run]. Select [Yes] to enter run mode.

| WideField | × |
|-----------|----------------|
| Chang | e to Run mode? |
| Yes | <u>N</u> o |
| | FB090301E.EPS |

Figure B9.4 Confirming Operation Mode

B9.3.2 Switching to Stop Mode

With the FA-M3 connected, select [Online] - [Operation Mode] - [Stop]. Select [Yes] to enter stop mode.

| WideField | \times | |
|---------------|---------------|--------|
| Stop? | | |
| (<u>Y</u> es | <u>N</u> o | |
| Figure B9.5 | FB090302E.EPS | p Mode |

B9.3.3 Switching to Debug Mode

With the FA-M3 connected, select [Online] - [Operation Mode] - [Debug]. Select [Yes] to enter debug mode.

| WideFiel | d | | \times |
|----------|--------|-------------|----------|
| ? | Change | to Debug mo | ide? |
| | es | <u>N</u> o | |
| | | FB0903 | 03E.EPS |



B9.4 Temporarily Changing Communication Speed

Change the CPU's RS-232C communication setting temporarily. There are the following 9 types of communication mode.(Communication speed can be selected varies by the CPU types.)

- 9,600 bps, parity even
- 9,600 bps, parity none
- 19,200 bps, parity even
- 19,200 bps, parity none
- 38,400 bps, parity even
- 38,400 bps, parity none
- 57,600 bps, parity even
- 57,600 bps, parity none
- 115,200 bps, parity even
- 115,200 bps, parity none

All of the communication modes are character length is 8 bits, and stop bit exists. Communication mode temporarily changed is recovered by executing the following functions.

- Change to run mode
- Power off/on

Set with the communication mode in the configuration to change permanently.

Procedure for Temporarily Changing Communication Speed

(1) Select [Online] - [Extended Function] - [Communication Speed Temporarily Change]. The following dialog box appears.

| Temporarily Change Communication Speed 🛛 🔀 | | |
|--|---------|-------|
| - Communication Speed | | |
| communication opeca | OK | |
| 9600bps Even Parity | | |
| | Cancel | |
| | | |
| | EB09040 | 1E EP |

Figure B9.7 Temporary Communication Speed Setting

(2) Select the communication mode from the drop-down list. The message appears to confirm this. Select [Yes].

| WideField | X | |
|-------------|---------------|-------------------|
| 🕐 Are yo | ou sure? | |
| Yes | <u>N</u> o | |
| Figure B9.8 | FB090402E.EPS | nunication Change |

(3) The communication mode changes.



Figure B9.9 End Message

TIP

The communication speed can be changed temporarily even when the project is not open.

When the communication speed has been changed temporarily, this communication mode is kept even after disconnecting from the FA-M3.



- The handy programming console cannot be used unless When the communication mode is set to 9,600 bps, and parity even.
- When the communication mode is set to a fast communication speed, communication cannot be done with personal computers that do not support high-speed transfer rates. The communication speed for the personal computer's serial port is set with [Control Panel] [Serial Port]. Check the settings to make sure they are compatible.
- Temporary change of the communication speed can be used only when RS-232C communication is set in the environment settings.

B9.5 Setup Time

The date and time set for the CPU can be changed.

Procedure for Changing Time Settings

 Select [Online] - [Extended Functions] - [Setup Time]. The following dialog box appears, showing the current date, time, and correction value.

| Setup Time | K |
|---|-------------------------------------|
| Now- 2000 / 5 / 18 17 : 43 : 49 Correction OSecon | —— Date & Time of CPU |
| □ Time 5:52:38 PM | Date & Time of Personal Computer |
| Correction value 📱 🚊 (-10D-10D) Seve | |
| Close <u>H</u> elp | FB090501E.EPS |

Figure B9.10 Setup Time

- (2) Click on the checkboxes of the items to be changed. For the date, click on the year, month or date and then enter the new value. Select the drop-down list to display the calendar. Input to the calendar can be done also. For the time, click on the hour, minute or second and then enter the new value. Enter the correction value either by direct input or by using the spin buttons. Correction value are set between -100 and 100 seconds (set negative value for putting the clock on).
- (3) When input is finished, select [Save].When the data is saved to the CPU, the new values are displayed for the current time.
- (4) Select [Close] to close the dialog box.

TIP

The time can be set even when the project is not open.

The change is reflected in the clock with the correction value when the machine is reset or at the next power-up.

B9.6 Clearing Programs

All the programs in the CPU can be cleared. This function cannot be used while a program is being executed.

Procedure for Clearing Program

 Select [Online] - [Extended Function] - [Clear Program]. The following message appears to confirm this. Select [Yes] to continue. Select [No] to cancel.

| WideFiel | d | | × |
|----------|-------------|--------------|----------|
| ? | Do you wish | to clear the | program? |
| | Yes | <u>N</u> o | |
| | | | |

Figure B9.11 Confirming Clearing Programs

(2) If a program is being executed, the following dialog box appears. Select [Yes] to continue. Select [No] to cancel.

| WideFiel | ld 🛛 🛛 |
|----------|--|
| ? | You are in Run or Debug mode. Do you wish to stop? |
| | <u>Yes</u> <u>N</u> o |
| | FB090602E.EPS |





TIP

The Clear Programs function can be executed even when a project is not open.

When the Clear Programs function is executed, disconnection is done automatically.

B9.7 Clear Device

All the devices in the CPU can be cleared. Lock-up devices can be cleared as well, but some devices such as file registers will not be cleared. This function cannot be used while a program is being executed.

Procedure for Clearing Devices

 Select [Online] - [Extended Function] - [Clear Device] The following message appears to confirm this. Select [Yes] to continue. Select [No] to cancel.

| WideFiel | d | | × |
|----------|-------------|---------------|---------------|
| ? | Do you wisł | n to clear th | e device? |
| | <u>Y</u> es | <u>N</u> o | |
| | | | FB090701E.EPS |

Figure B9.14 Confirming Clearing Devices

(2) If a program is being executed, the following dialog box appears. Select [Yes] to continue. Select [No] to cancel.

| WideField | × |
|--|---------------|
| You are in Run or Debug mode. Do you wis | h to stop? |
| Yes No | |
| Figure B9.15 Confirming Stop Program | FB090702E.EPS |
| WideField 🔯 | |
| Device has been cleared. | |
| OK | |

FB090703E.EPS

End Message

Figure B9.16

TIP

The Clear Devices function can be executed even when a project is not open.

B9.8 Reset Start

The FA-M3 can be reset by the Reset Start function. This function consists of two types, one Reset Start for the entire system and the other Reset Start for the connected CPU only.

Procedure for Using Reset Start Function

(1) Select [Online] - [Extended Function] - [Reset Start]. The following dialog box appears.

| Reset Start | × |
|--|------------------------------|
| Reset Start CPU Reset System Reset CPU | OK Cancel <u>H</u> elp |
| | EB090801E EPS |

Figure B9.17 Selecting Reset

(2) Select the target for Reset Start (Reset System or Reset CPU), and then select [OK]. Select [Cancel] to cancel. The following dialog box appears for confirming this operation. Select [Yes.]. The system is restarted.

| WideField | X |
|---------------|--|
| ? Re: Do | setting the system. you wish to continue? |
| (<u>Y</u> es | No |
| Figure B9.18 | FB090802E.EPS Confirming Reset |
| WideField | × |
| 🗼 Re | set and disconnected. |
| | OK |
| Figure B9.19 | FB090803E.EPS |

TIP

The Reset Start function can be executed even when a project is not open.

- When the Reset Start is done, the personal computer is disconnected from the FA-M3.
- System Reset is effective only for the main CPU (CPU mounted in slot 1). If System Reset is attempted for an add-on CPU, an error occurs and System Reset is not implemented.
- When Reset Start is done, devices that are not locked up are initialized.
- Reset Start cannot be done during online editing.
- Do not do CPU Reset for a particular CPU when the system is configured of multiple CPUs. Otherwise, an error will occur when CPUs are communicating and when the same module is being accessed. When the system consists of multiple CPUs, do System Reset for the main CPU (CPU mounted in slot 1).

B9.9 Capturing and Releasing Exclusive Access Control

The Exclusive Access Control for the FA-M3 can be captured and released. When the Exclusive Access Control is captured, the following functions are unavailable from other machines:

- · Changing operation mode (run, debug, stop)
- Changing forced set/reset and device values
- Stopping and canceling refreshing
- Downloading
- Online editing

There are three types of control for the Exclusive Access Control, as follows:

• Capturing Exclusive Access Control

Captures the Exclusive Access Control. When it is captured, the functions listed above are unavailable. If another machine has already captured the Exclusive Access Control, then it cannot be captured. Capture it after doing a forced release.

• Releasing Exclusive Access Control

Releases the Exclusive Access Control captured itself. When it is released, the functions listed above can be used from other machines.

• Forcibly Releasing Exclusive Access Control

When a different machine has captured the Exclusive Access Control, it can be released forcibly. When it is forcibly released, the functions listed above can be used from all machines.

Procedure for Capturing Exclusive Access Control

Select [Online] - [Extended Function] - [Exclusive Access Control] - [Get]. The Exclusive Access Right is captured.





Procedure for Releasing Exclusive Access Control

(1) Select [Online] - [Extended Function] - [Exclusive Access Control] - [Release]. The Exclusive Access Control is released.



Figure B9.21 End Message

Procedure for Forcibly Releasing Exclusive Access Control

 Select [Online] - [Extended Function] - [Exclusive Access Control] - [Forced Release]. The dialog box below appears to confirm the release. Select [Yes]. The Exclusive Access Control is forcibly released.



TIP

The Exclusive Access Control can be captured and released even when a project is not open.

Blank Page —

B10. Program Monitor

The Program Monitor displays the contents of blocks in the form of a ladder diagram. It can be used for confirming the ON/OFF status of relays and the current values of data in the program.

B10.1 Configuration of Program Monitor Screen

Figure B10.1 shows an example of the Program Monitor Screen.



Figure B10.1 Program Monitor Screen

B10.1.1 Relay ON/OFF Display

The Program Monitor screen shows the following relay ON/OFF statuses.

(1) Conduction state of contact a and contact b



(3) SET, RST, and FF instructions

100001 100001 SET SET 100001 is ON 100001 is OFF 100001 RST 100001 RST 100001 is ON 100001 is OFF 100001 FF 100001 FF 100001 is ON 100001 is OFF FB100104E.EPS (4) Displaying Forced Set/Reset 100001 100001 100001 100001 Forced Set Forced Set Forced Set Forced Reset SET 100001 100001 is Forced Reset FB100105E.EPS Normal open contact and normal close contact and coil are shown enclosed in a rectangle. SET, RST, and FF instructions are shown instructions are enclosed in a rectangle.

The monitor for indexed devices displays the device value with the index register value is 0.

B10.1.2 Displaying Application Instructions

If detailed display is selected for the contents of the devices of the application instructions and the current value of the timer/counter, these are displayed. The usual monitor screen has the same display as for offline.



The monitor for indexed devices displays the device value with the index register value is 0.

B10.2.1 Procedure for Activating Program Monitor

- (1) Open the target project. (Not mandatory.)
- (2) With the FA-M3 connected, select [Online] [Program Monitor]. The Select Block (Run Block Monitor) screen appears.

| 🎯 Select Bloc | k (Run Block Monitor) | | x |
|---------------|-----------------------|-----------------|------|
| Block No. | Block Name | Active Status 🔺 | |
| 1 | SCHED | 1 | |
| 2 | ACT1 | 0 | |
| 3 | ACT2 | 0 | |
| 4 | ACT3 | 1 | |
| 5 | | | |
| 6 | | | |
| 7 | | | |
| 8 | | | |
| 9 | | | |
| 10 | | | |
| 11 | | | |
| ন_1^^ | | | |
| | | EB100201E | E EP |

1: Indicates Activated. 0: Indicates Stopped.

Figure B10.2 Run Block Monitor

- (3) In the Select Block screen, double-click on the block for monitor display, or move the cursor and press [Enter] to select the block.
- (4) The target block is displayed as a ladder diagram.

TIP

The Program Monitor can activate multiple program monitors for different blocks.

The following limitations apply for when the project is not open, and when the project is open but is different to the executable program being downloaded:

- When project not open
 - The tag names and comments are not displayed.
 - The contents of online editing cannot be saved to a file.
- When the opening project is different to the executable program being downloaded
 - · The tag names and comments are not displayed correctly.

B10.2.2 Saving the Monitoring Program

The block being program monitored can be saved to a file. Select [File] - [Reflect on File]. The block is saved by overwriting the file with the same block name in the project. Select [File] - [Reflect on Different File] to save it with a different name.

B10.2.3 Procedure for Ending Program Monitor

Select [File] - [Close].

If the contents of the CPU's program have been changed by online editing, the following dialog box appears, for selecting whether or not to reflect the changes in the project's file.



Figure B10.3 Dialog Box for Confirming to Reflect File

When [Yes] is selected, the changes are saved to the block with the same name as the open project, and the circuit monitor screen closes. When [No] is selected, the changes are not reflected in a file, and the circuit monitor screen closes. When [Cancel] is selected, the changes are not reflected in a file, and the circuit monitor screen returns.

TIP

Even when the block's Program Monitor ends, the Run Block screen remains displayed. To end this screen, select [File] - [Close] for this Run Block Monitor screen.

B10.3 Displaying Details of Application Instructions

The contents of the devices of the application instructions and the current value of the timer/counter can be displayed.

B10.3.1 Procedure for Displaying Details

Select [View] - [Detail]. As shown in the example in Figure B10.4, the details of the devices are displayed.







For the timer and counter, the current value and set value are displayed under the instruction. If the set value has been changed online, the changed value is displayed.

B10.3.2 Changing Display Format

When the contents of devices in application instructions are displayed, the word data or long word data can be changed from decimal display to hexadecimal, character string, or floating point display.

(1) Hexadecimal display

Select [View] - [Display Format] - [Hexadecimal]. The contents of the devices are displayed in hexadecimals. (See Figure B10.5.)

| | -12 | |
|-----|----------|----------|
| MOV | 34567890 | D00102 |
| | | \$ |
| | | B669FD2Ě |

Figure B10.5 Hexadecimal Display

(2) Character string display

Select [View] - [Display Format] - [Character String]. The contents of the devices are displayed in text strings. (See Figure B10.6.)

| Г | | | |
|---|------|--------|--------|
| _ | SMOV | "FAM3" | D01010 |
| | | | ~FAM3~ |
| | | | 174110 |

Figure B10.6 Text String Display

(3) Floating point display (long words only)

Select [View] - [Display Format] - [Floating Point]. The contents of the devices are displayed as shown in the example below. (See Figure B10.7.)

| - <u>MOV</u> | D00011 | D00102 |
|--------------|----------|------------|
| | \$1.234 | \$1.234 |
| | 568E+000 | 5 68 E+000 |

Figure B10.7 Floating Point Display

To return to decimal display, select [View] - [Display Format] - [Decimal].



Even if the display format is changed, timer current values and constants of instruction parameters are displayed in the same data format as when they were entered.

B10.4

Switching Display

B10.4.1 Switching Display of Tag Names and Addresses

The device display in the Program Monitor screen can be switched from tag name display to address display.

Procedure for Switching Display

(1) Select [View] - [Display Address]. As shown in Figure B10.8, the display changes from device display to address display. During address display, the [Display Address] item is checked.



Figure B10.8 Displaying Address or Tag Name

(2) Select [View] - [Display Address] again to switch to tag name display. The [Display Address] item is no longer checked.

If the project is not open, tag names cannot be displayed, so only address display is available.

B10.4.2 Displaying I/O Comments

I/O comments can be displayed in the Program Monitor screen.

Procedure for Displaying I/O Comments

 Select [View] - [Display I/O Comments]. As shown in Figure B10.9, the I/O comments are displayed. While the I/O comments are displayed, the [I/O Comments] item is checked.



Figure B10.9 Displaying I/O Comments

| L | _ | | | |
|----|-----|---------|------------|----|
| _[| MOV | D001 01 | D00111 | |
| | | ~3412~ | ~3412~ | |
| | | Comment | Comment | |
| | | | FB100403E. | EP |

Figure B10.10 Displaying I/O Comments in Details

(2) Select [View] - [Display I/O Comments] again to clear the I/O comments. The [I/O Comments] item is no longer checked.



If the project is not open, I/O comments cannot be displayed, so only address display is available.

B10.4.3 Displaying Instruction Numbers

Instruction numbers can be displayed in the Program Monitor screen.

Procedure for Displaying Instruction Numbers

(1) Select [View] - [Display Instruction Number]. As shown in Figure B10.11, the instruction numbers are displayed. While the instruction numbers are displayed, the [Instruction Numbers] item is checked.



Figure B10.11 Displaying Instruction Numbers

(2) Select [View] - [Display Instruction Number] again to clear the instruction numbers. The [Instruction Numbers] item is no longer checked.

Displaying Folded Circuits

The Fold function is a method of displaying ladder diagrams with circuit comments as headers. The operation method is the same as for editing ladder diagrams. See the chapter on editing programs.

B10.5 Browsing Tag Names

Select [Edit] - [Block Tag Definition] to look up tag name definitions defined by blocks. Tag name definitions cannot be changed online.
B10.6 Searching with Program Monitor

Devices and instructions can be searched from the Program Monitor screen. Devices can be searched by a standard search and by a specified range search.

B10.6.1 Find Device and Find Instruction functions

Blocks being monitored can be searched for devices and instructions. The operation method is the same as for editing ladder diagrams. See the chapter on editing programs.

B10.6.2 Jump Function

The Jump function can be used for the block being monitored. The operation method is the same as for editing ladder diagrams. See the chapter on editing programs.

B10.6.3 Displaying Device Usage Status

The device usage statuses can be displayed for the block being edited. The operation method is the same as for editing ladder diagrams. See the chapter on editing programs.

B10.7 Suspending and Resuming Program Monitor

The Program Monitor can be paused. When it is paused, the device statuses displayed in the Program Monitor screen are not updated.

B10.7.1 Procedure for Suspending Monitor

(1) Select [View] - [Suspend Monitor].

B10.7.2 Procedure for Resuming Monitor

(1) Select [Display] - [Resume Monitor].

TIP

This Pause Monitor function affects all Program Monitor and Device Monitor screens.

Blank Page —

B11. Device Monitor

The Device Monitor function displays a monitor screen for each type of device that has been specified. This function is used for confirming the relay ON/OFF statuses, current data values, and the current values and settings for the timer/counter.

B11.1 Configuration of Device Monitor Screens

The device monitor screens can be roughly divided into four types, for relays, registers, timers and counters.

B11.1.1 Configuration of Relay Monitor Screen

| (1) | (4) | (5) | (2) (6 | 6) | (7) |
|-------------|---------|-----------------|-----------|--------|----------|
| 🤣 Input/ Ou | tput | Relay Monitor S | Slot 005 | | |
| Address | | Word Data | Long Word | Data 🔺 | |
| -X00501 | | 17 | | 17 | Provinue |
| X00502 | | 8 | | 8 | Flewing |
| X00503 | | 4 | | 4 | |
| X00504 | | 2 | | 2 | Next |
| X00505 | | 1 | | 1 | |
| X00506 | | 0 | | 0 | |
| X00507 | | 0 | | 0 | |
| X00508 | | 0 | | 0 | |
| X00509 | | 0 | | 0 | |
| X00510 | | 0 | | 0 | |
| X00511 | | 0 | | 0 | |
| X00512 | | 0 | | 0 | |
| X00513 | | 0 | | 0 | |
| X00514 | | 0 | | 0 | |
| X00515 | | 0 | | 0 | |
| X00516 | | 0 | | 0 | |
| X00517 | | 0 | | 0 | |
| X00518 | | 0 | | 0 | |
| X00519 | | 0 | | 0 | |
| X00520 | | 0 | | 0 💌 | |

FB110101E.EPS

Figure B11.1 Device Monitor for Relays

- Monitor title Displays the device type and monitor.
- (2) Additional information Displays the slot number (when I/O relay) and block name (when local device).
- (3) Device address Displays the names of devices monitored, in order of their addresses.
- (4) ON/OFF display Displays the ON/OFF statuses of relays. (■ : ON, □ : OFF) The ON/OFF fields for addresses that have undergone forced set/reset are displayed with a different background color.
- (5) Word data display Displays 16-bit data from the target device.
- (6) Long word data display Displays 16-bit data from the target device.
- (7) Scroll bar Moves the displayed devices up and down. Scrolls through 256 data items.
- (8) [Previous] and [Next] When there are 257 or more data items, these buttons are used for displaying the previous 256 items or the next 256 items.

B11-3

B11.1.2 Configuration of Register Monitor Screen

| | (1) | (4) (2) | (5) | (6) / | |
|-------|-------------|--------------|----------------|----------|-----|
| | 🤣 Data Regi | ster Monitor | | | |
| | Address | Word Data | Long Word Data | •/ | |
| (3) — | -D00001 | 16706 | 1128546626 | Previous | |
| | D00002 | 17220 | 82756 | 110/1000 | (7) |
| | D00003 | 1 | 65537 | | |
| | D00004 | 1 | -1062731775 | Next | |
| | D00005 | -16216 | 49320 | | |
| | D00006 | 0 | 0 | | |
| | D00007 | 0 | 0 | | |
| | D00008 | 0 | 0 | | |
| | D00009 | 0 | 1619525632 | | |
| | D00010 | 24712 | 809066632 | | |
| | D00011 | 12345 | 12345 | | |
| | D00012 | 0 | 0 | | |
| | D00013 | 0 | 0 | | |
| | D00014 | 0 | 0 | | |
| | D00015 | 0 | 0 | | |
| | D00016 | 0 | 0 | | |
| | D00017 | 0 | 0 | | |
| | D00018 | 0 | 0 | | |
| | D00019 | 0 | 0 | | |
| | D00020 | 0 | 0. | <u> </u> | |
| | | | | | |

FB110102E.EPS

Figure B11.2 Device Monitor for Registers

- Monitor title Displays the device type and monitor.
- (2) Additional information Displays the block name (when local device).
- (3) Device address Displays the names of devices monitored, in order of their addresses.
- (4) Word data display Displays the current value for the target device.
- (5) Long word data display Displays 2-word data from the target device.
- (6) Scroll bar Moves the displayed devices up and down. Scrolls through 256 data items.
- (7) [Previous] and [Next] When there are 257 or more data items, these buttons are used for displaying the previous 256 items or the next 256 items.

B11.1.3 Configuration of Timer Monitor Screen

| | (1) | (3) | (4) | (5) | (6) / | |
|-------|------------|---------|---------------|----------------|----------|-----|
| Ī | 🤣 Timer Mo | nitor | | | | |
| | Address | | Current Value | Preset Value 🔺 | | |
| (2) — | T00001 | | 1s750.0ms | 5s000.0ms | Provinue | |
| | T00002 | | 5s000.0ms | 5s000.0ms | Flewings | (7) |
| | T00003 | | 5s000.0ms | 5s000.0ms | | (.) |
| | T00004 | | 5s000.0ms | 5s000.0ms | Next | |
| | T00005 | | 2s000.0ms | 2s000.0ms | | |
| | T00006 | | 5s000.0ms | 5s000.0ms | | |
| | T00007 | | 0s000.0ms | 0s000.0ms | | |
| | T00008 | | 0s000.0ms | 0s000.0ms | | |
| | T00009 | | 0s000.0ms | 0s000.0ms | | |
| | T00010 | | 0s000.0ms | 0s000.0ms | | |
| | T00011 | | 0s000.0ms | 0s000.0ms | | |
| | T00012 | | 0s000.0ms | 0s000.0ms | | |
| | T00013 | | 0s000.0ms | 0s000.0ms | | |
| | T00014 | | 0s000.0ms | 0s000.0ms | | |
| | T00015 | | 0s000.0ms | 0s000.0ms | | |
| | T00016 | | 0s000.0ms | 0s000.0ms | | |
| | T00017 | | 0s000.0ms | 0s000.0ms | | |
| | T00018 | | 0s000.0ms | 0s000.0ms | | |
| | T00019 | | 0s000.0ms | 0s000.0ms | | |
| | T00020 | | 0s000.0ms | 0s000.0ms 🔻 | | |
| | | | | | | |

FB110103E.EPS

Figure B11.3 Device Monitor for Timers

- (1) Monitor title Displays the device type and monitor.
- (2) Device address Displays the names of devices monitored, in order of their addresses.
- (3) ON/OFF display
 Displays the timeout statuses of relays.
 (■ : Timeout relay ON, □ : Timeout relay OFF)
- (4) Current value display Displays the current values of the timers.
- (5) Current settings display Displays the current settings of the timers.
- (6) Scroll bar Moves the displayed devices up and down. Scrolls through 256 data items.
- (7) [Previous] and [Next] When there are 257 or more data items, these buttons are used for displaying the previous 256 items or the next 256 items.

B11.1.4 Configuration of Counter Monitor Screen

| (2) Counter Monitor Address Current Value Preset Value C00001 100 100 C00002 0 0 C00003 0 50 C00004 0 0 C00005 0 0 C00007 0 0 C00007 0 0 C00008 0 0 C00010 0 0 C00011 0 0 C00012 0 0 C00013 0 0 C00014 0 0 C00015 0 0 C00015 0 0 | | (6) / | 5) | (5 | 4) I | (4 | (3) | (1) | |
|--|-----------------------|------------|---------|--------|---------|---------|-------|---------------|-------|
| Address Current Value Preset Value C00001 100 100 C00002 0 0 C00003 0 0 C00004 0 0 C00005 0 0 C00007 0 0 C00008 0 0 C00009 0 0 C00011 0 0 C000012 0 0 C00013 0 0 C00014 0 0 C00015 0 0 C00011 0 0 C00013 0 0 C00014 0 0 C00015 0 0 C00016 0 0 | | | | | | or | 1onit | 🤣 Counter N | |
| (2) C00001 □ 100 100 C00002 □ 0 0 | | | Value 🔺 | Preset | Value | Current | | Address | |
| C00002 0 0 0 C00003 0 0 50 C00004 0 0 0 C00005 0 0 0 C00006 0 0 0 C00007 0 0 0 C00008 0 0 0 C00010 0 0 0 C00011 0 0 0 C00012 0 0 0 C00013 0 0 0 C00015 0 0 0 C00016 0 0 0 | | Regulation | 100 🔟 | | 100 | | | C00001 | (2) — |
| C00003 0 0 0 Next C00005 0 0 0 0 0 C00006 0 0 0 0 0 C00007 0 0 0 0 0 C00008 0 0 0 0 0 C00010 0 0 0 0 0 C00011 0 0 0 0 0 C00012 0 0 0 0 0 C00013 0 0 0 0 0 C00015 0 0 0 0 0 C00016 0 0 0 0 0 | ~ (7) | Previous | 0 | | 0 | | | C00002 | |
| C00004 0 0 0 C00005 0 0 0 C00006 0 0 0 C00007 0 0 0 C00008 0 0 0 C00009 0 0 0 C00010 0 0 0 C00011 0 0 0 C00012 0 0 0 C00013 0 0 0 C00015 0 0 0 C00016 0 0 0 | <i>/</i> (<i>i</i>) | | 50 | | 0 | | | C00003 | |
| $\begin{array}{c ccccc} C00005 & \Box & 0 & 0 \\ C00006 & \Box & 0 & 0 \\ C00007 & \Box & 0 & 0 \\ C00008 & \Box & 0 & 0 \\ C00009 & \Box & 0 & 0 \\ C00010 & \Box & 0 & 0 \\ C00011 & \Box & 0 & 0 \\ C00011 & \Box & 0 & 0 \\ C00012 & \Box & 0 & 0 \\ C00013 & \Box & 0 & 0 \\ C00015 & \Box & 0 & 0 \\ C00016 & \Box & 0 & 0 \\ \end{array}$ | | Next 🗍 | 0 | | 0 | | | C00004 | |
| $C00006$ \Box O O $C00007$ \Box O O $C00008$ \Box O O $C00009$ \Box O O $C00010$ \Box O O $C00011$ \Box O O $C00012$ \Box O O $C00013$ \Box O O $C00014$ \Box O O $C00015$ \Box O O $C00016$ \Box O O | | | 0 | | 0 | | | C00005 | |
| $C00007$ \Box O O $C00008$ \Box O O $C00009$ \Box O O $C00010$ \Box O O $C00011$ \Box O O $C00012$ \Box O O $C00013$ \Box O O $C00014$ \Box O O $C00015$ \Box O O $C00016$ \Box O O | | | 0 | | 0 | | | C00006 | |
| $C00008$ \Box O O $C00009$ \Box O O $C00010$ \Box O O $C00011$ \Box O O $C00012$ \Box O O $C00013$ \Box O O $C00014$ \Box O O $C00015$ \Box O O $C00016$ \Box O O | | | 0 | | 0 | | | C00007 | |
| $\begin{array}{c ccccc} C00009 & \Box & 0 & 0 \\ C00010 & \Box & 0 & 0 \\ C00011 & \Box & 0 & 0 \\ C00012 & \Box & 0 & 0 \\ C00013 & \Box & 0 & 0 \\ C00014 & \Box & 0 & 0 \\ C00015 & \Box & 0 & 0 \\ C00016 & \Box & 0 & 0 \end{array}$ | | | 0 | | 0 | | | C00008 | |
| $\begin{array}{c ccccc} C00010 & \Box & 0 & 0 \\ \hline C00011 & \Box & 0 & 0 \\ \hline C00012 & \Box & 0 & 0 \\ \hline C00013 & \Box & 0 & 0 \\ \hline C00014 & \Box & 0 & 0 \\ \hline C00015 & \Box & 0 & 0 \\ \hline C00016 & \Box & 0 & 0 \\ \hline \end{array}$ | | | 0 | | 0 | | | C00009 | |
| $\begin{array}{c ccccc} C00011 & \Box & 0 & 0 \\ C00012 & \Box & 0 & 0 \\ C00013 & \Box & 0 & 0 \\ C00014 & \Box & 0 & 0 \\ C00015 & \Box & 0 & 0 \\ C00016 & \Box & 0 & 0 \end{array}$ | | | 0 | | 0 | | | C00010 | |
| C00012 □ 0 0 C00013 □ 0 0 C00014 □ 0 0 C00015 □ 0 0 C00016 □ 0 0 | | | 0 | | 0 | | | C00011 | |
| C00013 I 0 0 C00014 I 0 0 C00015 I 0 0 C00016 I 0 0 | | | 0 | | 0 | | | C00012 | |
| C00014 0 0 C00015 0 0 C00016 0 0 | | | 0 | | 0 | | | C00013 | |
| C00015 | | | 0 | | 0 | | | C00014 | |
| C00016 🗆 0 0 | | | 0 | | 0 | | | C00015 | |
| | | | 0 | | 0 | | | C00016 | |
| C00017 🗆 0 0 | | | 0 | | 0 | | | C00017 | |
| C00018 🗆 0 0 | | | 0 | | 0 | - | | C00018 | |
| C00019 🗆 0 0 | | | 0 | | 0 | | | C00019 | |
| | | | 0 💌 | | 0 | | | <u>C00020</u> | |

FB110104E.EPS

Figure B11.4 Device Monitor for Counters

- (1) Monitor title Displays the device type and monitor.
- (2) Device address Displays the names of devices monitored, in order of their addresses.
- (3) ON/OFF display
 Displays the count-up statuses of relays.
 (■ : Count-up relay ON, □ : Count-up relay OFF)
- (4) Current value display Displays the current values of the counters.
- (5) Current settings display Displays the current settings of the counters.
- (6) Scroll bar Moves the displayed devices up and down. Scrolls through 256 data items.
- (7) [Previous] and [Next] When there are 257 or more data items, these buttons are used for displaying the previous 256 items or the next 256 items.

B11.2 Activating and Ending Device Monitor

B11.2.1 Procedure for activating Device Monitor

(1) With the FA-M3 connected, select [Online] - [Device Monitor]. The Device Type submenu appears.



Figure B11.5 Device Type Sub-menu

- (2) From the Device Type sub-menu, select the device for monitor display. The target device's monitor screen appears. (I/O relays and local devices are not included.)
- (3) If I/O Relay is selected, the I/O Configuration screen shown in Figure B11.6 appears. Select the slot for monitor display.

TIP

- If the I/O device does not have an I/O relay, this will be displayed as inactive and cannot be selected.
- The color of the module name indicates whether the I/O device is used or not used by the program.

| 🤣 I/O Ca | onf | igu | rat | ion | | | | | | | | | | | | _ | | × |
|------------------|------------------|-----|------------------|------------------|------------------|------------------|-----|-----|------|----|----|-----|----|----|----|-----|------|--------|
| | 1 | 2 | 3 | 4 | 5 | 6 | 7 | 8 | 9 | 10 | 11 | 12 | 13 | 14 | 15 | 16 | | |
| MAIN UNIT | S P 3 5 | | Y D 3 2 | Y D 3 2 | X D 3 2 | L E 0 1 | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| SUB UNIT 1 | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| SUB UNIT 2 | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| SUB | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| igure B1 | 1.6 | | | I/O | C | on | fig | ura | atio | on | Sc | ree | ən | | | FB1 | 1020 | 2E.EPS |

(4) If Local Device is selected, the following dialog box appears. Select the block or macro of the local device to be displayed.

| Device Monitor - Select Block | × |
|---------------------------------------|---------------|
| Select block. | ОК |
| SCHED | Cancel |
| ACT1 ACT2 ACT3 | |
| • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • | EB110203E EPS |

Figure B11.7 Dialog Box for Selecting Block

TIP

The Device Monitor can display with Multiple screens even for identical devices or identical I/O devices.

B11.2.2 Procedure for Ending Device Monitor

Select [File] - [Close].

TIP

The I/O Configuration screen remains displayed even when the I/O relay's Device Monitor is ended. To close the I/O Configuration screen, select [File] - [Close] for the I/O Configuration screen.

B11.3 Changing Display Format

The word data or long word data in the Device Monitor screen can be changed from decimal display to hexadecimal, text string, floating point or binary display. However, binary display can be done only for register devices, not for timers, counters, and relay devices.

| 🎯 Data Regi | ster Monitor | | | |
|-------------|--------------|----------------|---|----------|
| Address | Word Data | Long Word Data | | |
| D01001 | \$4142 | \$43444142 | | Previous |
| D01002 | \$4344 | \$45464344 | | TTEMBES |
| D01003 | \$4546 | \$47484546 | | |
| D01004 | \$4748 | \$494A4748 | | Next |
| D01005 | \$494A | \$4B4C494A | | |
| D01006 | \$4B4C | \$4D4E4B4C | | |
| D01007 | \$4D4E | \$4F504D4E | | |
| D01008 | \$4F50 | \$51524F50 | | |
| D01009 | \$5152 | \$53545152 | | |
| D01010 | \$5354 | \$55565354 | | |
| D01011 | \$5556 | \$57585556 | | |
| D01012 | \$5758 | \$595A5758 | | |
| D01013 | \$595A | \$5B5C595A | | |
| D01014 | \$5B5C | \$5D5E5B5C | | |
| D01015 | \$5D5E | \$5F605D5E | | |
| D01016 | \$5F60 | \$61625F60 | | |
| D01017 | \$6162 | \$63646162 | | |
| D01018 | \$6364 | \$65666364 | | |
| D01019 | \$6566 | \$67686566 | | |
| D01020 | \$6768 | \$686A6768 | • | |
| | | | | |

(1) Hexadecimal display Select [View] - [Display Format] - [Hexadecimal].

Figure B11.8 Hexadecimal Display

FB110301E.EPS

(2) Character string display Select [View] - [Display Format] - [Character String].

| 🤣 Data Regi | ister Monitor | | |
|-------------|---------------|------------------|----------|
| Address | Word Data | Long Word Data 🔺 | |
| D01001 | "AB" | "ABCD" | Previous |
| D01002 | "CD" | "CDEF" | Tionodo |
| D01003 | "EF" | "EFGH" | |
| D01004 | "GH" | "GHIJ" | Next |
| D01005 | "IJ"_ | "IJKL" | |
| D01006 | "KL" | "KLMN" | |
| D01007 | "MN" | "MNOP" | |
| D01008 | "OP" | "OPQR" | |
| D01009 | "QR" | "QRST" | |
| D01010 | "ST" | "STUV" | |
| D01011 | "UV" | "UVWX" | |
| D01012 | "WX" | "WXYZ" | |
| D01013 | "YZ" | "YZ[¥" | |
| D01014 | "[¥" | "[¥]^" | |
| D01015 | "]^" | "]^_`" | |
| D01016 | | ″_`ab″ | |
| D01017 | "ab" | "abcd" | |
| D01018 | "cd" | "cdef" | |
| D01019 | ″ef″ | ″efgh″ — | |
| D01020 | ″gh″ | "ghhi" 💌 | |
| | | | |

FB110302E.EPS

Figure B11.9 Character string display

(3) Floating point display (long words only) Select [View] - [Display Format] - [Floating Point].

| 🤣 Data Register Monitor 👘 | | |
|---------------------------|------------------|----------|
| Address Word Data | Long Word Data 🔺 | |
| D01001 | %1.962549E+002 | Previous |
| D01002 | %3.172204E+003 | 1104000 |
| D01003 | %5.126927E+004 | |
| D01004 | %8.285325E+005 | Next |
| D01005 | %1.338811E+007 | |
| D01006 | %2.163151E+008 | |
| D01007 | %3.494727E+009 | |
| D01008 | %5.645461E+010 | |
| D01009 | %9.118974E+011 | |
| D01010 | %1.472834E+013 | |
| D01011 | %2.378610E+014 | |
| D01012 | %3.841099E+015 | |
| D01013 | %6.202274E+016 | |
| D01014 | %1.001406E+018 | |
| D01015 | %1.616718E+019 | |
| D01016 | %2.609898E+020 | |
| D01017 | %4.212875E+021 | |
| D01018 | %6.799861E+022 | |
| D01019 | %1.097459E+024 | |
| D01020 | %4.427765E+024 💌 | |



FB110303E.EPS

FB110304E.EPS

| 🐉 Data Regi | ster Monitor | | |
|-------------|---------------------|---|----------|
| Address | Word Data | | |
| D01001 | 0100 0001 0100 0010 | | Previous |
| D01002 | 0100 0011 0100 0100 | | 11011000 |
| D01003 | 0100 0101 0100 0110 | | N-1 |
| D01004 | 0100 0111 0100 1000 | | Next |
| D01005 | 0100 1001 0100 1010 | | |
| D01006 | 0100 1011 0100 1100 | | |
| D01007 | 0100 1101 0100 1110 | | |
| D01008 | 0100 1111 0101 0000 | | |
| D01009 | 0101 0001 0101 0010 | | |
| D01010 | 0101 0011 0101 0100 | | |
| D01011 | 0101 0101 0101 0110 | | |
| D01012 | 0101 0111 0101 1000 | | |
| D01013 | 0101 1001 0101 1010 | | |
| D01014 | 0101 1011 0101 1100 | | |
| D01015 | 0101 1101 0101 1110 | | |
| D01016 | 0101 1111 0110 0000 | | |
| D01017 | 0110 0001 0110 0010 | | |
| D01018 | 0110 0011 0110 0100 | | |
| D01019 | 0110 0101 0110 0110 | | |
| D01020 | 0110 0111 0110 1000 | • | |
| | | | |

(4) Binary display (register devices only)

Figure B11.11 Binary Display

B11.4 Searching Device Monitor

The Find function from the Device Monitor screen targets addresses only. Devices other then the selected device type cannot be targeted.

(1) Select [Find] - [Find] from the menu. The following dialog box appears.

| Find | | × |
|--------------|-------|---------------|
| Find Address | D2001 | ОК |
| | | Cancel |
| | | Help |
| | | FB110401E.EPS |

Figure B11.12 Device Search Setting

(2) Enter the address of the target device and select [OK]. The search starts.

B11.5 Suspending Device Monitor

The Monitor can be paused. When it is paused, the device statuses displayed in the Monitor screen are not updated.

B11.5.1 Procedure for Suspending Monitor

(1) Select [View] - [Suspend Monitor].

B11.5.2 Procedure for Resuming Monitor

(1) Select [View] - [Resume Monitor].

TIP

This Pause Monitor function affects all Monitor screens.



B12. Use of the Debugging Function

The debugging function has the following features.

- · Forced set/reset of the relay
- Data change in word/long word units for registers and relays
- Change current value for timer/counter
- Change set value for timer/counter
- Stop refresh
- Start/stop block

The debugging function can be used when the CPU module's operation mode is in debug mode or stop mode.

B12.1 Forced Set/Reset of the Relay

Forced set/reset forces the specified relay device on or off. A total of up to 32 relay devices can be forced set/reset. The forced set/reset can be carried out with either the program monitor or the device monitor.

B12.1.1 Devices with which Forced Set/Reset is Available

Devices with which forced set/reset is available are as follows.

- Input relay X
- Output relay Y
- Internal relay I, /I
- · Shared relay and extension shared relay E
- Link relay L
- Special relay M (enable writing ones)
- Timer (time-up relay) T, /T
- Counter (count-up relay) C, /C

- Do not attempt to carry out a forced set/reset on any special relays that are not designated to enable writing. If this should happen, the CPU's operation may stop. See the "Sequence CPU Instruction Manual-Functions (IM34M6P12-03E)" for a more detailed discussion.
- Only up to 32 devices are available for forced set/reset. Any forced set/reset beyond that will be ignored.
- It is not available for devices with index modification.

B12.1.2 Operation and Expiration of Forced Set/Reset

- The forced set/reset takes precedence over the program itself. Any relays that are set to off in the program will be turned on if a forced set/reset is carried out on them.
- The forced set/reset takes precedence over input of input refresh, shared refresh, and link refresh, so even any externally-connected inputs that are off will be turned on if a forced set/reset is carried out on them.
- Devices that a forced set/reset is carried out on will be protected until one of the following operations is carried out.
 - Release forced set/reset.
 - Change the CPU's operation mode to run mode.
 - Turn off the CPU's power.

B12.1.3 Procedure for Forced Set/Reset

- (1) Select the relay device to undergo the forced set/reset from the program monitor screen or the device monitor screen.
- (2) Select [Debug/Maintenance] [Forced Set] (or [Forced Reset]) from the menu.
- (3) The selected relay device will go on (or off).

B12.1.4 Procedure for Canceling Forced Set/Reset

- (1) Select the relay device to have the forced set/reset undone from the program monitor screen or the device monitor screen.
- (2) Select [Debug/Maintenance] [Cancel Forced Set] from the menu.
- (3) The selected relay device will have the forced set/reset released.

B12.1.5 Procedure for Canceling All Forced Set/Reset

All devices with a forced set/reset carried out on them will have it undone.

- (1) Select [Debug/Maintenance] [Cancel All Forced].
- (2) All devices with a forced set/reset carried out on them will have it release.

B12.2 Changing Word/Long Word Data

This changes data in either word units or in long word units for the register and relays. There is no limitation on the number of devices that can be changed. Data change can be done either from the program monitor or the device monitor.

B12.2.1 Devices with which Data Change is Available

All devices can have their current value changed except for those listed below.

- · Timer and counter
- Special relays or special registers which are not designated to enable write.

- The current value cannot be changed for special relays and special registers which are not designated to enable writing. If this should happen, the CPU's operation may stop. See the "Sequence CPU Manual-Functions Section" for a more detailed discussion.
- · It is not available for devices with index modification.

B12.2.2 Operation of Devices that have been Changed

- Program execution takes precedence over changes in data. If there is a write to a device by the program, the written value will take precedence over any changes that are carried out.
- Input refresh, shared refresh, and link refresh take precedence over changes in data, so if there are any externally-connected inputs, the input value will be re-read.

B12.2.3 Procedure for Data Change

- (1) Select the device to undergo data change from the program monitor screen or the device monitor screen.
- (2) Select [Debug/Maintenance] [Word Data Change (Long Word Data Change)] from the menu.
- (3) The dialog shown in figure B12.1 will be displayed.



Figure B12.1 Data Change Dialog

- (4) Enter the data to be changed. The following formats are possible for data input.
 - Decimal (±) decimal value
 - Hexadecimal \$hexadecimal value (word: 4 digits, long word: 8 digits)
 - String character string surrounded by quotation marks (word: up to 2 bytes, long word: up to 4 bytes)
 - Floating point ±??????*E??? (Only for long words)

However, binary input is not possible.

(5) Select the "OK" button.

TIP

- The data displayed in the dialog is displayed in the display format on the monitor screen.
- If the detailed display for the program monitor has not been carried out, the display will be in the format of however it was the last time it was displayed.
- Strings should be input from the upper byte. For cases when a string smaller than the data size is input, the last byte will be a NULL (0).

B12.3 Changing the Current Value of the Timer/ Counter

This changes the current value of the timer and counter. There are no restrictions on the number of devices that may be changed. Current value change can be done either from the program monitor or the device monitor.

B12.3.1 Devices with which Current Value Change is Available

• The timer and the counter.

B12.3.2 Operation of Devices that have been Changed

- The timer/counter will continue operation with the changed value as the current value.
- If the program writes data to the timer/counter, then execution of the program will take precedence. If there is a write to a device by the program, the written value will take precedence over any changes that are carried out.

- (1) Select the timer or counter device to undergo current value change from the program monitor screen or the device monitor screen.
- (2) Select [Debug/Maintenance] [Change Current Value of Timer/Counter] from the menu.
- (3) The following dialog will be displayed.



Figure B12.2 Timer Current Value Change Dialog

| (4) | (5) |
|----------------------|---------------|
| Change Current ¥alue | |
| Enter current value | ок |
| | Cancel |
| | FB120302E.EPS |

Figure B12.3 Counter Current Value Change Dialog

- (4) Enter the data to be changed. Add or subtract seconds to the timer or to the counter with the spin button.
- (5) Select the [OK] button.

B12.4 Changing the Timer/Counter Set Value

This changes the set value of the timer and counter. There are no restrictions on the number of devices that may be changed. Set value change can be done either from the program monitor or the device monitor.

B12.4.1 Devices with which Current Value Change is Available

• The timer and the counter.



This is not available for devices with index modification.

B12.4.2 Operation of Devices that have been Changed

The changed set value will take effect after starting, and will not take effect until that next time even if the change is carried while the timer/counter is running.

B12.4.3 Procedure for Changing Set Value

- (1) Select the timer or counter device to undergo set value change from the program monitor screen or the device monitor screen.
- (2) Select [Debug/Maintenance] [Change Set Value of Timer/Counter] from the menu.
- (3) The following dialog will be displayed.



Figure B12.4 Timer Set Value Change Dialog



Figure B12.5 Counter Set Value Change Dialog

- (4) Enter the data to be changed. Add or subtract seconds to the timer or to the counter with the spin button.
- (5) Select the [OK] button.



The changes to the set value will not be reflected to the file even if file reflection is carried out. In order implemented the reflection, do the timer/counter set value change with the online edit.

B12-9

B12.5 Stop Refreshing

This stops and undoes a variety of refreshes.

The following refresh stops are available.

- Stop Input Refresh This stops the refresh of the input relay [X]
- Stop Output Refresh This stops the refresh of the output relay [Y]
- Stop Shared Refresh This stops the refresh of the shared relay and the extension shared relay [E], as well as the refresh of the shared register and the extension shared register [R].
- Stop Link Refresh This stops the refresh of the link relay L and the link register [W].

B12.5.1 Procedure for Stopping a Refresh

- (1) Select [Debug/Maintenance] [Stop Refreshing].
- (2) If the operation monitor is displayed, the devices which are in the middle of a refresh stop will be displayed.

B12.5.2 Restart Refreshing

This restarts a stopped refreshing.

(1) Select [Debug/Maintenance] - [Restart Refreshing]. All stopped refreshing will be restarted.

B12.6 Block Start and Stop

The block Start and stop is done from the block start monitor screen. If a block is already started, the start status is "1" and if it is stopped a "0" will be displayed. Block start/stop is effective if the program execution method in the configuration is set to specified block execution. If all blocks are executed, block start/stop is not possible.

B12.6.1 Procedure for Block Launch

(1) Select [Online] - [Program Monitor]. The following screen will be displayed.

| 🎯 Select Bloc | k (Run Block Monitor) | | . 🗆 🗙 |
|---------------|-----------------------|---------------|-------|
| Block No. | Block Name | Active Status | |
| 1 | SCHED |] 1 | |
| 2 | ACT1 | 1 | |
| 3 | ACT2 | 0 | |
| 4 | ACT3 | 0 | |
| 5 | | | |
| 6 | | | |
| 7 | | | |
| 8 | | | |
| 9 | | | |
| 10 | | | |
| 11 | | | |
| 12 | | | |
| 13 | | | |
| 14 | | | |
| 15 | | | - |
| | 1 | F | |
| | | | |

Figure B12.6 Block Start Monitor Screen

(2) Select the block name to be started from the block start monitor screen. Select [Debug/Maintenance] - [Start Block] from the menu. The selected block will be Started, and the status display in the block start monitor screen will change.

B12.6.2 Procedure for Block Stop

- (1) Select the block to be stopped from the block start monitor screen.
- (2) Select [Debug/Maintenance] [Stop Block] from the menu. The selected block will be stopped, and the status display in the block start monitor screen will change.

B13. Online Edit

The online edit is a function that modifies CPU program while a program is running. The online edit can be used when the CPU is in debug mode or stopped. The online edit can be used for blocks and macros.



- Screens that the online edit can be used on are only for 1 block per screen. It is not possible to online edit several blocks simultaneously.
- · Online edit is not possible if it is already being done from another computer.
- The online edit screen will be inaccessible if the contents of the monitor screen for a block differ because that block is being online edited from another computer. If this happens, quit the monitor screen and then open again, after which you will be able to online edit.





B13.1 Starting and Quitting Online Edit

Starting Online Edit

Open a window with the circuit monitor for the block or macro to be online edited.

- (1) Select [Debug/Maintenance] [Start Online Editing].
- (2) If the CPU is in run mode, the following dialog box will be displayed.

| WideFiel | d | | | \times |
|----------|--------|--------|------------|----------|
| ? | Change | to Del | oug ma | de? |
| <u> </u> | es | | <u>N</u> o | |
| | | | FB1301 | 01E.EPS |

Figure B13.3 Transfer to Debug Mode Confirmation Dialog

(3) Selecting [Yes] will make the circuit monitor screen change to the online edit screen. If you select [No], online edit will not start. The online edit screen will be as follows. Editing in the online edit screen is done as normal.





The screen being online edited can be printed by selecting [File] - [Print]. However, a converted version of the online edit screen will be printed.



If there is a conversion error, the information about the error all the way to the location the error was generated will be reflected to the CPU. Modify the conversion error if you update when you quit. You can also simply quit without have the information reflected to the CPU.

B13.2 Reflecting the Online Edit to the CPU

In order to reflect circuits that have been modified with the online edit to the CPU, select [Edit] - [Convert]. The modified circuits will be converted and sent to the CPU.



Figure B13.6 Message when Conversion is Completed Correctly

You can also send the information when you quit the online edit. If there is a conversion error, the information about the error all the way to the location the error was generated will be reflected to the CPU.

B13.3 Reflecting the Online Edit to a File

You can reflect blocks edited by the online edit to a file. Select [File] - [Reflect to File] with the program monitor screen activated. If you want to reflect information to a file with a different name or to a new file, select [Reflect to Another File]. You can reflect to a file in your computer if you want. The following warning will appear when you close the program monitor for a block that has been online edited for you to choose whether or not to reflect to the project.



SEE ALSO

Refer to "Chapter B10 Program Monitor" for further details.

B13.4 Precautions concerning the Online Edit

You can correct programs with the online edit just as with block edit using a ladder diagram. However, some functions are not available with the online edit, and some circuits can not be modified.



 Do not do an online edit while the machine is running. Background:

During conversion, the message [CPU Being Optimized] will be displayed. The time this is being displayed is equivalent to the length of one scan time, and will take longer. Accordingly, while this is proceeding, refresh and communication with external devices will not be possible. When the conversion is finished, the message [Conversion Complete] will be displayed.

(1) Unavailable Functions

- Cut, copy, paste
- Line deletion. However, temporary line deletion is available.
- Page break
- Editing and browsing for tag definition and local device setup and properties are available. You cannot change the number of local devices. However, you can add a new device if it is within the range local devices that are set.
- Replace
- Auto block monitor
- Addition of macro call instructions that have not been sent to the CPU.

(2) Circuits that Cannot be Corrected in the Online Edit

Some circuits are forbidden from having their program modified with the online edit. The are called "modification prohibited circuits" and cannot be modified, added, or deleted. In order to modification correction prohibited circuits, you must do this offline.

- SUB/RET instructions or circuits that contain these instructions
- INTP/RET instructions or circuits that contain these instructions
- Circuits that cannot be displayed in a ladder diagram
- Label modification/addition

Modification Prohibited Comments

The following comments cannot be either modified or added.

- Modification or addition of circuit comment (deletion is possible)
- Modification or addition of sub-comment (deletion is possible)
- I/O comments cannot be modified, added, or deleted.

TIP

- To delete label and sub-comments, open the label or sub-comment edit dialog box and delete the character string.
- Erase circuit comments temporarily using the temporary delete for lines. You will not be able to select the normal delete and line delete. Once you convert the circuit, the comment will be deleted.

Prohibitions during Online Edit - 1

Do not under any circumstances unplug cables, etc. during online edit. If for some reason communication becomes impossible, restore by following these steps.

- (1) Close the WideField online edit screen by selecting [Debug/Maintenance] [Close Online Edit]. If there are changes, select [No], and close without reflecting to the CPU.
- (2) Select [Online] [Disconnect] to disconnect from the FA-M3.
- (3) Turn the FA-M3 power off and then back on.
- (4) Select [Online] [Connect] and reconnect to the FA-M3.
- (5) Select [Online] [Download] to download the program.
- (6) Select [Debug/Maintenance] [Start Online Editing] and re-enter the corrections.

Prohibitions during Online Edit - 2

Quit the online edit only after having deleted the circuits between circuit comments, or if there are over 5 continuous circuit comments, after having reduced them to 4. If there are 5 or more circuit comments in a row in the online edit results, a conversion error will be generated, and written to the CPU. However, this will not affect the operation of the CPU. The CPU will ignore this conversion error.

B14. Protective Functions

These are functions to monitor the FA-M3's operation status and trouble. The following functions are available.

• Alarm display

This displays any error and alarm status being currently generated.

• System log display

The FA-M3 stores events such as errors and power on along with time information. The information is displayed, saved to file, and printed.

• User log display

By executing a user log instruction, the history of errors, etc. in the user system can be stored to the CPU. The information is displayed, saved to file, and printed.

Compare

This compares the executable program in a project with the executable program downloaded to the CPU.

B14.1 Alarm Display

This displays the status of alarms and errors currently being generated in the connected FA-M3.

B14.1.1 Layout of the Alarm Display Screen

| 🤣 Display Alarm | | | | _ 🗆 |
|----------------------|---------|------------|--------------------|-----|
| Alarm Message | Code | Block Name | Inst. No./Slot No. | |
| I/O comparison error | 05-0000 | ACT1 | 00006N | |
| | | | | |
| | | | | |
| | | | | |
| | | | | |
| | | | | |
| | | | | |
| | | | | |
| | | | | |
| | | | | |
| | | | | |
| | | | | |
| | | | | |
| | | | | |
| | | | | |

Figure B14.1 Alarm Display Window

- Alarm message: The contents of the alarms will be displayed. Up to 128 can be displayed.
- Code: The alarm code
- Block name: The block where the alarm was generated
- Instruction number/slot number: Instruction number where the alarm was generated or the module slot number where the trouble occurred

SEE ALSO

Refer to "B14.2 Error Messages Displayed in the Alarm Monitor" for details about alarm messages and codes.

B14.1.2 Displaying the Alarm Display Screen

- (1) While connected to the FA-M3, select [Debug/Maintenance] [Display Alarm]. The alarm display screen will be displayed. [Display Alarm] in the menu will change to [Redisplay Alarm].
- (2) Select [Debug/Maintenance] [Redisplay Alarm] and the current alarm status will be read from the CPU and redisplayed.

B14-2

FB140101E.EPS

B14.1.3 Canceling the Alarm

This cancels the alarm status (slight malfunction cancel). Alarms that were generated in the past and are not now being generated will be cancelled.

(1) Select [Debug/Maintenance] - [Cancel Alarm].

SEE ALSO

Refer to "Chapter B6 Printout" for further details about printing out the alarm status.

<Toc> <Ind>

B14.1.4 Error Messages Displayed in the Alarm Monitor

This displays the error status output by the sequence CPU module. See the self-diagnosis in the "Sequence CPU Instruction Manual-Function" for further details.

| Table B14.1 | Alarm Messages |
|-------------|----------------|
|-------------|----------------|

| Message | Code | Description | Fix |
|--|--|--|--|
| Self-diagnosis error | 01-1002 | The number of modules is exceeding the CPU capacity. | Check the modules being used. |
| | 01-1003 | Module mapping malfunction | Replace the hardware. |
| | 01-1004 | Module access malfunction | |
| | 01-1005 | System malfunction | |
| | 01-11XX | SPU malfunction | |
| | 01-1201 | Program memory malfunction | |
| | 01-1202 | Device memory malfunction | |
| | 01-1203 | System memory malfunction | |
| | 01-1701 | Incorrect instruction detected | |
| | 01-1702 | No END instruction | |
| | 01-2001 | Incorrect label parity | Modify the program. |
| | 01-2002 | I/O points exceeding highest value | |
| | 01-8203 | ROM pack error (Incorrect type parity) | Use the ROM correctly. |
| | 01-8204 | ROM pack error (Cannot read or write) | Either there is a protect or the hardware is faulty. |
| Instantaneous power failure | 02-0000 | Instantaneous power failure | |
| CPU communication malfunction | 03-0000 | Hardware failure | Replace the hardware. |
| Instruction processing error | 04-2101 | Incorrect instruction parameter range | Modify the program |
| | 04-2102 | Operation calculation is incorrect | |
| | 04-2103 | BIN/BCD conversion is incorrect | |
| | 04-2104 | FIFO table pointer failure | |
| | 04-2105 | Device boundary value exceeded | |
| | 04-2106 | FOR-NEXT parity is incorrect | |
| | 04-2201 | Non-existent subroutine return location | |
| | 04-2202 | More than 8 levels in subroutine nest | |
| | 04-2301 | Non-existent interrupt instruction return location | |
| | 04-2302 | More than 8 interrupt instruction waits | |
| | 04-2501 | No macro instruction return location | |
| I/O compare malfunction | 05-0000 | The I/O module mounting and the program are not in conformation with each other. | |
| I/O malfunction | 06-0000 | Cannot read or write to or from I/O module | Replace hardware. |
| Scan time over | 07-0000 | Scan time monitoring time exceeded | Modify the program |
| FA link (1-8) malfunction Incorrect | 09-0000 0A-0000 0B-0000 0C-0000 0D-0000 0E-0000 0F-0000 10-0000 | FA link settings | Reset the FA link settings |
| Battery malfunction | 11-0000 | Battery malfunction | Replace the CPU. |
| Sub-unit line error | 12-0000 | Cannot read or write to or from the module attached to the sub-unit | Turn the sub-unit on. Check the optical FA bus or optical FA bus 2 cable. |
| Sub-unit line switch generated | 13-0000 | One of the lines is cut in the remote I/O system connected in a loop | Check the optical FA bus or optical FA bus 2 cable. |
| Sensor control block scan time over | 14-0000 | Sensor control block scan time monitoring time exceeded | Modify the program. |
| ***** | XX-XXXX | Undefined alarm generated | |

IM 34M6Q14-01E 1st Edition : July 31,2000-00

B14-5

B14.2 System Log Display

This displays, saves to file, and prints log data such as errors or power status stored in the CPU. It can retain up to between 70 and 150 pieces of data in memory, although the exact number varies according to the kind of information. As soon as it reaches capacity it erases old data and puts new data into memory.

B14.2.1 System Log Display Screen Layout

| Display System Log:CPU | | | | |
|------------------------|----------------------|-------------|------------|--------------------|
| Date & Time | Message | Detail Code | Block Name | Inst. No./Slot NO. |
| 2000/04/12 10:11:13 | I/O Comparison Error | 24-01 | ACT1 | 00006N |
| 2000/04/12 09:47:07 | Startup completed | 01-00 | | |
| 2000/04/12 09:46:47 | Power Off | 03-00 | | |
| 2000/04/12 08:33:07 | Startup completed | 01-00 | | |
| 2000/04/11 22:53:52 | Power Off | 03-00 | | |
| 2000/04/11 22:34:16 | Startup completed | 01-00 | | |
| 2000/04/11 21:34:24 | Power Off | 03-00 | | |
| 2000/04/11 11:32:45 | Startup completed | 01-00 | | |
| 2000/04/11 11:32:42 | Power Off | 03-00 | | |
| 2000/04/11 11:32:33 | I/O Error | 01-00 | | SLOT=003 |
| 2000/04/11 11:32:13 | I/O Comparison Error | 24-01 | SETPARA | 00037N |
| 2000/04/11 11:32:03 | I/O Comparison Error | 24-01 | SETPARA | 00037N |
| 2000/04/11 06:42:13 | I/O Comparison Error | 24-01 | SETPARA | 00125N |
| 2000/04/11 06:42:13 | I/O Comparison Error | 24-01 | SETPARA | 00125N |
| 2000/04/11 06:42:12 | Startup completed | 01-00 | | |
| 2000/04/10 22:32:30 | Power Off | 03-00 | | |
| 2000/04/10 10:58:42 | I/O Comparison Error | 24-01 | SETPARA | 00125N |
| 2000/04/10 10:58:36 | I/O Comparison Error | 24-01 | SETPARA | 00125N |
| 2000/04/10 08:02:28 | Startup completed | 01-00 | | |
| 2000/04/08 19:41:24 | Power Off | 03-00 | | |
| 2000/04/08 11:28:52 | Startup completed | 01-00 | | |
| 2000/04/07 21:44:40 | Power Off | 03-00 | | |

Figure B14.2 System Log Display Screen

FB140201E.EPS

- Date, time: The date and time of logging on is displayed as yyyy/mm/dd hh:mm:ss
- Message: Log messages. The messages are displayed with the newest data first.
- Detail code: Error codes.
- Block name: The name of the block where the error was generated is displayed.
- Instruction/Slot number: XXXXN is displayed for instruction numbers, and SLOT=XXXX for slot numbers.

SEE ALSO

See "B14.2.6 Messages Displayed in the System Log" for a more detailed discussion of messages and codes in the system log.
B14.2.2 Displaying the System Log

- (1) Select [Debug/Maintenance] [Display System Log] while connected to the FA-M3. The system log display screen will be displayed. The [Display System Log] menu will change to [Redisplay System Log].
- (2) Selecting [Debug/Maintenance] [Redisplay System Log] will read the newest system log from the CPU and redisplay it.

B14.2.3 Saving the System Log File

(1) With the system log display screen up, select [File] - [Save As]. The following dialog box will be displayed.

| Save As | ? × |
|----------------------------|--------|
| Save jn: 🔄 Fam3com 💽 🖻 🧱 🏢 | |
| File name: | Save |
| | Cancel |

Figure B14.3 System Log Save Dialog Box

- (2) Enter the [File Name] in the file name blank, and select the [Save] button.
- (3) The system log will be saved with the extension .yslg.

Reading From the System Log File B14.2.4

This reads the system log saved to a file.

(1) Select [File] - [Open] - [Log File]. The following dialog box will be displayed.

| Open File | ? × |
|---|----------|
| Look in: 🔄 Fam3com 💽 🖻 | |
| SYSLOG.YSLG | |
| | |
| | |
| | |
| J File name: | |
| Files of type: System/User Log(*.yslg,*.yulg) | <u> </u> |
| | Cancel |

FB140203E.EPS

Figure B14.4 **Dialog Box for Opening a Log File**

- Select the file to be read from the displayed list of log files and then select the [Open] (2) button.
- (3) The contents of the specified log file will be displayed.

Clearing the System Log B14.2.5

This clears the system log stored in the CPU.

With the CPU's system log display screen up, select [Debug/Maintenance] - [Clear (1) Log].

| WideFiel | d | | \times |
|----------|------------------|-----------------|---------------|
| ? | Do you wish to e | erase the CPU s | ystem log? |
| | Yes | <u>N</u> o |] |
| | | | FB140204E.EPS |

Figure B14.5 System Log Clear Confirmation Dialog

Selecting [Yes] will clear the system log stored in the CPU, and the contents of the (2) system log display screen will be redisplayed.

SEE ALSO

See "Chapter B6 Printout" for details about printing the system log.

B14.2.6 Log Messages Displayed in the System Log

This displays the log contents of the sequence CPU module. For further details see the section on self-diagnosis "Sequence CPU Instruction Manual-Functions."

| Message | Description | Fix | |
|--------------------------------|---|--|--|
| Start up complete | Initializing process after booting up is complete | None | |
| Instantaneous power failure | Instantaneous power failure | None | |
| Power off | Power turned off | None | |
| Start up error | Error generated at initializing process after booting up | Replace hardware. | |
| SPU malfunction | Sequence CPU malfunction | Replace hardware. | |
| Memory malfunction | Memory malfunction | Replace hardware. | |
| Battery malfunction | Back-up battery malfunction | Replace hardware. | |
| Scan time over | Scan time monitoring time exceeded | Modify the program | |
| Incorrect instruction detected | An incorrect instruction word detected | Modify the program | |
| FA link malfunction | FA link settings are incorrect | Reset the FA link settings. | |
| Program malfunction | Program is incorrect | Replace hardware. | |
| Instruction error | Error generated at execution of instruction | Replace hardware. | |
| Subroutine error | Incorrect subroutine parity | Modify the program | |
| Interrupt error | Non-existent interrupt instruction return location More than 8 interrupt instruction waits | Modify the program | |
| I/O collation malfunction | The I/O module mounting and the program are not in conformation with each other. A READ/WRITE instruction is being used for a DIO. A HRD/HWR instruction is being used for a DIO. | Modify the program | |
| Macro instruction error | No macro instruction return location | Modify the program | |
| CPU communication malfunction | Hardware failure | Replace hardware. | |
| ROM pack malfunction | ROM pack malfunction | Replace the ROM pack. | |
| I/O malfunction | Cannot read or write to or from I/O module | Replace hardware. | |
| Sub-unit line error | Cannot read or write to or from the module attached to the sub-unit | Turn the sub-unit power on. Check the optical FA bus or optical FA bus 2 cable. | |
| Sub-unit line switch generated | One of the lines is cut in the remote I/O system connected in a loop | Check the optical FA bus or optical FA bus 2 cable. | |

Table B14.2 System Log Message

TB140202E.EPS

B14.3 User Log Display

Figure B14.6

B14.3.1 User Log

The user log function, just as the system log function, records data that is generated such as user system errors or operation status. The user log function records data generated by the user's programs. The recorded data can be read by the user log and read using an instruction or programming tools.

- The user log data is recorded by executing a user log instruction in a program. Up to 64 pieces of user log data can be recorded per CPU.
- The date and time of generation, the main code (1 word), and the sub-code (1 word) are recorded as user log data.
- You can store up to 64 messages corresponding to the main code (32 characters, 16 characters in 2-byte code) in the CPU. You can also attach these messages to the main code and sub-code when you read the user log data.
- If the recorded user log data exceeds 64 pieces, it will be erased starting from the oldest data, and any new data will be added after.
- The recorded user log data can be read by the programming tools or a user log read instruction.
- The number of pieces of recorded user log data is stored in the Z105 special register.



Stored in order of generation
User Log Function

FB140301E.EPS

B14-10

B14.3.2 User Log Display Screen Layout

| 💖 Display User Log:CPU | | | |
|------------------------|----------------|-----------|-------------|
| Date & Time | Message | Main Code | Sub Code 🔺 |
| 2000/04/12 15:56:01 | Step3 Executed | 3 | 0 |
| 2000/04/12 15:55:56 | Step2 Executed | 2 | -1 |
| 2000/04/12 15:55:51 | Step1 Executed | 1 | 0 |
| | | | |
| | | | |
| | | | |
| | | | |
| | | | |
| | | | |
| | | | |
| | | | |
| | | | |
| | | | • |
| | | | EB140202E E |

Figure B14.7 User Log Message Display Screen

- Date, time: The date and time logged on will be displayed as yyyy/mm/dd hh:mm:ss.
- Message: User-defined messages. Up to 64 will be displayed.
- Main code:User-defined main codes
- Sub-code: User-defined sub-codes

B14.3.3 Displaying the User Log Display Screen

- (1) Select [Debug/Maintenance] [Display User Log] while connecting to the FA-M3. The system log display screen will be displayed. The [Display User Log] menu will change to [Redisplay User Log].
- (2) Selecting [Debug/Maintenance] [Redisplay User Log] will read the newest system log from the CPU and redisplay it.

B14.3.4 Saving the User Log File

(1) With the user log display screen up, select [File] - [Save As]. The following dialog box will be displayed.

| Save As | ? × |
|--|------------------------|
| Save jn: 🔁 Fam3com 💌 🖻 📺 🧱 | |
| File <u>n</u> ame: Save as <u>type</u> : User Log(*.yulg) | <u>S</u> ave Cancel |
| | EB140303E EPS |

Figure B14.8 User Log Save Dialog Box

- (2) Enter the [File Name] in the file name blank, and select the [Save] button.
- (3) The user log will be saved with the extension .yulg.

B14.3.5 Reading From the User Log File

This reads the user log saved to a file.

(1) Select [File] - [Open] - [Log File]. The following dialog box will be displayed.

| Open File | ? × |
|---|---------------|
| Look jn: 🔄 Fam3com 💌 🗈 📧 🏢 | |
| File <u>n</u> ame: | |
| Files of type: System/User Log(*.yslg,*.yulg) | <u>O</u> pen |
| | Cancel |
| | FB140304E.EPS |

Figure B14.9 Dialog Box for Opening a Log File

- (2) Select the file to be read from the displayed list of log files and then select the [Open] button.
- (3) The contents of the specified log file will be displayed.

B14.3.6 Clearing the User Log

This clears the user log stored in the CPU.

(1) With the CPU's user log display screen up, select [Debug/Maintenance] - [Clear Log].



Figure B14.10 User Log Clear Confirmation Dialog

(2) Selecting [Yes] will clear the user log stored in the CPU, and the contents of the user log display screen will be redisplayed.

SEE ALSO

See "Chapter B6 Printout" for details about printing the user log.

B14.4 Comparing Executable Program

This compares executable programs downloaded to the FA-M3 and executable programs in the computer. The compare function compares executable program files managed in a project, as well as configuration and user log messages.

B14.4.1 Contents of the compare

The following items are compared in the executable program compare.

- Executable program configuration Number and names of blocks, etc.
- Configuration data
 Settings set in the configuration
- Contents of programs in each block Compares instructions, devices, and labels in 1-circuit units.
- User log messages
 Number of registered user log messages and their contents
- Position of circuit comments and sub-comments Compares whether a circuit comment and a sub-comment occupy the same position.

B14.4.2 Limitation on the Compare Function

The compare function cannot be used when the system is in the following statuses.

- A project is not opened.
- No CPU is attached, or the attached CPU is not a sequence CPU.
- The CPU type set in the open project is different from the connected CPU.
- A ROM pack is attached to the CPU.
- The CPU's operation mode is set to ROM writer mode.
- The CPU is being executed process by another computer.

B14.4.3 Procedure for Comparing

- (1) Select [Online] [Compare File and CPU] with a project open and while connecting to the FA-M3.
- (2) The following dialog box will be displayed, along with all data being currently processed. The comparison first uploads a program, then compares it. Selecting the [Cancel] button will stop the compare.

| Compare | |
|---|----------------------|
| Program Name SCHED Status Uploading Destination COM1 Block Name ACT1 CPU Number | Processing status |
| Instruction Number. 60 | |
| Cancel | FB140401E.EPS |

Figure B14.11 Compare Dialog Box

(3) If no discrepancies were found as a result of the comparison, the following dialog box will be displayed.

| WideField | × |
|-----------|-------------------|
| ٩ | No inconsistency. |
| [| OK |
| | EB140402E EPS |

Figure B14.12 Compare Complete Confirmation Dialog Box

(4) If a discrepancy was found as a result of the comparison, the following compare results list screen will be displayed.

| 🤣 Results | of Comparison | | | | _ 🗆 | × |
|-----------|---------------|---------------|-----------------------|-------------|-----|---|
| | Block N | ame Inst. NO. | М | essage | | Γ |
| Error | | | Configuration differs | 3. | | - |
| Error | SCHED | 00001 N | Instruction or addres | ss differs. | | |
| | | | | | | |
| | Compare | | | | | |
| | | | | | | |
| | Program Na | ame SCHED | _ | | | |
| | Status | | | | | |
| | Wid | eField | × | | | |
| | Destina | A | | | | |
| | Block N | Inconsistenc | y exists. | | | |
| | | | | | | |
| | CPU N | <u>OK</u> | | | | |
| | Instruction | Numper. | I | | | |
| | | | | | | |
| | | Cancel | - | | | |
| | | | | | | 1 |

Figure B14.13 Comparison Results Window

Errors and warnings are classified as follows.

Errors

- Executable program configuration different. The executable program configuration are different.
- Configuration different. The configurations are different.
- Instruction or address mismatch The contents of a block (instructions, devices, labels) are different.

Warnings

- User log message different. The contents of the user log messages are different.
- Different number of user log messages. The number of registered user log messages is different.
- Sub-comment present/absent. There are more/fewer sub-comments.
- Circuit comment present/absent.
 There are more/fewer circuit comments.

FB140403E.EPS



- The comparison results display the top instruction number in a circuit (or project) with a mismatch. Only one result per circuit is displayed.
- Program comparison is done in circuit units. Accordingly, if a circuit (not including circuit comments) is inserted, all the circuits after that will mismatch.
- The contents of comments are not compared when comparing sub-comments and circuit comments.
- Up to 256 mismatches will be displayed.
- If the executable program configuration is different, the contents of the block will not be compared.

> B15-1

B15. Operating the ROM

You can attach a ROM pack to the CPU which will store part of any program and device data. To make the part of that program or data ROM resident will make it so that the CPU will read such program and device data from the ROM when the power is switched on, and program execution will begin.



Figure B15.1 Regular ROM operation (in cases other than ROM writer mode)

The CPU has what is called "ROM writer mode" in order to write to and delete from the ROM. "ROM writer mode" is not the same as the CPU's regular operation mode in that none of the sequence functions work, and that it is maintained regardless of whether the power is on or off.

The following ROM management functions are available.

- · Switching from ROM writer mode to CPU mode.
- Sending programs in the computer to the ROM.
- · Comparing the contents of programs in the computer and in the ROM.
- Sending programs from the CPU's ROM to the ROM.
- Deleting the contents of the ROM.



The ROM management functions are unavailable in the following situations.

• Not ROM writer mode

The CPU is not in ROM writer mode. Switch to ROM writer mode.

• Exclusive access acquired

A different terminal has acquired exclusive access. Use the forced liberation on the exclusive access.

B15-3

B15.1 ROM Writer Mode/Canceling ROM Writer Mode

This changes the CPU to ROM writer mode and cancels it. The ROM management functions (ROM sending, ROM copy, ROM delete, ROM compare) can only be used in ROM writer mode. Also, program execution, download, and compare cannot be carried out in ROM writer mode. After executing the ROM management functions, cancel ROM writer mode.

B15.1.1 Switching to ROM writer mode

Putting the CPU in ROM writer mode makes the ROM management functions available for use.

Switching to ROM writer mode.

Select [Online] - [ROM Management] - [ROM Writer Mode ON]. The following dialog box will be displayed.

| WideFiel | d | | × |
|----------|-------------------|---------------|---------------|
| ? | Do you wish to ch | ange to ROM W | /riter Mode? |
| | <u>Y</u> es | <u>N</u> o | |
| | | | FB150101E.EPS |

Figure B15.3 ROM Writer Mode Change Dialog Box

(1) Selecting [Yes] will display the following dialog box and switch the CPU to ROM writer mode. Selecting [No] will cancel the process.

| WideField | × |
|-----------|--------------------------|
| ٩ | ROM Writer Mode entered. |
| | (OK) |
| | FB150102E.EPS |

Figure B15.4 ROM Writer Mode Confirmation Dialog Box

TIP

When attempting to use the ROM management functions (ROM copy, compare, sending, delete), the CPU is not in ROM writer mode will cause a dialog box to appear confirming whether or not to switch to ROM writer mode.

B15.1.2 Canceling ROM Writer Mode

This cancel ROM writer mode in the CPU.

■ Canceling ROM Writer Mode

Select [Online] - [ROM Management] - [ROM Writer Mode OFF]. The following dialog box will be displayed.

| WideFiel | d | | × |
|----------|-------------------|---------------|---------------|
| ? | Do you wish to re | lease ROM Wri | ter Mode? |
| | Yes | <u>N</u> o | |
| | | | FB150103E.EPS |

Figure B15.5 ROM Writer Mode Cancel Dialog Box

(1) Selecting [Yes] will display the following dialog box and cancel ROM writer mode. Selecting [No] will cancel the process.

| WideField | × |
|-----------|--------------------------|
| ٩ | ROM Writer Mode released |
| | OK |
| | |

Figure B15.6

ROM Writer Mode Cancel Confirmation Dialog Box

B15.2 ROM Sending (Computer to ROM)

This sends executable programs in currently open projects to the ROM.



Sending from the Computer to the ROM

Switch the CPU to ROM writer mode, and select [Online] - [ROM Management] - [File to ROM Transfer].

(1) The following dialog box will be displayed. Select the method for writing, and then [OK].

If you chose [Program], then a program registered in a project will be sent. If you chose [Program and Device], then the program and the current values of devices in the range specified in the "ROM Settings" in the configuration will be sent to the ROM.

| File=>ROM transfer | × |
|-----------------------------------|--------------------|
| Transferring from File to ROM. PI | ease specify write |
| Write Mode | ОК |
| Program and Device | Cancel |
| | FB150202E.EP |

Figure B15.8 File to ROM Transfer Confirmation Dialog

(2) Before sending to the ROM, run a syntax check on the executable program to be sent to the ROM, and if they are enable to send, continue with the sending. The following dialog box will be displayed, and the status of the sending will also be displayed.

| | File->ROM transfer | |
|-----|---------------------------|-----|
| | Program Name SCHED | - A |
| | Status Transferring block | –В |
| c — | - Destination 192.168.1.1 | |
| Е — | — Block Name ACT2 | |
| | CPU Number 1 | – D |
| | Instruction Number. 13 | — F |
| | Cancel | |
| | EB150203E | FPS |



- A- Executable Program Name
- B- Various statuses will be displayed here, such as execution status, syntax check, sending etc.
- C- The destination host or IP address will be displayed here for Ethernet communications. For RS-232C communications, the COM port number (COM1, COM2, etc.) will be displayed.
- D- CPU number: the number of the CPU sending.
- E- Name of block being sent or having its syntax checked.
- F- Instruction number syntax check, send instruction number.
- (3) If any errors or warnings are generated during the syntax check, the syntax check results message screen and error dialog box will be displayed, and the process will be halted. Select [File] - [Close] from the syntax check screen and close it.

| 🤣 Results (| of Program Syntax Ch | iecking | | | |
|-------------|----------------------|--------------|-------------------------|-----|--------------|
| | Block Name | Inst. NO. | Error Mess | age | Details 🔺 |
| Error | ACT1 | | Block conversion error. | | |
| | | | | | |
| | | | | | |
| | File-> | ROM transfer | | l | |
| | | | | | |
| | Pro | gram Name | SCHED | | |
| | Sta | tus | | | |
| | | WideField | × | | |
| | De | stir 👩 | Terminated due to error | | |
| | Blo | ck 💛 | | | |
| | CP | | OK | | |
| | | <u> </u> | | | |
| | Ins | truction Num | ber. 13 | | • |
| | | | Cancel | | |
| | | | Cancer | | |
| | | | | | EB150204E EB |

Figure B15.10 Syntax Check Screen

Writing to the ROM cannot be cancelled part way through.

(4) The following dialog box will be displayed when sending is complete.



Figure B15.11 Transfer Completed Dialog

B15.3 ROM Comparison (Between Computer and ROM)

This compares the contents of executable programs in currently open projects and the ROM. The compare is done by first uploading the program to the CPU, then conducting the compare. The ROM compare is executed when the CPU is in ROM writer mode.



Procedure for ROM Comparison

Switch the CPU to ROM writer mode, and select [Online] - [ROM Management] - [Compare File and ROM].

(1) The following dialog box will be displayed during compare, with the status of the ROM compare displayed.



Figure B15.13 Dialog Box During Comparison between File and ROM

B15-9

- A- Executable Program Name
- B- Execution status
- C- The destination host or IP address will be displayed here for Ethernet communications. For RS-232C communications, the COM port number (COM1, COM2, etc.) will be displayed.
- D- CPU number: the number of the CPU sending.
- E- Block name
- F- Instruction number: upload, location of compare
- (2) If there were no problems during comparison, the following dialog box will be displayed.

| WideField | × |
|-----------|-------------------|
| ٩ | No inconsistency. |
| [| OK |
| | EB150208E EPS |

Figure B15.14 Comparison Results Confirmation Dialog

If any errors are generated during the compare, the comparison results window and error dialog box will be displayed. Select [File] - [Close] from the comparison results screen and close it.

| 🤣 Results of | 🦻 Results of Comparison 📃 | | | | _ D × |
|--------------|---------------------------|------------------------|-----------------------|--------------|--------------|
| | Block Name | Inst. NO. | | Message | |
| Error | ACT1 | 00001 N | Instruction or addr | ess differs. | |
| | | | | | |
| | | | | | |
| | C | Gla and DOM | | | |
| | Compare | | | | |
| | Progr | am Name - 9 | CHED | | |
| | riogr | | IONED | | |
| | Statu | ⁸ WideField | × | | |
| | Desti | | | | |
| | Block | ы 🔼 – | Inconsistency exists. | | |
| | | | | | |
| | CPU | N | <u> </u> | | |
| | Instru | ction Numbe | r. 11 | | |
| | | | | | |
| | | | Cancel | | |
| | | | | | |
| | | | | | EB150209E EP |

Figure B15.15 Comparison Error Display

Errors and warnings are classified as follows.

Errors

- (1) Executable program configuration different.The executable program configurations are different.
- (2) Configuration different.
 - The configurations are different.
- (3) Instruction or address mismatch
 - The contents of a block (instructions, devices, labels) are different.

Warnings

- (1) User log message different.
 - The contents of the user log messages are different.
- (2) Different number of user log messages.
 - The number of registered user log messages is different.
- (3) Sub-comment present/absent.There are more/fewer sub-comments.
- (4) Circuit comment present/absent.
 - There are more/fewer circuit comments.

- The comparison results display the top instruction number in a circuit with a mismatch.
- If a circuit (not including circuit comments) is inserted, all the circuits after that will mismatch.
- The contents of comments are not compared when comparing sub-comments and circuit comments. (Only the presence or absence of comments will be compared.)
- Up to 256 mismatches will be displayed.

B15.4 ROM Copy

This copies the contents of the RAM (program memory) in the CPU to the ROM. This function is used when creating multiple ROMs from the same executable program. When sending to the ROM, the executable program being sent from the program memory is re-written to the ROM. There is no need to send the executable program between the computer and the CPU. You can write the executable program to ROM by simply replacing the ROM pack. ROM copy can be carried out once ROM sending has been done one time. ROM copy is only available in ROM writer mode. Switch to ROM writer mode before using this function.



Figure B15.16 Sending from the CPU to ROM

Procedure for ROM Copy

- (1) Send the executable program from the computer to the CPU using ROM sending, and write the executable program to the first ROM pack. Next, while still in ROM writer mode, turn off the FA-M3's power, and replace the ROM pack. After replacing the ROM pack, turn the FA-M3 back on. This is all done while still in ROM writer mode.
- (2) Select [Online] [ROM Management] [Transfer CPU to ROM Sending]. The following dialog box will be displayed.

| CPU->ROM Transfer | × |
|-------------------------------|----------------------|
| Transferring from CPU to ROM. | Please specify write |
| Write Mode © Program | ОК |
| C Program and Device | Cancel |
| | |

Figure B15.17 CPU to ROM Sending Dialog Box

(3) Select the writing method, and select [OK]. If you selected [Program], a program stored in the CPU will be sent to the ROM. If you selected [Program and Device], then the program stored in the CPU and data in the range specified in the [ROM Settings] in the configuration downloaded to the CPU will be sent to the ROM. (4) During execution, the following dialog box will be displayed. Canceling part way through is impossible.



Figure B15.18 Dialog during ROM Sending

(5) If it is completed with no problem, the following dialog box will be displayed.

| WideField | × |
|-----------|----------------------------|
| | ROM transfer is completed. |
| | OK |

FB150404E.EPS

- Figure B15.19 Completion Confirmation Dialog
- (6) When creating multiple ROMs, turn off the FA-M3, replace the ROM pack, and repeat step (2) through (6).

B15.5 ROM Deletion

This deletes programs from the ROM. This can be done with a project opened or closed.



Procedure for Deleting ROM

Switch the CPU to ROM writer mode, and select [Online] - [ROM Management] - [Erase ROM Delete]. The following dialog box will be displayed.

| WideField | | | × |
|------------|-------------|---------------|---------------|
| ? c |)o you wisl | h to erase ti | he ROM_ |
| | <u>(es</u> | <u>N</u> o | |
| Eiguro B15 | 21 80 | | FB150502E.EPS |

Figure B15.21 ROM Delete Dialog Box

- (1) Selecting [Yes] will delete the contents of the ROM. Selecting [No] will stop the process.
- (2) The following dialog box will be displayed during execution of the delete. Canceling part way through is impossible.

| ROM Management | : |
|----------------|-------------------|
| Erasing ROM. | Wait. |
| | FB150503E.EPS |
| Figure B15.22 | ROM Delete Dialog |

(3) If it is completed with no problems, the following dialog box will be displayed.

| WideField | × |
|-----------|-------------|
| ٩ | ROM erased. |
| | OK] |
| | EB150504E E |

Figure B15.23 ROM Delete Completion Confirmation Dialog

Blank Page —

B16. I/O Module Settings

This chapter describes how to set the high-level functions in the I/O module.

B16.1 Station Assignment of the FA Link and the Monitor

This section describes the settings FA link functions using the FA link module, the FA link H module, or the optical FA link H module, as well as how to monitor the FA link module's status.

In this manual, FA link will be used to refer to the FA link, the FA link H, and the fiber-optic FA link H in general, unless otherwise specified. For a more detailed discussion of the functions on the FA link, the FA link H, and the fiber-optic FA link H modules, see "FA link, the FA link H, and the fiber-optic FA link H module Instruction Manual" (IM34M6H43-01E).

The FA link functions include station assignment of FA link and FA link module status read.

• Local assignment of FA link

- · Assigns link relays
- Assigns link registers

• FA link module status

- Confirms the status of one's own station location.
- Confirms the status of another station's location.

Both of these are done with the "FA Link Tool."

• Reading and registering link data

Carrying out and reading or registering of FA link module link data from the CPU using that FA link module.

If you do this from many CPUs, reading and registering for that FA link module may become impossible.

If this should accidentally happen, turn the power on the FA-M3 off and then back on.



B16.1.1 Starting the FA Link Tool

The "FA Link Tool" is used to operate the station assignment and the monitor. Select [Tool] - [Setup I/O Module] - [FA Link] from WideField, and start the [FA Link Tool]. If you want to write to, read from, or check the status of the FA link module, you will need to select [Online] - [Connect] ahead of time in WideField.

If you are not connected, you will only be able to the settings file for the FA link module. If you are not connected, the following dialog box will be displayed. Selecting [Yes] will launch the FA link tool.

| WideFiel | d 🛛 |
|----------|---|
| ? | Not connected to FA-M3. Online function cannot be used. Do you wish to continue? |
| | <u>Yes</u> <u>N</u> o |
| | FB160101E.EPS |

Figure B16.1 Not Hooked-Up Warning Dialog in WideField

| 🌍 F | A Link St | tation Assignm | nent – Slot Nu | mber:3 | | | |
|-----|-----------|----------------|----------------|--------|---------|---|-----------------|
| | | | | | | | |
| | Station | Link F | Relay | Link R | egister | | |
| | | Тор | Size | Тор | Size | | ······ |
| | 1 | L0001 | 32 🗘 | W0001 | 32 🗘 | | Register Module |
| | 2 | L0033 | 32 🗘 | W0033 | 16 🗘 | | |
| | 3 | | - | | - | | |
| | 4 | | | | - | | |
| | 5 | | - | | - | | |
| | 6 | | - | | - | | |
| | 7 | | - | | - | | |
| | 8 | | • | | * * | | |
| | 9 | | - | | ÷ | | |
| | 10 | | - | | - | | |
| | 11 | | - | | - | | |
| _ | 12 | | ÷ | | - | | |
| | 13 | | ÷ | | ÷ | | |
| | 14 | | ÷ | | - | | |
| - | 15 | | ÷ | | ÷ | | |
| - | 16 | | ÷ | | ÷ | | |
| - | 17 | | ÷ | | ÷ | | |
| - | 18 | | ÷ | | ÷ | | |
| - | 19 | | ÷ | | ÷ | | |
| | 20 | | ÷ | | ÷ | - | |
| | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | |

Figure 16.2 FA Link Setup Screen



- Connecting WideField after the FA link tool has been started will not make link data readable.
- If you start the FA link tool while connected with WideField, online functions will nevertheless become inoperable if the connection is cut with WideField while the FA link tool is started. Shut down the FA link tool, reconnect with WideField, and relaunch the FA link tool.

B16.1.2 Setting the FA link station assignment

To set the FA link station assignment, first open the FA link station assignment setup screen. You can either read from the FA link module, or from a file. The file is created by reading the setup data from the FA link module.



Connect WideField to the CPU, and start the FA link tool.

(1) Select [Online] - [Read Link Information].

| Read FA link module/link informati | ion 🔀 |
|------------------------------------|---------------|
| Enter slot number. | ОК |
| | Cancel |
| | FB160103E.EPS |

Figure B16.3 FA link Data Read Dialog Box

- (2) Select or enter the slot number. A list of all the slot numbers with FA link modules mounted on them is displayed in the drop down list.
- (3) Selecting [OK] will cause the setup data to be read from the FA link module, after which the following screen will be displayed.

| 🤣 F | A Link S | tation Assignn | nent – Slot Nu | imber:3 | | |
|-----|----------|----------------|----------------|---------|----------|-----------------|
| | | | | | | |
| | Station | Link F | Relay | Link R | egister | |
| | | Тор | Size | Тор | Size | · |
| | 1 | L0001 | 32 🗘 | W0001 | 32 🗘 | Register Module |
| | 2 | 10033 | 32 🗘 | W0033 | 16 🗘 | |
| 1 | 3 | 20000 | ÷ | | ÷ | |
| | 4 | | - | | * * | |
| 1 | 5 | | <u>+</u> | | 4 | |
| | 6 | | ^ | | 4 | |
| | 7 | | <u></u> | | 4 | |
| | Ř | | ÷ | | <u> </u> | |
| | 9 | | ÷ | | ^ | |
| - | 10 | | ÷ | | | |
| - | 11 | | | | - | |
| | 12 | | | | | |
| - | 13 | | | | | |
| | 14 | | | | | |
| | 15 | | - | | × | |
| - | 16 | | - | | × | |
| - 1 | 17 | | - | | × | |
| - | 18 | | × | | × | |
| | 10 | | * | | | |
| | 20 | | * | | × | |
| - | 20 | | • | | • | |
| | | | | | | |
| | _ | | | | | ED160104E ED5 |

Figure B16.4 FA Link Station Assignment Setup Screen

Reading from the link data file

Follow the steps below to read the FA link station assignment data from the file saved with the FA link tool.

(1) Select [File] - [Open]. The following dialog box will be displayed.

| Open file | | | | | ? × |
|--------------------|-------------------------------|---|---|---|----------------------|
| Look jn: | 🔁 WideField | • | £ | Ě | 8-8- 8-8- 8-8- |
| 🚞 Fam3com | | | | | |
| 🚞 Fam3mac | | | | | |
| 🚞 Fam3pjt | | | | | |
| 🚞 Fam3tmp | | | | | |
| 🚞 lm34m6 | | | | | |
| 💌 Falink.fai | | | | | |
| | | | | | |
| I | | | | | |
| File <u>n</u> ame: | | | | | <u>O</u> pen |
| Files of type: | Link information files(*.fai) | | • | | Cancel |
| | | | | | FB160105E.EP |

Figure B16.5 File Open Dialog Box

- (2) Select the FA link data file, and select the [Open] button.
- (3) The FA link station assignment setup screen will appear.

| 🤣 FA Link Station Assignment - [LINK01.FAI] | | | | | | |
|---|----------|--------|--------|---------|---|-----------------|
| | | | | | | |
| Station | i Link l | Relay | Link R | egister | 1 | |
| | Тор | Size | Тор | Size | | |
| 1 | | 128 🗘 | W0001 | 128 🗘 | Ĩ | Register Module |
| 2 | L0129 | 128 🗘 | W0129 | 128 🗘 | | |
| 3 | | * * | | × | | |
| 4 | | ÷ | | | | |
| 5 | | | | | | |
| | | ▼ ▲ | | | | |
| - / 8 | | ▼ ▲ | | | | |
| Q | | × | | | | |
| 10 | | ÷ | | | | |
| 11 | | | | | | |
| 12 | | * * | | A | - | |
| - 13 | | * * | | | | |
| 14 | | - | | - | | |
| <u> </u> | | - | | - | | |
| 10 | _ | ▼ ▲ | | | | |
| 10 | | ▼ | | × | | |
| 10 | | ▼ ▲ | | | | |
| 20 | | × | | | | |
| | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | |

Figure B16.6 Station Assignment Setup Screen

FB160106E.EPS

Editing the station assignment

Enter information as a chart. Set the top address and size. The settings should be in 16point units for link relays and 1-point units for link registers.

Saving the Link Data File

To save the contents of the edit to a file, either select [File] - [Save As], or [File] - [Save]. If you selected [File] - [Save As], then the following dialog box will be displayed. Enter the file name, and then press the [Save] button to save.

If you selected [File] - [Save], the existing file will be overwritten.

| Save As | | | | | ? × |
|-----------------------|-------------------------------|---|---|----------|----------------------|
| Save jn: | 🔄 WideField | • | £ | <u>r</u> | 8-8- 8-8- 8-8- |
| 🚞 Fam3com | | | | | |
| 🚞 Fam3mac | | | | | |
| 🧰 Fam3pjt | | | | | |
| 🦲 Fam3tmp | | | | | |
| 🚞 lm34m6 | | | | | |
| 💌 Falink.fai | | | | | |
| | | | | | |
| File <u>n</u> ame: | FALINK2 | | | | <u>S</u> ave |
| Save as <u>type</u> : | Link information files(*.fai) | | • | | Cancel |
| | | | | | FB160107E.EPS |

Figure B16.7 Save As Dialog Box



When you select [Save] after reading from the FA link module, the [Save As] dialog box will always be displayed.

B16.1.3 Registering to the FA link Module

There are two ways of registering to the FA link module, either comprehensively, or locally. Comprehensive registry means registering to all FA link modules in the FA link network. Local registry will register only to each particular location.

When you are finished editing the FA link divisions, select the [Register Link Information] button.

The following dialog box will be displayed.

| Register Link Information | | × |
|--------------------------------------|---|---------------|
| Enter slot number. | 8 | ОК |
| Registration Mode Batch C Station | 1 | Cancel |
| | | FB160108E.EPS |

Figure B16.8 FA link module Registry Dialog Box

- (1) Select the slot number of the module for the FA link data to be registered to from the drop down list, or enter it.
- (2) Select comprehensive or local registry. For local registry, you will have to specify the location number to be registered to.
- (3) Select [OK].

B16.1.4 Confirmation of the FA Link Module Status

Do the following in order to check the status of the FA link module. There are two statuses: local station (the status of the FA link module itself) and other station (for the locations that it is connected to.) You have to be hooked up with WideField in order to check status. You cannot check status unless you are connected.

Local Status Display

To display the local station status, select [Online] - [Status Monitor] - [Status of Local Station].



Figure B16.9 Local Status Module Select Dialog

(1) Select or enter the slot number. A list of all the slot numbers with FA link modules mounted on them is displayed in the drop down list.

(2) Selecting [OK] will display the following dialog box, where you can check local station status.

| | | | Slot Number:3 | |
|-------------|---------|-------------|---------------|----------------------|
| Station No. | Status | Station No. | Status — | Selected slot number |
| 1 | ON LINE | 17 | - | |
| 2 | ON LINE | 18 | - | |
| 3 | - | 19 | - | |
| 4 | - | 20 | - | |
| 5 | - | 21 | - | |
| 6 | - | 22 | — | |
| 7 | - | 23 | - | |
| 8 | - | 24 | - | |
| 9 | - | 25 | - | |
| 10 | - | 26 | - | |
| 11 | - | 27 | - | |
| 12 | - | 28 | - | |
| 13 | - | 29 | - | |
| 14 | - | 30 | - | |
| 15 | - | 31 | - | |
| | - | 32 | - | |

FB160110E.EPS

The descriptions of each item are as follows. A " \bullet " will be displayed only for items generating malfunctions, other than module operation status and refresh period.

| Table B16.1 Items a | and Description |
|---------------------|-----------------|
|---------------------|-----------------|

| Item | | Description |
|-------------------------------|----------|--|
| Madula Operation Status | ON LINE | Communication is normal. |
| Module Operation Status | OFF LINE | No communication. |
| Refresh Period(ms) | | The FA link refresh period. |
| Station number malfunction | l | Station number is incorrect. (Overlapping, etc.) |
| Station division data not set | t | The station division data has not been set. |
| Overlapping assignment of | device | The assignment of link relays and link registers is overlapping with other stations. |
| Communication I/F malfunc | tions | A communication I/F malfunction has been detected. |
| ROM error | | A ROM check sum error has been detected. |
| RAM error | | A RAM check sum error has been detected. |

TB160101.EPS

Refresh period indicates the cyclic sending period of FA link.

Other Station Status Display

This displays the FA link module status of a different station on the network (32 stations) that includes the specified FA link module.

To display other station status, select [Online] - [Status Monitor] - [Status of Remote Stations].

| FA Link - Status of Remote Stations 🛛 🔀 | | | | | | |
|---|---------------|--|--|--|--|--|
| Enter slot number. | ОК | | | | | |
| 8 | Cancel | | | | | |
| | FB160111E.EPS | | | | | |

Figure B16.10 Other Station Status Module Select Dialog

- (1) Select or enter the slot number. A list of all the slot numbers with FA link modules mounted on them is displayed in the drop down list.
- (2) Selecting [OK] will display the following dialog box, where you can check other station status.

| 🤣 FA Link - Status of Remote Stations 📃 🗖 🗙 | | | | | |
|---|-------------|---------------|-------------|----------|----------------------|
| Γ | | Slot Number:3 | | | |
| | Station No. | Status | Station No. | Status — | Selected slot number |
| | 1 | ON LINE | 17 | - | |
| | 2 | ON LINE | 18 | - | |
| | 3 | - | 19 | - | |
| | 4 | - | 20 | — | |
| | 5 | - | 21 | _ | |
| | 6 | - | 22 | | |
| | 7 | - | 23 | - | |
| | 8 | - | 24 | | |
| | 9 | - | 25 | - | |
| | 10 | - | 26 | | |
| | 11 | - | 27 | - | |
| | 12 | - | 28 | | |
| | 13 | - | 29 | - | |
| | 14 | - | 30 | | |
| | 15 | - | 31 | - | |
| | 16 | _ | 32 | | |
| | | | | | |
| | | | | | |
| | | | | | |
| | | | | | |

FB160112E.EPS

Figure B16.11 Other Station Status Screen

The descriptions of the different statuses are as follows.

Table B16.2 Statuses and Descriptions

| Status | Descriptions |
|---------------|--|
| ON LINE | Communication is normal. |
| SEQ STOP | The sequence program has either malfunctioned or stopped, or is not operating. |
| CPU NOT READY | CPU is not operating normally. |
| - | Not set. Communication is not taking place normally, due to a disconnection or setup error, etc. |
| | TB160102.EPS |

B16.1.5 List of FA Link Tool Error Messages

The following shows a list error messages in the FA link tool and their causes and fixes.

■ List of Error Messages

| | Table B16.3 | List of Error Messages |
|--|-------------|------------------------|
|--|-------------|------------------------|

| Error Code | Cause | Fix |
|---------------------------------------|--|--|
| Link data read error | An error has occurred in communicating with the CPU. | Replace the computer's cable. Replace the computer. Attach the CPU module. |
| Device is not ready | The floppy disk is not inserted. The wrong device was specified. | Specify the correct device.Insert the floppy disk. |
| File cannot be created | There is not enough memory left in the disk. | Increase the open memory spaceReplace the disk. (Write error.) |
| No FA module on the connected unit | The FA link module is not attached. | Attach the FA link module, and redo the operation. |
| Specified range error | The specification was made outside the link relay and link register range. | Specify within the correct range. |
| Data size over | The number of pieces of data has exceeded the total range. | Specify within the correct range. |
| Data overlap | Link relay specification and link register specification are overlapping. | Reset so that there is no overlap. |
| The module specification is incorrect | The FA link module slot number is incorrect. | Specify the correct slot number. |
| Access error Error code = XXXX-XX | An error has been generated upon access to the FA link module. | See the access error codes below for details. |

TB160103E.EPS

Error Codes for Access Errors

Table B16.4 Error Codes for Access Errors

| Error Code | Cause | Fix |
|----------------------|---|---|
| 26 | Offline error: An assignment was made to a station that is offline, or the local station is offline. | Assign to a station that is online.Rewire correctly. |
| 83 | Parameter error: Either the assigned address or size is incorrect. | Assign a correct address or size. |
| E2 D5 C1 BF | Communication error: Noise or hardware malfunction, etc. | Remove the noise.Replace the module. |

TB160104.EPS

FA-M3 FA-M3 Programming Tool WideField Instruction Manual PART-B Supplementary Functions Section

IM 34M6Q14-01E 1st Edition

CONTENTS

| B17. | Sampli | ling Trace Tool | |
|------|--------|--------------------------|---|
| | B17.1 | How to S | SampleB17-2 |
| | B17.2 | Samplin | g Trace SetupB17-4 |
| | | B17.2.1 | Setup Configuration B17-4 |
| | | B17.2.2 | Online Setup and Sampling Trace Start B17-5 |
| | B17.3 | Reading | Sampling Trace Results B17-11 |
| | B17.4 | Reading Saved Trace Data | |
| B18. | Device | Manage | ement Tool B18-1 |
| | B18.1 | Device N | Ianagement and ExitingB18-2 |
| | | B18.1.1 | Starting the Device ManagerB18-2 |
| | | B18.1.2 | Exiting the Device Manager B18-2 |
| | B18.2 | Uploadir | ng Device DataB18-3 |
| | B18.3 | Downloa | nding Device DataB18-6 |
| | B18.4 | Device D | Data Edit B18-10 |
| | | B18.4.1 | Bringing up the Device Edit Screen/Closing the Device Edit B18-10 |
| | | B18.4.2 | Operation of Special Keys B18-11 |
| | | B18.4.3 | String Display and Floating Point Display B18-12 |
| | | B18.4.4 | Device Display |
| | | B18.4.5 | Device Data Edit |
| | | B18.4.6 | Comparing Device Data |
Blank Page —

B17. Sampling Trace Tool

The sampling trace tool is a function that stores the status and contents of devices specified for sampling in the sampling trace memory. (It may be used with F3SP25 models and up.) It can be run as one of WideField's support tools.

The results of a sampling trace can be displayed from this tool in time chart format.

Up to 16 relay devices and 4 register devices can have a sampling trace run on them.



- The sampling trace tool is separate from WideField and uses the same communication port as WideField. Therefore, when running WideField's online functions, the sampling trace function cannot be used. Be sure to disconnect WideField before running it.
- RS-232C communication via modem cannot be used.
- The range of file registers that can use the sampling trace is B000001 through B32768. File registers outside this range cannot be traced.
- Tag names are not supported. Be sure to set the address.

B17-2

B17.1 How to Sample

There are 3 ways to sample, as shown below. You can collect up to 1024 pieces of data. Data can be stored either from in front or from behind depending on the trigger conditions and the delay designation.

• TRC Instruction Execute

By using a TRC instruction in a program, specified contact/data can be sampled at any point in time during scan.

When executing a TRC instruction several times during a scan, data will be stored in the order of the execution for up to 4 times. Any data after that will be lost.



• END Instruction Execute

The specified contact/data will be traced by the END instruction, which is always executed at the end of a scan.



Designation of Periodic

This samples the specified contact/data at a specified regular interval, unconnected to the scan.



• Operation of the Delay Designation

When designating the delay, set the trigger condition to 0. If the delay is set at - (minus), the sampling data for the specified number of times before the trigger condition will be stored in the trace buffer, if the delay is set at + (plus), the sampling data for the specified number of times after the trigger condition will be stored in the trace buffer.





Figure B17.2 Operation During a + (Plus) Delay Designation

B17.2 Sampling Trace Setup

You can either carry out the sampling trace settings by using the configuration settings or by using the online setup.

If you use the configuration, the sampling trace will be stored in memory regardless of whether the power is on or off. If you set it to sample when an error occurs in the user system, the device status before and after the error is saved.

Online setup is for when you want to temporarily sample data, such as when you are debugging, etc. When the power is turned off and then back on, the sampling trace settings set in the configuration take effect.

B17.2.1 Setup Configuration

Carry out the WideField configuration setup.

Start WideField, select [Project] - [Configuration], and the configuration screen will appear. The set sampling trace settings will go into effect when the program is downloaded.

| Configuration | | | × |
|--------------------|---------------------|---------------------|------------------|
| Setup Interrupt | Power Failure/Loc | al 🗍 Setup S | hared Refreshing |
| Device Capacities | Operation Control | Setup Initial Data | Setup DIO |
| Setup FA Link | Sampling Trace | Setup Communication | Setup ROM |
| 🔽 Sampling Trace | | | |
| Sampling Mode | | | |
| TRC Instruction | | | |
| 🔿 Scan 🛛 🖸 |) 🚊 Scans | | |
| O Periodic 0 |) ms | | |
| Delay Count 🛛 🗍 |) 📑 Setup Range -10 | 23-1023 | |
| Trigger Condition | | | |
| Device Address | (00201 | | |
| C Rising Edge of S | pecified Relay | | |
| Falling Edge of S | pecified Relay | | |
| 🔿 Data Coincidence | e 0 🖂 | | |
| Sampling Devices | | | |
| Relay Device | K00201 Y00301 | 10001 10002 | |
| | | | |
| | | | — II |
| Word Device | 20001 B0001 | R0001 W0001 | _ |
| | | | |
| | | | afault Hala |
| | UK | | Heip |
| | | | FB170201E.EPS |

Figure B17.3 Setup Configuration Screen

B17.2.2 Online Setup and Sampling Trace Start

This sets up the sampling trace in the CPU using the sampling trace tool.

(1) Select [Start] - [Program] - [WideField] - [FA-M3 Support Tool] - [Sampling Trace] from the start menu.



Figure B17.4 Sampling Trace First Screen

(2) Select [Setup Sampling Trace] and press the [Enter] key. When this is done, connect to the CPU by following the communication settings set at the WideField environment settings. Once you are connected, the following sampling trace setup screen will be displayed. If you are using an Ethernet connection, enter the IP address and the CPU number to connect. (The initial value is the IP address set in the WideField environment settings.)

When using an Ethernet, you will not be able to connect using the host name with the sampling trace tool. Be sure to specify the IP address. If you do not know the IP address, use a ping command to look it up.

| C | PU trace setup statu | S | CPU execute | e program name | |
|--------------------------------------|----------------------|-----------------------------|---------------------------|--------------------------|------------------|
| FA-M3 Support Tool Sampling Trace | Undef d | CPU No.1 | Name: | TEST | |
| Trigger condition | Device Data | Spcd Relay [] [0] | Data Match | | |
| Sampling method | | TRC Inst | Scan | Periodic | |
| Delay Count | | [0] | | | |
| Sampling Device | Relay Dev. | | |] [] [] [] [|]]]] |
| | Word Dev. | C] | כ כ |] [|] |
| | Use ar Delay d | row keys to count: -1023 | position curs to +1023 | or and enter. | |
| KEYIN: | | | | | |
| Start [] | Reset | Re | sult]βetup][| | Menu |
| | | | | | FB170203E.EPS |

Figure B17.5 Sampling Trace Setup Screen

TIP

The CPU trace setup status shows the sampling trace status, and changes as follows: Undefined - Waiting for Trigger - Tracing - Trace Finished

(3) When you want to read the previous settings from the CPU, press the [F7] key (Previous settings). The results will be displayed on the screen.

| KEYIN: | |
|-------------|-------------------|
| Start Reset | Result Setup Menu |
| | FB170204E.EPS |

• Setting the Trigger Conditions

(1) Use the arrow keys to move the cursor up and down the trigger conditions.

| Trigger Condition | Device Data | Spcd Relay [] [] | Data Match | |
|-------------------|----------------|------------------------------|------------|---------------|
| | | | | FB170205E.EPS |

(2) Use the arrow keys to switch between "Specified Relay" and "Data Match." Use the [→] key to select "Data Match." "Data Match" will be selected.

| Trigger Condition | Device Data | Spcd Relay [] [] | Data Match | |
|-------------------|----------------|------------------------------|------------|---------------|
| | | | | EB170206E EPS |

(3) Use $[\downarrow]$ key to move the cursor down and enter the device name.

| Trigger Condition | Device Data | Spcd Relay <u>Data Match</u> [D0100] [] | |
|-------------------|----------------|---|---------------|
| | | | FB170207E.EPS |

(4) Use [↓] key to move the cursor down and enter the data. If you selected specified relay in step (2), enter either "0" or "1" as the data.

| Trigger Condition | Device Data | Spcd Relay [D0100] [=12345] | Data Match | |
|-------------------|----------------|--|------------|---------------|
| | | | | FB170208E.EPS |

(5) Use $[\uparrow]$ key to return the cursor to the trigger conditions.

• Specifying the Sampling Method

(1) Use the arrow keys to move the cursor up and down the sampling condition.

| | Sampling Method | TRC Instruction | Scan | Periodic |
|-----|-------------------------|--------------------|-------------|----------------------|
| | | | | |
| | | | | FB170209E.EPS |
| (2) | Use the arrow keys to s | witch between "TRC | Inst," "Sca | an," and "Periodic." |

- · Choosing "Scan"
- 1. Press the $[\rightarrow]$ key once in step (1). "Scan" will be selected.

| Sampling Method | TRC Instruction | an Periodic |
|-----------------|-----------------|---------------|
| | | FB170210E.EPS |

 Use the [↓] key to move the cursor and enter the number of times. Sampling will take place the specified number of times. In order to have it sample each time, enter [1.]

| Sampling Method | TRC Instruction | <u>Scan</u> | Periodic |
|---------------------|-----------------|-------------|---------------|
| Choosing "Periodic" | | | FB170211E.EPS |

1. Press the $[\rightarrow]$ key twice in step (1). "Periodic" will be selected.

| Sampling Method | TRC Instruction []ms | Scan | Periodic |
|---------------------------------------|--------------------------|-----------|---------------|
| | | | FB170212E.EPS |
| 2. Use the $[\downarrow]$ key to move | e the cursor and enter | the perio | d. |

Sampling will take place once every specified period. You can set the period between 10ms and 2000ms in 10ms steps. A disparity as large as for one scan will occur for the set value.

| Sampling Method | TRC Instruction [1111100]ms | Scan | Ē | Periodic |
|-----------------|--------------------------------|------|---|---------------|
| | | | | FB170213E.EPS |

(3) Use the $[\uparrow]$ key to return the cursor to the sampling method.

• Specifying the Delay Count

Use the arrow keys to move the cursor to the delay count, and enter the delay count.

| Delay Count | [-1000]ms | |
|-------------|--------------------|---------------|
| | | |
| | | EB170214E EPS |

• Specifying the Sampling Device

(1) Use the arrow keys to move the cursor to the sampling device.

| Sampling Device | Relay Device | |] [] [] [] [|] [] [] [] [|] [] [] [] [|]]] | |
|-----------------|--------------|---|--------------------------|--------------------------|--------------------------|-------------|--------|
| | Word Device | [|] [|][|] [|] | |
| | | | | | | FB170215 | 5E.EPS |

- (2) Use the arrow keys to move the cursor and enter the sampling devices.
 - You can specify up to 16 devices, including input-output/ internal/ shared/ special/ link/ timer/ counter relays.
 - You can specify up to 4 word devices from either data/ shared/ link/ special registers, current timer/counter value, or the specified relay devices.
 - Use the [Delete] key to cancel a device.

| Sampling D | evice | Relay Device | [[[| Y00301] [] [] [] [| 10001] [] [] [] [| T012] [] [] [] [|]]] | |
|------------|-------|--------------|-------------|--------------------------------|-------------------------------|------------------------------|-------------|--|
| | | Word Device | [| D1000] [|][|] [|] | |

FB170216E.EPS

• Starting a Sampling Trace

(1) Press the [F1] (Start) key. The sampling trace will begin.

| Sampling Trace | Waiting for Trigger | CPU-No. 1 | Program Name | USR1 |
|----------------|---------------------|-------------|--------------|---------------|
| | | | | |
| KEYIN: | | | | |
| Start Re | eset Re | esult Setup | | Menu |
| | | | | FB170217E.EPS |

• The following will be displayed if the set value is incorrect.

| Set data is incorrect or has exceeded the rar KEYIN: | nge. |
|--|-------------------|
| Start Reset | Result Setup Menu |
| | FB170218E.EPS |

(2) When the sampling trace is finished, the following will be displayed.

| Sampling Trace | Trace Complete | CPU-No. 1 | Program Name | USR1 |
|----------------|----------------|-------------|--------------|---------------|
| | | | | |
| | | | | |
| KEYIN: | | | | |
| Start R | leset R | esult Setup | | Menu |
| | | | | FB170219E.EPS |

(3) Press the F4 (Reset) key to finish the CPU sampling trace operation.

| KEYIN: | Result Setup Menu |
|--------|-------------------|
| | FB170220E.EPS |

CAUTION

Simply returning to the menu screen by pressing F10 (Menu) will not finish the sampling trace operation.

Once a sampling trace has been started, operation continues until it is reset.

You must press the F4 (Reset) key to finish the sampling trace operation.

TIP

A few tips on the sampling trace setup screen.

- The program name of setup screen will be displayed after a reading out of CPU's program name first.
- The status of the CPU trace settings in the setup screen is always displayed by continuously monitor-• ing the CPU.
- A range check takes place for all settings when the [Start] key is pressed.
- The sampling trace operation will not finish even if you close down the setup screen with the [Menu] key.

B17.3 Reading Sampling Trace Results

(1) Press the [F6] (Results) key at the setup screen. The trace results will be read from the CPU module.

| ESC:Transfer aborted KEYIN: | Uploading |
|--------------------------------|-------------------|
| Start Cancel | Result Setup Menu |
| | FB170401E.EPS |

- (2) The results will be displayed.
 - The value of the where the cursor is positioned will be displayed next to the relay device.
 - The word device data for the previous 3 times and the following 4 times will be displayed.



• A "0" for the word device corresponds to the cursor position.

Figure B17.6 Sampling Trace Screen

(3) Use the arrow keys to scroll the display to show the relay device for the 9th scan and after.



(4) Move the cursor using the [←] and [→] keys.
 Using the [Shift] + [→] and [Shift] + [←] keys will make the cursor skip.



When using the [Shift] + [\rightarrow] key, the cursor will skip sideways along the horizontal axis in the units displayed.

When the cursor reaches the right edge, it will scroll sideways.



- One scroll sideways is in the displayed unit value. (50 units at normal scale, 20 units at 4 times scale, 1 unit at 64 times scale.)
- The further right edge is 1024. (The left edge will be 500 at normal scale, and 896 at 4 times scale.)
- (5) You can zoom in or zoom out the relay device time axis direction to 4 times larger or 1/ 4 times smaller with the [F1] (Zoom in) and [F2] (Zoom out) keys.



(4 times scale)



(16 times scale)

IM 34M6Q14-01E 1st Edition : July 31,2000-00



(64 times scale)





Figure B17.7 Sampling Trace Screen

[ms] 50 0 10 20 30 40 [ms] 200 140 160 180 20 40 80 100 120 0 60 [ms] 800 200 400 600 0 1 T Т T [S] 0 0.5 1 1.5 2 2.5 3 1 [S] 0 2 4 6 8 10 12 FB170410E.EPS

The time axis will change like this.

If there is ever more data than is being displayed, you can scroll sideways.

(One scroll sideways is in the displayed unit value.)

The displayed data may not be displayed correctly, when you make the time axis bigger in time chart display mode.

CAUTION

You cannot move the cursor in time chart display mode using the [Shift] + $[\rightarrow]$ and [Shift] + $[\leftarrow]$ keys.

(7) To exit trace results reading, press the [F10] (Exit) key.A message confirming whether to save the data or not will be displayed.

| Save trace data? (Y/N) KEYIN:y | |
|-----------------------------------|---------------|
| ZoomIn ZoomOt | TmChrt Menu |
| | EB170411E.EPS |

Enter "Y" if you want to save the data, or "N" if not.

(8) Enter the file name the data is to be saved to.

| Enter a file name (pressing Enter alone assu KEYIN:trace | mes the program name). |
|--|------------------------|
| ZoomIn ZoomOt | TmChrt Menu |
| | FB170412E.EPS |

(9) If a file with that name already exists, a message confirming whether to overwrite or not will be displayed.

| A file with the same name alreafy exists. Ove KEYIN: | rwrite? (Y/N). |
|--|----------------|
| ZoomIn ZoomOt | TmChrt Menu |
| | FB170413E.EPS |

Enter "Y" if you want to overwrite, or "N" if not.

The location for saving sampling trace data files is fixed at the \Fam3dat folder created in the drive in which WideField is installed. File names should be 8 characters or less.

B17.4 Reading Saved Trace Data

(1) Select the "Display sampling trace data file" from the sampling trace menu and press the [__] key.

Enter a trace file name. (Enter * to list). KEYIN:

(2) Enter the saved filename.

Enter a trace file name. (Enter * to list). KEYIN:trace

FB170502E.EPS

FB170501E.EPS

- Trace File Name
- The trace file name must be a string of characters beginning with a letter up to 8 characters long.
- There is no distinction between upper and lower case. Either one is ok when entering. Make sure that trace file names are no longer than 34 character when they are specified with an absolute path.
- The file extension is ".trc." It is attached automatically.
- If you do not specify a name when saving, the file name will be ".trc."
- (3) Pressing the [__] key after entering "*" will display all the file names.

| | | List of Trace Files | |
|------------------------------|-------------------------|---------------------|---------------|
| File Name | Directory C.\USER\ | Created in | |
| trace1 | | 95/09/09 11:20:56 | |
| | | | |
| | | | |
| | | | |
| | | | |
| | | | |
| | | | |
| | | | |
| Enter a trace file KEYIN: | name (Enter * to list). | | |
| | | | |
| (4) Select the | file to read, and p | press the [_] key. | FB170503E.EPS |
| The trace | results will be disp | played. | |

IM 34M6Q14-01E 1st Edition : July 31,2000-00

(5) You may repeat this process as many times as needed.

SEE ALSO

See step (2) and after in "B17.3 Reading Sampling Trace Results" for further details on how to read the trace results.

(6) Press the [F10] (Exit) key. You will exit from the trace file display.

gement Tool> B18-1

B18. Device Management Tool

The device manager uploads the CPU's device data and saves it to a file. You can use this file to edit device data, download, and compare. You can also set the range of devices to upload and download.

The devices saved are as follows:

- Internal relay (I)
- Shared relay / Extension shared relay (E)
- Link relay (L)
- Timer relay / current value(T)
- Counter relay / current value(C)
- Data register (D)
- Shared register / Extension shared register (R)
- Link register (W)
- Index register (V)
- File register (B) However, this is limited to between B000001 and B32768

Devices that cannot be saved are as follows:

- Input/output relay (X, Y)
- Timer/Counter Set Value



- The device management tool is separate from WideField and uses the same communication port as WideField. Therefore, when running WideField's online functions, the device manager cannot be used. Be sure to disconnect WideField before running it.
- RS-232C communication via modem cannot be used.
- The range of file registers that can be handled by the device manager is B000001 through B32768. File registers outside this range cannot be traced.
- Tag names are not supported.
- No new device data can be created. Edit files that have been uploaded.

B18.1 Device Management and Exiting

B18.1.1 Starting the Device Manager

(1) Select [Start] - [Program] - [WideField] - [FA-M3 Support Tool] - [Device Manager] from the start menu.



Figure B18.1 Device Manager First Screen

(2) Select the function with the arrow keys and press the [Enter] key. When this is done, connect to the CPU, and switch between the appropriate screens. If you are using Ethernet, enter the IP address and the CPU number to connect. (The initial value is the IP address set in the WideField environment settings.)

When using Ethernet, you will not be able to connect using the host name with the sampling trace tool. Be sure to specify the IP address. If you do not know the IP address, use a ping command to look it up.

B18.1.2 Exiting the Device Manager

Move the cursor to Exit in the device manager first screen and press the [Enter] key. You will exit the device manager.

B18.2 Uploading Device Data

This section describes how to upload device data.

- (1) Select "Upload Device Data" and press the $[_]$ key.
- (2) Enter the host name and CPU number. (Only when using Ethernet.)
- (3) The device upload screen will appear.

| ✦ FA-M3 Support Tool | | | | | -O× |
|---------------------------------------|-----------------|-------------------|---------|---|------|
| Dev Mngr Di | rectory: | C:¥Fam3dat¥ | | | |
| upload Device Data | | | | | |
| | | Read Rang | e | | |
| Dev. Name | CPU Pts. | <u>Start N</u> o. | Quant. | | |
| Internal Relay (| I)16384 | | L16384J | | |
| link Relay (| E) 0 1)8192 | | [8192] | | |
| Timer (| T) 2048 | [i] | [2048] | | |
| Counter (| C) 1024 | [1] | [1024] | | |
| Data Register (1 Shied Pagister (1 | D) 8192 P) 0 | | | | |
| Link Register (| W) 8192 | | [8192] | | |
| Index Register (| V) 64 | ī ij | [64] | | |
| File Register (| B)32768 | [1] | [32768] | | |
| | | | | | |
| Device Filena | me E | | | 1 | |
| | | | | - | |
| I,E: 32pts L,W: | 16pts T,C,V, | B: 1pt D,R: 1 | 2pts | | |
| | | | | | |
| IXL I 114• | | | | | |
| Run 📃 🔤 | | | | | Exit |
| | | | | | |

Figure B18.2 Device Upload Screen

(4) Set the read range. Use the arrow keys to specify the range of devices to upload, and enter the starting number and quantity.

TIP

Set it so that "Starting number + Quantity - 1" does not exceed the configuration value. Enter "0" for any devices you do not want to upload.

(5) Enter the device file name. If you do not enter the directory name, a file will be created in \Fam3dat in the drive below the WideField installed drive.

| KEYIN:device | |
|--|--|
| | |
| If the directory does not exist, the following | FB180202E.EPS ng message will be displayed. |
| KEYIN:a:\test\device | Dir./file name not found. |

FB180203E.EPS

 If the directory name or file name are incorrect or too long, the following will be displayed.

KEYIN:a:\test1\device

ı

Dir./file name invalid or too long.

FB180204E.EPS

(6) If a pre-existing file name is entered, the following will be displayed. If you want to upload the same range as the last time, enter "Y." If you want to upload a different new range, enter "N." In this case the file will be overwritten when upload is exited.

A device file already exists. Use the read range of the existing file? (Y/N) KEYIN:

FB180205E.EPS

(7) When setup is complete, press the [F1] (Run) key.

| KEYIN: | |
|--------|---------------|
| | Exit |
| | FB180206E.EPS |

 If the set value is incorrect, the following will be displayed, and the cursor will be moved to where the error is.

| KEYIN: | Invalid or out-of-range value found. |
|--------|--------------------------------------|
| | |
| | FB180207E.EPS |

(8) Upload will start. Pressing the [Esc] key will interrupt the upload.



| Upload aborted. KEYIN: | |
|---------------------------|------|
| | Exit |
| | |



If upload is interrupted, a new file will not be created. The old file will remain as it was.

(9) When uploading is complete, the following will be displayed.

| Upload has terminated normally. KEYIN: | |
|---|--------------|
| Run | Exit |
| | FB180210E.EP |



The set units for uploading vary from device to device.

| Device | Units of the number of points (points) | |
|---|--|--|
| Internal relay (I) | 32 | |
| Shared relay / Extension shared relay (E) | 32 | |
| Link relay (L) | 16 | |
| Timer (T) | 1 | |
| Counter (C) | 1 | |
| Data register (D) | 2 | |
| Shared register (R) | 2 | |
| Link register (W) | 16 | |
| Index register (V) | 1 | |
| File register (B) | 1 | |
| | | |

Point Setup Units for each Device in the Device Manager

TB180201E.EPS

B18.3 Downloading Device Data

This section describes how to download device data.

(1) Select "Device Download Data" and press the $[_]$ key.



(2) Enter the host name and CPU number. (Only when using Ethernet.)

Enter host name and CPU number (Example:YOKOGAWA, 1) KEYIN:192.168.1.1,1

FB180302E.EPS

(3) Enter the device file name.

Enter a device file name(Enter * to list). KEYIN:device

FB180303E.EPS

• If the directory does not exist, the following message will be displayed.

KEYIN:a:\test\device

Dir./file name not found.

FB180304E.EPS

 If the directory name or file name are incorrect or too long, the following will be displayed.

KEYIN:a:\test1\device

Dir./file name invalid or too long.

FB180305E.EPS

(4) The device download screen will appear.

| ✦FA-M3 Support Tool | | | | |
|---|--|--|---|--|
| Dev Mngr | Filename: | C:¥FAM3DAT¥DEVUP |) | |
| pownload Device Data | | | | |
| Dev. Name Internal Rela Shared Relay | CPU Pts. у (I)16384 (E) 0 | Read Range Start No. Quant. 1 16384 0 0 | Write R Start No. [11] [0] | ange Quant. [16384] [0] |
| Link Relay Timer Counter Data Register | (L) 8192 (T) 2048 (C) 1024 (D) 8192 | 1 8192 1 2048 1 1024 1 1024 | L 1] [1] [1] [1] | L 8192] [2048] [1024] [1024] |
| Sh'ed Registe Link Register Index Registe | r (R) 0 (W) 8192 r (V) 64 | 0 0 1 1024 1 64 | | [0] [1024] [64] |
| I,E: 32pts L, | W: 16pts T, | C,V,B: 1pt D,R: 2p | ts Uj | |
| KEYIN: | | | | |
| | | | | [Exit] |
| | | | | EB180306E EP9 |

Figure B18.3 Device Download Screen

(5) Set the write range. Use the arrow keys to specify the range of devices to download, and enter the starting number and quantity. The starting number and quantity are set to the values they were at when uploaded, but file register will be set to "0." When downloading file registers, enter the starting number and quantity.

TIP

Set it so that "Starting number + Quantity - 1" does not exceed the configuration value. If the configuration data is different from the current FA-M3 configuration when you uploaded, a set value error will occur if the set value is not within the range of the current configuration. Enter "0" for any devices you do not want to download. (6) When setup is complete, press the [F1] (Run) key. Download will start. Pressing the [Esc] key will interrupt the download.



• If the set value is incorrect, the following will be displayed, and the cursor will be moved to where the error is.

| KEYIN: | Invalid or out-of-range value found. |
|--------|--------------------------------------|
| Run | Exit |
| | |

• If the [Esc] key is pressed, the following will be displayed.

| Download aborted. KEYIN: | |
|-----------------------------|---------------|
| | |
| | EB180309E.EPS |



If download is interrupted, the CPU device data will be only partially rewritten. Re-download the correct device data.

(7) When downloading is complete, the following will be displayed.



FB180310E.EPS

The set units for downloading vary from device to device.

| Foint Setup Onits for each Device in the Device Manager | | |
|---|------------------------------------|--|
| Device | Units of number of points (points) | |
| Internal relay (I) | 32 | |
| Shared relay / Extension shared relay (E) | 32 | |
| Link relay (L) | 16 | |
| Timer (T) | 1 | |
| Counter (C) | 1 | |
| Data register (D) | 2 | |
| Shared register (R) | 2 | |
| Link register (W) | 16 | |
| Index register (V) | 1 | |
| File register (B) | 1 | |
| | | |

Point Setup Units for each Device in the Device Manager

TB180301E.EPS

B18.4 Device Data Edit

This section describes how to edit device data.

B18.4.1 Bringing up the Device Edit Screen/Closing the Device Edit

Bringing Up the Device Edit Screen

(1) Select device edit, and press the $[_]$ key.

| | Upload Device Data Download Device Data Edit Device Data Compare Device Data Exit | |
|----|---|---------------|
| 2) | Enter the device file name | FB180401E.EPS |

Enter a device file name(Enter \star to list). KEYIN:device

FB180402E.EPS

• If the directory does not exist, the following message will be displayed.

KEYIN:c:\Fam3dat\device

No directory found.

FB180403E.EPS

 If the directory name or file name are incorrect or too long, the following message will be displayed.

KEYIN:c:\Fam3dat\device

Dir. or file name invalid or too long.

FB180404E.EPS

(3) The device edit screen will appear.

B18-11

Closing the Device Edit

Closing the device edit, and returning to the menu.

(1) Press the [F10] (exit) key to quit the device edit.



(2) In order to renew, press "Y." In order to quit without doing anything else, press "N." You will return to the device manager menu.

B18.4.2 Operation of Special Keys

The following shows the use of special keys during device edit.

Table B18.1 List of special keys during device edit

| Кеу | Operation | | | | |
|-----------------|--|--|--|--|--|
| [↑] | Moves cursor up when cursor is displayed. | | | | |
| [↓] | Moves cursor down when cursor is displayed. | | | | |
| [→] | Moves cursor left when cursor is displayed. | | | | |
| $[\rightarrow]$ | Moves cursor right when cursor is displayed. | | | | |
| [PageUp] | Displays the next page. | | | | |
| [PageDown] | Displays the previous page. | | | | |
| [Tab] | Changes the functions of the function keys. | | | | |
| [Esc] | Interrupts a instruction. | | | | |
| [BackSpace] | Returns the characters being entered back one character. | | | | |

TB180401E.EPS

Tool> B18-12

B18.4.3 String Display and Floating Point Display

Device edit has a string display function and a floating point display function.

- String display and floating point display are set using the function keys.
- The string display function displays the KEYIN area from the current cursor position to the end of the string. It can only display up to 34 characters of ASCII code.
- Floating point display displays what it assumes to be 2 words from the current cursor position.

• Press the [F6] (Character string) key to enter string display.



Press [Shift + F6] (Floating point) to enter floating point display.



 Press either [F6] (Character string) or [Shift + F6] (Floating point) to return to normal display.

If the beginning of the device where the data is stored is not properly specified, the stored data will not be properly displayed in string display or in floating point display.

B18.4.4 Device Display

•

Internal Relay/Shared Relay/Link Relay Display

• Switching to Relay Display

- (1) Press the following function keys.
 - Internal relay : [F3] (Internal relay)
 - Shared relay : [F5] (Shared relay)
 - Link relay : [F6] (Link relay)



(2) The internal relay (shared relay, link relay) screen will appear.

| 🔶 FA-M3 Support To | ol | | | | | | |
|--|-----------------|--|---|--|---|--|---|
| Dev Mngr | | Filename: | | C:¥FAM3DAT¥DE | VUP | | |
| IntRel | | | | | | | |
| INTREP IOU001 IO0002 IO0003 IO0004 IO0005 IO0006 IO0007 IO0008 IO0009 IO0010 IO0010 IO0011 IO0012 IO0013 IO0014 IO0015 IO0016 | ●000●000●000000 | 100017 100018 100020 100021 100022 100023 100024 100025 100026 100027 100028 100029 100030 100031 100031 | 000000000000000000000000000000000000000 | 100033 100034 100035 100036 100037 100038 100039 100040 100041 100042 100043 100044 100045 100046 100047 100048 | 000000000000000000000000000000000000000 | 100049 100050 100051 100052 100053 100054 100055 100056 100057 100058 100059 100060 100061 100061 100063 100064 | 000000000000000000000000000000000000000 |
| | | | | | | Tab:Switch | F-kevs |
| KEYIN: | | | | | | | |
| Reg | I-rly | [TIM] |] | rly | Find | | Exit |
| | | | | reg | | [] [Index | |
| Switche | ed by the | [Tab] key | | | | | |
| | | | | | | Tab:Switch | F-keys 🛛 |
| | | Copy Change | | String Float | Find | | Exit |
| | | | | | | | FB180409E.EPS |



Display Format

| Address | |
|---------|--------------------|
| 10001 | • |
| 10002 | 0 |
| 10003 | 0 |
| 10004 | 0 |
| 10005 | 0 |
| 10006 | Q |
| | K |
| | \mathbf{X} |
| | •:The relay is ON |
| | O:The relay is OFF |
| | FB180410E.EPS |

Changing Screens

64 contacts can be displayed in internal relay/shared relay/link relay display. In order to display more contacts than this, change the screen by pressing the [Page Up] and [Page Down] keys.

■ Timer Display

• Switching to Timer Display.

(1) Press [F4] (Timer display).



FB180411E.EPS

(2) The timer screen will appear.

| FA-M3 Support Tool | Filer | ame: | C:¥E&M3D&T¥DEVUP | | |
|--|---|---|---|---|----------------------------|
| Dev Mngr Timer T0002 T0003 T0004 T0005 T0006 T0006 T0007 T0008 T0009 | Filer Cur. Value 100 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 | name: UP ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ | C: ¥FAM3DAT¥DEVUP T0017 T0018 T0019 T0020 T0021 T0022 T0023 T0023 T0024 T0025 | Cur. Value 0 530 0 0 0 0 0 120 0 | ₿00000000 |
| T0010 T0011 T0012 T0013 T0014 T0015 T0016 | 430 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 | 000000 | T0026 T0027 T0028 T0029 T0030 T0031 T0032 | 1000 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 | 0 0 0 0 0 0 |
| KEYIN: | TIM CNT | | rly Fin reg | | ndex Exit |
| Switched b | by the [Tab] key | | | | |
| KEYIN: | | | | Tab:Sw | itch F-keys |
| | | hange All | String Fi Float | nd | Exit |



Display Format

| Address T0001 T0002 T0003 T0004 T0005 T0006 | Current Value 20 30 15 0 40 50 | |
|---|--|--|
| | | •:The relay is ON O:The relay is OFF FB180413E.EPS |



The timer's current value includes the count value. The actual value should be calculated at timer precision \times count value.

FB180412E.EPS

• Switching Screens

Only 32 points can be displayed on one screen in timer display. In order to display more points than this, change the screen by pressing the [Page Up] and [Page Down] keys.

■ Counter Display

• Switching to Counter Display.

(1) Press [Shift] and [F4] (CNT) keys simultaneously.



FB180414E.EPS

(2) The counter screen will appear.

| + FA-M3 Support Tool | | | | | |
|---|---|-------------------------------------|--|---|------------------------------|
| Dev Mngr | Filer | ame: | C:¥FAM3DAT¥DEVUP |) | |
| Dev Mngr Count r C0002 C0003 C0004 C0005 C0006 C0007 C0008 C0009 C0010 C0011 | Filer Cur. Value 12 0 0 0 0 10000 22 0 0 0 | ame: UP 0 0 0 0 0 | C: #FAM3DAT #DEVOP C0017 C0018 C0020 C0021 C0022 C0023 C0024 C0025 C0026 C0027 | Cur. Value 3 0 0 0 0 3 0 0 0 0 0 | ₽0000●000 |
| C0011 C0012 C0013 C0014 C0015 C0016 | 0 0 54 0 0 | ••0000 | C0027 C0028 C0029 C0030 C0031 C0032 | 510 0 0 0 Tab:Switc | O O O ● h F-keys |
| Switched | by the [Tab] key | | reg | [Inde | × |
| V | -, | | | | |
| KEYIN: | | ST | | Tab:Switc | h F-keys |
| | | nange All | Float | | |



Display Format



Switching Screens

Only 32 points can be displayed on one screen in counter display. In order to display more points than this, change the screen by pressing the [Page Up] and [Page Down] keys.

Data Register/File Register/Shared Register/Link Register/Index Register Display

• Switching to Register Display.

(1) Press the following function keys.

- Data register : [F2] (reg)
- Shared register : [Shift + F5] (S-reg)
- Link register : [Shift + F6] (L-reg)
- File register : [Shift + F2] (File)
- Index register : [Shift + F9] (Index)

| KEYIN: | |
|---------------|----------------------|
| Reg [-rly TIM | L-rly [Find] [Exit] |
| | reg Index |
| | |

FB180417E.EPS
B18-18



| ♦ FA-M3 Support Tool | | | | | | - D × |
|----------------------|------------|-------|------------------|-----|------------|--------|
| Dev Mngr | File | name: | C:¥FAM3DAT¥DEVUP | | | |
| DatReg | 5 | | | - | | |
| Pagat | Dec | Hex | 50017 | Dec | Hex | |
| | 21332 | 5354 | D0017 | Ű | 0000 | |
| D0002 | 21065 | 5249 | D0018 | Ű | 0000 | |
| D0003 | 20039 | 4e4/ | D0019 | Û | 0000 | |
| D0004 | 0 | 0000 | D0020 | 0 | 0000 | |
| D0005 | 0 | 0000 | D0021 | 0 | 0000 | |
| D0006 | 0 | 0000 | D0022 | 0 | 0000 | |
| D0007 | 0 | 0000 | D0023 | 0 | 0000 | |
| D0008 | 0 | 0000 | D0024 | 0 | 0000 | |
| D0009 | 0 | 0000 | D0025 | 0 | 0000 | |
| D0010 | 0 | 0000 | D0026 | 0 | 0000 | |
| D0011 | 0 | 0000 | D0027 | 0 | 0000 | |
| D0012 | 0 | 0000 | D0028 | 0 | 0000 | |
| D0013 | 0 | 0000 | D0029 | 0 | 0000 | |
| D0014 | 0 | 0000 | D0030 | 0 | 0000 | |
| D0015 | 0 | 0000 | D0031 | 0 | 0000 | |
| D0016 | 0 | 0000 | D0032 | 0 | 0000 | |
| | | | | | Tab:Switch | F-keys |
| Reg [-rly | TIM CNT | | rly Fir reg | | Index | Exit |





Display Format



Switching Screens

Only 32 points can be displayed on one screen in register display. In order to display more points than this, change the screen by pressing the [Page Up] and [Page Down] keys.

B18.4.5 Device Data Edit

■ Changing Relay Data

Relay devices are turned ON (\bullet) or OFF (\bigcirc) in single units. The following relay devices can be edited.

- Internal relay
- · Shared relay
- Link relay
- · Timer relay
- · Counter relay

• Turning Relays ON

 Press the [Tab] key. The [F2] (●) key will be displayed.



(2) Use the arrow keys to move the cursor to addresses where the relay is to be turned ON.

| 10001 10002 10003 10004 | • 0 0 | 10017 10018 10019 10020 | 00000 | 10033 10034 10035 10036 | 0 0 0 0 | 10049 10050 10051 10052 | 0 0 0 | |
|----------------------------------|-------------|----------------------------------|-------|----------------------------------|---------|----------------------------------|-------------|---------|
| | | | | | | | FB1804 | 21E.EPS |

(3) Press the [F2] (●) key.
 Data the cursor is positioned on will change to "●".

| 10001 | • | 10017 | 0 | 10033 | 0 | 10049 | 0 |
|-------|---|-------|---|-------|---|-------|---|
| 10002 | • | 10018 | 0 | 10034 | 0 | 10050 | 0 |
| 10003 | 0 | 10019 | 0 | 10035 | 0 | 10051 | 0 |
| 10004 | 0 | 10020 | 0 | 10036 | 0 | 10052 | 0 |
| | | | | | | | |

FB180422E.EPS

• Turning Relays OFF

(1) Press the [Tab] key. The [F3] (\bigcirc) key will be displayed.



(2) Use the arrow keys to move the cursor to addresses where the relay is to be turned ON.

| 10001 | • | 10017 | 0 | 10033 | 0 | 10049 | 0 |
|-------|----------------------------------|--|---|---|---|---|---|
| 10002 | • | 10018 | 0 | 10034 | 0 | 10050 | 0 |
| 10003 | 0 | 10019 | 0 | 10035 | 0 | 10051 | 0 |
| 10004 | 0 | 10020 | 0 | 10036 | 0 | 10052 | 0 |
| | 10001 10002 10003 10004 | 10001 ● 10002 ● 10003 ○ 10004 ○ | 10001 ● 10017 10002 ● 10018 10003 ○ 10019 10004 ○ 10020 | I0001 ● I0017 ○ I0002 ● I0018 ○ I0003 ○ I0019 ○ I0004 ○ I0020 ○ | 10001 ● 10017 ○ 10033 10002 ● 10018 ○ 10034 10003 ○ 10019 ○ 10035 10004 ○ 10020 ○ 10036 | I0001 I0017 I0033 I0033 I0002 I0018 I0034 I0034 I0003 I0019 I0035 I0036 | 10001 I0017 10033 10049 10002 10018 10034 10050 10003 10019 10035 10051 10004 10020 10036 10052 |

FB180424E.EPS

(3) Press the [F3] (\bigcirc) key.

Data the cursor is positioned on will change to " \bigcirc ".

| 10001 10002 10003 | • | 10017 10018 10019 | 0000 | 10033 10034 10035 | 0000 | 10049 10050 10051 | 0 0 0 | |
|-------------------------|---|-------------------------|------|-------------------------|------|-------------------------|-------|--|
| 10004 | 0 | 10020 | 0 | 10036 | 0 | 10052 | 0 | |

FB180425E.EPS

Changing Word Data

Changing the content of devices. The following devices can be edited.

- Internal relay
- · Shared relay
- Link relay
- Timer
- Counter
- Data register
- Link Register
- Shared Register
- Index Register
- File Register
- Relays have 16 points from the specified address changed all at once.
- The timer/counter have the current timer/counter value changed. The timer/counter cannot have 16 points changed all at once.
- (1) Press the [Tab] key. The [F5] (Change) key will be displayed.



(2) Use the arrow keys to move the cursor to addresses to be changed.



(3) Press the [F5] (Change) key. Data the cursor is positioned on will change to [___].



(4) Enter the changed data.

Data can be entered as decimal /hexadecimal /character string/ floating point.

Decimal Entry

Enter the numbers as is.



The following message will be displayed if the changed data is incorrect.



FB180430E.EPS

FB180429E.EPS

Hexadecimal Entry

Enter the numbers with a "\$" at the beginning.



• Long Word Entry

Enter the numbers with an "L" at the end.

| Enter a new value. KEYIN:100000 1 COPY Change All | String Find Exit |
|--|------------------|
| | FB180432E.EPS |

 Divide the number and the parameter "L" either with a space or with a comma. Both decimal and hexadecimal entry can be specified as long word.

Character String Entry

Enter the numbers quotation marks at the beginning and end.

| Enter a new value. KEYIN:"Emergency stop" | |
|--|---|
| | String Find Exit Float Exit |

FB180434E.EPS

• Floating Point Entry

Enter the numbers with an "F" at the end.



Any of the following operations will quit the change instruction.

- Entering the change value.
- Pressing the [Esc] key.
- Press [Shift + F5] (Change).
- Executing any instruction other than a search.

Comprehensive Change

Changing the contents of devices all at once.

Comprehensive change changes a specified range to all identical data. Changes for registers are made in one word units, while relays are in 1 or 16 point units. The timer and counter have the current time/counter units changed at once. The timer/counter relay cannot be changed at once.

(1) Press the [Tab] key. The [Shift + F5] (Comprehensive) key will displayed.



FB180436E.EPS

(2) Press the [Shift + F5] (Comprehensive) key.

| Specify the starting tag name/address using the KEYIN: | e cursor or from the keyboard. |
|---|--|
| COPY Change | String Find Exit Float Image: Construction of the string o |

FB180437E.EPS

(3) Enter the address from which comprehensive change is to begin. (Tag names cannot be used.)

| Specify the starting tag name/address using the cursor or from the keyboard. KEYIN:10001 COPY Change String Find Exit Exit |
|--|
| EB180438E EPS |

(4) Enter the address where comprehensive change is to end.

| Specify the ending tag name/address using KEYIN: | the cursor or from the kyeboard. String Find Exit Float Exit |
|--|---|
| | FB180439E.EPS |

Other Methods for Specification

Other than the keyboard, you can also use the cursor displayed on the screen to specify addresses.

- 1. Use the arrow keys to move the parameters to be changed.
- 2. After moving the cursor, press the [,] key. The address will be entered.

(5) Enter the value to be comprehensively changed. Press the [F2] (●) key or the [F3] (○) to comprehensively change relays in 1 point units. To comprehensively change relays/registers in 1 word units, enter the values as is.

| Enter a new value. KEYIN:100 |
|---------------------------------|
| FB180440E.EPS |

■ Сору

Copying the contents of a device.

Copy copies a specified range of data to a specified location. For the timer and counter, the current timer/counter value and the up relay are copied at the same time.

(1) Press the [Tab] key. The [F4] (Copy) key will displayed.



(2) Press the [F4] (Copy) key.

| Specify the starting tag name/address using th KEYIN: | he cursor or from the keyboard. |
|--|---------------------------------|
| COPY Change | String Find Exit |

(3) Enter the address from which copy is to begin.

| Specify the starting tag name/address using the cursor or from the keyboard. | |
|--|------|
| COPY Change String Find | Exit |
| | |

FB180443E.EPS

FB180442E.EPS

(4) Enter the address where copy is to end.

| Specify the ending tag name/address using th KEYIN:D0010 | e cursor or from the keyboard. |
|--|--------------------------------|
| | String Find Exit |

FB180444E.EPS

Other Methods for Specification

Other than the keyboard, you can also use the cursor displayed on the screen to specify addresses.

- 1. Use the arrow keys to move the parameters to be changed.
- After moving the cursor, press the [→] key. The address will be entered.
- (5) Enter the address at the position to be inserted.

| Specify the insertion position with the cursor or from the keyboard. KEYIN:D0010 |
|---|
| COPY Change String Find Exit |

FB180445E.EPS

B18.4.6 Comparing Device Data

This section describes the method for comparing FA-M3 device data and device files.

(1) Select "Compare Device Data," and press the $[_]$ key.

Upload Device Data Download Device Data Edit Device Data Compare Device Data Exit

(2) Enter the host name and CPU number. (Only when Ethernet is used.)

Enter a host name and a CPU number. KEYIN:133.140.172.150,1

FB180502E.EPS

(3) Enter the device file name to be compared.

```
Enter a device file name(Enter * to list)
KEYIN:devup
```

FB180503E.EPS

(4) The compare device data screen will appear.

| FA-M3 Support Tool | | | | | |
|------------------------|----------------------|------------|-----------|-----------|--------------------|
| Dev Mngr | Filename: | C:¥FAM3I | DAT¥DEVUP | | |
| Compare Device Data | | | | | |
| | | Read Rai | nge | Compari | son Range |
| Dev. Name | CPU Pts. | Start No. | Quant. | Start No. | Quant. |
| Internal Rela | y (I)16384 | 1 | 16384 | | [16384] |
| Shared Relay | (E) 0 | 0 | 0 | | |
| Link Kelay | (L) 8192 (T) 2049 | 1 | 2040 | | L 8192] |
| Countor | (T) 2048 (C) 1024 | 1 | 2048 | | L 2048] E 1024] |
| Data Register | (D) 8192 | 1 | 1024 | | Γ 1024] |
| Sh'ed Registe | r (R) 0 | ò | 0 | ř ol | [0] |
| Link Register | (W) 8192 | ľ | 1024 | [1] | [1024] |
| Index Registe | r (V) 64 | 1 | 64 | Ē 1] | [64] |
| File Register | (B)32768 | 1 | 0 | [1] | [0] |
| I,E: 32pts L, | W: 16pts T, | C,V,B: 1pt | D,R: 2p | ts | |
| KEYIN: | | | | | |
| | | Ľ | | | [Exit] |
| Figure B18.8 Compare D | evice Data Sc | reen | | | FB180504E.EPS |

(5) Set the range to be compared. Use the arrow keys to move the cursor when specifying the device range to be compared and enter the starting number and quantity. The values for the starting number and quantity that were uploaded will be set.

TIP

Set it so that "Starting number + Quantity - 1" does not exceed the configuration value. If the configuration data is different from the current FA-M3 configuration when you uploaded, a set value error will occur if the set value is not within the range of the current configuration. Enter "0" for any devices you do not want to download.

(6) When setup is complete, press the [F1] (Run) key. Comparing will start.



Pressing the [Esc] key will interrupt comparing.

(7) If the compared results are incorrect, the following will be displayed. Comparing will terminate when 16 devices are displayed. To see the next page, press the [F4] (Next Pg) key.

| 🔶 FA-M3 Support Tool | | | | |
|-----------------------|-------------|------------------|-------|----------|
| Dev Mngr | _ Filename: | C:¥FAM3DAT¥DEVUP | | |
| L'Éompare Device Data | Nome | E A - M 2 | File | |
| | nov. Name | F A - M S | | |
| | 0021 | ŏ | I | |
| Ĭ | 0031 | ŏ | | |
| Č | 0032 | ŏ | | |
| T | 0001 | 0 | 100 | |
| T | 0002 | 0 | 1000 | |
| T | 0009 | 0 | 490 | |
| Ţ | 0019 | 0 | 530 | |
| | 0024 | U | 120 | |
| | 0026 | U | 1000 | |
| | 0001 | U | 10000 | |
| | 0007 | Ŭ | 22 | |
| | 0000 | ů N | 54 | |
| Ĭ | 0017 | ŏ | 3 | |
| Ċ | 0022 | Û | 3 | |
| | | | | |
| | | | | |
| KEYIN: | | | | |
| Run | N×tDat | | |] [Exit] |

Figure B18.9 Device Compare Screen When the Compared Results are Incorrect

(8) If there are no mistakes in the results of the comparison, the following will be displayed.



(9) To repeat comparison (to see the compared results from the beginning), press the [F2] (Comparison) key.

The set units for comparing device data vary from device to device.

| Device | Units of the number of points (points) | | |
|---|--|--|--|
| Internal relay (I) | 32 | | |
| Shared relay / Extension shared relay (E) | 32 | | |
| Link relay (L) | 16 | | |
| Timer (T) | 1 | | |
| Counter (C) | 1 | | |
| Data register (D) | 2 | | |
| Shared register (R) | 2 | | |
| Link register (W) | 16 | | |
| Index register (V) | 1 | | |
| File register (B) | 1 | | |
| | | | |

Point Setup Units for each Device in the Device Manager

TB180501E.EPS

Blank Page —

FA-M3 FA-M3 Programming Tool WideField Instruction Manual PART-B Object Ladder Section

IM 34M6Q14-01E 1st Edition

CONTENTS

| B19. | Use of | Local D | evices | B19-1 |
|------|--------|----------|---|--------|
| | B19.1 | What are | e local devices? | B19-1 |
| | B19.2 | Setup Lo | ocal Device | B19-2 |
| | | B19.2.1 | Setup within Each Block | B19-3 |
| | | B19.2.2 | Project Setup | B19-4 |
| | B19.3 | Program | nming with Local Devices | B19-5 |
| | B19.4 | Reusing | Programs Using Local Devices | B19-6 |
| | | B19.4.1 | Reusing Blocks | B19-7 |
| | | B19.4.2 | Setup Project | B19-7 |
| B20. | Using | Macros. | | B20-1 |
| | B20.1 | About M | lacros | B20-1 |
| | | B20.1.1 | What are Macros? | B20-1 |
| | | B20.1.2 | The Purpose of Macros | B20-2 |
| | | B20.1.3 | Precautions Regarding Macros | B20-3 |
| | | B20.1.4 | Macro-Dedicated Devices and Macro Local Devices | B20-4 |
| | | B20.1.5 | Macros that Process Over Several Scans | B20-5 |
| | B20.2 | Develop | ing Macros | B20-7 |
| | | B20.2.1 | Initial Macro Setting | B20-8 |
| | | B20.2.2 | Creating Macros | B20-9 |
| | | B20.2.3 | Using Macros | B20-13 |
| | | B20.2.4 | Transfering Macros | B20-15 |
| | | B20.2.5 | Debugging Macros | B20-16 |
| | | B20.2.6 | Registering Macros | B20-18 |
| B21. | How to | Use Gr | oup Tag Names | B21-1 |
| | B21.1 | Defining | Group Tag Names | B21-1 |
| | B21.2 | Program | nming Using Group Tag Names | B21-6 |

Blank Page —

B19. Use of Local Devices

B19.1 What are local devices?

Local devices are independent devices inside blocks. Unlike normal devices, these can only be used inside blocks. Using a local device allows the developer to create highly independent ladder programs without having to think about their allocation within the entire program. The devices listed below can be used as local devices. (A part of a normal device is assigned to a local device.)

- Internal relay (I)
- Data register (D)
- File register (B)
- Timer (T) (However, the timer's precision is 10ms)
- Counter (C)

Local devices use a different notation for addresses than normal devices. Local devices are recognized by a "/" (slash) added before them. Notation Examples

| /100001 | Local Internal Relay |
|---------|----------------------|
| /D0001 | Local Data Register |
| /B00001 | Local File Register |
| /T00001 | Local Timer |
| /C00001 | Local Counter |

Addresses for local devices are taken as continuing numbers with 1 as a starting number and only for the quantity set up in each block. For example, if 32 internal relays are used as local devices, then devices /l00001 to /l00032 can be used.

Local devices provide the following merits:

- You do not have to think about allocation of devices throughout the whole program. If any local device is not used, you will have to change the allocation of a device for that block if you want to change all device allocations, but if local devices are used, you will not have to worry about device allocation for the rest of the program.
- Blocks can easily be reused in other projects.
 Devices which are described as local devices do not need to be corrected when they are used in other projects.

B19.2 Setup Local Device

Local device setup involves setting the quantity of local devices in each block, and the location of devices within the whole project. Setting these two parameters will assign local devices in each block as shown in the figure below. In this example block 1, block 2, and block 3 are set to have 32, 64, and 96 internal relays respectively, and the local devices are located from starting number 100321.



Figure B19.1 Local Device Assignment

Table B19.1 Example of Local Device Assignment

| Block Name | Local Device Address | Actual Device Address |
|------------|----------------------|-----------------------|
| Block 1 | /I1 to /I32 | 1321 to 1352 |
| Block 2 | /l1 to /l64 | 1353 to 1416 |
| Block 3 | /I1 to /I96 | I417 to I512 |

TB190201E.EPS

B19.2.1 Setup within Each Block

l

(1) With the block edit screen open, select [Edit] - [Local Device/Properties]. The Local Device/Properties dialog box will appear.

| ocal Device/Pro | operties | | | × |
|-----------------|-----------|---------|--------|-------------------|
| Name | TETE | | | ОК |
| Title | Sample | Program | | Cancel |
| Date Create | d 2000/0 | 4/12 15 | :29:4 | |
| Protection | No | | | <u>H</u> elp |
| Local Devi | ces —— | | | 1 |
| Device Ty | pe | | Points | Set Protection |
| Internal R | elay(/l) | /11 -/1 | 32 📩 | Remove Protection |
| Data Reg | ister(/D) | /D1-/D | 10 🛋 | |
| File Regis | ster(/B) | /B1-/B | 10 💌 | |
| Timer(/T) | | Л1-Л | 10 💌 | |
| Counter(/ | C) | /C1-/C | 10 🛋 | |
| | | | | |
| | | | | FB190202E.EP3 |

Figure 19.2 Block Properties Edit Dialog

(2) Set the points for each device, and select [OK]. In this example, the following local devices can be used in the block.

| Internal Relay | /l1-/l32 |
|----------------|----------|
| Data Register | /D1-/D10 |
| File Register | /B1-/B10 |
| Timer | /T1-/T10 |
| Counter | /C1-/C10 |

The number of local devices is set in 32 point units for the internal relay, 2 point units for the data register and file register, and in 1 point units for the timer and counter.

B19.2.2 Project Setup

- (1) Select [Project] [Configuration]. The configuration dialog box will appear.
- (2) Click on the [Power Failure/Local] tab.

| Setup FA Link | Samp | ling Trace | Setup | Communication | Setup ROM |
|-------------------------|------------|-----------------|--------------|--------------------|-----------------------|
| Device Capacities | 0 p | eration Control | 1 : | Setup Initial Data | Setup DIO |
| Setup Interrupt | | Power Failu | ire/Local | Setup | Shared Refreshing |
| Setup Data Lock-up Rar | nge at Pow | er Failure —— | | | |
| | Starting N | Number Points | | Setup Range | Available Setup |
| Internal Relay(I) | 1 | 1024 | Ŧ | 100001 - 101024 | 100001 - 116384 |
| 100us Timer | 0 | | <u>-</u> | | |
| 1ms Timer | 0 | | - | | |
| 10ms Timer | 0 | | - | | T00001 - T00512 |
| 100ms Timer | 0 | | - | | T00513 - T00960 |
| 100ms Continuous | 961 | 64 | ÷ | T00961 - T01024 | T00961 · T01024 |
| Counter(C) | 1 | 1024 | a | C00001 - C01024 | C00001 · C01024 |
| Shared Relay(E) | 0 | | - | | |
| Link Relay(L) | 0 | | ÷ | | L00001 - L32048 |
| Data Register(D) | 1 | 16384 | ㅋ | D00001 - D16384 | D00001 - D16384 |
| Shared Register(R) | 0 | 8 0 8 | - | | |
| Link Register(W) | 0 | | ÷ | | W00001 · W32048 |
| Setup Local Devices- | | Number of | | | |
| Starting | Number | Devices Current | y Registered | Setup Range | Available Setup Range |
| Internal Relay(/I) 3273 | 37 🕂 | 32 | | | 100001 - 116384 |
| Data Register(/D) 3275 | 59 🕂 | 20 | | | D00001 - D16384 |
| File Register(/B) 6213 | 35 🕂 | 0 | | | B00001 - B32768 |
| Timer(/T) 1015 | 5 🕀 📃 | 0 | | | T00001 - T00512 |
| Counter(C) 1015 | 1 | 10 | | C01001 - C01010 | C00001 · C01024 |
| | | | | | |

Figure B19.3 Configuration (Device Extension Setup Tab) Dialog

- (3) Set the local device starting number. The present registered quantity displays the total number of local devices being used in each block in the project. Using this total as a reference, set the starting number so that it does not exceed the device range.
- (4) Select [OK].



- When using local devices, always set the configuration to [Setup] in the architecture definition for executable programs. You cannot use local devices without setting up the configuration.
- When using macros as local devices, the macro local device quantity will not be displayed in the configuration total. Calculate beforehand the quantity of macro local devices being used, and set the quantity so that the starting number does not exceed the range for all devices.

FB190203E.EPS

B19.3 Programming with Local Devices

Local devices are used in exactly the same way as normal devices. Internal relay, data register, file register, timer, counter can all be used with all instructions. The only difference is that a "/" (slash) comes at the beginning of the device. Devices assigned as local devices are displayed with a different fixed color from other devices.





B19.4 Reusing Programs Using Local Devices

| Basic Block | Basic Architecture of the | e Device |
|--|--|------------------|
| Block A Local Device Relay Register Timer Counter | Block A Device Program Block B L Device Program Block C | Global Device |
| Block B Local Device Relay Register Timer Counter | L Device Program Block D L Device L Device Program | |
| Block C Local Device Program Relay | Optional Architecture of t | he Device |
| Counter | Block A Device Program Block B | |
| Block ZZ Local Device Relay Relay | L Device Program Block C L Device Program | Global Device |
| Timer Counter | Block F L Device Program | FB190401E.EPS |

Figure B19.5 Reusing Programs Using Local Devices

When you want to change only part from a standard layout in, for example, customized design of a device, developing programs using local devices makes it unnecessary to have to worry about device assignments, making it very easy to reuse programs. Following the steps below, you will be able to add a block related to the customized part.

B19.4.1 Reusing Blocks

When reusing block in other projects, devices described in as local devices do not conflict with other blocks, so there is no need for you to correct them. Parts using normal devices should be corrected and can then be reused if necessary. (When I/O slot positions change, comprehensive changes can be made using project replacement, or the I/P device position change function, etc.



Figure B19.6 Adding a Block from Project B to Project A

The following steps are taken.

- (1) Open a new project and select [Project] [Insert File].
- (2) Select the block to be reused.
- (3) The block to be reused will be added to the new project.

B19.4.2 Setup Project

- (1) Select [Project] [Define Program Components] to add the block to the layout block.
- (2) Following the "B19.2.2 Project Setup," set the starting number for the local device.

Blank Page —

B20. Using Macros

B20.1 About Macros

This section describes the thinking behind macros and their purpose.

B20.1.1 What are Macros?

Macros are a series of processes defined as one instruction. Macros can be named, which means that they can be used just like other pre-existing instructions by naming them according to their function.

B20.1.2 The Purpose of Macros

Using Macros has the following advantages.

Program Visibility Increases

Program visibility decreases as the size of a program grows. As a results, debugging and maintenance work become more difficult. By using macros, program visibility increases and debugging and maintenance become easier.

• The Number of Program Steps Is Reduced

Writing program repeating the same process over and over increases the number of program steps. Bringing all those steps together into a macro reduces the number of steps to one.

Macros Promote Modules in Programming

Past assets are easier to use. Parts which are made into macros have already undergone testing, so the amount of time used for debugging is reduced. Also, macros can be created independently, so many developers can work together at once.

• Expertise Is Accumulated

What is difficult to create with pre-existing instructions is accumulated as original know-how in the shape of macros. Also, by protecting macros, secrecy is maintained.

Easier to Use than Subroutines

The following points are easier to use when compared to subroutines.

- The actual macro can be used as a black box With subroutines, the content of devices used internally is changed. Accordingly, caution is necessary to avoid using that device externally. With macros, devices used internally need not be worried about.
- Transference of parameters with macros is possible With subroutines, you have to decide interfaces ahead of time of what devices are to be used as input and what devices are to be used as output. With macros, changes can be made anytime for the devices and number of parameters in such interfaces.
- You do not have to put the actual macro into a program Subroutines must be part of programs, while with macros, the actual macro does not have to. It is linked automatically and sent to the CPU.

B20.1.3 Precautions Regarding Macros

The following restrictions apply to macros. Follow these restrictions when using macros.

Usable CPU's

Some CPU's cannot be used with macros.

• Number of Macros that Can Be Used

Up to 64 macros can be used in one executable program. However, the same macro can be used any number of times.

Number of Macros that Can Be Stored at Once

Only one macro can be created in one file. However, there is no limit on the number of files. Make one file for each macro.

The Number of Parameters Delivered between Macro Calling Instructions and the Macro Itself

Up to 16 parameters can be passed between a macro calling instruction and the macro itself.

• Available Devices

The macro itself can be used with the following devices, apart from normal devices and local devices.

- Pointer Register (P)
- Macro Relay (H)
- Macro Register (A)
- Macro Index Register (U)

Due to the characteristics of macros, we only recommend using the actual macro itself with P, H, A, and U. The pointer register is the register which stores the parameters passed to the macro itself. The macro relay, macro register, and macro index register are equivalent to the internal relay, data register, and index register which can be used in the actual macro.

Tag Name Statements

Tag name statements in the actual macro can be made for normal devices, local devices, and macro devices (P, H, A, U).

Use of Local Devices in Macros

Do not call a macro when using a local device in that macro. (Save the macro under a different name, and then call it as a different macro.)

B20.1.4 Macro-Dedicated Devices and Macro Local Devices

Macro-dedicated Devices.

Macro-dedicated devices (A, H, U) are devices that can only be used with macro, and can be used with several different macros. Macro devices are not affected by the blocks that call them, but other macros are using the same device will conflict. Basically, macro-dedicated devices are instructions that are completed in one scan.

Macro Local Devices

Macro local devices are independent devices in each macro. While normal macro devices (A, H, U) are common to all macros, macro local devices are used as devices which do not affect other macros inside a macro. Using macro local devices allows you to develop macros that process in several scans. Macro local devices can use internal relays (/I), data registers (/D, file registers (/B), timers (/T), and counters (/C), just like blocks. Macro local devices are automatically allocated in the quantity set in the "Local Device/Properties." Using allocation for an internal relay as an example, the following figure shows the development of a macro local device to an actual device. The area to be allocated is behind a block's local device.



Figure B20.1 Development of a Macro Local Device to an Actual Device



Observe the following precautions when using a macro local device.

- Do not call a macro when using a local device in that macro. (Save the macro under a different name, and then call it as a different macro.)
- Do not nest macros.

B20.1.5 Macros that Process Over Several Scans

Using local devices in macros, it is possible to create function macros that process one function over multiple scans. For example, create in the following manner.



Figure B20.2 Example of Macro Processing over Multiple Scans

In this program, starting begins at P1, macro local devices /I1-/I3 are turned ON every time they are called, and when the process is completed, P2 is returned to 1, and a process is written notifying the caller of the completion of the process. This macro performs what a program that turns contacts Y201, Y202, and Y203 ON, each in turn, does.

Caller Processes

The calling format for macros described above is as follows.



Figure B20.3 Calling a Macro

SW11 is the macro launch relay, and D1 is the register where the return value at completion is sent.



When creating macros that carry out processes over multiple scans, always write the initialization processes and error processes for the local devices to be used.

B20.2 Developing Macros

This section describes how to develop macros. Macros are registered to the macro folder after being created in a project. It is not possible to directly edit or debug the actual macros stored in the macro folder. (The macro folder is equivalent to a library where you register macro instructions which have been debugged.) They are debugged by being created temporarily in a project and then taken out and debugged, after which they are registered to the macro folder and used.





• Initial Setting for Macros

This sets the storage location for the actual macro.

Creating Macros

The actual macro is created inside a project. When you want to debug a macro which is already registered, take out the appropriate macro.

• Using Macros

Insert a call process for the created macro in the program block.

Sending Macros

They are sent to the CPU in the project download. However, macros cannot be uploaded.

Debugging Macros

Macros can be debugged from the monitor screen.

Registering Macros

Macros are registered to the macro storage folder and can then be used in other projects.

B20-8

B20.2.1 Initial Macro Setting

This sets the storage location (folder) of the macro. This is the location where debugged macros will be stored as a library.

Steps in the Initial Macro Setting Process

Select [Tools] - [Setup Environment]. The setup environment dialog box will open. Enter the location for the macro folder.

| Setup Environment | × |
|--|---------------|
| Setup Circuit Display Setup Program Syntax Check Setup Folders Setup Commu | Setup Toolbar |
| Setup Each Folder Project Location E:\Program Files\WideField\Fam3pit\ Browse Common Folder E:\Program Files\WideField\Fam3com\ Browse | |
| Macro Folder E:\Program Files\WideField\Fam3mac\ Browse | |
| Work Folder E:\Program Files\WideField\Fam3tmp\ Browse | |
| | |
| | |
| OK Cancel Defau | lt Help |

Figure B20.5 Setup Environment Screen

FB200201E.EPS

B20.2.2 Creating Macros

Actual macros cannot be entered into normal program blocks. The macro itself is created by specifying the macro when it is created. The macro itself comes in two types: macros for debugging which are located in the project folder, and ones that are already registered in the macro folder. When debugging or correcting them, open them into the project folder temporarily.

Creating New Macros

Open the project and select [File] - [New]. The create new dialog box will be displayed.

| New | | | × |
|---------------------|--------------------|---------------|------|
| | Common Block/ M | Data facro | |
| BLK I—C Block | MCR II | File Name | |
| | OK | Cancel | Help |

Figure B20.6 New Dialog Box

- (1) Select the macro icon.
- (2) Enter the macro name in the file name area.
- (3) Select the [OK] button, and the macro edit screen will appear.





Make sure macro names and block names do not overlap.

Steps to Take Registered Macros Out of the Macro Folder

Open a project and select [Project] - [Take out macro]. Once this is selected, the following dialog box will be displayed, and a list of the macros stored in the macro folder will be displayed.



Figure B20.8 The Macro Take-Out Dialog Box

1 02002042.21 0

- (1) Select the macro to be taken out, and enter the macro name in the file name.
- (2) Select [Select] and the macro will be taken out into the project.

Steps to Open Pre-existing Macro Files Inside Projects

Select [File] - [Open] - [Block/Macro]. The dialog box to open a file will be displayed.

| Open File | ? × |
|--|---------------|
| Look in: WFsample Dwnload BLK_MAIN.YBLK MAC_WIDE.YMCR | |
| File <u>n</u> ame: | |
| Files of type: Block/Macro(*.yblk,*.ymcr) | <u>Open</u> |
| | FB200205E.EPS |

Figure B20.9 Dialog Box to Open a File

- (1) Either select the macro file name or enter the macro name in the file name.
- (2) Select the [Open] button.
- (3) If the macro is protected, the password entry dialog box will be displayed. Enter the password and select the [OK] button.

| Enter Password | × |
|----------------|---------------|
| Enter Password | ОК |
| *** | Cancel |
| | FB200206E.EPS |

Figure B20.10 Password Entry Screen

(4) The macro edit screen will appear.

Macro Edit

Macro edit comes equipped with the same functions as the normal ladder diagram edit function. Also, all steps are carried out as with normal ladder diagram edit and tag definition with the ladder diagram edit. However, with the macro edit, you can use devices specific to macros (macro relay, macro register, macro index register, macro pointer register).



Always enter the macro return instruction (MRET) at the end of a macro.

Setting Local Devices and Editing Properties in Macros

Setting local devices and editing properties in macros are both done just like blocks by selecting [Edit] - [Local Device/Properties] from the menu.

B20.2.3 Using Macros

To use macros, follow the same procedure for entering an applied instruction in a normal program block edit. There are two ways of entering an instruction: entry format and selection format. Entry format is carried out in the following manner.

Example:

MCALL EXTMOV Parameter 1 Parameter 2 Parameter 3

When using selection format in offline edit, the macros inside the project as well as the macros inside the macro folder are displayed among the instruction categories of the instruction list dialog. In online edit, macros in the CPU are displayed among the instruction categories.

The following macros are displayed among the instructions.

Table B20.1 Macro Instructions Displayed in the Instruction List.

| Instruction Categories | Macro instructions listed |
|------------------------|--|
| Macro in Project | Macro instructions created in a project |
| Macro in Macro Folder | Macro instructions in the macro folder |
| Macro in CPU | Macro instructions downloaded into the CPU |
| | TB200201E.EPS |



Figure B20.11 Applied Instruction List Dialog (in offline edit)





FB200208E.EPS
Parameters 1, 2, and 3 are set on the side of the caller. Optional devices can be used. With the actual macros, parameters 1, 2, and 3 correspond to macro pointer registers P1, P2, and P3. Up to 16 parameters can be passed to the actual macro, but for passing more than 3 parameters, use a PARA instruction before the MCALL instruction.

Example

PARA 4 D00001

In this example, D1 is made the fourth parameter of the instruction macro.

B20.2.4 Transfering Macros

Sending macros is done by downloading. When sending executable programs macros used in those executable programs are sent along automatically. If macros of the same name exist in both the project folder and the macro folder, the macros in the project folder will be sent. However, the actual macros cannot be uploaded. (See B.20.2.5) If you are using a macro in an executable program, other than the normal errors, the following errors may also appear during syntax checks or downloading executable programs.

• Error: No Macro

The actual macro does not exist either in the project or in the macro folder.

• Error: Number of Steps Exceeds the Highest Range for Type Selected

When using a macro, the steps in the macro itself are calculated in to the total number of steps in a block.

Error: No MRET Instruction

An MRET instruction is always necessary at the end of a macro.

• Error: Number of Macros Exceeds the Highest Range for Type Selected

The type of macro that can be used is set for each CPU.

• Error: Global Device Being Used in the Local Device Range

When using local devices in a macro, a macro local device is added behind the set range in a block. You will have to use global devices taking the macro local devices into consideration.

• Error: Incorrect Setting for Local Device Range

When using local devices in a macro, you will have to set a starting number for the local device that is in the range that includes the number of macro local devices.

You must register macros when creating an executable program. Macros are automatically linked the executable program and sent to the CPU.

B20.2.5 Debugging Macros

Monitoring and debugging macros is done using the ladder diagram monitor and device monitors. Debugging is done with the project open.

Procedure in Monitoring the Actual Macros

Select [Online] - [Macro Monitor]. Operating macros will be listed.

| Macro Monitor - Select Macro | × | 1 |
|------------------------------|-------------|-----|
| Enter Macro Name to Monitor | ОК | |
| COMPO | Cancel | |
| | FB200209E.E | EPS |

Figure B20.13 Macro Monitor Selection Dialog

- (1) Select the macro name to monitor from the drop-down list.
- (2) Selecting [OK] will open the program monitor screen for the macro selected. If the macro is protected, the password entry dialog box will be displayed. Multiple macro monitors can be launched for differing macros.

The following things cannot be done with the macro monitor.

• Monitoring the pointer device (P). (The pointer device will display a "0" value.)

The following restrictions apply when the project is not opened, or when the opened project and downloaded executable program are different.

If the project is not opened

- The tag names and comments will not be displayed.
- The contents of the online edit cannot be saved to file.

If the opened project and downloaded executable program are different

• The tag names and comments will not be displayed properly.

B20-17

Quitting the macro monitor

Select [File] - [Exit].

Online Editing the Actual Macro

Select [Debug/Maintenance] - [Online Editing] from the macro monitor screen. Online edit can be performed just as with normal blocks. However, with macros, there are certain circuits that cannot be corrected. Make any corrections for uncorrectable circuits with the offline edit.



MRET and circuits including MRET cannot be corrected.

Uploading Actual Macros

Normally, actual macros cannot be sent with the upload menu. If you want to reflect the content of the online edit into your computer, select [File] - [Reflect to File] from the macro monitor screen. It will be saved to the project folder. Corrected macros will be registered to the macro folder.

Monitoring Macro-Dedicated Devices

Select [Online] - [Device Monitor], specify macro relay, macro register, and macro index register and start them. The monitor screen for the specified devices will open.



It is not possible to monitor the pointer device (P).

FB200210E.EPS

B20.2.6 Registering Macros

Debugged macros are registered to the macro folder, after which they can be reused in other projects.

Registering Macros

Select [Project] - [Macro Registry]. The macro registry dialog box will be displayed.

| Select File | ? × |
|--|---|
| Look jn: WFsample BLK_MAIN YBLK WFSAMPLE.ycmn | File Name BLK_MAIN.YBLK Date Changed 1999/12/17 14:46:46 Title WFSampleÒ≉ŶÎßÛ,Þ Steps 105 Protection None Save Status Normal save Local Device /I 32 /T 0 |
| File name: BLK_MAIN.YBLK Files of type: Block/ Common Tag Name Definition(*.yblk,:) | /D 20 /C 10 /B 0 Select Cancel |

Figure B20.14 Macro Registry Dialog Box

- (1) Select the file name, or enter it directly.
- (2) select the [Select] button.
- (3) If there is already a macro registered in the macro folder with the same name, the following confirmation message will be displayed. Clicking [Yes] will register the macro.

| WideField | × |
|----------------------------|---------------------|
| File with th Overwrite? | e same name exists. |
| Yes | No |
| | FB200211E.EPS |

Figure B20.15 Overwrite Confirmation Dialog

(4) After registering, a dialog box will be displayed asking whether or not to delete the macro in the project.

| WideField | \times |
|---------------|-----------------|
| Delete | project macros? |
| (<u>Y</u> es | <u>N</u> o |
| | FB200212E.EPS |

Figure B20.16 Deletion Confirmation Dialog

(5) Clicking [Yes] will delete the macro in the project. Clicking [No] will leave the macro in the project as is.

B21. How to Use Group Tag Names

Group tag names are a function that allows developers to group tag names and use those tag groups as independent data structures. Especially when there are identical components, this allows the user to distinguish data relations/structures/clusters at a glance. Also, by giving the elements in a group a common name, program creation becomes more standardized.

B21.1 Defining Group Tag Names

We will explain how to assign group tag names, using a multi-axial positioning module as an example. Assigning group tag names involves the [group template definition function] which defines the components in a group, and the [group name read function], which assigns group names.



Defining Group Components

For example, for the positioning module F3NC52-0N, the I/O relay is defined as follows. This module is a two-axial control, so a relay with the same meaning is defined for each axis. In the table below, $X \square \square \square 01$ and $X \square \square \square 17$ respectively show operation instruction start ACK input relays for axis 1 and axis 2.

Positioning Module F3NC52-0N Input Relay Arrangement

| Input Relay Number | | | |
|--------------------|--------------|--|--|
| AX1 (Axis 1) | AX2 (Axis 2) | Operation when ON | |
| X□□□01 | X00017 | Operation Instruction Start ACK | |
| X□□□02 | X□□□18 | Extension Instruction ACK | |
| X□□□03 | X0019 | Deceleration Stop ACK | |
| X□□□04 | X□□□20 | Immediate Stop ACK | |
| X□□□05 | X□□□21 | Complete Original Point Search | |
| X□□□06 | X0022 | Control Mode Switch ACK | |
| X□□□07 | X□□□23 | Positive Direction Run | |
| X□□□08 | X□□□24 | Negative Direction Run | |
| X□□□09 | X□□□25 | Target Value Change ACK | |
| X□□□10 | X□□□26 | Speed Change ACK | |
| X□□□11 | X00027 | Current Position Write ACK | |
| X□□□12 | X□□□28 | Error Notification | |
| X□□□13 | X□□□29 | Specified Point Detection Notification | |
| X□□□14 | X□□□30 | Positioning Completion | |
| X□□□15 | X□□□31 | Pulse Output Completion | |
| X□□□16 | X□□□32 | Parameter Setup ACK | |

TB210101E.EPS

In cases like this, the group template concerning input relays is defined as follows. The group template is specified as "MOTION."

| 🎯 Grou | p Template Definition:MOTION | | <u>- 🗆 ×</u> |
|--------|------------------------------|---|--------------|
| | Member | | |
| 1 | DctACK | | |
| 2 | ExtACK | | |
| 3 | SlowACK | | |
| 4 | EmStpACK | | |
| 5 | ZeroSrch | | |
| 6 | ModeChg | | |
| 7 | RunPlus | | |
| 8 | RunMins | | |
| 9 | DstChg | | |
| 10 | SpdChg | | |
| 11 | PcsChg | | |
| 12 | Enotfy | | |
| 13 | DstConf | | |
| 14 | Complete | | |
| 15 | Pulse | | |
| 16 | ParaSet | | |
| 17 | | | |
| 18 | | | |
| 19 | | | |
| 20 | | • | |
| | | | |

Figure B21.1 Group Template Definition Screen

This definition allows, for example, all operation instruction start ACK terminals ($X \square \square \square 01$, $X \square \square \square 17$) to express meaning with the name DctACK.

Assigning Group Names

Next, open the tag definition screen for blocks, and define axis 1 and axis 2 with group names.

- (1) Change the display format to address list, and select input relay (X).
- (2) Click the X201 address line, and select the [Group] button. (For our purposes now, the module's assembly location will be supposed to be in the second slot.)
- (3) Select the group template MOTION, enter AX1 for the group name, and select the [OK] button.

| Block Tag Name Definition TETE | | × |
|--|----------------------------------|--------------------|
| Display Mode | Device Name | |
| Address list | • | Find |
| Display Device | | |
| Input Relav(X) | • | |
| | | |
| ag Name Address X00201 | I/O Comment | Previous Next |
| XII Read Group Name XII XII XII Group Name AX1 XII XII XII XII XII XII XII XII XII X | Group Template Cancel Details | MOTION <u>Help</u> |
| X00213 X00214 X00215 X00216 X00217 X00218 X00219 X00220 ▼00221 | | |
| Close Chg Addr | Check Group | Circuit Use |

Figure B21.2 Group Name Assignment Dialog (Axis 1, AX1 entry example)

Figure B21.3

(4) The tag names will be assigned from X201 to X216 in AX1 member name format.

| ag Name | Address | I/O Comment 🔺 | Previous |
|---------|------------|---------------|----------|
| X00201 | AX1.DctAC | | |
| X00202 | AX1.ExtAC(| | Nort |
| X00203 | AX1.SlowA(| | INEXL |
| X00204 | AX1.EmStp | | |
| X00205 | AX1.ZeroSt | | |
| X00206 | AX1.ModeC | | |
| X00207 | AX1.RunPlu | | |
| X00208 | AX1.RunMit | | |
| X00209 | AX1.DstCh | | |

Example of Entry of Group Tag Name (Entering the AX1 group name for axis 1)

- (5) Next, click the X217 address line, and select the [Group] button.
- (6) Just as before, select the group template MOTION, but this time enter AX2 for the group name, and select the [OK] button.

| Read Group Name | | × |
|-----------------|----------------|---------------|
| Group Name AX2 | Group Template | MOTION |
| OK Cancel | Details | Help |
| | | FB210105E.EPS |

Figure B21.4 Group Name Assignment Dialog (Axis 2, AX2 entry example)

(7) The tag names will be assigned from X217 to X232 in AX2 member name format.

| ag Name | Address | I/O Comment | Previous |
|---------|------------|-------------|---------------|
| X00217 | AX2.DctAC | | |
| X00218 | AX2.ExtACI | | Not |
| X00219 | AX2.SlowA(| | INEAL |
| X00220 | AX2.EmStp | | |
| X00221 | AX2.ZeroSr | | |
| X00222 | AX2.ModeC | | |
| X00223 | AX2.RunPlu | | |
| X00224 | AX2.RunMit | | |
| X00225 | AX2.DstCh | | |
| | | | FB210106E.EPS |

Figure B21.5 Example of Entry of Group Tag Name (Entering the AX2 group name for axis 2)

With this, assignment of group tag name is complete. Address X201 has been named AX1.DctACK, address X217 has been named AX2.DctACK, and the group name + member name notation now makes it possible to determine what tag is performing what function on what axis.

B21.2 Programming Using Group Tag Names

Programming using the tag names defined in the previous section allows you to program in the following way.



Figure B21.6 Example of a Program Using Group Tag Names

In this example, the exact same circuit pattern is written to both the X and Y axes. The tag meaning is immediately recognizable when compared to simply noting the address.

Using group templates in this manner, not only to avoid the hassle of having to defining each and every tag, but by defining group templates according to one set rule, you can standardize naming, so that anyone can write a program that is easy to understand when analyzing it later.

This example showed a two-axial positioning module, although defining tags by defining group templates offers the same convenience for multi-channel modules or cases when many of the same module are being used.

FA-M3 FA-M3 Programming Tool WideField Instruction Manual Appendix

IM 34M6Q14-01E 1st Edition

CONTENTS

| Appendix 1.Error Messages | Арр.1-1 |
|---|---------|
| App. 1.1 Displaying Error Messages with the Online Help | App.1-1 |



Appendix 1. Error Messages

This section describes how to confirm error messages displayed in WideField.

App. 1.1 Displaying Error Messages with the Online Help

Follow the steps below to confirm the content of error messages with the online help.

(1) Start the WideField help.



Figure App. 1.1 Search Screen for WideField Help Topics

(2) Switch to the "Topic Search" screen and double click on the "Error Messages" page to display error messages.



Figure App. 1.2 WideField Error Message Help

- (3) A list of the error messages displayed by WideField is given in alphabetic order.
- (4) If you want look up the error condition "Cannot reset system", look for the message using the scroll bar on the right side of the help screen.

Revision Information

- Title : FA-M3 Programming Tool WideField Instruction Manual
- Manual No. : IM 34M6Q14-01E

July 2000/1st Edition

Newly published.

Written by
Product Marketing Department, IT Controller Division.
Yokogawa Electric CorporationPublished by
2-9-32 Nakacho, Musashino-shi, Tokyo 180-8750, JAPANPrinted byYokogawa Graphic Arts Co., Ltd.